

# A neuroimaging approach to clarifying cognitive decline in multiple sclerosis: implications for rehabilitation

By

Riccardo Manca

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

> The University of Sheffield Faculty of Medicine, Dentistry and Health Department of Neuroscience

> > November 2018

"Il cervello: se lo coltivi funziona. Se lo lasci andare e lo metti in pensione si indebolisce. La sua plasticità è formidabile. Per questo bisogna continuare a pensare."

"The brain: it works if you nurture it. It weakens if you neglect it and put in on retirement. Its plasticity is impressive. This is why we must persevere with reasoning."

Rita Levi Montalcini

# Acknowledgements

I would like to start thanking my first supervisor Professor Annalena Venneri for her invaluable support, both academic and personal, that she provided throughout the past three years of my PhD. Equally important has been the contribution of my second supervisor Professor Basil Sharrack: thank you for giving me the opportunity to have this exciting experience. I must necessarily acknowledge the Sheffield Biomedical Research Centre for funding part of my PhD scholarship and supporting me in my research dissemination activities.

A massive thank you to my parents and my family who always supported me during my very long academic journeys that led me far from home. Thank you Matt for making this journey more interesting. Thank you to my friends Letizia, Manuela, Irene and Lara that provided long-distance encouragements much needed at times. Thank you to my sisters from Padova, now scattered around Europe but always virtually close to me: Alessio, Lorenzo and Silvia.

Thank you to all the people in my lab because without you this PhD would have not been the same: Mo, Manuel, Caroline, Jenna, Gregg, Laura, Ahmad, Hamad, Elisa, Viviana, Valentina, Elettra, Veronica, Giuseppe, Merel, Dan, Simon and Tom. However, some people deserve special mentions: first of all Stefania, my twin sister with which we shared all the good and less good aspects of the PhD student life; Izzy, the first friend I made in Sheffield who is always full of nice, understanding and supportive words; Matteo who dedicated patiently so much of his time to teach me many interesting things about neuroimaging. Thank you to some lovely ladies I have been lucky to meet here in Sheffield: Valeria, Claudia and Tatiane. Thank you Fiona for your positivity and your support, you always make me smile!

A special thanks to Lorraine and Andy, your support during my PhD has been much appreciated. Thank you to Julia for our chats during the long scanning session of my patients. Thank you to Professor Iain Wilkinson for his contribution and support with the MRI acquisition. Thank you also to Dr David Paling and Dr Sian Price for their help and support with patient recruitment and their kind encouraging words. An important thank you to Micaela and Serena for helping me with my intervention study.

I must thank Professor Alessandra Oppio, who supervised me during my architectural studies, supported my decision to change my academic path for psychology and first suggested the idea to pursue a research career in this field.

Finally, last but not the least, I must thank all the people who kindly volunteered for my studies, your contribution has been amazing because you helped me achieve my dream and because you enormously enriched me as a human being. I feel privileged I had the opportunity to collaborate with you: THANK YOU!

# Abstract

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is a complex disease characterised by a wide range of symptoms, including cognitive impairment. In particular, patients with MS show processing speed (PS) deficits that may impact other functions. Despite considerable research in the field, the neural correlates of core MS-related cognitive manifestations have not been fully elucidated yet. Similarly, knowledge on whether non-pharmacological approaches are effective to manage these symptoms and the underlying neuroplastic mechanisms supporting any effects is still lacking.

Current understanding of cognitive deficits in MS relies on the hypothesis of a disconnection across brain networks. In this thesis, a series of studies were carried out to investigate the structural and functional connectivity correlates of PS performance in people with relapsing-remitting (RRMS) and secondary progressive MS (SPMS). These findings were subsequently used to test the effects of cognitive rehabilitation specifically designed to stimulate cross-network communication.

Performance on different tests of PS abilities was consistently found to be supported by microstructural integrity of the corpus callosum and other frontal associative white matter tracts. At the functional level three different networks emerged to support PS performance in MS, namely the left fronto-parietal, the salience and the default mode networks. Results were comparable across different MS phenotypes.

Finally, forty-five patients with RRMS volunteered to receive cognitive rehabilitation. A set of computerised multi-domain exercises aimed at facilitating integration of information across different functional networks was used in two conditions, with and without PS demands, to test whether stressing PS abilities of patients may have wider neurocognitive effects. Treatments were compared to care as usual. Only rehabilitation without PS demands induced cognitive improvements and salience network modulation compared to the other two conditions.

Non-pharmacological treatments can modulate cognition in MS, but need to consider PS abilities of patients and integrate knowledge on cerebral functional reorganisation.

# Table of contents

List of figures	6
List of tables	8
List of abbreviations	10
Chapter 1   Multiple sclerosis	13
1.1. Aetiology of multiple sclerosis: multiple causes?	13
1.1.1. Genetics of MS	14
1.1.2. Geographical gradient and vitamin D	15
1.1.3. Viral infections	16
1.1.4. Other environmental factors	17
1.1.5. Vascular factors	18
1.2. Neuropathology of MS	20
1.2.1. Inflammatory response and demyelination	20
1.2.1.1. WM lesions	22
1.2.1.2. GM pathology	23
1.2.1.3. Meningeal inflammation	24
1.2.2. Neurodegeneration	24
1.2.2.1. Astrocyte activation	25
1.2.2.2. Microglial activation	25
1.2.2.3. Mitochondria dysfunction and virtual hypoxia	26
1.2.2.4. Iron accumulation	27
1.2.3. Neuroimaging investigations	27
1.2.3.1. Brain microstructure	27
1.2.3.2. Brain macrostructure	29
1.2.3.3. Brain metabolism	
1.2.3.4. Cerebral blood flow	31
1.2.3.5. Functional connectivity and activation	33
1.3. Clinical features of MS	35
1.3.1. Diagnosis	35
1.3.2. MS phenotypes	36
1.3.2.1. Clinically isolated syndrome (CIS)	
1.3.2.2. Radiologically isolated syndrome (RIS)	37
1.3.2.3. RRMS	
1.3.2.4. SPMS	

1.3.2.5. PPMS	
1.3.3. Signs and symptoms	40
1.3.3.1. Fatigue	41
1.3.3.2. Motor symptoms	43
1.3.3.3. Autonomic symptoms	45
1.3.3.4. Sensory symptoms	46
1.3.3.5. Cognitive symptoms	47
1.3.3.6. Psychiatric and behavioural symptoms	50
1.3.4. Treatments for MS	53
1.3.4.1. Disease modifying treatments	53
1.3.4.2. Autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplantation	57
1.3.4.3. Symptomatic treatments	58
Chapter 2   Processing speed function and its relationship with brain alte	erations in 63
2.1. PS function: an introduction	63
2.1.1. Neuropsychological assessment of PS abilities	64
2.1.2. Neural correlates of PS abilities	69
2.1.2.1. Brain volume and lesions	69
2.1.2.2. White matter microstructure	71
2.1.2.3. Brain activity	72
2.2. PS function in people with MS	74
2.2.1. PS decline due to MS	74
2.2.2. Theories and models of PS decline in MS	76
2.2.3. Impact of MS-related PS deficits on other cognitive functions	78
2.2.4. PS and quality of life of people with MS	81
2.2.5. MS-related brain damage and PS function	82
2.2.6. Brain connectivity and PS function in MS	85
2.2.6.1. Methods	
2.2.6.2. Results of the literature search	
2.2.6.3. Results about structural connectivity	
2.2.6.4. Results about functional connectivity	93
2.2.6.5. Results about the combination of structural and connectivity	functional 95
2.2.6.6. Conclusions	96
2.3. Cognitive interventions and PS function in MS	
2.3.1. Cognitive effects	101

2.3.2. Neural effects102
2.4. General conclusions102
Chapter 3   Aims and objectives105
Chapter 4   Structural neural correlates of PS function in people with MS109
4.1. Experiment 1 – Associations between measures of PS function and structural connectivity in people with RRMS
4.1.1. Introduction110
4.1.2. Methods113
4.1.2.1. Participants113
4.1.2.2. Neuropsychological assessment114
4.1.2.3. MRI acquisition115
4.1.2.4. MRI preprocessing116
4.1.2.5. Statistical analysis117
4.1.3. Results118
4.1.3.1. Clinical and cognitive results118
4.1.3.2. TLV results
4.1.3.3. DTI results121
4.1.4. Discussion
4.2. Experiment 2 – Associations between measures of PS function and structural connectivity in people with SPMS127
<ul> <li>4.2. Experiment 2 – Associations between measures of PS function and structural connectivity in people with SPMS</li></ul>
<ul> <li>4.2. Experiment 2 – Associations between measures of PS function and structural connectivity in people with SPMS</li></ul>
<ul> <li>4.2. Experiment 2 – Associations between measures of PS function and structural connectivity in people with SPMS</li></ul>
4.2. Experiment 2 – Associations between measures of PS function and structural connectivity in people with SPMS         127         4.2.1. Introduction         127         4.2.2. Methods         128         4.2.2.1. Participants         128         4.2.2.2. Neuropsychological assessment
4.2. Experiment 2 – Associations between measures of PS function and structural connectivity in people with SPMS       127         4.2.1. Introduction       127         4.2.2. Methods       128         4.2.2.1. Participants       128         4.2.2.2. Neuropsychological assessment       129         4.2.2.3. MRI acquisition       129
4.2. Experiment 2 – Associations between measures of PS function and structural connectivity in people with SPMS       127         4.2.1. Introduction       127         4.2.2. Methods       128         4.2.2.1. Participants       128         4.2.2.2. Neuropsychological assessment       129         4.2.2.3. MRI acquisition       129         4.2.2.4. MRI preprocessing       130
4.2. Experiment 2 – Associations between measures of PS function and structural connectivity in people with SPMS       127         4.2.1. Introduction       127         4.2.2. Methods       128         4.2.2.1. Participants       128         4.2.2.2. Neuropsychological assessment       129         4.2.2.3. MRI acquisition       129         4.2.2.4. MRI preprocessing       130         4.2.2.5. Statistical analysis       130
4.2. Experiment 2 – Associations between measures of PS function and structural connectivity in people with SPMS       127         4.2.1. Introduction       127         4.2.2. Methods       128         4.2.2.1. Participants       128         4.2.2.2. Neuropsychological assessment       129         4.2.2.3. MRI acquisition       129         4.2.2.4. MRI preprocessing       130         4.2.2.5. Statistical analysis       130         4.2.3. Results       132
4.2. Experiment 2 – Associations between measures of PS function and structural connectivity in people with SPMS.       127         4.2.1. Introduction       127         4.2.2. Methods       128         4.2.2.1. Participants       128         4.2.2.2. Neuropsychological assessment       129         4.2.2.3. MRI acquisition       129         4.2.2.4. MRI preprocessing       130         4.2.2.5. Statistical analysis       130         4.2.3.1. Clinical and cognitive results       132
4.2. Experiment 2 – Associations between measures of PS function and structural connectivity in people with SPMS.       127         4.2.1. Introduction       127         4.2.2. Methods       128         4.2.2.1. Participants       128         4.2.2.2. Neuropsychological assessment       129         4.2.2.3. MRI acquisition       129         4.2.2.5. Statistical analysis       130         4.2.3. Results       132         4.2.3.1. Clinical and cognitive results       133
4.2. Experiment 2 – Associations between measures of PS function and structural connectivity in people with SPMS
4.2. Experiment 2 – Associations between measures of PS function and structural connectivity in people with SPMS1274.2.1. Introduction1274.2.2. Methods1284.2.2.1. Participants1284.2.2.2. Neuropsychological assessment1294.2.2.3. MRI acquisition1294.2.2.4. MRI preprocessing1304.2.2.5. Statistical analysis1304.2.3. Results1324.2.3.1. Clinical and cognitive results1334.2.3.2. TLV results1334.2.3.4. DTI results136
4.2. Experiment 2 – Associations between measures of PS function and structural connectivity in people with SPMS       127         4.2.1. Introduction       127         4.2.2. Methods       128         4.2.2.1. Participants       128         4.2.2.2. Neuropsychological assessment       129         4.2.2.3. MRI acquisition       129         4.2.2.5. Statistical analysis       130         4.2.3. Results       132         4.2.3.1. Clinical and cognitive results       133         4.2.3.3. VBM results       133         4.2.3.4. DTI results       136         4.2.4. Discussion       138
4.2. Experiment 2 – Associations between measures of PS function and structural connectivity in people with SPMS.       127         4.2.1. Introduction       127         4.2.2. Methods       128         4.2.2.1. Participants       128         4.2.2.2. Neuropsychological assessment       129         4.2.2.3. MRI acquisition       129         4.2.2.4. MRI preprocessing       130         4.2.2.5. Statistical analysis       130         4.2.3.1. Clinical and cognitive results       132         4.2.3.2. TLV results       133         4.2.3.3. VBM results       134         4.2.3.4. DTI results       136         4.2.4. Discussion       138         4.3. General discussion       140

5.1. Experiment 3 – Associations between measures of PS function and f connectivity in people with RRMS	unctional 147
5.1.1. Introduction	
5.1.2. Methods	150
5.1.2.1. Participants	150
5.1.2.2. Neuropsychological assessment	150
5.1.2.3. MRI acquisition	150
5.1.2.4. MRI preprocessing	150
5.1.2.5. Statistical analysis	152
5.1.3. Results	153
5.1.3.1. Clinical and cognitive results	153
5.1.3.2. Resting-state fMRI results	154
5.1.4. Discussion	158
5.2. Experiment 4 – Associations between measures of PS function and f connectivity in people with SPMS	unctional 162
5.2.1. Introduction	162
5.2.2. Methods	163
5.2.2.1. Participants	163
5.2.2.2. Neuropsychological assessment	164
5.2.2.3. MRI acquisition	164
5.2.2.4. MRI preprocessing	164
5.2.2.5. Statistical analysis	164
5.2.3. Results	165
5.2.3.1. Clinical and cognitive results	165
5.2.3.2. Resting-state fMRI results	166
5.2.4. Discussion	167
5.3. General discussion	169
Chapter 6   Cognitive rehabilitation to modulate cognitive performance a connectivity in people with RRMS	nd brain 173
6.1. Experiment 5 – Application of a network-based cognitive rehapprogramme in a sample of people with RRMS	abilitation 173
6.1.1. Introduction	173
6.1.2. Methods	177
6.1.2.1. Participants	177
6.1.2.2. Procedure	177
6.1.2.3. Cognitive rehabilitation programme	178
6.1.2.4. Neuropsychological assessment	184

6.1.2.5. MRI acquisition	186
6.1.2.6. MRI preprocessing	187
6.1.2.7. Statistical analysis	187
6.1.3. Results	188
6.1.3.1. Cognitive results	188
6.1.3.2. Structural connectivity results	194
6.1.3.3. Functional connectivity results	194
6.1.3.4. Supplementary results	195
6.1.4. Discussion	197
6.1.4.1. Cognition	197
6.1.4.2. Structural connectivity	200
6.1.4.3. Functional connectivity	201
6.1.4.4. General	203
Chapter 7   General discussion	207
References	215
APPENDIX A	268
APPENDIX B	281
APPENDIX C	282
APPENDIX D	283
APPENDIX E	291
APPENDIX F	294
APPENDIX G	295

# List of figures

Figure 1.1 Possible clinical evolution of RRMS: a. relapses followed by full recovery; b. relapses followed by partial recovery and accumulation of disability over time. ..38 Figure 1.2 Possible clinical evolution of SPMS: a. an initial RRMS phase is followed by disability progression; b. relapses occur during the initial stages of disability Figure 1.3 Possible clinical evolution of PPMS: a. disability worsens steadily from disease onset; b. disability worsens from disease onset but with periods of stability (plateaus) and temporary mild improvements......40 Figure 2.1 Schematic representation of the process of stimuli presentation during Figure 2.2 Representation of the inferior longitudinal fasciculus (green), superior Figure 2.3 Forcipes of the corpus callosum: minor (red) and major (blue). ......72 Figure 2.4 Representation of the most common functional brain networks: A) salience network; B) left fronto-parietal network; C) right fronto-parietal network; D) default mode network; E) sensorimotor network; F) visual network. ......73 Figure 4.2 Clusters of WM in which FA positively correlated with DSCT scores (p < Figure 4.3 Clusters of WM in which FA negatively correlated with TMT-A scores (p < pFigure 4.5 WM (left) and GM regions (right) positively correlated with the semantic fluency task before (red) and after (blue) correcting for PS abilities (p < .05 FWE) Figure 4.6 Patterns of correlation (orange negative, blue positive) between FA and the PS<sub>CI</sub>, phonemic fluency, and semantic fluency and the Stroop inhibition scores Figure 5.1 Negative (red) and positive (blue) correlations between PS-dependent performance and functional connectivity of the left fronto-parietal network (p < .05FWE)......155

Figure 5.2 Negative (red) and positive (blue) correlations between semantic fluency scores and functional connectivity of the default mode network (top row) and between functional connectivity of the salience network and performance on the PASAT 3" (A) and TMT-A (B) (p < .05 FWE)......156 Figure 5.3 Positive (red) and negavtive (blue) correlations between TMT-A scores Figure 5.4 Correlations (negative in orange and positive in blue) between Stroop speed scores and functional connectivity of the left fronto-parietal and salience Figure 6.2 PS and sustained attention tasks: A. simple visual reaction time; B. choice visual reaction time; C. simple verbal reaction time; D. choice verbal reaction Figure 6.3 Lexical-semantic tasks: A. change calculation; B. lexical odd one out; C. Figure 6.4 Reasoning tasks: A. verbal sequence completion; B. visual sequence Figure 6.5 Changes in the total number of items reported on the Buschke Selective Reminding Test in the Standard programme and Control groups......192 Figure 6.6 Changes in the total number of items reported on the semantic fluency Figure 6.7 Changes in the total number of items reported on the Buschke Selective Figure 6.8 Changes in the total number of items reported on the semantic fluency Figure 6.9 Decreases in functional connectivity of the salience network: Standard Figure 6.10 Decreases (red) and increases (blue) in functional connectivity of the salience network: Standard programme vs PS-loaded programme (p < .05 FWE)195 Figure 6.11 Positive associations between improvement on the semantic fluency task and increased functional connectivity of the DMN for the Standard rehabilitation 

# List of tables

Table 1.1 Disease modifying treatments approved for MS
Table 2.1 Descriptive statistics for the overall quality assessment of the studies
categorised by MRI technique88
Table 4.1 Clinical and cognitive characteristics of the patient sample ( $n = 45$ )119
Table 4.2 Correlations between clinical variables119
Table 4.3 Correlations between cognitive variables         120
Table 4.4 Positive correlations between the DSCT and FA (p < .05)
Table 4.5 Negavtive correlation between the TMT-A and FA (p < .05)123
Table 4.6 Clinical, cognitive and volumetric characteristics of the sample $(n = 31)132$
Table 4.7 Correlations between clinical variables         132
Table 4.8 Correlations between cognitive variables         133
Table 4.9 Positive association between semantic fluency and GM/WM regional
volumes before and after controlling for the $PS_{CI}$ (p < .05 FWE)135
Table 4.10 Correlation between cognitive tests and FA (p < .05)136
Table 5.1 Clinical and cognitive characteristics of the patient sample $(n = 42)153$
Table 5.2 Correlations between performance on PS-dependent tests and functional
connectivity of the left fronto-parietal network (p < .05 FWE)154
Table 5.3 Correlations between performance on PS-dependent tests and functional
connectivity of the default mode and salience networks (p < .05 FWE)157
Table 5.4 Correlation between TMT-A scores and functional connectivity of the
sensorimotor network (p < .05 FWE)157
Table 5.5 Clinical, cognitive and volumetric characteristics of the sample $(n = 25)166$
Table 5.6 Correlations between performance on the Stroop speed index and
functional connectivity of the left fronto-parietal and salience networks ( $p < .05 FWE$ )
Table 6.1 Clinical and demographic characteristics of the sample
Table 6.2 Baseline cognitive and self-reported characteristics of the sample 189
Table 6.3 Cognitive and self-reported characteristics of the sample after completion
of the intervention and paired t-test showing within-group changes (in bold t-tests
surviving Bonferroni correction p < .002)190
Table 6.4 Cognitive changes resulting from the three group-by-time (2 x 2) repeated
measures models (in bold: tests surviving Bonferroni correction p < .002)
Table 6.5 Significant changes in functional connectivity of the salience network
resulting from the mixed repeated measures models (p <.05 FWE)

Table 6.6 Positive associations between changes in functional connectivity of t	the
DMN and improvements on the semantic fluency task for the Standard rehabilitat	ion
group (p <.05 FWE)1	96

# List of abbreviations

AHSCT: autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplantation; ANOVA: Analysis of variance; BBB: blood-brain barrier; CCSVI: chronic cerebrospinal venous insufficiency; CIS: clinically isolated syndrome; CNS: central nervous system; CSF: cerebrospinal fluid; DMN: default mode network; DMT: disease modifying treatment; DSCT: Digit Symbol Coding Test; DTI: diffusion tensor imaging; EAE: experimental autoimmune encephalitis; EBV: Epstein-Barr virus; EDSS: Expanded Disability Status Scale; FA: fractional anisotropy; FC: functional connectivity; FLAIR: fluid attenuated inversion recovery; FSL: FMRIB Software Library, FSS: Fatigue Severity Scale: FWE: Family Wise Error; GAD-7: 7-item Generalised Anxiety Disorder; GM: grey matter; HLA: human leukocyte antigen; HHV-6: human herpes virus 6; ICA: independent component analysis; MFIS: Modified Fatigue Impact Scale; MMSE: Mini Mental State Examination; MNI: Montreal Neurological Institute; MRI: magnetic resonance imaging; MS: multiple sclerosis; MSFC: Multiple Sclerosis Functional Composite; MSQoL-54: Multiple Sclerosis Quality of Life Instrument; PASAT: Paced Auditory Serial Addition Test; PFC: prefrontal cortex; PHQ-9: 9-item Patient Health Questionnaire; PPMS: primary progressive multiple sclerosis; PS: processing speed; RIS: radiologically isolated syndrome; ROI: region of interest; RRMS: relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis; RS-fMRI: resting-state functional magnetic resonance imaging; SDMT: Symbol Digit Modalities Test; SNP: single nucleotide polymorphism; SPM: Statistical Parametric Mapping; SPMS: secondary progressive multiple sclerosis; TBSS: tract-based spatial statistics; TFCE: threshold-free cluster enhancement, TIV: Total intracranial volume; TLV: total lesion volume; TMT: Trail Making Test; UVR: ultraviolet radiations; VMPFC: ventromedial prefrontal cortex; **WM**: white matter

# Chapter 1 | Multiple sclerosis

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is an immune-mediated disease characterised mainly by an abnormal inflammatory response targeting the central nervous system (CNS) (Compston and Coles, 2008). Previous research has highlighted high levels of burden for both patients affected by MS and their caregivers, especially in terms of time and economic resources (Bayen et al., 2015, Kobelt et al., 2006). Moreover, this disease is recognised as one of the major causes of disability in young adults (Milo and Kahana, 2010). Indeed MS onset can occur quite early in life, usually between 20 and 50 years of age, but with a peak commonly reported around 30 years of age (Compston et al., 2006).

The estimated worldwide prevalence for MS is about 2.3-2.5 million people (Browne et al., 2014, Compston et al., 2006), although figures are variable and show a geographical gradient (Milo and Kahana, 2010). Over the past five decades a steady rise in the number of people affected has been reported not only in prevalence (probably due to improved care opportunities and subsequent increased survival (Howard et al., 2016)), but also in incidence rate, indicating higher disease risk (Melcon et al., 2014). A recent analysis of multiple datasets on MS prevalence from all over the world has led to the proposal of a new and more detailed classification of countries/geographical areas depending on five MS risk classes (Wade, 2014).

It is worth noting that it is also well-established that there is a difference in prevalence between the sexes: females are more likely to develop MS with a women-to-men ratio of about 2.6 (Compston et al., 2006). These skewed numbers may be driven by sexual differences in hormonal and genetic influences on both the nervous and the immune systems, with the evidence being provided by studies in animal models (Ramien et al., 2016). Similarly, the women-to-men ratio has also been rising constantly. The debate on the causes of this phenomenon, however, is still open and points to environmental factors as potential disease fosterers (Boström and Landtblom, 2015, Koch-Henriksen and Sorensen, 2010).

# 1.1. Aetiology of multiple sclerosis: multiple causes?

Being a multifaceted disease, the cause of MS has yet to be fully understood and several hypotheses have been put forward so far: from environmental to viral and even vascular reasons (Milo and Kahana, 2010).

### 1.1.1. Genetics of MS

The observation that a small proportion of MS cases tended to cluster in families triggered the beginning of genetic investigations on this disease. Evidence from twin studies has led to the conclusion that up to 30% of MS heritability (Hawkes, 2013). More recently, genome-wide association studies have shed light on different gene variants implicated in MS. Well established is the causal role of some genes present in the major histocompatibility complex and in particular variants of those genes coding for the human leukocyte antigens (HLA). The allele mainly linked to an increased MS risk is the *HLA-DRB1\*15:01*, along with *HLA-DRB1\*03:01*, *HLA-DRB1\*03:01*, *HLA-DRB1\*03:01*. However, different protective variants have also been identified in different populations. One is particularly widespread across samples: the *HLA-A\*02:01* allele (Patsopoulos et al., 2013, Sawcer et al., 2011).

In addition to the HLA complex, large genetic studies have also assessed thousands of other single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in search of associations with increased MS susceptibility. So far 110 new genetic variants have been identified (Beecham et al., 2013), the great majority of which are found in regulatory rather than coding regions (ENCODE Project, 2012). However, considering that the identified SNPs are low-frequency/rare variants and that each single person carries several of them, their simple presence cannot explain on its own the development of a medical condition unless evidence of an association is provided (Sawcer et al., 2014).

This genetic scenario seems to point at a prominently antigen-specific autoimmune cause (Hollenbach and Oksenberg, 2015). Nevertheless, interactions between genetic and environmental factors are thought to play an essential part in the aetiology of MS (a more in depth explanation will be given in the following sections) and its progression by influencing both severity of symptoms and neural damage (Goodin, 2016, Zivadinov et al., 2009).

Furthermore, environmental factors may account for possible epigenetic mechanisms proposed to have a role in the manifestation of MS (van den Elsen et al., 2015). In fact, although Baranzini et al. (2010) found no differences in blood cells of MS-discordant couples of monozygotic twins, epigenetic alterations were reported in the frontal areas of people affected by chronic MS as well as in aged subjects (Pedre et al., 2011). Moreover, these types of alterations observed in lesional tissue were significantly associated with disease duration and dysregulation of oligodendrocyte differentiation. Similar findings were also replicated in a study investigating samples of normal appearing white matter (Huynh et al., 2013). Given

the paucity of investigations into the epigenetics of MS, the role of these changes and the possible therapeutic implications are yet to be clarified (Aslani et al., 2016).

## 1.1.2. Geographical gradient and vitamin D

Traditionally, the prevalence of MS has been observed to be unevenly distributed around the globe following a peculiar pattern related to latitude, the so-called geographical gradient: the higher the latitude the larger the number of MS cases (Milo and Kahana, 2010). This gradient of distribution, though in reverse, has also been observed in white populations in Australia and New Zealand. Recently, this concept has been criticised and updates have been proposed to accommodate the trend of changes in MS rates. Indeed in Europe and North America the gradient appeared no longer detectable, probably due to changes in lifestyle/environmental factors (Koch-Henriksen and Sorensen, 2011).

The principal influence exerted by latitude relates mainly to the amount of sunlight received: medium level evidence on the relationship between low levels of sun exposure and MS risk has been established (Olsson et al., 2016). In particular, the mainstream investigation in this field focussed on ultraviolet radiations (UVR) yielding interesting findings in many studies of experimental autoimmune encephalitis (EAE) in animal models (Lucas et al., 2015). EAE was observed to be suppressed by a narrow band of UVR with a wave length between 300 and 315 nm (Wang et al., 2013). This occurred without production of vitamin D as found also in another study involving skin biopsy from patients affected by MS, leaving an open question about the mechanisms linking UVR radiations to immunomodulation (Breuer et al., 2014, Lucas et al., 2015). However, UVR action seems to be extensively modulated by the presence of a vitamin-D-related enzyme (25-hydroxyvitamin D3-1a-hydroxylase) indicating an important role of this vitamin in the manifestation of MS (Wang et al., 2016b).

Indeed, in recent years vitamin D has widely been recognised as an important immunomodulatory factor that contributes to the maintenance of optimal immune functionality (Peelen et al., 2011). In fact, vitamin D deficiency has been associated with MS risk (Ascherio et al., 2010) and disease severity (Mandia et al., 2014), while high consumption of food rich in it has been reported to be protective in the Norwegian population (Kampman and Brustad, 2008). Furthermore, vitamin D receptor polymorphisms also appear to impact on immune function and, in turn, the course of MS (Smolders et al., 2009).

Although the effects of vitamin D and UVB light exposure in influencing immune responses have been repeatedly tested, their causal role in the genesis of MS is still not fully understood (Rhead et al., 2016). However, a unique contribution can definitely be ruled out as different regional studies observed rates of MS completely against the geographical gradient hypothesis, suggesting a greater influence of genetic factors. Both in Lapland and New Zealand, places with low levels of sunlight, low prevalence rates of MS are reported among local populations of Sami and Maori (Alla and Mason, 2014, Grønlie et al., 2000). On the contrary, in Sardinia, in the middle of the Mediterranean area, MS figures are significantly higher than the surrounding regions (Barizzone et al., 2015, Pugliatti et al., 2001). Similarly, in Israel, a small country located at a low latitude, differential prevalence of MS can be found in groups with different ethnic origins (Alter et al., 2006). Hence, vitamin D and light exposure, though contributing to specific mechanisms, cannot by themselves account for all the complex disease manifestations.

### 1.1.3. Viral infections

Among the different causes of MS that have been object of investigation, viral infection is one of the most prominent ones (Ramagopalan et al., 2010). Viral effects on the nervous system relevant to MS pathology may be both direct, such as neuronal damage and demyelination, and indirect by upregulating the level of autoimmunity (van der Star et al., 2012). In particular different ubiquitous human viruses have been associated with MS, namely the Epstein-Barr virus (EPV), the human herpes virus 6 (HHV-6) and the varicella zoster virus (Virtanen and Jacobson, 2012).

The EPV has been strikingly detected in almost 100% of patients with MS; in contrast among people seronegative for EPV infection, the risk of MS is very low (Thacker et al., 2006). Conversely, it was found that the higher the amount of EPV antibodies, the stronger the risk of developing MS (Sundström et al., 2004). However, what appears to be a strong risk factor for MS is history of infectious mononucleosis, i.e. the clinical manifestation of the EBV (Handel et al., 2010, Olsson et al., 2016) which was found to interact with childhood obesity generating impressively high odds of MS incidence and prevalence compared to those unexposed (Hedström et al., 2014).

The HHV-6 has also been implicated in disease course: investigations into MScaused plaques revealed that this virus was present in lesional white matter (WM) in significantly higher amounts than in normal appearing WM (Cermelli et al., 2003). Furthermore, activation of the virus during phases of clinical worsening has been observed, with higher rates of viral detection in patients experiencing relapses rather than remissions (Berti et al., 2002). Hence, these pieces of evidence seem to suggest a role of active HHV-6 infection in the clinical course of MS.

Findings on the association between MS and the varicella zoster virus are less clear, although a large population-based study in Taiwan found a higher MS risk in people affected by the virus (Kang et al., 2011). As for the HHV-6, an increased expression of the varicella zoster virus during relapses has also been reported (Sotelo et al., 2014). Despite the currently available evidence on the role of ubiquitous viruses, given their common and widespread distribution among the general population, it appears still difficult to draw definite conclusions on their causal involvement in MS development (Virtanen and Jacobson, 2012).

A possible viral effect has also been suggested by research on human immunodeficiency virus that reported significantly lower risk of MS in patients affected (Gold et al., 2014a). However, only limited and partial evidence has been gathered so far and further replication is needed in order to rule out any possible association.

Finally, endogenous human retroviruses, i.e. those which entered the human genome millions of years ago, were reported active in MS-affected brains. In particular, these retroviruses appeared to affect astrocytes, leading to oligodendrocyte damage and demyelination (Virtanen and Jacobson, 2012), and to be expressed in active MS lesions (van Horssen et al., 2016). However, their detection has not been found to be correlated to MS onset and progression and both experimental and prospective epidemiological studies are currently lacking (Tao et al., 2016).

In conclusion, the debate appears still open both about a possible causal influence of viral factors on MS and on whether one or multiple viral agents may contribute to it (Steiner and Sriram, 2007).

## 1.1.4. Other environmental factors

Lifestyle could be potentially modulating MS susceptibility as suggested by research on smoking habits. In fact, a meta-analysis by Handel et al. (2011) found that cigarette smoking increases MS risk, while effects on the disease course were not clear. Recently, a large review of systematic reviews pointed out that, apart from positivity to the EBV and history of infectious mononucleosis, only smoking is definitely associated with higher MS rates (Belbasis et al., 2015). Along with active, passive smoking also affects MS susceptibility, and both interact with genetic predispositions to MS, i.e. variants of the HLA complex (Olsson et al., 2016). Indeed, smoke seems to have a detrimental influence, possibly through lung irritation, on autoimmunity observed across multiple syndromes (Perricone et al., 2016). However, Hedström et al. (2009) found an interesting protective effect of prolonged use of oral tobacco against MS risk. Hence, these findings suggest that nicotine per se, differently from exposure to smoke, might have a positive effect on MS pathology.

In recent years obesity has also been increasingly considered as a possible risk factor for MS. In fact, genetic studies found that several genetic variants involved in high body mass index seem to be also linked to MS risk (Mokry et al., 2016). Moreover, obesity interacts both with genetic susceptibility (Olsson et al., 2016), and childhood obesity (Hedström et al., 2014) dramatically increases MS risk. The main explanation about the possible underlying mechanisms put forward so far highlights the fact that obesity generates a state of chronic inflammation that may, in turn, trigger a cascade of events leading to activation of autoimmunity and MS (Gianfrancesco and Barcellos, 2016).

Finally, a recent line of research investigated the possible negative impact of exposure to different metals found in specific environments: MS prevalence has been associated with exposure to copper in south-western Sardinia (Monti et al., 2016) and to lead and cadmium in Iran (Etemadifar et al., 2016). However, just a few studies of this kind are available and no definite conclusions can be drawn from the evidence available so far.

#### 1.1.5. Vascular factors

Finally, a vascular hypothesis of MS has been among the earliest ones put forward, based on the observation that brain lesions are often close to blood vessels (Rae-Grant et al., 2014). In the second half of the 20<sup>th</sup> century this hypothesis was discarded. However, it has been recently reconsidered since Zamboni et al. (2009b), using a new venography technique, observed that 100% of MS patients had a condition called chronic cerebrospinal venous insufficiency (CCSVI). This result has been used by Zamboni to advance a new theory of MS having CCSVI as unique and prominent cause and inflammation being a by-product of that.

However, since its inception the concept of CCSVI has been a matter of debate because of a series of criticisms, at times also involving mass media exposure. Apart from problems related to the main authors' conflict of interests, an issue consistently observed was lack of reproducibility. In fact, the results obtained by Zamboni et al. (2009b) on the CCSVI rate among patients affected by MS have never been replicated by any other investigation (Comi et al., 2013, Rodger et al., 2013). Moreover, recent studies failed to detect differences between patients and healthy people in the prevalence of venous problems according to the CCSVI criteria (Traboulsee et al., 2013, Martin et al., 2016).

In an attempt to defend his theory, Zamboni et al. (2013) identified possible causes leading to the mismatch between their own data and those from other centres, such as high heterogeneity in assessment procedures, equipment used, and training of assessors. Moreover, three meta-analyses have been published so far that found a significant global association between CCSVI and MS, though with several caveats: high inter-studies variability in prevalence of CCSVI, potential conflicts of interests of some authors, reduction or disappearance of association when more conservative analyses were performed (Laupacis et al., 2011, Tsivgoulis et al., 2014, Zwischenberger et al., 2013). Hence, no clear conclusions can be drawn, especially on a possible causal effect of venous insufficiency in MS aetiology. Studies using multimodal imaging to investigate this issue further, in fact, have not reported any significant associations (Tsivgoulis et al., 2015).

Lack of clarity characterises also the effects of the so-called "liberation treatment", a surgical intervention to solve CCSVI: while considerable improvement of clinical outcome measures was initially reported (Zamboni et al., 2009a), additional research highlighted how those improvements could be mainly due to a placebo effect, given that post-operation improvement was observed only in subjectively reported measures (Siddiqui et al., 2014).

Given the paucity of objective evidence and lack of independent reproducibility, the scientific community has cast doubts on the hypothesis that inflammation may just result from large vessels pathology as it appears far too simplistic an explanation for such a complex disease (Rae-Grant et al., 2014).

However, it is worth noting that, leaving aside the dispute on the concept of CCSVI, research on the cause of MS has also been focusing on the contribution of cerebrovascular factors in the manifestation of pathological changes. In fact, as previously mentioned, perivascular lesions are not rare in MS and an involvement of blood-brain barrier (BBB) disruption has been proposed (Alvarez et al., 2014, Gaitán et al., 2012). This process seems mainly be mediated by leukocytes involvement, that eventually migrate from the bloodstream to the neural tissue where inflammation spreads (Ortiz et al., 2014). Yet BBB damage in MS appears more dynamic and not straightforward to interpret since the presence of vascular

breakdown, usually in the form of cerebral microbleeds as observed in other pathologies of prominent vascular origin, has not been consistently highlighted (Eisele et al., 2016, Zivadinov et al., 2016). Therefore, currently only spurious results have been obtained and a possible role of vascular disruption in MS pathology has not been elucidated yet.

Interestingly, cardiovascular comorbidities in MS have been linked to both faster progression and increased lesion burden (Kappus et al., 2015, Marrie et al., 2010). A recent study has also found overlapping SNPs between MS and cardiovascular risk factors, suggesting common underlying pathological processes (Wang et al., 2016a). In summary, from the above evidence it appears that a relationship between vascular problems and MS cannot currently be ruled out, though the nature and directionality of the relationship remains unexplained.

## 1.2. Neuropathology of MS

The various manifestations of CNS damage and related symptoms that characterise MS guided researchers towards two main lines of investigation into its pathological substrate: neural inflammation and neurodegeneration (Mallucci et al., 2015).

#### **1.2.1.** Inflammatory response and demyelination

Despite lack of certainty about the causes, autoimmunity and CNS inflammation are core features of MS and several lymphocytes have been found implicated in different pathological processes (Dendrou et al., 2015). Autoreactive T cells are those driving demyelination: various subtypes of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells (Elong Ngono et al., 2012, Hellings et al., 2001) as well as CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, whose role is still unclear, that are found more frequently than CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in lesional tissue (Babbe et al., 2000, Frischer et al., 2009) and are considered the major cause of both axonal transection and oligodendrocytes death (Johnson et al., 2007). Autoreactive B cells, whose functioning is still not completely understood, have also been detected in different sites, namely brain parenchyma, meninges, and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) (Kinzel and Weber, 2016). In particular, in the progressive types of MS, these cells seem to play a major role in meningeal pathology (Howell et al., 2011). Finally, different types of regulatory T cells, cells involved in modulating the activity of other lymphocytes, have also been reported as malfunctioning even though no reduction in their number was found in a recent meta-analysis (Dendrou et al., 2015, Noori-Zadeh et al., 2016).

Two models have been proposed to explain the inflammatory processes characterising MS: CNS-extrinsic and CNS-intrinsic (Dendrou et al., 2015). According to the former, in the first instance autoreactive T cells are activated in the peripheral nervous system and later migrate to the CNS through the BBB and the blood-CSF barrier with B cells and monocytes. Several sources of evidence have highlighted molecular mimicry as the main mechanism driving this process: myelin proteins would be attacked by the immune system because of their resemblance of infectious agents that may have previously promoted autoimmunity (Ji et al., 2010, Hauser and Oksenberg, 2006, Lang et al., 2002, Münz et al., 2009). In the first stage of the disease, peripheral lymphocyte activation subsequently spreading to the CNS is considered predominant. As MS progresses, inflammation settles and becomes chronic in the CNS, leading, in turn, to neurodegeneration (Ellwardt and Zipp, 2014). In contrast, the latter model views the infiltration of autoreactive leukocytes from the periphery only as a process secondary to others (viral infections and neurodegeneration) occurring in the CNS. Indeed, so-called "pre-active lesions" caused by microglia activation have been observed in normal appearing WM in the absence of lymphocytic infiltration through the BBB and the blood-CSF barrier (van der Valk and Amor, 2009, van Noort et al., 2010).

The peripheral model is considered to be the most plausible one because of its consistency with findings from research on the EAE animal model. Moreover, the lack of any association between MS and genetic variants leading to neurodegeneration independently of inflammation appears as another source of evidence against the centrality of CNS-intrinsic causes of MS (Ben-Nun et al., 2014). However, it is worth mentioning the recent discovery of cerebral branches of the immune system, involved in surveillance and clearance processes, that gives potential support to the CNS-intrinsic model (Aspelund et al., 2015, Heneka et al., 2014, Louveau et al., 2015).

Once activated T cells have migrated into the CNS the myelin sheath surrounding the axons is attacked and demyelination occurs. This process is accompanied by considerable release of pro-inflammatory cytokines that, in turn, will lead to worsening of MS-related pathology. As a first consequence, conduction of neuronal signals is hampered and slowed down. However, as myelin damage spreads, other pathological processes are triggered causing neurodegeneration both in WM and grey matter (GM) (Hauser and Oksenberg, 2006).

#### 1.2.1.1. WM lesions

At a macrostructural level, WM demyelination is manifest in the form of lesions, both in the brain and the spinal cord, that constitute a MS hallmark and a fundamental criterion for diagnosis (Polman et al., 2010). WM lesions can be detected and visualised by means of magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). Indeed, areas of hyperintensity can be highlighted using specific MRI sequences: namely T2 and fluid attenuated inversion recovery (FLAIR). Although lesions are thought to spread randomly across the brain, a peak has been consistently reported in some locations, such as periventricular areas and the centrum semiovale, around the corpus callosum (Dalton et al., 2011, Filli et al., 2012). Moreover, it has been reported how lesions tend to accumulate in regions with high venous coverage and in those with low arterial density, the so-called watershed areas that may be particularly sensitive to pathological processes initiated by MS-related demyelination such as oxidative stress (Haider et al., 2016).

Lesions affecting WM have been classified according to different systems from a pathological perspective. Lucchinetti et al. (2000) focussed on the expression of demyelination and identified four patterns: in patterns I and II, lesions are characterised by the presence of infiltrating T cells, macrophages, ongoing demyelination and variable immunoglobulin depositions; in pattern III and IV, instead, they are mainly characterised by loss of oligodendrocytes and selective myelin preservation. Whether the manifestation of one particular pattern is predominant throughout disease course has not been clarified yet. However, it seems commonly recognised that all types of lesion tend to experience a transition from an active to a final inactive state (Mallucci et al., 2015).

More recently, Kuhlmann et al. (2016) proposed a new lesion classification based on the relationship between the manifestation of inflammatory and demyelinating activities. They divided lesions in three possible categories: active, with spread presence of macrophages and microglia and variable levels of demyelination; mixed, characterised by inflammatory activity limited to the peripheral layers of the lesion; and inactive, without ongoing demyelination and almost no activated macrophages and microglia.

Investigations into demyelination have shed light also on the dynamic of this process, pointing out that lesions can undergo phases of remyelination: the myelin sheath can be regenerated around axons by the activity of the oligodendrocyte precursors cells (Franklin and Ffrench-Constant, 2008). However, remyelination appears to be a precarious process since it has been observed to occur only incompletely and not in all patients (Patrikios et al., 2006). Moreover, newly formed

oligodendrocytes in lesional tissue are more susceptible to further damage than in normal appearing WM, especially in progressive forms of MS (Bramow et al., 2010). Finally, a subgroup of lesions, named juxtacortical, may manifest in areas of WM extended to the deepest layers of GM. This type of lesions has been observed in equal numbers across different MS types (Sethi et al., 2015) and has been found associated with significant cortical thinning even in early phases of the disease (Pareto et al., 2015). Furthermore, juxtacortical damage, rather than intracortical, seems to have an impact on MS-related cognitive decline, especially in executive functioning (Louapre et al., 2016).

Beyond WM damage, GM and the meninges have also been consistently reported to be affected by inflammation (DeLuca et al., 2014, Klaver et al., 2013, Prins et al., 2015).

# 1.2.1.2. GM pathology

Along with the well-established WM lesions, GM pathological changes have also been reported. In particular, demyelination appeared to affect GM especially as the course of the disease progresses and becomes chronic (Kutzelnigg et al., 2005, Mainero et al., 2015). This process has been observed throughout the whole brain, both in cortical and deep GM (DeLuca et al., 2014), and recently also confirmed by means of positron emission tomography (Herranz et al., 2016). However, the cerebellum and the spinal cord consistently resulted as the areas in the CNS more strongly affected by demyelination compared to the cortex and deep GM nuclei (Gilmore et al., 2008, Minagar et al., 2013).

Demyelination in GM leads to formation of lesions that have been classified into four types: type I, involving both deep GM layers and WM; type II, otherwise called intracortical because they do not involve either GM surface or underlying WM; type III, are subpial lesions that extend from the pia mater through the most superficial GM layers; and finally type IV, extending from the pial surface throughout the whole cortex (Bø et al., 2003, Calabrese et al., 2009). Interestingly, GM lesions seem to have a negative impact both on physical disability and cognitive impairment (Calabrese et al., 2009, Mainero et al., 2015).

A definite explanation of the mechanisms of formation of GM lesions has not been provided yet and the underlying pathological processes are still poorly understood (Klaver et al., 2013). However, differences in lymphocytic and glial involvement between WM and GM lesions have been consistently observed with the former outnumbering the latter. Several factors may contribute to cause this: later development of GM lesions, lesser BBB disruption and leakage in GM, and the myelin-led inflammatory response (Prins et al., 2015).

Recently, Mandolesi et al. (2015) investigated the potential role of synaptic dysfunction as the possible missing link between inflammation and GM degeneration, rather than axonal loss. Indeed, neurotransmission of both glutamate and *gamma*-Aminobutyric acid appeared to be altered in MS, especially in the hippocampus. However, this mechanism seems not to be exclusively related to MS, but shared with other neurological diseases (Henstridge et al., 2016).

### 1.2.1.3. Meningeal inflammation

In recent years, several investigations have highlighted how the meninges are also affected by MS and show signs of inflammation (Dendrou et al., 2015). The more advanced and chronic phases of the disease appear especially characterised by meningeal damage. Indeed, in secondary progressive MS (SPMS), peculiar formations, namely the tertiary lymphoid structures, have been described in patients' meninges comprising lymphocytes (B and T cells) together with dendritic and endothelial cells (Pikor et al., 2016). These aggregates are thought to drive neuropathology as they have been associated with astrocytic dysfunction in SPMS (Howell et al., 2011) and microglia activation in primary progressive MS (PPMS) (Choi et al., 2012).

Moreover, meningeal inflammation has been repeatedly observed to affect the neighbouring cortex and to facilitate spreading of inflammation (Howell et al., 2011, Popescu and Lucchinetti, 2012). Also in the cerebellum, even in the absence of lymphoid-like structures, pathological changes have been reported in relation to subarachnoid inflammation (Howell et al., 2015).

Hence, inflammation in the meninges appears to be associated with GM pathology, especially in the progressive stages. However, accounts of meningeal damage have also been reported early on in the disease development even before WM lesions manifested, thus indicating a possible role in CNS attack and MS onset (Lucchinetti et al., 2011).

### 1.2.2. Neurodegeneration

The inflammatory response related to MS is accompanied by pathological processes that worsen as the duration of the disease course increases (Stadelmann et al., 2011). Consequently, neurodegeneration becomes a predominant feature of brain damage, especially in progressive MS (Mahad et al., 2015). It is worth noting that

axonal loss is observed during the acute phases of CNS damage, and also early on after disease onset (Trapp et al., 1998). However, it is only after a series of relapses have occurred that inadequate immune responses combined with accumulation of neuronal debris and loss of homeostasis in the neuronal environment lead to the death of neurons (Koudriavtseva and Mainero, 2017, Mandolesi et al., 2015). The pathological mechanisms thought to guide neurodegeneration in MS are reviewed below.

### 1.2.2.1. Astrocyte activation

In the healthy brain, astrocytes carry out several different protective (e.g. BBB), adaptive, regulatory, and supportive functions that enable normal brain development and functioning (Ludwin et al., 2016). Therefore, defining when reactive astrocytes become detrimental is still regarded as a challenge. Indeed, the role they play in MS pathology is yet not completely understood and it is highly likely that they have both a positive and a negative impact (Ponath et al., 2016, Williams et al., 2007).

It has been suggested that the valence of astrocytic activity may be classified according to the severity and timing of neural tissue injury, since in active lesions astrocytes have been shown to dispose of myelin and cellular debris as well as promote oligodendrocyte regeneration and remyelination (Guo et al., 2016, Ludwin et al., 2016). Moreover, they form perivascular scar-like barriers that prevent further lymphocytes from crossing the BBB (Voskuhl et al., 2009). However, in chronic long-lasting lesions gliosis occurs at a more consistent level, with astrocytes undergoing structural modifications that make them more rigid and lead to the formation of scars that inhibit regeneration (Ludwin, 2006). Hence, the scenario appears complex as recently highlighted by a paper reporting that microglia can activate a subtype of astrocytes that induce death of both neuron and oligodendrocytes (Liddelow et al., 2017). However, these findings were not specific to MS, but nonetheless showed a possible pathway of astrocytic influence on CNS injury.

# 1.2.2.2. Microglial activation

As for astrocytes, microglia cells also have important functions related to brain development and constant surveillance of brain homeostasis. However, microglia cells have been observed to exert both beneficial and detrimental influences on neural tissue affected by MS pathology: clearance from myelin debris that favours neuronal repair (Bogie et al., 2014, Napoli and Neumann, 2009) and phagocytosis of cells and parts of cells that lead to neurodegeneration (Kettenmann et al., 2011).

Indeed, Peferoen et al. (2015) have recently found that microglia can express both pro- and anti-inflammatory phenotypes in different stages of MS lesions. Furthermore, both in humans and animal models of MS, microglia activation seems to be associated with the formation of inflammatory lesions (Heppner et al., 2005, Ponomarev et al., 2005), oligodendrocyte pathology (Henderson et al., 2009), and axonal degeneration (Singh et al., 2013).

Therefore, it appears that complex interactions occur between oligodendrocytes, astrocytes and microglia both in health and disease. In fact, astrocytes and microglia promote axonal myelination in healthy brains, but when the CNS is attacked they can either foster possible induction of further oligodendrocyte death or facilitate remyelination after acute injury (Domingues et al., 2016). Hence, microglia may have a role in MS-related neural damage as part of a multifaceted picture.

#### 1.2.2.3. Mitochondria dysfunction and virtual hypoxia

Axonal mitochondria represent the fundamental sites of energy production that sustain normal axonal signal conduction and their functioning can be hampered by both demyelination and microglia activation (Mahad et al., 2015). Indeed, the release of reactive oxygen species and nitric oxide are among the reactions triggered by microglia activation observed in MS (Fischer et al., 2012, Gray et al., 2008) and thought to affect mitochondria dysfunction (Larsson, 2010, Stewart et al., 2000). Consistently, several different pathological processes appear to be associated with mitochondrial injury: alterations in mitochondrial DNA, increased production of reactive oxygen species, ion imbalance and cell death (Campbell et al., 2014, Mao and Reddy, 2010).

As a result, respiration occurring in these organelles is downregulated causing virtual hypoxia, i.e. a state of energy deficiency that can be significantly worsened by reduction in oxygen supply to affected tissues or by increased energy demands (Trapp and Stys, 2009). Indeed, the association between mitochondrial dysregulation and neurodegeneration may be due to the redistribution of ion channels on demyelinated axons and, more specifically, sodium channels (Bouafia et al., 2014, Roostaei et al., 2016, Shields et al., 2012, Waxman, 2006). Hence, the overload posed on mitochondria in order to re-establish ionic balance in axons may induce energy failure and a downward spiral of pathological processes ending in neuronal degeneration (McMahon et al., 2012, Trapp and Stys, 2009).

#### 1.2.2.4. Iron accumulation

In the brain iron is naturally stored in the myelin, oligodendrocytes and microglia (Mahad et al., 2015) and, in healthy people not affected by neurological conditions, it accumulates with age (Hametner et al., 2013, Ramos et al., 2014). In the absence of disease, iron plays an important role in maintaining normal levels of myelination as various iron-containing enzymes regulate oligodendrocyte precursor cells (Stephenson et al., 2014). However, when MS-related inflammation occurs and demyelination is triggered, iron is liberated in the intercellular space inducing an increase in toxicity of oxidative reactive species (Hametner et al., 2013).

The brain appears to be differentially affected by iron deposition, with deep GM structures being those experiencing the strongest effect, both in healthy adults and patients with MS from the early phases of the disease (Haider et al., 2014, Khalil et al., 2015, Ramos et al., 2014). Consistently, it has been observed that the basal ganglia and the thalamus are the most damaged GM structures in MS (Lansley 2014). Moreover, their atrophy appears to be associated both with the level of iron load and with degeneration of related WM tracts (Bergsland et al., 2016a) and to induce cognitive impairment (Modica et al., 2014). Therefore, iron accumulation seems to play a role in driving neurodegeneration and related clinical symptoms.

### 1.2.3. Neuroimaging investigations

The role of MRI in the diagnostic process of MS is crucial, considering the need to highlight brain lesions associated with clinical symptoms (see section 1.3.1). Hence, it comes as no surprise that the literature on neuroimaging studies on MS has flourished throughout the past decades in the attempt to characterise several structural and functional changes that accompany this disease. In this section a brief overview of the aforementioned line of research is provided.

## 1.2.3.1. Brain microstructure

Investigations on microstructural changes due to MS-related demyelination have especially relied on the use of diffusion tensor imaging (DTI), which allows the assessment of indirect indices of WM integrity, such as fractional anisotropy (FA), based on diffusivity properties of water molecules present in the brain (Le Bihan et al., 2001). Indeed, water diffuses in WM preferentially along the main direction of neural fibres. However, alterations to water diffusivity occur as a result of demyelination or other pathological processes and DTI can detect such changes (Sbardella et al., 2013b). In a meta-analysis comprising twelve studies, with a total of 495 patients with MS and 253 healthy controls, Welton et al. (2015) observed widespread alterations of WM microstructure, especially in the corpus callosum, periventricular areas and the fornix. Microstructural integrity of thalamic radiations and the fornix correlated with both disability and cognitive impairment. However, while damage to the posterior corpus callosum contributed to worse disability levels, deficits in cognition were related to lower FA in the anterior corpus callosum.

Several studies also investigated the dynamic relationship between lesion formation and microstructural alterations in WM. Some have found that the formation of new lesions, both infratentorial and supratentorial, induces subsequent FA changes in injured WM tracts (Droby et al., 2015a), with a particular vulnerability in both forcipes and the corticospinal tract (Chiang et al., 2016). Deppe et al. (2015) found decreased microstructural integrity in cerebellar normal appearing WM, but no reduction in WM volume. Interestingly, these modifications explained disability levels also when analyses focussed only on patients in the early phase of the disease. Moreover, a longitudinal study carried out on twenty-one patients starting natalizumab treatment found that changes in FA can precede the formation of new gadolinium-enhancing lesions by up to ten months (Ontaneda et al., 2014). Therefore, these results highlight the importance of taking into consideration not only the amount of detectable lesions, but also the status of normal appearing WM. Indeed, microstructural insults induced by inflammation may hamper neuronal signalling way before macroscopic manifestation of lesions and atrophy.

In line with the abovementioned results, decline in WM microstructural integrity has been associated with GM volumetric changes. In particular, thalamic atrophy was correlated with local decrease in FA rather than with total lesion volume (Deppe et al., 2016). Similarly, altered diffusivity properties detected in different WM tracts significantly explain degeneration of GM areas connected by the same tracts both in RRMS and in SPMS (Steenwijk et al., 2015a).

Consistent results were obtained also by means of magnetization transfer imaging: early WM alterations were evidenced in periventricular areas are correlated with severity of disability and predictive of conversion to clinically defined MS (Brown et al., 2017). Also the application of this MRI technique to GM found damage in the outermost cortical layers in several areas possibly caused by subpial demyelination (Rudko et al., 2016). Indeed, Yaldizli et al. (2016) highlighted pathological changes in diffusivity and magnetization transfer ratio in cortical lesions compared to normal appearing GM. However, the comparison of non-lesional GM between patients with MS and healthy controls detected alterations that were particularly accentuated in
the SPMS group. Thus, these studies show that microstructural changes due to MS pathology that also occur in normal appearing brain tissue are clinically relevant, and may shed light on clinical symptoms.

#### 1.2.3.2. Brain macrostructure

The observation of increased rates of brain volume loss associated with MS has been well established. Indeed, Vollmer et al. (2015) found that people with MS lose an average of 0.7% of brain volume per year compared to 0.1-0.3% in healthy agematched controls. Neurodegeneration, however, does not appear to be evenly spread throughout the brain. In a meta-analysis of 19 studies investigating GM atrophy in MS by means of voxel-based morphometry, some areas were found to be particularly hit by the disease: bilateral thalami, the basal ganglia, primary motor and somatosensory cortices, and the cingulate gyrus (Lansley et al., 2013). Severity of disability correlated not only with the volume of the left sensorimotor cortices but also, as found in a subsequent study, with thickness of the sensorimotor cortices (Steenwijk et al., 2015b). Similarly, degeneration in the visual pathways detected as thinning of the retinal layer by means of optical coherence tomography predicted volume reductions in the occipital cortex (Gabilondo et al., 2014).

Several studies consistently observed that subcortical GM nuclei are most deeply affected by MS pathology and thalamic atrophy is detected even in the presymptomatic stages and correlated with total lesion volume (Azevedo et al., 2015). Moreover, Bishop et al. (2017) found that the lower the age at onset, the worse the atrophy in two subcortical areas: the caudate and the hippocampus. After transition to SPMS with subsequent increase of neurodegenerative changes, worsening of volume loss can be observed, compared to the RRMS phase, in both the hippocampus and the cerebellum (Grothe et al., 2016).

Regarding the cause of GM atrophy characteristic of MS, two mechanisms have been proposed: primary degeneration due to GM lesions; and retrograde degeneration secondary to WM lesions leading to axonal transaction (Calabrese et al., 2015). Indeed, neuropathological studies have highlighted how demyelinating lesions occur and accumulate especially in some areas: GM sulci, where they cause oxidative stress that leads to direct GM degeneration; and WM watershed areas characterised by lower arterial blood supply and, therefore, higher vulnerability to degeneration associated with secondary GM volume loss (Haider et al., 2016). Moreover, total WM lesion volume is associated with thinning of different brain areas, especially involved in cognitive processes: the temporal pole, the entorhinal cortex and the posterior cingulate cortex (Steenwijk et al., 2015b).

The relationship between WM lesions and GM atrophy, however, may not be as straightforward as it seems. In fact, Zimmermann et al. (2015) compared two groups of patients with MS, one with cortical and one with spinal cord lesions, and found that the latter had a larger putamen than the former probably due to compensatory mechanisms within circuits involved in motor control.

In conclusion, it can be argued that MS causes brain atrophy across different brain regions, both cortical and subcortical, that worsens with progression and partially explains physical and cognitive disability.

## 1.2.3.3. Brain metabolism

The brain of people suffering from MS also undergoes metabolic changes that have been extensively documented by means of positron emission tomography (PET). Most studies used <sup>18</sup>F-fludeoxyglucose (<sup>18</sup>F-FDG), a radiopharmaceutical developed in order to quantify the cerebral metabolic rate of glucose utilization. A common finding is general decrease of glucose metabolism in MS affecting the cortex, deep GM, cerebellum and brain stem (Bakshi et al., 1998, Derache et al., 2006). Moreover, significant hypometabolism has also been observed in the spinal cord, especially in the thoracic and lumbar sections (Kindred et al., 2014). The frontal lobes, however, seem particularly vulnerable and metabolic deficiency in these brain regions and in the basal ganglia has been associated with symptoms of fatigue (Roelcke et al., 1997).

Structural brain damage may also have a relevant impact on glucose metabolism. In fact, Pozzilli et al. (1992) observed that patients with atrophy of the corpus callosum show a significant metabolic rate decrease confined to the left hemisphere yet in the absence of lateralization of lesion distribution when compared to patients without. This decrease appeared, however, generalised and widespread to frontal, parietal and temporal areas. Moreover, Derache et al. (2006) found that total lesion volume influenced metabolism especially of the right thalamus, a deep GM structure particularly affected in MS (Lansley et al., 2013).

In contrast, for WM metabolism the findings are not univocal. Bakshi et al. (1998) reported widespread WM hypometabolism, while Schiepers et al. (1997) found that the glucose metabolic rate of normal appearing WM in MS was comparable to that of healthy people. However, WM lesions showed in most cases an increment in

metabolism compared to normal appearing WM probably due to ongoing inflammation.

More recently, PET imaging has drawn increasing attention as evidenced by the development of new radioligands and their applications to investigate a variety of neuropathological processes associated with MS. In particular, <sup>11</sup>C-flumazenil, an antagonist of the central benzodiazepine site located on the gamma-Aminobutyric acid A receptor, has been used to quantify GM integrity (Freeman et al., 2015). Decreased <sup>11</sup>C-flumazenil binding was observed across various cortical and subcortical GM areas in patients with both RRMS and PPMS compared to healthy controls. Such findings suggest that this radioligand may be used to assess effectiveness of neuroprotective treatments (Moccia et al., 2017). Moreover, PET has enabled the in vivo investigation of neuroinflammation and microglia activation, especially by means of different radioligands binding to the 18-kDa translocator protein, a molecule present mainly on mitochondrial membrane of microglia cells and overexpressed in activated microglia cells (Airas et al., 2018). The <sup>18</sup>F-DPA714, a second-generation ligand characterised by significantly higher bioavailability to the brain and signal-to-noise ratio than other rarioligands, has been found to detect areas of local and diffuse neuroinflammation in progressive MS reliably (Hagens et al., 2018). Finally, WM integrity and the dynamics of demyelination have been studied by means of a variety of radioligands and, more recently, by using amyloid PET (Morbelli et al., 2019). Indeed, Pietroboni et al. (2019) found a decrease in <sup>18</sup>Fflorbetapir binding in normal appearing WM which was associated with reduced WM volume and CSF  $\beta$ -amyloid concentration.

In conclusion, PET imaging appears to detect consistent MS-related changes in metabolic rates, both in GM and WM, as well as molecular alterations which may represent biomarkers of neural damage associated with MS and could be used as outcome measures in future clinical trials.

## 1.2.3.4. Cerebral blood flow

Given the repeated observation of BBB disruption in MS (Ortiz et al., 2014), changes in cerebral perfusion due to this pathology have been extensively investigated. Studies using single positron emission tomography showed a reduction in perfusion both in GM and WM, especially in frontal areas and this was associated with level of disability (Lycke et al., 1993). In SPMS decreases appear to spread widely across the brain and involve also the temporal lobes, the thalamus, and the basal ganglia (Taghizadeh Asl et al., 2016).

Consistently with these findings arterial spin labelling MRI studies have also shown MS-related hypoperfusion. D'Haeseleer et al. (2013) found that cerebral blood flow was reduced in people with MS compared to healthy controls, but it increased to normal levels after injecting bosetan, i.e. an antagonist of the powerful vasoconstrictor endothelin-1. Indeed, endothelin-1 levels in MS patients were significantly higher than in healthy controls, probably because of an abnormal release by reactive astrocytes present in lesions. Interestingly, a hypercaphia study during which patients inhaled a gas mixture with 5% of carbon dioxide, which acts as vasodilator, found that patients with MS exhibit lower cerebrovascular reactivity than controls in several brain networks: the default mode network (DMN), the somatosensory and fronto-parietal networks (Marshall et al., 2016). Moreover, these deficits correlated with both GM atrophy and total lesion volume especially in the DMN probably due to higher vulnerability to hypoxia caused by reduced cerebrovascular reactivity. In fact, it seems that decreases in cerebral perfusion precede neurodegenerative changes as suggested in a study by Debernard et al. (2014) that found hypoperfusion in RRMS in the absence of significant GM volume loss.

Blood flow alterations, however, seem to be variable especially regarding WM lesions. In a longitudinal study Wuerfel et al. (2004) observed that changes in WM perfusion preceded enhancement and diffusivity changes with an initial increase of cerebral blood flow later declining weeks after enhancement detection. Hence, this study suggests that disease activity and inflammation induces an increased demand of blood flow in lesional tissue that is consistent with findings about metabolic rate changes (Schiepers et al., 1997). Consistently, when perfusion in lesions was compared to that in normal appearing WM, hyperperfusion was noted in the active lesions while inactive ones were hypoperfused (Li et al., 2014). However, more recently Sowa et al. (2015) found a general decrease in blood flow in WM lesions compared to normal appearing WM, but no activity classification and subsequent differential analysis of lesions was performed in this study.

Resting-state functional MRI has also been used to investigate perfusion of different functional networks showing that in SPMS both the DMN and the central executive network showed signs of decline (Ma et al., 2017). Furthermore, these changes correlated with perfusion alterations of both lesional and non-lesional WM rather than WM lesion volume, thus showing that severity rather than the extent of structural damage has an impact on cerebral blood flow. In fact, decline in perfusion of normal appearing WM consistently localises to periventricular areas (Adhya et al., 2006, Varga et al., 2009).

32

Cerebral perfusion is particularly affected in the progressive forms of MS since patients with PPMS show more marked WM hypoperfusion throughout the whole brain than people with RRMS (Adhya et al., 2006). However, disease activity also plays a major role in driving these changes as found by Bester et al. (2015): highly active patients have reduced cerebral blood volume and flow when compared to patients with low disease activity, even though these perfusion changes do not appear correlated with lesion volume and brain atrophy.

In conclusion, generally in MS cerebral perfusion appears to decline especially in periventricular normal appearing WM and frontal GM, while active lesions show perfusion increases (D'Haeseleer et al., 2015). Axonal loss and brain atrophy do not appear to be the cause of these changes as no significant associations have been found in several studies (Bester et al., 2015, Debernard et al., 2014). On the contrary, it seems plausible that hypoperfusion of some areas may cause structural degeneration (Marshall et al., 2016). Finally, although release of vasoconstrictors by reactive astrocytes may partially explain the observed alterations, currently no definite conclusions can be drawn from the available evidence (D'Haeseleer et al., 2013).

## 1.2.3.5. Functional connectivity and activation

In recent years many investigations have been carried out with the aim of clarifying which changes occur in functional networks in relation to MS by using resting-state functional MRI. The sensorimotor network in particular attracted particular attention given the prominence of somatosensory and motor symptoms experienced by this clinical population. However, currently available findings are quite variable: Lowe et al. (2008) found no differences in functional connectivity between patients with MS and healthy people while more recent studies have found both decreases (Janssen et al., 2013) and increases in this network (Basile et al., 2014, Faivre et al., 2012), especially in RRMS rather than in SPMS. Indeed, Dogonowski et al. (2013a) adopted a region of interest (ROI) approach and investigated the dorsal premotor cortices. They observed a left-lateralised increase in functional connectivity in RRMS, but not in SPMS, that correlated with EDSS scores.

Consistently, a graph-based study of functional connectivity in MS which analysed different voxel-wise measures of connectivity, i.e. without *a priori* definition of network nodes, found increases in peripheral areas of the sensorimotor network, but decreases in the left premotor cortex and in both primary sensory and motor cortices (Zhuang et al., 2015). Moreover, the observed changes in sensorimotor areas

correlated both with total lesion volume and EDSS scores. A similar scenario characterised by functional changes in both directions was observed also for patients with PPMS (Ceccarelli et al., 2010). Furthermore, during the execution of simple hand movements patients recruited a wider network of areas within and outside the sensorimotor network. This finding is in line with previous observations in people with RRMS executing both active (Rocca et al., 2003) and passive movements (Petsas et al., 2013). Particularly for SPMS stronger activation in primary sensorimotor areas ipsilateral to the moved hand was detected compared to RRMS, correlating with total lesion volume (Petsas et al., 2013). Therefore, the sensorimotor network appears to be affected and to undergo reorganizational changes that, considering the current level of knowledge, may be of a compensatory nature as well as a sign of inefficient neural recruitment during performance of simple motor tasks.

For other brain networks increased functional connectivity was more often reported in the DMN and especially evident in SPMS (Basile et al., 2014, Janssen et al., 2013). However, Bonavita et al. (2011) reported significant decreases in both anterior and posterior DMN. Moreover, these changes were accompanied by increased functional connectivity in areas surrounding the posterior section of the network and more evident in cognitively impaired patients. Changes in both directions were also reported for the visual network, but in general increases of functional connectivity are detected in various networks in RRMS (Faivre et al., 2012). Functional reorganization has also been seen for subcortical nuclei with both the basal ganglia and the thalamus more strongly connected to the sensorimotor network (Dogonowski et al., 2013b). However, decreases in connectivity between the thalamus and frontal, parietal and parahippocampal areas have also been detected, and these appear more pronounced in patients affected by long-standing MS (Liu et al., 2015). Similarly, the striatum also undergoes differential connectivity changes in MS: the dorsal putamen shows increased functional coupling with frontoparietal areas correlated with disability levels, while the ventral striatum is less connected to the posterior DMN (Cui et al., 2017). Similar findings were observed for the dentate nucleus in the cerebellum showing increased connectivity with frontoparietal areas that correlates negatively with both total lesion volume and disability levels (Sbardella et al., 2017).

To summarise, functional alterations of several networks occur in relation to MS mainly in the form of increased functional connectivity. These changes, the valence of which is still unclear, seem to be driven by spread of structural brain damage and associated with levels of disability (Sbardella et al., 2015a).

# 1.3. Clinical features of MS

#### 1.3.1. Diagnosis

The diagnosis of MS relies mainly on the identification of two distinct clinical attacks and on the demonstration of dissemination in time and space of CNS lesions. The McDonald criteria have been devised to reach clinical diagnosis (McDonald et al., 2001) and have been reported to show both high specificity and sensitivity (Dalton et al., 2002, Tintoré et al., 2003). In the past 15 years the McDonald criteria have undergone different revisions by the International Panel on Diagnosis of MS, lastly in 2017 (Polman et al., 2005, Polman et al., 2010, Thompson et al., 2017).

The differential diagnosis with other medical conditions can be carried out in steps in order to rule out non-demyelinating syndromes, non-inflammatory demyelinating diseases and idiopathic inflammatory demyelinating diseases other than MS (Miller et al., 2008). In particular, since the previous revision (Polman et al., 2010), the International Panel stressed the importance of differentiating between MS and neuromyelitis optica and its associated spectrum of disorders. Indeed, differences were observed in disease course, prognosis, and pathology that led the researchers to consider these conditions as separate.

In order to diagnose RRMS at least two different attacks in the absence of fever and inflammation, lasting 24 hours or longer, and manifesting either as new or exacerbation of symptoms must be clearly identified. The attacks can either be reported by patients or objectively observed, and referred to current or past events.

Even though the diagnosis could potentially be made on the basis of clinical history alone, at least one of the attacks should be corroborated by neurological findings, especially by means of MRI. Indeed, CNS lesions are the neuroradiological hallmark of MS and recommendations have been made about their detection to be spread in time and space. Dissemination in time can be demonstrated by showing the presence of a new lesion compared to a baseline MRI scan or by showing the presence of both gadolinium-enhancing and non-enhancing lesions in the same image (Montalban et al., 2010, Rovira et al., 2009). Dissemination in space can be demonstrated with the MRI detection of at least one lesion in at least two different CNS regions: periventricular, cortical/juxtacortical, infratentorial, or spinal cord (Swanton et al., 2006, Swanton et al., 2007). However, some modifications have been made to the MRI criteria to support MS diagnosis. In particular, both dissemination in time and dissemination in space can now be evidenced by the simultaneous presence of gadolinium-enhancing and non-enhancing lesions (Thompson et al., 2017).

For PPMS the criteria are slightly different and comprise a minimum of one year of progression of disease with continuous worsening of symptoms and two out of three objective pieces of evidence including: dissemination in space with at least a lesion in at least one of the periventricular, infratentorial or cortical/juxtacortical areas; dissemination in space of at least two spinal cord lesion; detection of oligoclonal bands by means of CSF analysis, especially in uncertain cases (Filippi et al., 2016, Polman et al., 2010).

Oligoclonal bands highlighted by analysing CSF have been found to be useful to predict a second attack in adults with typical CIS and, therefore, can now be used to overcome the lack of MRI findings in support of dissemination in time. However, some conditions need to be met: typical CIS presentation, evidence of dissemination in space, no better alternative explanation for the symptoms and the absence of other atypical CSF findings (Thompson et al., 2017).

Visual evoked potentials are used to assess the functionality of the visual system, but are not currently among the diagnostic criteria for MS and further evidence is needed in support of their inclusion.

Finally, although the peak age of onset for MS is around 30 years of age, this disease can also manifest in children. However, pediatric MS being out of the scope of investigation of the present PhD thesis, its clinical and radiological characteristics will not be discussed.

#### 1.3.2. MS phenotypes

Recent revisions to previous definitions of the clinical courses of MS (Lublin and Reingold, 1996) have been made with the aims of avoiding overly subjective interpretations of the disease course and of integrating objective biological evidence in the definition of MS phenotypes (Lublin et al., 2014).

Based on the clinical history of the manifestation of MS symptoms, it is possible to distinguish between two broad categories of relapsing and progressive phenotypes. However, common consensus is rising about the consideration of the different MS phenotypes as part of a spectrum of disorders (Ontaneda et al., 2016). In fact, two descriptors have been identified in order to characterise the ongoing disease process: activity and progression. Activity is clinically observed in terms of relapses and by means of MRI with the detection of new either T2 hyperintense or gadolinium-enhancing lesions. Progression, on the other hand, is the steady and objective increase of neurological dysfunction without definite recovery. Consensus has not been reached yet on what MRI indices may contribute to underlie disease

progression. The aforementioned descriptors may be applied to define both relapsing and progressive phenotypes better (Lublin et al., 2014).

#### 1.3.2.1. Clinically isolated syndrome (CIS)

CIS was proposed as one of the MS phenotypes by Lublin et al. (2014) and defined as the first clinical manifestation of inflammatory demyelinating disease potentially leading to MS but not meeting the criteria of dissemination in time. However, the modified McDonald criteria (Polman et al., 2010) have allowed the diagnosis of MS on the basis of a single clinical episode and a single MRI scan on which both enhancing and non-enhancing lesions are shown, thus limiting the identification of CIS cases.

As for the other phenotypes it is also possible to distinguish between non-active and active disease for CIS based on the presence of enhancing lesions on MRI scans. Active CIS is considered to be suggestive of MS conversion since the presence of numerous lesions and oligoclonal bands has been observed to predict disease evolution (Kuhle et al., 2015, Tintoré et al., 2006).

#### 1.3.2.2. Radiologically isolated syndrome (RIS)

RIS is a condition that consists of incidental MRI findings compatible with demyelinating processes but in the absence of any sign or symptom (Lublin et al., 2014). Its prevalence is still debated also in the light of variability in the definition of different lesion subtypes and among different populations. However, it has been consistently reported as very low in the population, with figures lying between 0.05 and 0.2% (Granberg et al., 2013, Lebrun, 2015). Interestingly, it has been found that RIS is more frequent among relatives of people affected by MS than in the general population (De Stefano et al., 2006, Gabelic et al., 2013).

The debate on whether to categorise RIS as an MS phenotype or not is still open, and this condition is thought to be an initial transitory phase to follow up in order to track a possible full manifestation of MS. Indeed, it has been shown that RIS can evolve both into CIS/RRMS and PPMS (Kantarci et al., 2015, Okuda et al., 2014). Male sex and presence of spinal cord lesions were highlighted as the strongest predictors of conversion particularly, combined with age, to PPMS (Kantarci et al., 2015). However, currently RIS is not included among the different MS phenotypes.

#### 1.3.2.3. RRMS

The most common MS phenotype is RRMS. It is diagnosed in about 85% of the total MS patient population (Howard et al., 2016). Diagnosis can either be made from onset, also with a single MRI scan showing enhancing as well as non-enhancing lesions, or result from the evolution of active CIS. Indeed, in order to diagnose RRMS at least two different clinical attacks must be identified and supported by proof of lesions spread in time and space (Lublin et al., 2014).

Patients affected by a relapsing-remitting disease course experience relapses that can last from days to months and are usually accompanied by raising levels of disability. However, each relapse is followed by partial or full recovery from symptoms with subsequent amelioration of general conditions (Lublin et al., 2014). This gives to RRMS a peculiar fluctuating clinical course (

Figure 1.1).

As reported in the last revision of the classification of MS phenotypes, RRMS can be either active or not active depending on the presence of gadolinium-enhancing lesions and/or clinical attacks over a period of time (Lublin et al., 2014).



**Figure 1.1** Possible clinical evolution of RRMS: a. relapses followed by full recovery; b. relapses followed by partial recovery and accumulation of disability over time.

#### 1.3.2.4. SPMS

After a variable number of cycles of relapses and remissions over a period of 10 to 15 years from onset of RRMS, most patients experience transition to SPMS (Rovaris et al., 2006). Indeed, after 26 years from disease onset up to 90% of patients have been observed to have converted to SPMS (Weinshenker et al., 1989). High age at onset was found to be the strongest predictor of conversion, followed by male gender, time to second attack, and presence of visual/brain stems signs (Confavreux et al., 2000).

Over time the accumulation of brain insults, initially driven by inflammation, evolves into an untreatable neurodegenerative downward spiral paralleled by a steady increase of disability. Although degeneration of brain tissue is the main pathological feature, inflammatory activity may remain as a background process (Figure 1.2). In fact, also progressive MS (both secondary and primary) may be classified as active or not active like RRMS if enhancing lesions are detected (Lublin et al., 2014).



**Figure 1.2** Possible clinical evolution of SPMS: a. an initial RRMS phase is followed by disability progression; b. relapses occur during the initial stages of disability progression.

Diagnosis of SPMS can be made only retrospectively by documenting a history of gradual worsening of symptoms over at least 6 months prior to the diagnosis in the absence of clearly defined relapses (Lublin et al., 2014, Rovaris et al., 2006). However, the establishment of the transition from RRMS to SPMS currently still represents a major issue and an agreed definition of SPMS is still lacking (Lorscheider et al., 2016). This is due to several factors: first, conversion is a gradual process that occurs over time; second, pathological processes that characterise progressive courses are triggered during the RRMS phase; and finally, the limitations of imaging biomarkers of progression (Lublin et al., 2014).

#### 1.3.2.5. PPMS

In the MS spectrum, PPMS is the least prevalent phenotype affecting between 10 and 15% of the whole MS patient population (Koch et al., 2009, Miller and Leary, 2007). It is characterised by a steady increase of disability since onset in the absence of any clearly defined clinical attacks (Figure 1.3). From a pathophysiological point of view, this disease course is driven by prominent underlying neurodegenerative processes rather than inflammatory activity (Ontaneda et al., 2016). However, similarly to SPMS, PPMS can also manifest in multiple different ways and show activity along with progression as highlighted by

the newly proposed descriptions of progressive MS: active with progression, active without progression, not active with progression, or not active without progression. This revised classification allowed for better identification of those PPMS cases in whom clinical attacks might occur and led to the elimination of the previously recognised progressive-relapsing MS phenotype now accounted for as active PPMS (Lublin et al., 2014).



**Figure 1.3** Possible clinical evolution of PPMS: a. disability worsens steadily from disease onset; b. disability worsens from disease onset but with periods of stability (plateaus) and temporary mild improvements.

At present, the supposed differences between PPMS and SPMS are still debated and it is widespread opinion that pathologically the two phenotypes can be regarded as fairly similar (Ontaneda et al., 2016). Indeed, contrast-enhancing lesions indicating presence of activity have been reported in PPMS as well as in SPMS (Ingle et al., 2005). Moreover, Frischer et al. (2009) reported that inflammation is consistently found in both progressive phenotypes and linked to axonal injury. These findings combined with the current lack of consensus on any possible biomarkers that would enable us to differentiate between phenotypes leaves this scenario quite unclear. As a result the distinction between progressive forms of MS relies on the obvious absence of previous history of distinct attacks in PPMS (Lublin et al., 2014).

#### 1.3.3. Signs and symptoms

MS being characterised by widespread lesions throughout the whole CNS in sites varying from patient to patient, it follows that the disease symptomatology is multifaceted. In fact, depending on lesion location, different systems can be affected, from sensory perception and motor function to mood and cognition.

Therefore, different scales have been developed in order to assess the complexity of the clinical picture that usually accompanies MS. The examination of the severity

of the general clinical conditions of patients affected by MS is commonly achieved by means of the Expanded Disability Status Scale (EDSS) (Kurtzke, 1983). This tool allows a quick assessment of different functional systems, apart from cognition and mood, on a scale from 0 (normal neurological conditions) to 10 (death due to MS). The EDSS has been criticised for its psychometric properties given its low inter-rater reproducibility, low responsiveness to change, and lack of assessment of patient's perception of MS (Hobart et al., 2000). Despite these criticisms the EDSS is currently the most commonly used scale to keep track of the clinical course of this disease.

An alternative scale worth mentioning is the Multiple Sclerosis Functional Composite (MSFC) developed especially with the aim of overcoming EDSS drawbacks as a clinical trial outcome measure of clinical disability (Cutter et al., 1999). The MSFC was the result of a meta-analysis of clinical trials and it was designed to comprise three objective and quantitative measures: the 25-foot walk and the 9-hole peg test for motor function of the leg and the arm respectively, and the Paced Auditory Serial Addition Test (PASAT) as a simple measure of cognitive status. Research has shown contrasting results when comparing the MSFC with other scales of disability: on one hand, it has shown better psychometric properties than the EDSS in relation to both clinical and MRI outcome measures (Rudick et al., 2002). On the other hand, in comparison with other scales it appeared not to be detecting some of the functional changes experienced by patients (Hoogervorst et al., 2001).

All the currently available examination scales have shortcomings, probably due to the variety of manifestations MS can display. For this reason a brief discussion of the most common signs and symptoms characterising MS will follow.

#### 1.3.3.1. Fatigue

Fatigue is a common symptom across a wide range of neurological disorders including MS (Kluger et al., 2013). This symptom, in fact, is reported by 40% to 80% of the patients and is associated with poor quality of life (Amato et al., 2001, Hadjimichael et al., 2008, Lerdal et al., 2007). Even though fatigue has been repeatedly found to be independent of many other debilitating symptoms, a concordant definition still remains elusive as well as the determination of a criterion of clinical relevance (Kluger et al., 2013). A possible explanation may reside in the fact that fatigue can be conceptualised as a multicomponential phenomenon related to different factors contributing to its manifestation.

A first classification of different types of fatigue has been proposed on the basis of the underlying cause: primary fatigue, thought to derive directly from the pathological mechanisms characterising a neurological disorder, and secondary fatigue, considered to be a consequence of other factors such as drugs, sleep disorders etc. Despite possible similarities between the two phenomena, distinguishing primary from secondary fatigue may have beneficial effects both on the investigation of its physiological causes and on treatment choice (Kluger et al., 2013).

Second, various authors have differentiated between the subjective perception of fatigue, usually measured by means of patient-reported measures such as the Modified Fatigue Impact Scale (MFIS) (Fisk et al., 1994b) or the Fatigue Severity Scale (FSS) (Krupp et al., 1989), and performance fatigability, defined as objectively measurable amount of change in task performance over time compared to a reference value. In MS the two constructs have been reported to be independent of each other (Bailey et al., 2007) and according to Kluger et al. (2013) they are determined by different factors: homeostatic and psychological factors are thought to affect fatigue perception, while peripheral and central nervous system anomalies may influence performance fatigability.

In MS in particular, fatigue appears to be related to both cognitive deficits and depression (Brenner and Piehl, 2016). Indeed, various investigations have found that both fatigue perception and fatigability are related to declining alertness (Neumann et al., 2014, Weinges-Evers et al., 2010). However, it is worth mentioning the fact that different operationalisations of cognitive fatigability have been attempted and a comprehensive theorisation has not been put forward yet (Harrison et al., 2016).

Brain changes occurring in patients with MS have also been associated with selfreported fatigue, particularly reduced microstructural integrity of the thalamus (Wilting et al., 2015) and of the connections between the hypothalamus and the locus coeruleus (Hanken et al., 2016). Moreover, atrophy in WM surrounding the thalamus appeared more severe in fatigued patients (Wilting et al., 2015) and both thalamic and cerebellar volume in the early stages of MS significantly predicted worsening of fatigue symptoms (Nourbakhsh et al., 2016). By contrast, investigations by means of functional MRI, instead, have mainly highlighted the involvement of dysfunction in the thalamic-striatal-cortical circuit and a disconnection between thalamus and basal ganglia from the prefrontal cortex, probably associated with deficits in reward-effort calculations (Dobryakova et al., 2013, Engström et al.,

42

2013). Interestingly, deep GM structures have been found severely atrophic in people with MS compared to healthy subjects (Lansley et al., 2013).

Different hypotheses have been proposed so far to explain MS-related fatigue. In light of the aforementioned cortico-striatal dysfunction, Dobryakova et al. (2015) suggested that an underlying imbalance in the dopaminergic system could account for subjectively reported fatigue. Within this framework high rates of fatigue observed in Parkinson's disease might also be explained (Kluger et al., 2013). Alternatively, Patejdl et al. (2015) proposed that neuroinflammation, in particular some subtypes of cytokines, may play a considerable role in inducing fatigue symptoms as observed in animal models and partially replicated in humans. According to this hypothesis neurons in the area postrema and the vagus nerve detect abnormal levels of cytokines and send signals to the central amygdala inducing the so-called "sickness behaviour". Hence, altered activation of limbic structures and cingulo-insular areas, worsened by widespread cortical and subcortical atrophy, would result in subjective feelings of fatigue (Hanken et al., 2014). However, no definite conclusions have been drawn yet about the neurophysiological mechanisms explaining fatigue probably because of the current limitations related to its operational definition.

#### 1.3.3.2. Motor symptoms

Motor dysfunction in MS can manifest in many different forms. At onset, one of the most commonly reported symptoms is limb weakness, i.e. reduced strength of muscle contraction, usually with a unilateral presentation (Compston et al., 2006). It was observed that weakness can be largely independent of the level of fatigue or peripheral muscle function (Ng et al., 2004). A recent investigation carried out in Australia found that up to 70% of people with MS presents with weakness in at least one muscle group (Hoang et al., 2013). Regarding the neural correlates of this debilitating symptom, lesions to the spinal cord, in particular to descending fibres of the corticospinal tract, are considered the prominent cause even though Reich et al. (2007) observed an association between the presence of weakness and altered diffusivity measure in the cerebral portion of the corticospinal tract.

Another symptom equally related to spinal cord injuries, especially affecting upper motor neurons, is spasticity, i.e. increased muscle stretch reflex at time accompanied by pain (Compston et al., 2006). From a survey carried out on a cohort of 10353 people with MS from the North American Research Committee on Multiple Sclerosis, it emerged that 80% of patients experience spasms mainly in the

lower limbs (Bethoux and Marrie, 2016). This symptom was also associated with worse and more widespread levels of disability. A definite explanation of the neuropathological mechanisms generating spasticity has not been found yet. However, dysfunction of the supraspinal inhibitory pathways may explain hyperexcitability of the stretch reflex (Mukherjee and Chakravarty, 2011). Consistently, Boutière et al. (2016) observed that combining physical rehabilitation with intermittent theta burst transcranial magnetic stimulation over the primary motor cortex induced ameliorations in spasticity with associated reorganizations in functional connectivity (FC) of the contralateral homologous cortex.

By contrast, lesions to the brainstem may involve the oculomotor nuclei or their connections and cause eye movement signs such as nystagmus (involuntary movements) observed in 15-48% of patients with MS (Hickman et al., 2014). Also cerebellar injury is thought to play a causal role in the genesis of alterations of saccadic movements in MS. Whether a relationship between eye movement and other motor impairments exists remains still debated (Moroso et al., 2016). However, both eye and hand motor functionalities have been found to have an impact on the performance in the Symbol Digit Modalities Test (SDMT), a test of visual information processing speed considered a good tool to discriminate between people with and without MS (Hughes et al., 2011, Nygaard et al., 2015).

Motor speech disorders, namely dysarthria, can also arise from brainstem and cerebellar demyelinating pathology in about half of all the patients with MS (Hartelius et al., 2000). The two most common types of dysarthria reported in MS are the spastic type, due to corticobulbar tract injury, and the ataxic type, caused by cerebellar lesions (Rampello et al., 2016).

When the cerebellum is affected by MS pathology different motor and cognitive dysfunctions may arise (Weier et al., 2015). In particular, cerebellar signs balance problems are often observed, and they may be related to a higher rate of falls and consequently have a detrimental impact on the functional status of patients (Sosnoff et al., 2011). Equally limiting for patients' mobility is gait ataxia, i.e. the lack of coordination of lower limbs movements (Compston et al., 2006). Indeed, people with MS have been reported to have greater gait movement fluctuations than healthy controls and this finding significantly correlated with risk of falls (Socie and Sosnoff, 2013).

Finally, tremor has also been documented in a large portion of about 45% of people with MS (Rinker et al., 2015). Cerebellar damage is thought to play a central role in the manifestation of tremor symptoms in MS, though it appears not to provide a comprehensive explanation of this phenomenon (Ayache et al., 2015). Indeed, brain

stem lesions may contribute to this symptom (Ayache et al., 2015) as well as damage in the thalamus given the effectiveness of thalamotomy as treatment for tremor in MS (Mathieu et al., 2007).

## 1.3.3.3. Autonomic symptoms

Various autonomic symptoms often recur within the clinical landscape of MS (Haensch and Jörg, 2006, Vieira et al., 2015), but few investigations have been carried out so far especially regarding the underlying pathophysiology (Lensch and Jost, 2011). The most commonly observed autonomic dysregulations affect preferentially gastrointestinal, lower urinal and sexual functions (Haensch and Jörg, 2006).

Gastrointestinal symptoms are experienced by more than half of MS patients, though reported figures are highly variable between 40% and 80% (Levinthal et al., 2013, Vieira et al., 2015). In particular, constipation and incontinence are the most common manifestations associated with a wide range of clinical symptoms (Levinthal et al., 2013) that have been reported by people with MS to be affecting their quality of life equally to mobility limitations (Norton and Chelvanayagam, 2010). Urogenital symptoms have been recently investigated in a large cohort of patients with MS in North America yielding a striking figure of 92% prevalence of neurogenic lower urinary tract dysfunction (Khalaf et al., 2015). As for gastrointestinal dysfunction, the presence of these symptoms has also been linked to decreased quality of life in MS (Browne et al., 2015). The neuropathological correlates appear to be quite variable since cerebral, pontine, but even spinal lesions were observed to be associated with bladder function dysregulation (Charil et al., 2003, Di Benedetto et al., 2008).

Finally, another autonomic symptom with a deep impact on the life of people with MS is sexual dysfunction reported by 60-70% of patients (Celik et al., 2013, Zorzon et al., 2001). Specific symptoms may vary according to gender: indeed men report mainly erectile problems (Zorzon et al., 2001), while women appear to be more troubled by lack of sexual desire (Celik et al., 2013). However, sexual dysfunction represents a complex phenomenon possibly caused at different levels. In fact, aside from primary sexual problems due to MS pathology, also secondary, i.e. other MS-related physical problems, and tertiary causes, namely psychosocial factors, can have a detrimental impact on the sexual function of people with MS (Pintér et al., 2015). Both cerebral lesions, particularly in insular areas (Winder et al., 2016), and pons volume (Zivadinov et al., 2003) have been linked to sexual problems in

patients with MS. However, considering the multifaceted scenario related to the possible causes, it appears plausible that multiple sites of lesion may play a role in the aetiology of this symptom.

#### 1.3.3.4. Sensory symptoms

Sensory symptoms are often among the first to manifest when demyelination spreads and in particular in two sensory modalities: visual and somatosensory. In fact, demyelination of the optic nerve, i.e. optic neuritis, affects up to 70% of people with MS and manifests as an onset symptom in 25% of cases causing visual perceptual problems such as blurred vision, vision loss, and dyschromatopsia (Toosy et al., 2013). A longitudinal study found that 50% of all the optic neuritis cases have evolved into MS 15 years from onset (Optic Neuritis Study Group, 2008). Indeed, optic neuritis has long been established as a core symptom often associated with MS, though found also in other pathologies related to MS like neuromyelitis optica (de Seze, 2013). Moreover, demyelination of visual pathways may have a negative impact on cognitive functions because of degraded sensory signal processing. History of neuro-ophthalmic syndromes in people with MS, in fact, was found to affect performance in tests of processing speed (PS) delivered by means of visually presented material (Costa et al., 2015).

Similarly paraesthesiae, i.e. somatosensory perception alterations, usually manifest in MS as tingling sensations, numbness, and loss of proprioception. They are observed as core symptoms at onset in up to 20% of MS cases (Compston et al., 2006) and are eventually reported by about 40% of patients (Rae-Grant et al., 1999). Demyelination to the afferent somatosensory pathways is thought to be the main underlying cause and was observed to have an impact on both balance and walking functions (Fling et al., 2014, Thoumie and Mevellec, 2002). In particular Fling et al. (2014) found that microstructural degeneration of the right cerebral portion of the proprioceptive pathways affected balance control in people with MS. Consistently, balance problems in a sample of patients with MS were also associated with slowed spinal conduction of somatosensory information, thus indicating spinal injury as the main neural correlate of somatosensory deficits (Cameron et al., 2008).

Moreover, the presence of different manifestations of MS-related painful sensations is recurrent and reported by about 57% to 65% of patients (O'Connor et al., 2007). In general, the cause is thought to be lesions to the spinal cord and the brain stem (Mazhari, 2016).

As for disturbances of the other sensory modalities, little research has been carried out, perhaps because of lower prevalence rates compared to visual and somatosensory symptoms. However, MS-related lesion formation across the brain being a random process, at least based on current knowledge, occasional demyelinating lesions to sensory pathways have been proved to cause deficits in various auditory (Furst and Levine, 2015), gustatory (Doty et al., 2016), and olfactory tasks (Good et al., 2017).

#### 1.3.3.5. Cognitive symptoms

A considerable proportion of people affected by MS complains of cognitive decline, usually affecting multiple domains and often referred to as "brain fog" (Mazanderani et al., 2013). Indeed, figures commonly reported in the literature identify between 43 and 70% of patients as being cognitively impaired (Chiaravalloti and DeLuca, 2008, Rao et al., 1991). The great variability of the abovementioned rates may be due to differences in the tests used to assess cognitive functions and the diagnostic criteria for cognitive impairment set by individual studies. Fischer et al. (2014) have, in fact, highlighted how different approaches were used regarding both the minimum number of cognitive domains affected and the threshold for each domain to be considered impaired in comparison to a population of healthy controls. The situation depicted appears complicated and has not been addressed in a systematic way yet, making it impossible to obtain more accurate figures about cognitive impairment in MS. However, despite current uncertainties, worse cognitive status has been consistently associated with unemployment and lower quality of life (Campbell et al., 2017b, Nunan-Saah et al., 2015). Moreover, cognition could also be particularly influenced by the presence of affective problems and in particular severe depression (Golan et al., 2017).

Whether and to what extent cognitive decline in MS may lead to dementia is still an overlooked issue, probably because of the hesitation to use this term applied to a clinical population of predominantly young and middle aged people rather than older adults (Westervelt, 2015). The only study to date that has investigated the rate of dementia due to MS retrospectively found that 22% of patients met the criteria for dementia diagnosis (Benedict and Bobholz, 2007). However, this field of research remains largely unexplored while cognitive impairment in a broader sense has been intensively studied also in relation to the underlying neuropathology (Chiaravalloti and DeLuca, 2008). Cognitive deficits have been detected from the very early stages and even in the RIS phenotype (Lebrun et al., 2010). Indeed, cognitive

performance seems to be as affected as in patients with MS without major differences between RIS, CIS and MS (Labiano-Fontcuberta et al., 2016, Lebrun et al., 2010). Nevertheless, when RRMS has been contrasted to progressive forms of MS, dominated by neurodegenerative processes, different studies confirmed that the cognitive performance of patients affected by the latter type is significantly worse (Planche et al., 2015, Rosti-Otajärvi et al., 2014).

The cognitive domains mostly affected in MS include slowed processing of information and problems with learning which are the most common deficits observed (figures are variable around 50%), followed by attention and executive functions (Chiaravalloti and DeLuca, 2008, Hämäläinen and Rosti-Otajärvi, 2016). Deficits in PS function have long been established in MS by means of various tasks and appear to be one of the core symptoms (Bodling et al., 2012, Denney et al., 2004, Kail, 1998, Salthouse, 1992, Wojtowicz et al., 2012). Indeed, they have a wide impact on patients' lives: Labiano-Fontcuberta et al. (2016) found that PS deficits are associated with worse depressive symptoms in caregivers.

Although mood and physical problems may have an impact on cognitive functioning, Denney et al. (2004) found that lower PS performance was the only significant cognitive deficit after controlling for levels of fatigue and depressive symptoms when patients were compared to healthy controls. Moreover, slowed cognition has also been observed in the absence of slowed motor function indicating that the two domains can, to some extent, be affected independently from one another (Binétruy et al., 2016).

It has been argued that PS decline in MS resembles that observed in healthy aging (Denney et al., 2004). In this line of research one study investigated the potential relationship between MS and aging but found no interactions between age and disease status, i.e. age-related decline in PS does not appear accelerated by MS (Bodling et al., 2009). However, impairments differ across phenotypes with progressive forms of MS showing worse PS performance than RRMS (De Sonneville et al., 2002). Additionally, deficits in PS-dependent tasks have also been reported in CIS patients suggestive of MS conversion (Viterbo et al., 2013). Further discussion on theories of PS function in MS and about the relationship between PS deficits and decline in other cognitive domains will be extensively treated in Chapter 2.

Working memory is another cognitive function whose different subcomponents have been intensively investigated in MS. In the visuospatial domain, issues appear to be mainly related to the initial processing and encoding of information rather than to the subsequent storage and retrieval stages (Gmeindl and Courtney, 2012). Indeed, spatial reorienting of attention has been found to be slower in patients with MS compared to controls. Indeed, in verbal working memory, especially studied comparing performance on n-back tasks and on the PASAT, deficits have been observed in the central executive system (Baddeley and Hitch, 1974) and mainly related to speed of information processing (Lengenfelder et al., 2003, Parmenter et al., 2006). Moreover, Covey et al. (2017) found that even in the absence of behavioural differences in accuracy on the n-back task between patients and controls, task-related electrophysiological brain activity appeared altered in MS thus indicating a susceptibility to dysfunction.

Partially related to working memory, attentional capacities are also differentially affected in MS. Investigations using tasks of selective attention, in which the focus of attentional resources is crucial, have shown deficits correlated with level of patients' disability (Adler and Lembach, 2015, Shawaryn et al., 2002b). On the contrary, mixed findings were obtained for divided attention, i.e. the ability to allocate attentional resources to different information sources and to carry out multiple tasks at the same time. While an early study found that divided attention may be impaired when PS demands are high (Paul et al., 1998), recently Williams et al. (2016) found no differences in performance between patients and controls. However, deficits have been consistently reported across sensory modalities and appear amplified in ecological assessment settings, such as virtual reality (Lamargue-Hamel et al., 2015, McCarthy et al., 2005, Tinnefeld et al., 2005, Urbanek et al., 2010).

Declarative long term memory has long been established as one of the core cognitive dysfunctions in MS (Grant et al., 1984). The scientific debate on what memory process is mostly affected by this disease stemmed from contrasting findings related to learning and retrieval stages. Indeed, while Rao et al. (1989) found that retrieval of stored information was prominently impaired in contrast to preserved short term memory retrieval, most studies have highlighted specific deficits in the acquisition of new memories (DeLuca et al., 1994, Grant et al., 1984, Kessler et al., 1992). In line with that, PS deficits have been suggested to influence the ability of patients to process effectively information that needs to be encoded and subsequently stored in long term memory (Beatty et al., 1989, Chiaravalloti et al., 2003).

As for the most complex cognitive abilities, i.e. executive functions, several investigations found deficits in patients affected by MS especially in planning abilities, partially thought to be driven by PS decline (Arnett et al., 1997), and problem solving, especially related to concept formation (Beatty and Monson, 1996, Goverover et al., 2013). Executive deficits may also have a wider impact on

cognitive functioning since they seem to predict lack of retrieval facilitation of selfgenerated information which is usually remembered better than externally provided information (Goverover et al., 2013). Consistently, abstraction and conceptual issues have been detected by Cerezo García et al. (2015) in a case-control study carried out on 100 people with MS. They found that 71% of patients showed impaired performance in at least 5 out of 16 tests and 3 different executive domains emerged as impaired: abstraction, mental flexibility and inhibitory abilities.

Finally, it is worth mentioning that given the diffuse and random spreading of demyelinating lesions, other neuropsychological deficits have occasionally been reported in MS, such as aphasia (Devere et al., 2000), diagnosed in 17% of the cases (Staff et al., 2009), and limb apraxia, i.e. issues with motor planning not explained by sensory loss or paralysis (Kamm et al., 2012), affecting especially gait (Abou Zeid et al., 2009).

## 1.3.3.6. Psychiatric and behavioural symptoms

In a meta-analysis, Rosti-Otajärvi and Hämäläinen (2012) highlighted how several symptoms of a psychiatric, affective, and behavioural nature show higher rates in people with MS compared to healthy controls. However, major depressive disorder has long been recognised as the most common psychiatric condition related to MS. Indeed, it is diagnosed in 30% to 50% of all patients and for this reason has featured in a large part of the scientific literature on the mental health of people with MS (Boeschoten et al., 2016, Feinstein et al., 2014). It was found to deeply affect quality of life of patients (Fruehwald et al., 2001) as well as cognitive function (Golan et al., 2017), and to contribute to suicidal ideation, constituting a crucial threat for both ineffective clinical management of disease course and patients' lives (Lewis et al., 2016, Viner et al., 2014). Hasselmann et al. (2016) investigated the differences in clinical phenotypes between MS-related depression and idiopathic major depressive disorder, and found no significant sources of divergence between the two. However, qualitative differences in the manifestation of symptoms have been detected: while the former may be more characterised by irritability and frustration, the latter is usually mainly dominated by feelings of low self-esteem and guilt (Minden et al., 1987).

Contrasting evidence has emerged so far about the prevalence of depressive symptoms across MS phenotypes. No differences were found by Chwastiak et al. (2002) while, more recently, it has been reported that the prevalence of major depressive disorder in progressive MS is almost double than RRMS (Lorefice et al.,

2015). However, severity of disease was significantly correlated with the severity of depressive symptoms, thus pointing at the relevance of the degree of disability for the manifestation of depressed mood (Chwastiak et al., 2002). The neural correlates of depression in MS are yet to be fully understood as variable findings have been published so far, even though different MRI measures have consistently underlined the role of fronto-temporal damage in the genesis of depressive symptoms (Feinstein et al., 2010, Pujol et al., 2000, Zorzon et al., 2002). Hippocampal atrophy, possibly related to dysfunction of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis, has also been observed in depressed patients with MS (Fassbender et al., 1998, Gold et al., 2010, Gold et al., 2014b). Additionally, performance on a task of emotional stimuli processing was associated with increased activation of the ventromedial prefrontal cortex (VMPFC) in patients with MS (without depressive or anxious symptoms) compared to healthy controls (Passamonti et al., 2009). The VMPF was also less functionally connected with the amygdala, thus indicating the presence of dysregulation, and possibly susceptibility, in emotion processing even in nondepressed patients. Finally, Bonavita et al. (2017) have recently shown that functional connectivity in different brain networks is altered in depressed patients with MS and specifically in the posterior DMN: a hub whose dysregulation may underlie both depressive and cognitive symptoms.

The prevalence of bipolar disorder among people with MS has been observed to range between 6.5% and 10%, twice as high as in the general population (Carta et al., 2013, Jun-O'Connell et al., 2016, Schiffer et al., 1986). A recent review highlighted that bipolar disorder may also arise prior to MS onset and be particularly characterised by maniac symptoms (Marangoni et al., 2015). Strikingly, when a comparison with the body of literature on MS-related depression is drawn, almost no attempts at characterising the neural correlates of bipolar disorder in MS can be identified. In a case series study only one report of a new orbitofrontal lesion concomitant with a manic attack was noted (Sidhom et al., 2014). Marangoni et al. (2015) found no association with WM lesion location.

Also cases of euphoria, defined as an overly optimistic attitude despite physical and mental conditions, have been observed in patients affected by MS with a prevalence of about 11% to 14%, although earlier investigations reported much higher rates probably due to different clinical definitions (Diaz-Olavarrieta et al., 1999, Duncan et al., 2016, Fishman et al., 2004). Whether and what MS-related brain damage underlies manifestations of euphoria has not been clarified yet, since only one study found the symptom correlated with global GM volume (Sanfilipo et al., 2006).

Moreover, another affective disorder observed in about 10% of patients and distinct from both depressive and anxious symptoms is pseudobulbar affect, i.e. the involuntary manifestation of emotions, especially crying and laughing, in the absence of an evident cause (Feinstein et al., 1997). The aetiology of this disorder is not completely understood and only one study has investigated the underlying neuropathological basis and found a correlation with a widespread pattern of damage between frontal, parietal and brain stem areas (Ghaffar et al., 2008). Indeed, this disorder has been associated with damage to a complex cerebral network involved in emotional processing (King and Reiss, 2013). Interestingly, Hanna et al. (2016) showed that pseudobulbar affect also appears to have a negative impact on verbal memory, but to draw firm conclusions on the clinical implications of these findings further investigations are needed.

Consistently with the aforementioned clinical scenario, social cognition and emotional processing have also been repeatedly found impaired in MS, involving the understanding of others' emotions and mental states (Cotter et al., 2016). A disconnection mechanism has been proposed to explain such deficits as correlations with both WM and GM areas were detected, especially in medial frontal and temporal areas (Mike et al., 2013). Similar results were obtained by Batista et al. (2017) who, however, found that amygdala volume was the best predictor of differences in social cognitive processing between patients and healthy controls. In fact these results complement the functional dysregulation between the amygdala and the VMPFC observed by Passamonti et al. (2009).

Additionally, a recent meta-analysis found that anxiety problems are experienced by 22% of patients with MS (Boeschoten et al., 2016) and appear to affect mood and to be particularly associated with depression (Gay et al., 2017). In particular, within the anxiety spectrum generalised anxiety disorder is the most commonly diagnosed and linked to lower levels of social support and various comorbidities (Korostil and Feinstein, 2007). The cause of anxiety disorders in MS has not been elucidated so far and the neural correlates still remain elusive. Indeed, while Lin et al. (2013) found an association between anxiety measures and the volume of the right middle and superior frontal gyri, most studies failed to detect any correlation, leaving the question still open (Diaz-Olavarrieta et al., 1999, Fassbender et al., 1998, Zorzon et al., 2002).

## 1.3.4. Treatments for MS

## 1.3.4.1. Disease modifying treatments

Despite the many advances made in the last decades in investigating different types of drugs, no definite cure for MS has been identified yet. Indeed, only disease modifying treatments (DMTs) are currently available to tackle disease activity. In particular, the aim of DMTs is to reduce severity and number of relapses as well as to slow the course of the disease. The debate on the efficacy of early intervention in improving several MS-related outcome measures is still open. A recent Cochrane review found that early treatment after just the first clinical attack suggestive of MS compared to late treatment reduces the risk of conversion to clinically defined MS (Filippini et al., 2017). However, in general evidence on early treatment compared to placebo appears of low quality especially regarding its effects on disability and quantity of relapses.

Different numbers of DMTs have been approved by the Food and Drug Administration in America and by the European Medicines Agency in Europe and clustered as either first-line, preferentially used just after diagnosis, and second-line treatments, chosen when issues with poor response or tolerability to first-line DMTs arise (Dörr and Paul, 2015). Hereafter the classification according to the European legislation will be used (Table 1.1).

The first type of DMTs ever approved in 1993 for RRMS were the interferons. Type I interferons are cytokines naturally released by eukaryotic cells to contrast pathogens attacking the organisms. For treatment purposes, instead, synthetic type I interferons are produced by means of two different processes: interferon beta 1a through DNA recombination in mammalian cells; while interferon beta 1b is the product of bacterial fermentation (Du Pasquier et al., 2014). The mechanism of action of interferons in MS is highly likely to depend on complex and multifactorial processes involving both direct and indirect effects. In particular, interferons are thought to both upregulate the production of anti-inflammatory agents and concomitantly down-regulate the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines, as well as reduce cell migration across the BBB (Kieseier, 2011).

 Table 1.1 Disease modifying treatments approved for MS.

. ..

Active compound	Approved use (European Medicine Agency)	Year of approval
Interferon beta 1a	First-line use	1993
Interferon beta 1b	First-line use	1993
Glatiramer acetate	First-line use	1996
Teriflunomide	First-line use	2012
Dimethyl fumarate	First-line use	2013
Mitoxantrone	Second-line, often used as third-line	2000
Natalizumab	Second-line, first-line for highly active disease	2004
Fingolimod	Second-line, first-line for highly active disease	2010
Alemtuzumab	First line, commonly used as second-line	2013

-- -- -

From a clinical point of view interferon treatment seems to have a positive impact on CIS, reducing the rate of conversion to clinically defined MS (Filippini et al., 2017). However, response to treatment may vary across patients because of the heterogeneity characterising MS. Indeed, a recent study clustered patients in six groups on the basis of the type of cytokines expressed and a differential response to interferon after three months of therapy was observed (Hegen et al., 2016). Interestingly, positive results were also observed regarding attenuation of disability progression in RRMS undergoing interferon treatment (Signori et al., 2016). On the contrary, no improvements were reported for SPMS patients either regarding disability or MRI outcomes (Kuhle et al., 2016).

A recent advancement has seen the licensing of a new formulation of interferon beta 1a combined with polyethylene glycol, named peginterferon. It is characterised by a half-life longer than traditional interferons, thus requiring less frequent injections (Du Pasquier et al., 2014). Recently tested, peginterferon has been found effective regarding reduction of the relapse rate and new T2 lesions (Bhargava and Newsome, 2016). Safety profile and side-effects were comparable to traditional interferons. Therefore, these results appear promising and may have a positive influence on compliance with this type of therapy.

Glatiramer acetate is a heterogeneous polypeptide designed in order to mimic myelin basic protein, i.e. an auto-antigen used to induce EAE. Contrary to expectations, glatiramer acetate exhibited protective effects for EAE, hence starting investigations on its therapeutic potential (Teitelbaum et al., 2017, Weinstock-Guttman et al., 2017). Its mechanism of action, however, is still not fully understood more than 40 years after its discovery. Glatiramer acetate is thought to induce several different processes: turning pro-inflammatory lymphocytes into an antiinflammatory state, decreasing production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, and increasing anti-inflammatory cytokines (Buzzard et al., 2012, Du Pasquier et al., 2014). From a clinical point of view, glatiramer acetate was repeatedly proven effective in reducing the number of relapses and disability progression compared to placebo (Qizilbash et al., 2012, Signori et al., 2016). Moreover, it is associated with a few side-effects like rush, bradycardia and chest tightness but these are not considered serious life threats.

Teriflunomide acts by inhibiting the synthesis of pyrimidine, which is fundamental for the creation of new nucleobases. Therefore, it leads to a decrease in DNA copying and, in turn, reduction in proliferation of both T and B cells (Bar-Or et al., 2014). Tests on teriflunomide found that it significantly reduces relapse rate and disability progression (Confavreux et al., 2014), but less effectively than interferons (Vermersch et al., 2013). Despite some side effects it is in general well tolerated and is considered safe (Oh and O'Connor, 2014). However, in animal models it has been observed to exert teratogenic effects, hence women are requested to be negative on pregnancy tests before starting treatment (Fukushima et al., 2007, Oh and O'Connor, 2014).

Dimethyl fumarate is a methyl ester of the fumaric acid, a simple acid found in nature in different plants among which the *Fumaria officinalis*, hence its name. It was first used in the 1950s in the treatment of psoriasis and, only after the discovery of the immunitary aetiopathology of this condition, applications to other autoimmune diseases such as MS were tested (Linker and Haghikia, 2016). Dimethyl fumarate promotes cytoprotection and appears to exert both an anti-inflammatory and a neuroprotective effects (Linker et al., 2011, Du Pasquier et al., 2014). This orally administered drug is associated especially with transient gastrointestinal side effects that disappear within a few months from the beginning of the treatment (Phillips et al., 2015). As the other first-line DMTs, dimethyl fumarate was also found effective in reducing clinical attacks and negative MRI outcomes, namely formation of new lesions (Gold et al., 2012), and atrophy progression at 3 month follow-up (Arnold et al., 2014).

Mitoxantrone is a synthetic anthracendione firstly introduced in medicine as an antineoplastic agent and later approved as DMT for MS in 2000 (Cocco and Marrosu, 2014). It affects DNA repair and induces cell apoptosis (Hande, 2008). As a consequence, it exerts a powerful immunodepressant action by reducing the number and, in turn, the proliferation of B cells, T cells, and macrophages (Neuhaus et al., 2005). A Cochrane meta-analysis on mitoxantrone efficacy found significant effects of this drug in reducing both relapse rate and disability progression in comparison to placebo (Martinelli Boneschi et al., 2013). However, several sideeffects associated with mitoxantrone use have been reported along with a teratogenic action that makes it dangerous for pregnant women. Additionally, various severe effects, such as cardiotoxicity, neutropenia and amenorrhea were observed and raised concerns about its safety, leading to a considerable reduction of its use in clinical practice (Torkildsen et al., 2016).

Natalizumab is a recombinant humanised monoclonal antibody that acts as an inhibitor of transmembrane molecules that facilitate adhesion between cells and the extracellular matrix, expressed in white blood cells. As a result white blood cells are prevented from binding to receptors in the inflamed endothelium of the cerebral vasculature thus reducing transmigration across the BBB and CNS inflammation (Léger et al., 1997, Rice et al., 2005, Yednock et al., 1992). Different randomised controlled trials have tested the effectiveness of natalizumab in inducing ameliorations in some of the most commonly investigated outcome measures, i.e. relapse rate and new enhancing lesions reduction (Nikfar et al., 2010). In particular, it appears better than interferon beta 1a and fingolimod in reducing relapse occurrence, and better than alemtuzumab in reducing disability (Kalincik et al., 2017). However, the choice of this DMT is made not without caution given that it appears to increase the risk of progressive multiple leukoencephalopathy, a brain infection caused by the John Cunningham virus (Kornek, 2015). In particular, three main factors contribute to increase this risk: positivity to John Cunningham virus test, prior use of other immunodepressants, and natalizumab use longer than 24 months (Sørensen et al., 2012). Especially the latter raises concerns still unaddressed related to uncertainty about the most appropriate strategy for longterm management of this treatment (Clerico et al., 2017).

Fingolimod was the first oral DMT available for MS licensed in 2010. It is a chemical compound derived from myriocin, a metabolite of the parasitic fungus *Isaria sinclairii* that was already known for its anti-inflammatory properties (Chun and Brinkmann, 2011). In particular, fingolimod acts by preventing naïve and central T cells from migrating outside lymph nodes and circulating in other tissues such as the CNS (Fujita et al., 1994). Effector memory cells, instead, are less affected and continue their activity of immune surveillance in the peripheral tissues (Chun and Hartung, 2010, Pinschewer et al., 2011). Reduction in lesion activity and brain volume loss was observed as effect of fingolimod therapy (Cohen et al., 2010, De Stefano et al., 2017) as well as reduction of relapse rate that appears even stronger than interferon and glatiramer acetate treatments (Roskell et al., 2012). Some side-effects common to other DMTs have been reported, such as an asymptomatic and transient

decrease in heart rate at the beginning of the treatment is commonly reported (Cohen and Chun, 2011).

Finally, alemtuzumab is also included within the category of the recombinant humanised monoclonal antibodies used to treat MS in the form of a single annual infusion. Its target is a specific protein (CD52), present mainly on the surface of both T and B cells (Xia et al., 1993). The effects are detectable as post-infusion depletion of lymphocytes followed by long-lasting changes in peripheral lymphocytic populations (Cox et al., 2005). Alemtuzumab was observed to have positive impact on clinical and MRI outcomes with better results compared to interferon beta 1a and fingolimod, especially in reducing relapse rate (Coles et al., 2012). However, natalizumab appears more beneficial for disability management (Kalincik et al., 2017). Apart from the side-effects common to other DMTs, it is worth mentioning the risk of autoimmune thyroid dysfunction in about a third of patients treated with alemtuzumab (Dörr and Baum, 2016). Other DMTs have been successfully tested so far (such as daclizumab, ocrelizumab, and laquinimod) but considering the aims of the present PhD thesis they will not be discussed further.

## 1.3.4.2. Autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplantation

Since the mid-1990s a new promising treatment imported from the oncological field has been extensively used in MS: autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (AHSCT). Indeed, between 1995 and 2015 over 800 patients in Europe alone have received this treatment (Kelsey et al., 2016). Accordingly, the first consensus guidelines on the use of AHSCT as therapy for autoimmune diseases were published in 1997 (Tyndall and Gratwohl, 1997).

This treatment comprises four sequential steps: first, the release of hematopoietic stem cells from the bone marrow into the blood stream is induced by giving patients an initial low dose of chemotherapy; second, stem cells are harvested from patients' blood; third, a higher dose of chemotherapy is given to patients in order to ablate their immune system; finally, previously collected stem cells are infused back in order to guide the reconstruction of their immune system (Arruda et al., 2016). It is commonly thought that AHSCT acts by resetting the immune system through three processes: deletion of the autoreactive B and T cells; replacement of the immune system with a new cell repertoire; induction of a new immune homeostasis (Arruda et al., 2016, Collins et al., 2017).

Despite long-standing experience, the great majority of clinical studies published on AHSCT in MS are uncontrolled trials (Sormani et al., 2017b). However, the largest

and most up-to-date observational study of a European cohort highlighted positive results about the use of this therapy in MS (Muraro et al., 2017). Data from 281 patients who received the transplantation showed that after five years about 50% showed no disease progression. Sormani et al. (2017b) in a meta-analysis of fifteen studies including 764 patients showed that the strongest benefit from AHSCT was gained by patients with RRMS and low levels of disability. Interestingly, five years after transplantation about two thirds of patients exhibited no evidence of disease activity.

Regarding MRI outcome measures, although there was a decrease in the rate of new lesion formation, transient brain volume loss was also observed after transplantation (Atkins and Freedman, 2013, Atkins et al., 2016). This phenomenon, described as pseudoatrophy, is thought to be caused by absorption of oedema and decrease in microglial cells rather than actual loss of neural tissue (De Stefano and Arnold, 2015). Indeed, one year after AHSCT brain volume returned to baseline levels (Atkins et al., 2016). A similar trend was detected for cognition by Walker et al. (2014): decreased perfrormance was observed after two months, but followed by a return to baseline levels after two years from transplantation. Moreover, recent reports found increased performance on the PASAT even at 3-year follow-up (Nash et al., 2014, Walker et al., 2016). However, no definite conclusions on the effects of AHSCT on cognitive status and its relationship to brain changes can be drawn, given that all studies currently published do not include a control group. Similarly, general knowledge regarding effectiveness, applicability, and safety of this treatment in the MS scenario is still precarious due to lack of randomised controlled trials comparing AHSCT with available DMTs.

#### 1.3.4.3. Symptomatic treatments

Despite the high prevalence of mood disturbances in MS research, an effective treatment appears lacking. Indeed, only a few studies assessed the effects of pharmacological interventions on depressive (Koch et al., 2011) and anxiety symptoms (Brenner and Piehl, 2016) often reported by people with MS. A couple of trials were carried out on medications, but the most common first-line treatments for depression were not tested (Ehde et al., 2008, Schiffer and Wineman, 1990). Currently, no studies suggest differential effects of available drugs between people with and without MS. In parallel, also the impact of psychotherapy on MS-related depression has been investigated, finding moderate effects (Fiest et al., 2016).

Moreover, definite evidence of effectiveness for pain treatments in MS has not been produced yet, although pregabalin, gabapentin and lamotrigine have all been recommended especially for patients with refractory symptoms (Paolucci et al., 2016). Several other medications have been tested in recent years and results were mixed. In fact, ameliorations of symptoms after treatment with cannabinoids were reported only in some trials (Rog et al., 2005, Svendsen et al., 2004), but not in others (Langford et al., 2013, Wade et al., 2004). Duloxetine was repeatedly found effective in decreasing MS-related pain (Brown and Slee, 2015, Vollmer et al., 2014).

As previously mentioned one of the most common symptoms reported by patients with MS is fatigue. Two main drugs are usually considered in clinical practice to reduce this pervasive symptom: modafinil and amantadine. Modafinil has been originally developed especially to treat conditions of altered alertness such as narcolepsy and, when applied to MS-induced fatigue, results yielded so far by randomised controlled trials have been either null or unclear (Möller et al., 2011, Rammohan et al., 2002, Stankoff et al., 2005). Amantadine, instead, is an antiviral compound originally used in the treatment of parkinsonisms and some flue-related symptoms that has been applied also to treat MS-related fatigue with better outcomes than modafinil (Ledinek et al., 2013). However, Pucci et al. (2007) carried out a meta-analysis on the effects of amantadine raising concerns about the results of the trials analysed due to their small sample sizes and methodological limitations. As a result it seems that no clear-cut conclusions on the effectiveness of pharmacological treatments of fatigue in MS can be drawn. On the contrary, rehabilitative therapies have been found to be more effective than drugs, but most studies were carried out on small samples and with various techniques not always easy to standardise and compare (Asano and Finlayson, 2014).

For cognitive deficits, instead, two approaches have been adopted: testing the secondary effects of DMTs or using interventions to target specifically cognition. So far the use of DMTs has led to weak evidence of effectiveness, probably because of little interest in this issue combined with the investigation of mainly small samples of patients (Roy et al., 2016). Both fingolimod and natalizumab have been observed to stabilise cognition over one year in a similar manner, but without generating any improvement (Utz et al., 2016). Consistently, beneficial effects of natalizumab on attention were found only when a simple test-retest design was used (Kunkel et al., 2015), but not when a placebo group was included (Sundgren et al., 2016). Mixed results are available for interferon beta 1a: while an early study found associated improvements in PS and memory (Fischer et al., 2000), none were subsequently

detected by Patti et al. (2010). Moreover, an observational study conducted with 681 patients who converted to therapy with glatiramer acetate found improvements in several outcome measures among which also cognition (Ziemssen et al., 2014). Hence, no definite conclusion about the cognitive effects of the currently available DMTs can be drawn.

Regarding targeted treatments for cognitive decline in MS different drugs have been co-opted from other pathologies and applied in this field. Indeed. acetylcholinesterase inhibitors, developed especially for Alzheimer's disease, were tested in order to treat memory impairments, quite common among patients with MS. Findings on donepezil efficacy are mixed due to the recent failure of a multicentre randomized controlled trial (Krupp et al., 2011) in replicating the initial promising results (Christodoulou et al., 2006, Krupp et al., 2004). Similarly, rivastigmine was repeatedly found ineffective in improving memory (Mäurer et al., 2012, Shaygannejad et al., 2008). Equally negative results and, for the most severe patients, reversible neurological side effects were observed in relation to the use of memantine, an inhibitor of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors (Lovera et al., 2010, Peyro Saint Paul et al., 2016, Villoslada et al., 2009). This series of failures may be probably explained by the fact that, even though memory decline is observed in patients with MS, the underlying pathology is different from that typical of other neurodegenerative conditions such as Alzheimer's disease.

Several attempts were also made to treat the more characteristic decline in attentional and PS function observed in people with MS. In particular effects of stimulants were tested both after a single dose and longer treatments. The former approach found that methylphenidate (Harel et al., 2008) and L-amphetamine (Benedict et al., 2008) significantly induce improvements in tests of PS, namely the PASAT and the SDMT. However, long term use of L-amphetamine was found to improve only memory performance but not PS function (Morrow et al., 2009). Morrow et al. (2013), instead, found that lisdexamfetamine dimesylate effectively improved both PS and memory performance. Moreover, promising results were obtained also with fampridine, a potassium channel blocker, which not only consistently improves motor performance, but also PS function (Jensen et al., 2014, Magnin et al., 2015, Triche et al., 2016).

An alternative type of intervention for cognitive decline in MS is cognitive rehabilitation. Two recent extensive reviews highlighted how weak is the evidence gathered so far on the effectiveness of rehabilitative programmes (Amato et al., 2013, Mitolo et al., 2015). In particular most studies suffered from methodological flaws (Amato et al., 2013) and only more recent ones appear promising (Mitolo et

al., 2015). Equally disheartening are the results obtained in a Cochrane metaanalysis by Rosti-Otajärvi and Hämäläinen (2014): randomised and quasirandomised controlled trials were of low quality and data pooling resulted in nonsignificant findings. Cognitive rehabilitation for MS, especially focussing of PS and MRI outcome measures, will be more extensively discussed in Chapter 2.

# Chapter 2 | Processing speed function and its relationship with brain alterations in MS

As highlighted in Chapter 1, MS is a complex disease characterised by a wide variety of clinical manifestations. In this multifaceted landscape this PhD project will focus on the investigation of cognitive impairment due to MS pathology in an attempt to shed further light on the neural correlates and on potential treatments. More specifically speed of information processing will be studied in detail, given the considerable proportion of patients who are impaired in this function (Hämäläinen and Rosti-Otajärvi, 2016). In fact, ineffective PS is thought to be central in the expression of cognitive symptoms (Costa et al., 2017).

After briefly outlining the evolution and the different lines of research (experimental and clinical) on PS abilities, this chapter will present an overview of the neuropsychological and neuroimaging assessment of this function, also in relation to other cognitive domains. Subsequently, PS function will be analysed within the clinical context of MS and theories put forward about MS-related cognitive decline will be presented. Finally, a systematic review of the literature on the MRI neural correlates of PS function in MS will be carried out, with particular emphasis on studies which have investigated measures of structural and functional connectivity. This review is reported in section 2.2.6, which contains parts of a published paper (Manca et al., 2018). The literature search has been updated to October 2018 in order to include all eight studies published in the field in the past year after the completion of the paper. Quality analysis, figures and tables have been updated accordingly. The original paper can be found in Appendix A, permission for full reproduction granted by the publisher and the co-authors are reported, respectively, in Appendix B and Appendix C.

# 2.1. PS function: an introduction

The investigation of the speed at which information is processed by the human brain has a long history and it could be argued that it was one of the first cognitive functions ever to be studied. Indeed, the dawn of the endeavour to quantify experimentally mental processes was tightly intertwined with the birth of psychology as a new discipline, independent from philosophy and biology. In particular, the work of the Dutch physiologist Franciscus Donders assumed crucial importance, since he was the first ever to use reaction times to quantify mental operations by means of the so-called "subtraction method" (Jensen, 2006). Similarly, differential psychologists, starting with Galton, had long been investigating inter-individual differences in reactions times and their assiciation with intelligence (DeLuca and Kalmar, 2007).

Research into PS abilities and, particularly, deficits has also been developed to phenotype the symptoms of different clinical populations. At the beginning of the 20th century Naville (1922) described cognitive slowing, that he termed bradyphrenia, in people affected by encephalitis lethargica. Since then this symptom has been extensively investigated in Parkinson's disease (Rogers, 1986) and other pathologies characterised prominently by degeneration of either WM or subcortical GM nuclei, for which a debated category has been proposed, i.e. so-called "subcortical dementia" (Albert, 2005).

#### 2.1.1. Neuropsychological assessment of PS abilities

Providing a neuropsychological definition of PS appears essential, though not exempt from difficulties. Indeed, lack of a clear conceptualization of this function has prevented PS-related concepts to be accounted for in most cognitive models. In clinical use, PS is operationally defined as a cognitive function measurable as either "the amount of information processed per unit of time or the time required to process a given amount of information" (DeLuca and Kalmar, 2007).

Despite having direct implications for the choice of tools to select for clinical assessment of PS abilities, this definition presents weaknesses. First, the isolation of a completely pure index of PS abilities is highly unlikely. Indeed, most tasks would engage at least a cognitive domain in which speed of information processing may play a role (Kail and Salthouse, 1994), such as working memory (Mella et al., 2015, Salthouse, 1992), long term memory (Chiaravalloti et al., 2003, Levitt et al., 2006, Sliwinski and Buschke, 1997, Tam and Schmitter-Edgecombe, 2013) and executive functions (Cepeda et al., 2013, McAuley and White, 2011, Urben et al., 2011). Second, Chiaravalloti et al. (2003) showed that although PS has been for long considered a unitary construct it is possible to differentiate between two components: *simple* and *complex PS*. The former is captured by basic measures such as reaction times that are derived from more experimental approaches and are mainly indicative of the status of attentional functions. The latter refers to the speed at which higher order cognitive functions that require more articulated cognitive
operations than simple motor reaction to stimuli are performed. Therefore, this PS function can be measured by means of several classical neuropsychological tests, some of which have been specifically developed in an attempt to characterise better cognitive decline in people with MS. In this section an overview of the most common measures of PS abilities used in clinical settings will be presented to facilitate the understanding of the literature in this field and elucidate the choices made in the studies of this PhD thesis. A comprehensive review of all the tasks involving PS function and especially those developed in experimental psychology research was not among the aims of the present chapter as not considered relevant to the aims of this PhD project.

Tests of PS abilities are included in all of the three batteries of neuropsychological MS research: the Brief assessment used in Repeatable Battery of Neuropsychological tests (Rao et al., 1991), the Minimal Assessment of Cognitive Function in MS (Benedict et al., 2002) and the Brief International Cognitive Assessment for MS (Langdon et al., 2012). The first two batteries include the PASAT (Gronwall, 1977), the most commonly used test to assess PS abilities in people with MS (Costa et al., 2017). In fact, the PASAT is included in the different clinical measures of the MSFC (Cutter et al., 1999), a tool designed to assess comprehensively neurological function in MS. This test essentially assesses verbal working memory by means of auditory presentation of sixty-one random digits (1 to 9) to subjects who are instructed to add each digit (from the second one on) to its preceding one and to provide the answer verbally (Figure 2.1). Each time a number is presented subjects need to update the set of digits kept in their verbal short term memory storage and perform the operation on them. The maximum score on the test is 60. Digits can be presented at different speed levels, most commonly each 3 or 2 seconds, thus allowing the possibility to manipulate the PS load posed on the verbal working memory system and consequently assess PS function (Forn et al., 2008). An alternative version consists of the Paced Visual Serial Addition Test (Nagels et al., 2005), in which numbers are presented visually on a computer screen.



Figure 2.1 Schematic representation of the process of stimuli presentation during the PASAT.

However, despite its wide use, the PASAT presents some drawbacks since it represents a challenging test also for people without cognitive impairments (Brooks et al., 2011), its score can be affected by basic mathematical abilities (Sandry et al., 2016), and it is not well tolerated by people with MS in comparison to the Computerised Test of Information Processing and the SDMT (Walker et al., 2012). Seemingly for this reason the SDMT (Smith, 1982), considered a good tool for cognitive screening in MS (Parmenter et al., 2007b), has been proposed to replace the PASAT as cognitive measure in the MSFC (Drake et al., 2010). Moreover, Costa et al. (2017) noted a recent increase in the number of publications using this test to assess PS abilities in clinical populations. The SDMT is considered a test of visual attention that provides a reliable measure of visual PS (Benedict et al., 2017). It consists of a sheet of paper that presents on the top the so-called key comprising nine symbols associated with digits 1 to 9 and eight lines with fifteen symbols each for a total of 120 (ten of which practice items). The instruction is to pair as many digits to the symbols provided as possible in 90 seconds while proceeding from left to right in each line. The final score is the number of pairs correctly completed (maximum 110).

Other two tests that can be considered alternative versions of the SDMT are the Digit Symbol Coding Test (DSCT) contained in the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale (Wechsler, 2008) and the Letter Digit Substitution Test (Jolles et al., 1995).

The DSCT has an exactly reversed design compared to the SDMT since symbols have to be paired to numbers, though with some differences in the time allocated (120 seconds) and the number of items to process (maximum 133). Similarly, the Letter Digit Substitution Test closely resembles the SDMT but with letters instead of symbols, an allocated time of 60 seconds and a maximum score of 125. Despite slight differences across tasks they all require the deployment of visual attentional resources to process the given items quickly and iteratively while inhibiting the surrounding distractors.

For the other clinical measures used to assess PS a major distinction can be drawn between those tapping into verbal or visual/visuospatial functions. Indeed, a verbal task that was initially developed in experimental research (Stroop, 1935) and later adapted for clinical use is the Stroop test (Venneri et al., 1993). This test was shortened and simplified specifically to facilitate its application to cognitive testing of clinical populations. Three distinct subtests make up the shortened version of the Stroop test and all comprise a sheet of paper with 30 stimuli arranged in three columns: names of colours (blue, green and red) printed in black ink for the first part, coloured dots (in the same three colours named in the first subtest) in the second part, and lastly names of colours like in the first part, but printed with ink of a colour incongruent with that represented by the words. Participants are asked to read all the words of the first subtest and to name all the colours in the second part as fast as possible. In the third subtest the instruction is to name as fast as possible the colour of the ink in which each word is printed in, but not to read the words. For all the three parts both execution time and errors are recorded. The PS measure derived from this test is usually the average of the execution time of the first two subtests, but several different PS measures may be calculated from this test (Macniven et al., 2008). The third subtest provides an index of the ability to inhibit automatic responses. It is worth noting that, despite involving eminently verbal processes, the shortened version of the Stroop test poses some demands on attentional functions due to the simultaneous presentation of all stimuli on the same sheet of paper.

Tests that provide more purely verbal measures of PS are semantic and phonemic fluency tasks (Gontkovsky and Beatty, 2006). Both tests are multicomponential as they require linguistic skills, access to and recall from semantic memory long term storage, and different executive functions mainly for phonemic fluency (Alvarez and Emory, 2006, Henry and Crawford, 2004). Instructions for semantic fluency are to report as many items as possible in 60 seconds for each one of three different categories (e.g. cities, animals and fruits) presented one at a time. Therefore,

participants are pushed to recall quickly information from verbal long term memory, thus testing speed of access to their mental lexicon (Shao et al., 2014). In the phonemic fluency task subjects are asked to name as many words starting with a specific letter as possible in 60 seconds. Three letters are given, one for each consecutive trials, and different sets are available, e.g. F-A-S or P-L-F. As already mentioned this task engages more extensively executive functions than semantic fluency but similarly provides an index of complex PS in terms of amount of information processed per unit of time.

Visual PS function can be assessed by two tests of visual search tapping into attentional processes: the Trail Making Test (TMT) (Armitage, 1946) and the Digit cancellation test (Spinnler and Tognoni, 1987). The TMT comprises two parts with 25 stimuli each presented on a single sheet of paper: numbers 1 to 25 in part A, numbers 1 to 13 and letters A to L in part B. The participants are asked to connect as fast as possible and in ascending order all the numbers in part A, and numbers alternated to letters in part B (e.g. 1, A, 2, B, 3, etc). The test score is the amount of time needed to complete each subtest. Time on part A represents the main measure of visual PS that is usually subtracted by the time on part B in order to obtain a measure that captures an executive function named mental set shifting (Miyake et al., 2000).

The Digit cancellation test (Spinnler and Tognoni, 1987) comprises three subtests each one including 130 digits arranged in a matrix of thirteen rows of ten digits each, with the first two rows used for practice. The subjects are asked to cancel out, scanning each row from left to right, one given digit in the first subtest, two in the second one, and three in the third one. The sum of the number of items correctly reported in 45 seconds in each matrix constitutes a measure of complex PS.

Moreover, some computerised measures of PS are available, such as the Computerised Test of Information Processing (Tombaugh and Rees, 2008), well tolerated by people with MS (Tombaugh et al., 2010) and the Useful Field Of View (Ball et al., 1988, Sekuler and Ball, 1986). However, probably because their administration is computer-based the use of these tests with clinical populations has been limited. Moreover, the former comprises three reaction time tasks, thus providing simple PS indices more useful in experimental rather than clinical settings. The latter provides the extent of visual area in which information can be acquired just with one eye fixation. Hence, it is used to evaluate visual perceptual abilities that may have an impact on visual PS and attention and, in turn, activities of daily living such as driving (Goode et al., 1998).

#### 2.1.2. Neural correlates of PS abilities

Many researchers have been interested in understanding how the human brain is able to process information quickly and effectively and how this may contribute to human intelligence. Both clinical and experimental observations led towards a prevalent interest for WM (Filley, 2010). Indeed, if we adopt the famous cognitivist metaphor that views the brain as a computer we can easily conceptualise GM areas as the processing units connected to one another by WM tracts. Therefore, we could argue that WM subserves efficient information transfer throughout the brain allowing integration of information and complementing GM functions. However, it is worth noting that the amount of available processing units may also provide a fundamental contribution to PS capacity (Kail, 1991). For this reason an overview of the different streams of neuroimaging research into PS abilities (limitedly to MRI in line with the purposes of this PhD project) appears useful in order to understand current knowledge.

## 2.1.2.1. Brain volume and lesions

The association between measures of PS ability and lesional WM volume appears well established in studies on healthy ageing. Indeed, the amount of WM hyperintensities is likely to account significantly for considerable age-related variance in performance on PS tasks (Rabbitt et al., 2007, van den Heuvel et al., 2006). However, some authors failed to replicate this finding (Kerchner et al., 2012), possibly because of differences in the PS measures investigated, namely correct responses (Rabbitt et al., 2007, van den Heuvel et al., 2006) vs mean reaction times (Kerchner et al., 2012). In fact, Walhovd and Fjell (2007) found no significant association between mean reaction times and either WM or GM global volume. On the contrary, intraindividual variability, measured as the standard deviation of reaction times, was significantly correlated with global WM volume independently of age. More specific investigations of WM have pointed out the association between indices of corpus callosum integrity and PS abilities. Bott et al. (2017) comparing the volume of the corpus callosum between fast and slow elderly performers and found the latter group showed significantly smaller volume than the former.

Voxel-based techniques have allowed more detailed correlational analyses of the PS-brain volume relationship. Turken et al. (2008) found that scores obtained by healthy adults on the DSCT were positively associated with the volume of both the superior and inferior longitudinal fasciculus bilaterally (Figure 2.2). The former is a complex WM tract comprising three branches that connect different frontal and

parietal areas (Rojkova et al., 2015) and is involved in attentional processes, while the latter connects occipital and temporal areas and is mainly involved in integration of visual information and in some linguistic functions (Catani and Thiebaut de Schotten, 2008). Moreover, in the same study voxel-based lesion symptom mapping analysis, carried out on a sample of people affected by stroke, highlighted the volume of the left superior longitudinal fasciculus as the neural correlate of PS deficits (Turken et al., 2008). A cluster of WM in the left parietal area, therefore consistent with the position of the superior longitudinal fasciculus, was also found by another study (Kerchner et al., 2012). In contrast, a different scenario was observed by Magistro et al. (2015) in a sample of over 800 young adults: PS was associated with the volume of many different WM tracts, thus leading the authors to conclude that this cognitive function is associated with WM globally rather than to specific fibre bundles. GM volume may be indicative of PS performance as significant correlations were detected in different left-lateralised areas: middle temporal gyrus (Turken et al., 2008), putamen and middle occipital gyrus (Hong et al., 2015).

Hence, WM volume appears to predict PS performance in a variety of studies, but it is still unclear whether this association depends on global or more localised connections. Moreover, between-study differences in methologies, populations investigated and findings pose further limitations to any definite conclusion on the contribution of WM/GM volume reduction to PS function.



**Figure 2.2** Representation of the inferior longitudinal fasciculus (green), superior longitudinal fasciculus (red) and inferior fronto-occipital fasciculus (blue).

#### 2.1.2.2. White matter microstructure

Different approaches have been adopted in DTI investigations ranging from global to ROI and voxel-based measures of WM microstructural integrity. Some authors suggested PS is a general cognitive function supported by WM integrity globally. Indeed, Penke et al. (2010) found that PS performance correlated with DTI indices in 8 different ROIs placed in both commissural and associative WM tracts. Similarly, voxel-based studies reported widespread correlations between DTI indices in tracts encompassing the whole corpus callosum, associative tracts and even the corticospinal tract and different PS measures: intra-individual variability of reaction times (Tamnes et al., 2012) and both individual and global PS factors (Kuznetsova et al., 2016).

More focussed analyses highlighted how the status of WM microstructural integrity in the frontal lobes may explain variance in PS performance. Decreases in FA and in the concentration of N-acetylaspartate and choline-containing compounds, considered to be markers of neuronal health status, were associated with slower cognition (Kochunov et al., 2010). Lu et al. (2011) found that only microstructural degeneration in frontal areas and in the genu, but not in the splenium, explained PS capacity in older adults (Figure 2.3). Similar findings were reported by Hong et al. (2015) regarding structural connection integrity between the prefrontal cortex (PFC) and the striatum in older adults aged <70. Moreover, it appears that alterations in the length of WM tracts, especially those connecting the frontal lobes, may contribute to explaining performance on different PS measures (Behrman-Lay et al., 2015).

However, different studies pointed out a few WM tracts, mainly of the associative type, whose microstructural status is consistently observed to be associated with scores obtained on PS tests by participants across the life span. In particular, Ferrer et al. (2013) found that FA in both superior longitudinal fasciculi, but not in the cortico-spinal tracts, significantly explained age-related variance in PS performance in children and adolescents. The same association was found in older adults (Kerchner et al., 2012) and appears consistent with the abovementioned findings from morphometric studies. Furthermore, the inferior fronto-occipital fasciculus (Figure 2.2), a long associative tract connecting the orbitofrontal cortex to the inferior occipital cortex (Catani and Thiebaut de Schotten, 2008), was repeatedly associated with indices of both general PS (Kerchner et al., 2012) and visual PS (Sala-Llonch et al., 2015).



Figure 2.3 Forcipes of the corpus callosum: minor (red) and major (blue).

In conclusion, even though clear and definite conclusions cannot be currently drawn on whether one or a set of specific WM tracts underlie PS abilities in healthy people, the findings described above indicate a preferential involvement of associative WM connections.

## 2.1.2.3. Brain activity

Over the last decades research into spontaneous low-frequency brain activity at rest by means of MRI (Biswal et al., 1995) and positron emission tomography (Raichle et al., 2001) enabled scholars to disentangle networks of functionally related areas. Several networks, highlighted in Figure 2.4, have been described and investigated extensively in relation to various clinical variables (Menon, 2011, Raichle, 2011). Among these PS has also been found associated with functional connectivity of different networks, namely the DMN, fronto-parietal and salience networks (Shaw et al., 2015). Although these results appear not specific since episodic memory and executive functions showed similar patterns of correlation, voxel-based analysis revealed that PS function mainly correlated with resting-state activity of the right dorsolateral PFC (part of the fronto-parietal network) and precuneus/posterior cingulate cortex (hub of the DMN).



**Figure 2.4** Representation of the most common functional brain networks: A) salience network; B) left fronto-parietal network; C) right fronto-parietal network; D) default mode network; E) sensorimotor network; F) visual network.

However, the vast majority of studies into the functional correlates of PS-related cognitive processes were carried out by using task-based investigations. The PASAT has been extensively used as PS test evidencing consistent results across studies in terms of recruitment of left-lateralised frontal and parietal areas (Audoin et al., 2005, Cardinal et al., 2008, Forn et al., 2011), in line with the current knowledge on the neural correlates of verbal working memory (D'Esposito et al., 2000, Petrides et al., 1993). It is worth noting that the activation of premotor, supplementary motor and anterior cingulate cortices emerges as the strongest neural signature, possibly due to the cognitive demands posed by this task (Stuss, 2011).

Other studies on verbal working memory, however, have pointed out the important role of the right PFC in support of fast cognitive performance, in line with the findings by Shaw et al. (2015). Indeed, it was shown that the activation of this area in people

with higher working memory span correlated positively with faster reaction times and that faster responders recruit the right PFC significantly more when performing a task with high vs low working memory load (Prabhakaran et al., 2011, Rypma and Prabhakaran, 2009, Takeuchi et al., 2012).

Rypma et al. (2006), investigated inter-individual differences in visual PS abilities in relation to activity in selected ROIs and found that fast responders exhibited significantly lower activation in the dorsal PFC and higher in the ventral PFC and the posterior parietal cortex compared to slow responders. Stronger connectivity between the dorsal PFC and the parietal cortex was additionally noted for slow performers. The authors interpreted this pattern in terms of neural and cognitive efficiency: if information is processed less efficiently, more executive control is required in order to perform a given PS task, paralleled by greater activation of the dorsal PFC that in turn exerts its influence over the parietal cortex. Comparing brain activity evoked by two commonly used PS tasks, namely the SDMT and the PASAT, the former was shown to be more associated with posterior brain activation in parieto-occipital areas than the latter (Forn et al., 2011). Moreover, increased PSload on the SDMT induced more extensive recruitment of frontal, parietal and occipital areas bilaterally and activation of the pre-supplementary motor area/anterior cingulate cortex resulted negatively correlated with cognitive performance (Forn et al., 2013). Therefore, these results seem in line with the hypothesis of neural/cognitive efficiency proposed by Rypma et al. (2006).

In conclusion, as already observed for the structural correlates of PS ability, functional investigations have highlighted the involvement of frontal areas, particularly on the right side. However, in light of the findings reported above it appears more likely that PS function may be supported by dynamic interactions between associative hubs in both frontal and parietal lobes rather than by activation of a single brain area.

# 2.2. PS function in people with MS

#### 2.2.1. PS decline due to MS

It is well established and widely accepted knowledge that PS represents a cognitive domain particularly affected by MS pathology early on in the disease course (Hämäläinen and Rosti-Otajärvi, 2016, Costa et al., 2017). Indeed, deficits in the speed at which people with MS process information have been extensively documented by numerous investigations and across several different cognitive

tasks. Moreover, consistent observations have highlighted a gradient of PS decline across subtypes since people with PPMS and SPMS exhibit more severe impairments compared to people affected by RRMS (Archibald and Fisk, 2000, De Sonneville et al., 2002, Denney et al., 2004, Papathanasiou et al., 2014, Ruet et al., 2013b). However, it must be stressed that progressive subtypes of MS usually present with worse clinical conditions than RRMS, including more extensive cognitive difficulties (Ruet et al., 2013b). Moccia et al. (2015) observed that cognitive status at the time of diagnosis of RRMS, mainly impairment in PS and memory, significantly predicts conversion to SPMS at 10-year follow-up.

Longitudinal studies appear to show a specific vulnerability of this cognitive function across all MS phenotypes as the disease progresses in time (Bodling et al., 2009, Denney et al., 2008, Hankomäki et al., 2014, Strober et al., 2014). In fact, it has been observed that in people with PPMS, compared to healthy controls, only PS abilities decline over time, while no significant changes were detected in problem-solving and verbal memory (Denney et al., 2008). Moreover, PS deficits seem to be the first sign of cognitive impairment to manifest in MS and to worsen faster than other cognitive functions (Van Schependom et al., 2015).

However, some specifications on this matter are needed. In fact, Bodling et al. (2009) found that MS pathology does not interact with age in affecting PS abilities since Stroop-based measures in people with MS and healthy agers seem to follow parallel trajectories of decline. The type of PS indices used may have driven these results as pointed out by Hankomäki et al. (2014) who observed decreases in performance over time only on the SDMT and a cognitively demanding dual task, but not on simple reaction time tasks and on the PASAT. In fact, performance of people with MS has been observed to be differentially affected across different PS measures. Different studies, consistently found that patients performed significantly worse than healthy controls only in those versions of the PASAT with high PS load, usually with a 2-second or even shorter inter-stimulus interval (Forn et al., 2008, Litvan et al., 1988, Parmenter et al., 2006). Moreover, comparing reaction time and rapid serial processing measures different behavioural effects were noted: complexity, compounding and augmentation effects (Hughes et al., 2011). The complexity effect is defined as a steeper worsening of performance for people with MS compared to healthy individuals across increasingly difficult reaction time tasks because the addition of cognitive operations to be performed quickly makes patients' deficits emerge. This effect has been consistently replicated (Bodling et al., 2012, Wojtowicz et al., 2012), although Denney et al. (2011) showed it can be detected only by means of overt, but not covert PS measures. In fact, when no time

limit is set for task performance, patients perform as well as healthy controls. The compounding effect refers to the fact that PS impairments are significantly highlighted by rapid serial processing rather than reaction time tasks. The reason is that in the former type of tasks a cognitive operation, e.g. matching a symbol to a number as in the SDMT, must be performed recursively over trials. The longer the information presented takes to be processed, the more task performance is delayed. Hence, possible overlaps between task execution in one trial and presentation of stimuli for the subsequent one may occur, followed by a consequent drop in performance usually not seen in reaction time tasks. Finally, the augmentation effect consists in a higher rate of cognitive impairment highlighted by means of tests such as the SDMT, which entails the simultaneous presentation of all stimuli associated with increased cognitive demand compared to tests that require processing of a single stimulus at a time. In fact, the prolonged inhibition of many distractors occurring simultaneously to the processing of each relevant stimulus affects the overall processing capacity of people with MS.

In conclusion, decline in PS abilities is believed to play a prominent role in the cognitive symptomatology that characterises MS and a careful selection of tests to assess this function is suggested by several convergent sources of evidence.

## 2.2.2. Theories and models of PS decline in MS

A range of theories and models have been proposed to explain impairments in PS function mainly observed in older adults and people with MS. However, different aspects are stressed across theories, spanning from the mechanisms underlying general PS performance to the possible trajectories of cognitive decline in MS. As a result, the interpretations provided represent alternative but not always mutually exclusive points of view on this issue.

The processing-speed theory by Salthouse (1996) was developed first from observations on age-related differences in cognition in the elderly later applied to people with MS (Chiaravalloti et al., 2013, Genova et al., 2012, Goverover et al., 2007, Leavitt et al., 2011). The main assumption of this theory is that cognitive performance can be limited by several constraints among which speed of processing constitutes a prominent one, especially as age advances. In particular, Salthouse proposed PS constraints can be evidenced by two mechanisms, namely *limited time* and *simultaneity*. The *limited time* mechanism plays a crucial role in cognitive tasks requiring distinct sequential steps of elaboration to be performed in a given amount of time. If processing takes too long in earlier stages, the quality and

quantity of the information available for later ones will be significantly diminished, thus undermining task execution. It follows that the application of challenging time constraints to sequential tasks may expose PS deficits. The *simultaneity* mechanism operates to ensure information is simultaneously available at different cognitive levels involved in complex tasks. Slowed and therefore longer processing may lead to degradation and even loss of information by the time higher-order cognitive processes have taken place. This mechanism is considered particularly relevant for working memory tasks in which information needs to be actively maintained in the short term storage while cognitive operations are carried out on it. If activating the information and subsequently completing the requested operations (e.g. adding two numbers and reporting their sum like in the PASAT) take too long, it is possible that part of the to-be-manipulated information may be lost during cognitive manipulation.

The *neural noise hypothesis* poses particular stress on the theoretical contribution of neural noise to cognitive processing in MS (Kail, 1997, Kail, 1998). According to this theory efficient information processing in the brain depends on both the strength of neural signal and the noise present in neural activity, i.e. random variability in the neural response to a given stimulus. Maintenance of an optimal signal-to-noise ratio is thought to be crucial to fast processing. Age-related changes are hypothesised to occur due to either weaker signal processing, stronger noise, or a combination of both (Crossman and Szafran, 1956, Welford, 1956). Similarly, demyelination due to MS is thought to cause alterations to the signal-to-noise ratio such to drive general cognitive slowing (Bodling et al., 2012, Kail, 1997, Kail, 1998). Yet little research has followed this hypothesis and actual assessment of neural noise in people with MS has not been performed. Hence, whether MS-related PS deficits are associated with signal-to-noise decay still remains an open question.

While the abovementioned theories mainly focussed on which mechanisms may be altered by MS pathology and lead to PS deficits, DeLuca et al. (2004) proposed two alternative models with the aim of explaining the relationship between deficits in PS and working memory and, potentially, the evolution of cognitive decline observed in people with MS. The *relative consequence model* postulates PS decline arises first in MS and constitutes the main cognitive signature of this disease. Subsequently, decreases in working memory capacity are also observed and believed to occur as a consequence of PS deficits. On the contrary, the *independent consequence model* states that PS and working memory can decline simultaneously. Therefore, it implies the breakdown in working memory function does not necessarily result from PS deficits. Although the *relative consequence model* has gained more support than the *independent consequence model* accounts of MS-related cognitive decline in the

77

absence of PS impairment have been published, thus suggesting people affected by this disorder may present with different cognitive manifestations.

Recently Costa et al. (2017) proposed the *tri-factor model* that, rather than providing an alternative explanation about the role of PS impairment in MS-related cognitive decline, mainly stresses the importance of considering different stages of information processing: perceptual, cognitive and motor. In fact, behavioural performance on PS tests is determined by efficient brain computations at each one of these sequential levels. First, stimuli peripherally detected by sensory organs must be perceived and represented at a cortical level. Second, cognitive operations required to execute a given task are performed on the bits of information perceived. Finally, adequate motor responses are selected and executed. Hence, drops in behavioural performance may be due to slowing in one or more of these three processes.

The tri-factor model appears an attempt to account for the complexity that characterises MS symptomatology and its underlying neuropathology. Moreover, its heuristic value resides in the suggestion that investigating PS function at different levels may shed light on the possible existence of distinct phenotypes either characterised by "purely cognitive" deficits or different combinations of perceptual, cognitive and motor processing impairments. However, if on one hand visual disturbance and decline in visual processing seem to affect visual PS function (Costa et al., 2016), on the other hand, cognitive slowing has been observed in the absence of (Binétruy et al., 2016) or only moderately affected by motor impairments (Bodling et al., 2008). On the contrary, PS decline was found to drive motor slowing in people with MS without motor impairments (Stoquart-Elsankari et al., 2010).

# 2.2.3. Impact of MS-related PS deficits on other cognitive functions

As written earlier in this chapter, PS is a function that exerts its influence on many different cognitive processes. This may depend on the fact that human cognition does not only suffer from limitations regarding the amount of information that can be processed at a given time point, but by limitations related to speed of processing (Marois and Ivanoff, 2005). As a consequence, an increase in the time required to perform any cognitive operations may crucially impact overall behavioural performance. Hence, the investigation of the wider influences of PS deficits in a disease like MS that is heavily characterised by such cognitive symptoms does appear a relevant enterprise. Indeed a large amount of research has been carried out on this issue.

The relationship between PS and attention has been studied by means of the Attention Network Test (Fan et al., 2002) that allows the assessment of three distinct attentional systems: alertness, i.e. the ability to maintain a state of active attention to respond after the presentation of warning stimuli; orienting, i.e. the ability to shift attention in space; and executive control, i.e. the ability to manage actively conflicting cognitive processes. People with RRMS exhibit slower and more variable response times than healthy controls across attentional tasks with particular deficits in executive control (Wojtowicz et al., 2013). Moreover, intra-individual variability in response times on attentional tasks significantly distinguished patients from controls, thus highlighting a central role of PS abilities. Consistent results were obtained by Roth et al. (2015) who highlighted attention decline in people with RRMS as well as SPMS. However, after statistically controlling for differences in PS capacity between groups, no significant differences in attentional functions between patients and controls remained. Only in the SPMS group residual alertness deficits were shown independently of PS impairment.

In the neuropsychological literature on MS great relevance was given to the interrelation between PS and working memory with the purpose of describing the causal evolution of cognitive impairments. Lengenfelder et al. (2006) found that patients with MS and affected working memory capacity presented longer response times and lower accuracy while performing working memory tasks, especially in relation to high cognitive load. Consistently, manipulation of working memory load appears to induce similar drops in performance on the PASAT and the n-back test (Parmenter et al., 2006, Parmenter et al., 2007a). Indeed, Leavitt et al. (2011) found that PS-impaired patients perform significantly worse on the Keep Track Task (i.e. a computerised working memory test) (Salthouse et al., 1991) than PS-preserved patients. Yet if patients are allowed additional execution time, both groups perform equally. In line with this finding, variance in performance on the Keep Track Task was found to be predicted by PS but not working memory ability (Genova et al., 2012).

Moreover, by manipulating the speed of presentation of stimuli for the PASAT, Demaree et al. (1999) observed that people with MS can reach the same accuracy level of healthy controls if their optimal PS threshold is used when delivering task stimuli. Sweet et al. (2010) found that performance of patients on a verbal n-back task was affected only by the reduction in the time allocated to maintain information in short term memory, but not by increases in the difficulty of stimuli to process. This drop in performance significantly correlated with PS abilities measured by the SDMT and by the PASAT. Hence, interfering with processing time constraints, but not with the structural capacity of working memory, seems to impact behavioural performance in people with MS.

In contrast with this piece of evidence, recently, Berrigan et al. (2013) showed that the decreases in learning and executive functions experienced by people with MS were predicted by working memory rather than PS ability. The association between PS and working memory was not ruled out by this study, but PS was not observed to mediate the effect of the disease on higher order cognitive functions, thus standing against the *relative consequence model* (DeLuca et al., 2004).

Moreover, learning new information is one of the cognitive domains most commonly observed to decline in MS, perhaps as a consequence of PS impairments. Litvan et al. (1988) found that long term memory function correlated with performance on the PASAT. However, this test assesses working memory and therefore may not be able to distinguish between the independent contribution of PS and working memory to learning. More recently, Chiaravalloti et al. (2013) using different regression models showed how PS was the only significant predictor of learning performance differently from working memory capacity. Consistently, scores on the SDMT appear to predict performance on a visual incidental learning test (Denney et al., 2015).

Finally, the side effects of PS decline on different executive functions have also been extensively investigated. Drew et al. (2009) observed that the PS index of the WAIS (i.e. combination of scores from the Digit Symbol Coding and the Symbol Search tests) predicts performance on tests assessing several different executive functions and especially task-switching, detected by means of the part B of the TMT. However, PS-dependent executive functions seem to be particularly affected in MS, to a greater extent than PS-independent functions (Leavitt et al., 2014). Moreover, after differences in PS ability between people with and without MS are statistically controlled for, patients' performance on tests of PS-dependent executive functions appears no longer impaired when compared to controls (Denney and Lynch, 2009, Leavitt et al., 2014). Indeed, poorer response inhibition abilities due to MS can be predicted by response times in a discrimination task (Denney and Lynch, 2009). Furthermore, evidence of PS influence on cognitive performance has also been observed for planning abilities (Arnett et al., 1997). Indeed, MS patients perform significantly worse than controls only on timed planning tests, e.g. Tower of London (Shallice, 1982), and manifest longer planning time as task difficulty increases. However, differences in planning performance between patients and controls disappear if they are provided with additional time to solve the tasks (Owens et al., 2013).

The investigations here reviewed suggest a clear association between decline in PS function and deficits observed across other several cognitive domains. This relationship appears particularly evident in those studies that controlled for differences between patients and controls in PS abilities and that, by this means, showed how poorer performance in higher order cognition was dependent on slowed processing in attention (Roth et al., 2015), working memory (Demaree et al., 1999, Leavitt et al., 2011), executive functions (Denney and Lynch, 2009, Leavitt et al., 2014), and planning (Owens et al., 2013). These findings appear in line with the relative consequence model that states impairment in PS is the primary cognitive force driving decline in other domains (DeLuca et al., 2004). However, all the above mentioned studies adopted cross-sectional designs, thus undermining any definite conclusion about causal relationships in the temporal cascade of MS-related cognitive deteriorations. Moreover, not all studies have found a significant association between deficits in PS and other cognitive functions in MS (Berrigan et al., 2013). This may be due to the high level of heterogeneity that characterises the manifestation of cognitive impairment in MS. In fact, a recent paper that investigated PS and verbal long term memory in 128 people with RRMS found four cognitive phenotypes: more than half of the patients were not impaired in either cognitive domain; only less than 8% were impaired in PS exclusively; 17.2% showed impairments in both domains; and interestingly 18.8% were impaired in memory but not in PS abilities (Leavitt et al., 2018). Therefore, despite extensive evidence about the prominent role of PS in cognitive decline in MS, the presence of subgroups of patients affected by specific PS-independent cognitive deficits must be taken into account. This may be due to differences in lesion location across brain areas and across brain tissues as well as protective factors such as cognitive reserve (Stern, 2002, Sumowski and Leavitt, 2013, Sumowski et al., 2016).

# 2.2.4. PS and quality of life of people with MS

PS deficits have been shown to affect people with MS at various levels. Impairment in higher order cognition itself may be associated with PS deficits through the mediational role of other symptoms, namely mood and fatigue, though the actual causal relationships have not been clarified yet (Blair et al., 2016, Diamond et al., 2008). Roberg et al. (2012) found that the degree of self-reported slowing of cognitive abilities, although not correlated with objective PS assessment, exerts significant influence on levels of impulsivity, anxiety, and introversion. Different sources of evidence support the hypothesis that various aspects of healthrelated quality of life are likely to be affected by PS dysfunction. In particular, mental quality of life of people with MS appears associated with slower cognition, especially with performance on the PASAT, while physical quality of life is consistently predicted by the EDSS scores, i.e. the global level of disability (Barker-Collo, 2006, Baumstarck-Barrau et al., 2011, Shawaryn et al., 2002a). However, one study found contrasting results: a significant relationship between scores obtained on the PASAT and the physical component of quality of life, and an unexpected negative correlation between the SDMT scores and the mental component (Glanz et al., 2010).

Moreover, decreased PS abilities in people with MS were also associated with functional deficits observed in daily life activities (Baumstarck-Barrau et al., 2011), especially those characterised by time constraints, as measured by the Timed Instrumental Activities of Daily Living tool (Goverover et al., 2007, Owsley et al., 2001). This may contribute to explain the high rates of unemployment observed among cognitively impaired individuals in this clinical population. Indeed, PS capacity significantly discriminates employed and unemployed patients (Campbell et al., 2017b) and predicts working status at 7-year follow-up (Ruet et al., 2013a). A recent review of 42 studies including over 30000 people affected by MS found that, along disease severity, fatigue and demographic characteristics, cognitive decline in PS was significantly associated with employment condition (Raggi et al., 2015).

Therefore, it can be reasonably stated that core cognitive deficits that characterise MS can exert multiple negative effects affecting not only cognition but also various aspects of patients' health and lives.

## 2.2.5. MS-related brain damage and PS function

Despite extensive use of neuroimaging in both clinical (for diagnostic purposes) and research settings (as an outcome measure of treatment trials) involving people with MS, the association between indices of neural and clinical dysfunction is still unclear. This peculiar phenomenon has been named "clinico-radiological paradox" (Barkhof, 2002). Severity of MS symptoms, cognitive decline included, is not necessarily a reflection of the amount of lesions that may be detected on conventional MRI scans. Indeed, lesional burden seen on T2-weighted images appears to affect global cognitive functioning only marginally and it is highly likely to represent an index poorly sensitive to impairment (Mollison et al., 2017). However, more sophisticated analysis may contribute to augment the meaningfulness of

lesional measures by highlighting specific lesion locations particularly associated with cognitive decline (Hackmack et al., 2012).

Studies that focussed specifically on PS found variable associations with indices of lesion burden depending on both MRI and cognitive measures used. The number of WM lesions has been observed to be irrelevant to performance on various PS tests (Deloire et al., 2005, Lebrun et al., 2010, Roosendaal et al., 2009b). This leads to the intuitive speculation that both lesion size and location may play crucial roles in affecting PS function rather than their simple count (Rossi et al., 2012).

On the contrary, several investigations evidenced that total lesion volume (TLV) in general correlates with PS performance (Granberg et al., 2015, Hohol et al., 1997, Khalil et al., 2011, Lin et al., 2008, Mazerolle et al., 2013, Mesaros et al., 2009) and even predicts changes in this function over time (Deloire et al., 2011). Only a minority of studies failed to detect any significant association with PS abilities (Kern et al., 2015, Nocentini et al., 2014). However, distinctions may apply to different PS measures. Indeed, absence of correlations with TLV was mainly highlighted for the PASAT (Audoin et al., 2005, Benedict et al., 2007, Fulton et al., 1999, Morgen et al., 2006, Sanfilipo et al., 2006), especially in versions with low PS load (Sbardella et al., 2013a, Stankiewicz et al., 2011), rather than for the SDMT (Bomboi et al., 2011, Sperling et al., 2001). Consistently, a review of 39 studies found that performance on the SDMT significantly correlated with lesion measures more consistently (70% vs less than 50% of the papers) and more strongly than performance on the PASAT (Rao et al., 2014b).

In line with results on TLV, cortical and WM lesion volumes appear preferentially associated with visual PS function (Mike et al., 2011, Papadopoulou et al., 2013). However, Weier et al. (2014) showed the two most common PS tests used with people affected by MS may be predicted by distinct lesional measures, namely TLV for the SDMT and cortical lesion volume for the PASAT. Detailed analyses showed that regional lesion volumes, mainly localised in frontal areas, seem to contribute differentially to PS deficits (Lazeron et al., 2005, Lazeron et al., 2006). Moreover, the volume of lesions in the corpus callosum (Mesaros et al., 2009) and cerebellum may further contribute to explain MS-related PS deficits (Archibald et al., 2004, Damasceno et al., 2014).

As previously mentioned in Chapter 1, along lesion formation in both WM and GM development of atrophy due to brain tissue loss is a well-established finding in MS research (Lansley et al., 2013, Vollmer et al., 2015). These morphological and volumetric changes have been documented to impact disease evolution and severity of cognitive symptoms (Vollmer et al., 2016). In particular, two different reviews

consistently showed PS abilities correlate with measures of atrophy (Rao et al., 2014b, Vollmer et al., 2016). In line with findings on lesional measures, it has also been observed that performance on the SDMT was affected by brain volume loss in each single study that used this measure, while results for the PASAT were much more variable.

However, reproducibility of findings on correlations between PS performance and simple atrophy measures such as normalised global brain volume or brain parenchymal fraction (i.e. the proportion of WM and GM volumes taken together on total intracranial volume (TIV)) tends to be limited. Indeed, methodological variability in morphometric analysis may explain contrasting findings for a test such as the SDMT (Granberg et al., 2015, Sastre-Garriga et al., 2009). Similarly, although brain parenchymal fraction was found to correlate with different PS tests (Benedict et al., 2007, Mazerolle et al., 2013, Nocentini et al., 2014) and to predict changes in PS function over a period of 7 years (Deloire et al., 2011), several studies failed to detect an association with any measure of PS ability (Baltruschat et al., 2015, Deloire et al., 2005, Lazeron et al., 2005, Lazeron et al., 2006, Sastre-Garriga et al., 2009). An unclear picture emerges from findings on independent analyses of GM and WM volumes. Indeed, Morgen et al. (2006) found patients with MS and deficits in PS had lower GM volume in frontal, parietal and temporal areas bilaterally. Moreover, performance on the PASAT and the SDMT was correlated with GM fraction, i.e. GM volume divided by TIV, both globally (Benedict et al., 2007, Sastre-Garriga et al., 2009) and in specific areas, namely the superior temporal gyrus for the SDMT (Tekok-Kilic et al., 2007) and bilateral orbitofrontal cortex for the PASAT (Sbardella et al., 2013a). Voxel-based analyses seem to indicate a prominent involvement of the frontal lobes since the SDMT scores were correlated with clusters of GM in the right DLPFC (Cerasa et al., 2013, Nocentini et al., 2014) and superior temporal and parietal cortices (Nocentini et al., 2014). Instead, no clear tendencies have been identified regarding the relationship between PS deficits and alterations in WM volume either globally (Papadopoulou et al., 2013, Sanfilipo et al., 2006) or in the corpus callosum (Llufriu et al., 2012, Ozturk et al., 2010).

Detrimental effects of MS-related atrophy have also been investigated in more localised areas and regions of interest. The ventricular fraction, i.e. ventricular volume divided by TIV, has not been found to correlate with scores obtained by patients on several PS tests (Deloire et al., 2005), although one longitudinal study observed changes in this index over a period of 2 years after recruitment predicted PS decline at 7-year follow-up (Deloire et al., 2011). Decreases in the width of the third ventricle have been consistently correlated with deficits PS abilities (Leavitt et

al., 2014, Tekok-Kilic et al., 2007): association that may be driven by thalamic atrophy, previously identified as one of the hallmarks of GM pathology in MS (Lansley et al., 2013). In line with this hypothesis, different studies found that thalamic volume predicted performance on the PASAT (Benedict et al., 2013), the SDMT (Benedict et al., 2013, Bisecco et al., 2017) and tests of PS-dependent executive functions (Kern et al., 2015). Moreover, Bergsland et al. (2016b) observed that atrophy specifically in the left thalamus predicted PS decline over a period of 3 years.

However, associations between PS performance and the volume of several different subcortical GM structures have been observed, such as the occipital cortex, the putamen, and the cerebellum (Bisecco et al., 2017). The role played by the cerebellum remains currently controversial due to inconsistent results observed in the literature (Cerasa et al., 2013, Damasceno et al., 2014, Weier et al., 2014). Similarly not definite results emerged for the hippocampus, a structure notoriously involved in memory functions. Indeed, performance of patients with MS on the SDMT (Koenig et al., 2014) but not on the PASAT (Koenig et al., 2014, Sicotte et al., 2008) was found significantly correlated with bilateral hippocampal volume by one study. Moreover, Köhler et al. (2017) observed that verbal MS-related memory impairments were predicted by both PS decline and by left hippocampal volume reduction. However, whether PS deficits mediate the relationship between hippocampal damage and memory impairments remains unclear.

In conclusion, converging clues from investigations into macrostructural damage in MS highlighted above suggest frontal damage may preferentially affect PS function in people with MS. Nonetheless, the involvement of atrophy in other cortical and subcortical GM structures, as well as in WM tracts connecting them, cannot currently be ruled out.

# 2.2.6. Brain connectivity and PS function in MS

The lack of consistent association between various indices of macrostructural damage and PS deficits that characterise MS may be due to low sensitivity to cognitive decline for this type of neural marker, especially in the early stages of the disease. Although GM lesions may contribute to the manifestation of some cognitive symptoms (Calabrese et al., 2009), damage to WM fibres that support transmission of neural signal is hypothesised to constitute the main neural correlate of PS decline (Filley, 2010).

Moreover, MS can be said to represent a type of *disconnection syndrome* since WM lesions affect connections between different GM areas (Mesulam, 2012). Reductions in the integrity or even the number of the physical connections within brain networks may alter the effectiveness of signal transmission that, in turn, would lead to limited PS. This process is likely to drive cognitive decline that may be particularly evident when increasing structural damage causes a so-called *network collapse* (Schoonheim et al., 2015).

In consideration of the relevance given to disconnection as a driving mechanism for MS-related cognitive symptoms, it appears necessary to scan the literature that investigated how brain connectivity is associated with PS performance in people with MS systematically. See Appendices B and C for approvals to reproduce the review by Manca et al. (2018) in this section.

## 2.2.6.1. Methods

A systematic review of neuroimaging studies investigating the relationship between indices of brain connectivity and performance on tasks of PS in MS was carried out. The specific aim was to summarise the current knowledge about the relationship between breakdown in brain connectivity and PS function in people with MS.

A literature search was undertaken in two online databases: PubMed and Web of Science. Studies using DTI and resting-state functional MRI (RS-fMRI) in combination with cognitive PS measures were specifically targeted. The exact strings searched are reported in Appendix A. No time limits were set and all the papers published up to October 2018 were assessed following the steps highlighted in the PRISMA statement (Figure 2.5) (Moher et al., 2009). Additional papers from the reference lists of the selected articles that had not been identified in the literature searches were included. After removal of duplicates, the full text of the remaining articles was inspected and paper selection was performed according to the following exclusion criteria: (1) review articles, (2) theoretical and/or modelling papers, (3) papers related to patients with pediatric-onset MS, (4) papers related to diseases different from MS, (5) animal studies, (6) biological studies, (7) pharmacological studies, (8) papers with no inclusion of PS measures, (9) papers with no use of either DTI or RS-fMRI techniques, (10) papers not in English.



Figure 2.5 Flow chart of the process of study selection.

Papers selected to be included in this review were assessed according to a customised set of criteria, adapted from those used by Welton et al. (2015), that give an indication of their scientific quality and to ascertain possible sources of bias. A checklist of twelve questions was created and organised in five areas: methodology, clinical characteristics, MRI parameters, statistical analysis and results. Particular attention was given to the provision of details about the characterisation of the samples recruited and the analyses performed. A point was assigned for each quality criterion fulfilled. For the criterion assessing sample composition, 2 points were assigned to studies carried out on one or more groups of homogenous MS phenotypes, 1 to studies that included mixed phenotype samples, and no points to those reporting no information about phenotypes investigated. Therefore, the maximum score that could be achieved was 13 points. For more detailed information about quality assessment see Appendix A.

#### 2.2.6.2. Results of the literature search

A total of 1023 papers were identified through online search and review of all the available references. Four hundred and forty-one entries were duplicates and the remaining 478 records were fully screened for eligibility. Fourty papers, all published between 2008 and 2018, met the final selection criteria to undergo review. Twenty-seven studies reported the use of DTI measures to investigate structural connectivity only, 7 studies used RS-fMRI only for functional connectivity, and 6 studies combined DTI and RS-fMRI.

A summary of the quality assessment of the reviewed articles is reported in Table 2.1. Differences in the overall quality of papers between the three MRI categories were analysed using the Kruskal-Wallis test. The analyses showed the differences to be only marginally significant  $\chi^2(2) = 6.023$ , p = .049. After applying Dunn's multiple comparisons test, the only difference that approached significance threshold was the one between studies using only DTI and those combining DTI with RS-fMRI (p = .06), with the latter showing higher scores (Figure 2.6). More detailed information on the evaluation of each quality criterion is reported in Appendix A.

MRI technique	Median	Interquartile range	Minimum	Maximum
DTI	9	4	4	12
RS-fMRI	11	2	6	12
DTI and RS-fMRI	11	3	9	13

 Table 2.1 Descriptive statistics for the overall quality assessment of the studies categorised by MRI technique.



Figure 2.6 Differences in overall quality of the papers reviewed.

These findings show a potential gap in the overall scientific quality between DTI studies and those combining DTI with RS-fMRI measures. Arguably, this may be driven by technological advances and indeed studies using RS-fMRI were in general more recent than the DTI ones. However, it is also possible that studies combining several MRI techniques might have been more thoroughly designed. It must be noted, however, that only a few studies have been carried out with combined methodologies, thus making any conclusions not definitive.

## 2.2.6.3. Results about structural connectivity

Moderate heterogeneity was seen across studies with respect to sample composition, clinical information, analysis techniques, and covariates of no interest (Appendix A). In particular, despite the fact that the majority of the studies investigated RRMS, nine included patients with different MS clinical courses without specific sub-sample analysis (Benedict et al., 2013, Bergsland et al., 2018, Genova et al., 2013, Koenig et al., 2014, Koenig et al., 2015, Moroso et al., 2017, Ozturk et al., 2010, Roosendaal et al., 2009a, Van Hecke et al., 2010). Progressive MS was underrepresented, with a single study on patients with SPMS (Meijer et al., 2016). Two papers were published on so-called "benign MS" (Bester et al., 2013, Mesaros et al., 2009), while one did not report explicitly the type of MS investigated (Warlop et al., 2009).

In general, information on relapses and medications taken at the time of data collection were reported by most studies, but comorbidities and the presence or absence of fatigue and depressive symptoms were scarcely documented. This, together with lack of clearly stated *a priori* hypotheses lowered the quality of studies using only DTI measures compared to the others reviewed. There was, however, a trend towards improvement with better quality studies found in the most recent investigations of structural connectivity.

Statistical analyses were carried out with different approaches, the most common being the investigation of one or more regions of interest that was used in sixteen out of twenty-seven studies (Benedict et al., 2013, Bergsland et al., 2018, Bester et al., 2013, Bonzano et al., 2008, Kern et al., 2015, Koenig et al., 2014, Koenig et al., 2015, Lin et al., 2008, Llufriu et al., 2012, Mesaros et al., 2009, Moroso et al., 2017, Ozturk et al., 2010, Pokryszko-Dragan et al., 2018, Rimkus et al., 2011, Roca et al., 2008, Roosendaal et al., 2009a). The definition of the regions of interest was mainly a priori, though 2 studies defined them according to task-related functional activation (Bonzano et al., 2008) and differences in fractional anisotropy between MS patients and healthy controls (Roosendaal et al., 2009a). Thirteen out of twenty-seven studies did not use multiple comparisons correction strategies (Benedict et al., 2013, Bonzano et al., 2008, Kern et al., 2015, Koenig et al., 2014, Lin et al., 2008, Llufriu et al., 2012, Moroso et al., 2017, Pokryszko-Dragan et al., 2018, Rimkus et al., 2011, Roca et al., 2008, Roosendaal et al., 2009a, Shu et al., 2018, Warlop et al., 2009) and fourteen did not control for any covariate of no interest (Bonzano et al., 2008, Kern et al., 2015, Koenig et al., 2014, Koenig et al., 2015, Lin et al., 2008, Llufriu et al., 2012, Moroso et al., 2017, Ozturk et al., 2010, Pokryszko-Dragan et al., 2018, Rimkus et al., 2011, Roca et al., 2008, Shu et al., 2018, Van Hecke et al., 2010, Warlop et al., 2009). Among those publications that did, age was always included, followed by sex and premorbid cognitive status.

The most consistent difference observed between people with MS and healthy controls in DTI studies was the presence of abnormalities in the corpus callosum. This interhemispheric bundle of fibres appeared to be particularly affected by MS pathology. Additionally, other WM tracts also showed abnormalities including: the superior and inferior longitudinal fasciculus, the cingulum, and the fornix. Most of these are associative WM tracts that mainly support different cognitive functions.

Weak or absent correlation between DTI indices and PS measures was reported in five papers using the PASAT, in particular the 3 sec version (PASAT 3") (Bester et al., 2013, Koenig et al., 2014, Koenig et al., 2015, Llufriu et al., 2012, Sbardella et al., 2013a). This finding, in line with the aforementioned review on atrophy measures

(Rao et al., 2014b), may be due to a lower PS load of the 3 sec version compared to more challenging versions of the same test or to the SDMT. Indeed, Sbardella et al. (2013a) observed that the PASAT 2", but not the PASAT 3", significantly correlated with both fractional anisotropy and mean diffusivity in a widespread network of WM tracts centred on the right inferior longitudinal fasciculus and the left cingulum. Similarly, Riccitelli et al. (2017) found widespread correlations between scores on this test and various DTI indices across many WM tracts. While Sbardella et al. (2013a) and Riccitelli et al. (2017) used a tract-based spatial statistics approach to investigate voxel-wise associations within a skeleton of WM containing only the core of the tracts, lack of correlation between the PASAT 3" and DTI indices was otherwise observed in studies of patients with different MS phenotypes utilising either whole-brain global indices (Warlop et al., 2009) or several regions of interest: anterior thalamic radiations (Bester et al., 2013), corpus callosum (Bester et al., 2013, Llufriu et al., 2012), fornix (Koenig et al., 2014), posterior cingulum and posterior limb of the internal capsule (Koenig et al., 2015). On the contrary, Shu et al. (2018) found that various graph-theory-derived measures indicative of connectivity strength were positively correlated with performance on this test.

In line with the findings from comparisons between people with MS and healthy controls, in studies with mixed MS phenotypes the corpus callosum was the WM bundle most commonly reported to be correlated with the PASAT 3", both in regionof-interest (Lin et al., 2008, Mesaros et al., 2009, Ozturk et al., 2010) and voxel-wise investigations (Bozzali et al., 2013, Dineen et al., 2009, Van Hecke et al., 2010, Yu et al., 2012). However, performance on this test was also noted to correlate with the degree of microstructural integrity of other WM tracts, mainly: the left cingulum (Dineen et al., 2009, Sbardella et al., 2013a, Van Hecke et al., 2010); the superior longitudinal fasciculus, mainly on the left side (Bonzano et al., 2008, Dineen et al., 2009, Van Hecke et al., 2010); and the inferior longitudinal fasciculus bilaterally (Dineen et al., 2009, Sbardella et al., 2013a, Van Hecke et al., 2010). Moreover, less consistent associations with the PASAT were detected in the arcuate fasciculus (Dineen et al., 2009), right posterior thalamic radiations and right sagittal stratum (Yu et al., 2012), hippocampal and cerebellar WM (Bozzali et al., 2013), the lateral portion of the frontal lobes (Roca et al., 2008), and with thalamic mean diffusivity (Benedict et al., 2013). Only one study found that microstructural integrity of the bilateral uncinate fasciculi predicted PS performance assessed combining the PASAT and the SDMT (Kern et al., 2015).

The only study carried out on SPMS did not investigate PS as a distinct domain but divided the patients' sample into cognitively impaired and preserved sub-samples,

based on performance on various tests, among which were the PASAT and the SDMT. Mean global radial diffusivity, among the different DTI measures, emerged as the only significant predictor of cognitive status. However, all DTI indices were found to be significantly different between cognitively impaired and cognitively preserved groups in: the fornix, the superior longitudinal fasciculus, and the forceps major (Meijer et al., 2016).

In contrast, fewer studies investigated the association between structural connectivity measures and performance on the SDMT in people with MS. Among them, only two failed to report any significant correlation in two regions of interest, namely anterior thalamic radiations (Bester et al., 2013) and the corpus callosum (Bester et al., 2013, Llufriu et al., 2012). Consistently, Bergsland et al. (2018) observed that the correlation between SDMT scores and thalamic mean diffusivity values was not significant if thalamic volume was statistically controlled for. Similar to the results on the PASAT, higher structural integrity of the corpus callosum, particularly in the body, appears consistently linked also to higher scores obtained on the SDMT (Mazerolle et al., 2013, Pokryszko-Dragan et al., 2018, Rimkus et al., 2011, Yu et al., 2012) and a similar test of visual PS: the Letter Digit Substitution Test (Roosendaal et al., 2009a). However, DTI indices were more often observed to be correlated with this test in other WM fibre bundles: the fornix, both left-lateralised (Koenig et al., 2014) and bilaterally (Yu et al., 2012); the cingulum, on the right side (Yu et al., 2012) and globally (Koenig et al., 2015); and the posterior thalamic radiations bilaterally (Mazerolle et al., 2013, Yu et al., 2012). In general, results appear quite variable and non-specific (Riccitelli et al., 2017). Less commonly, significant correlations between the SDMT scores and DTI measures were additionally detected by region-of-interest and voxel-wise analyses in: the posterior limb of the internal capsule (Koenig et al., 2015), thalamus (Benedict et al., 2013, Pokryszko-Dragan et al., 2018), middle cerebellar peduncle (Pokryszko-Dragan et al., 2018), bilateral uncinate fasciculi, sagittal stratum (Yu et al., 2012), and the superior longitudinal fasciculus (Mazerolle et al., 2013).

Only two DTI studies, investigated the TMT: the first (Rimkus et al., 2011) reported no correlation in the region of interest of the corpus callosum, while a voxel-wise study found that performance on this test was correlated with fractional anisotropy in different parts of the corpus callosum, the left inferior fronto-occipital fasciculus, right posterior thalamic radiations, and bilateral superior longitudinal fasciculi (Genova et al., 2013). This latter study also found that a PS index derived from the Stroop test correlated with structural connectivity integrity of the corpus callosum, bilateral fornix, and right-lateralised anterior and posterior thalamic radiations.

#### 2.2.6.4. Results about functional connectivity

Seven studies focussed solely on resting-state brain activity and its relation to PS ability in RRMS (Appendix A). Patients' age, duration and severity were guite similar across studies and in general the reported clinical data were more detailed than in DTI studies although details about relapses were missing (Gamboa et al., 2014, Janssen et al., 2013, Lin et al., 2018b). While most studies investigated different cortical and subcortical regions of interest, two studies analysed functional connectivity within the graph theory framework by dividing the brain into GM areas, extracting the average resting-state signal from each area, and finally calculating linear correlation between signals from each pair of GM areas (Gamboa et al., 2014, Lin et al., 2018b). The majority of the studies did not use statistical correction for multiple comparisons (Gamboa et al., 2014, Pravatá et al., 2016, van Geest et al., 2018, Wojtowicz et al., 2014) and five controlled for possible confounding variables (Lin et al., 2018a, Lin et al., 2018b, Pravatá et al., 2016, van Geest et al., 2018, Wojtowicz et al., 2014). However, studies on functional connectivity were of a slightly higher, although not significant, quality compared to the structural connectivity studies given that all were explicitly hypothesis-driven with just one exception (Wojtowicz et al., 2014). The PASAT 3" was the most commonly used test of cognitive PS function, although mainly in combination with other tasks, which resulted in high variability of PS assessment across studies (Gamboa et al., 2014, Janssen et al., 2013).

When functional connectivity was compared between people with MS and healthy controls, reductions were reported in the somatosensory network, medial and lateral visual networks (Janssen et al., 2013), and between posterior and anterior cingulate cortex and right inferior frontal gyrus (Wojtowicz et al., 2014), while different thalamic nuclei appear to undergo multifaceted changes in FC (Lin et al., 2018a). Analysis of static and dynamic FC revealed no differences between patients and controls specifically in the DMN (van Geest et al., 2018), but overall alterations have been observed (Lin et al., 2018b). Consistently, graph-based analysis of functional connectivity revealed how the brains of people with MS tend to reorganise and become more modularised. This means that connectivity between brain areas that are functionally related to one another and form a module tends to increase in MS, while functional connectivity between areas belonging to different brain modules becomes weaker (Gamboa et al., 2014); see Fleischer et al. (2017) for a recent review of graph theory and brain networks in MS. These findings support the view of MS as a disconnection syndrome due to different functionally related areas

becoming more independent from one another and, in turn, hampering information integration across the brain.

Accuracy in a dual-task PASAT 3" was reported to be negatively associated with the general level of network modularity (i.e. reduced between-network connectivity) characterising brains affected by MS: the higher the brain modularisation the worse the PS performance (Gamboa et al., 2014). Using a similar approach, Lin et al. (2018b) found that global changes in both static and dynamic FC are associated with PS as well as executive functions. Wojtowicz et al. (2014) also found that the higher the intra-individual variability in the semantic search reaction time task of the Computerised Test of Information Processing the lower the functional connectivity between ventro-medial prefrontal cortex and the left frontal pole. No alterations in connectivity of the ventro-medial prefrontal cortex were reported between people with MS and healthy controls, however.

Another region-of-interest study compared functional connectivity changes between a baseline scan acquired just before in-scanner performance of two consecutive blocks of the PASAT 3" and two subsequent scans: one acquired just after completion of the second block and one after 30 minutes. The scores on the PASAT 3" correlated with the decrease of connectivity occurring in the 30 minutes after task performance between the left superior frontal gyrus and the left thalamus (Pravatá et al., 2016). However, PS function was not correlated with functional connectivity of the left superior frontal gyrus at baseline. Similarly, no association was found between scores on this test and FC of thalamic nuclei (Lin et al., 2018a). However, performance on the SDMT correlated negatively with FC between anterior thalamic nuclei and the posterior cingulate and between the lateral thalamic nuclei and the insula. Finally, Janssen et al. (2013) calculated a PS composite score comprehensive of both verbal and visuospatial components and including performance on the PASAT 2", the PASAT 3", the letter comparison and the pattern comparison tests. No associations were reported for the composite score with any of the 6 resting-state networks investigated: DMN, executive control, left and right fronto-parietal, cerebellar, and sensorimotor networks. However, using a similar cognitive measure van Geest et al. (2018) observed that dynamic changes in FC of the DMN contributed to predict PS performance along measures of structural brain damage.

#### 2.2.6.5. Results about the combination of structural and functional connectivity

Papers that combined DTI and resting-state analysis were characterised by greater homogeneity in sample composition: five out of six were carried out on RRMS while only one on a mixed sample of PPMS and SPMS (Rocca et al., 2010b). Clinical information was in general extensively reported, apart from the presence of depression. Moreover, all of the studies used the PASAT 3" as test of PS functionality apart from one which investigated also the PASAT 2" (Tona et al., 2014) and a more recent study that compared PS-impaired and PS-preserved patients, classified according to their performance on the SDMT (Meijer et al., 2018). Most studies used statistical corrections. Apart from two (Meijer et al., 2018, Zhou et al., 2014), all studies included covariates of no interest in statistical models, mainly age and sex.

Compared to DTI studies, those that investigated both structural and functional connectivity, showed significantly higher quality with two out of five reaching the maximum quality score in our criteria (Tona et al., 2014, Zhou et al., 2016). However, the hypotheses underlying the aims of the studies were not always overtly reported in these papers (Rocca et al., 2010b, Sbardella et al., 2015b, Zhou et al., 2014).

In RRMS DTI findings confirmed those from studies focussing exclusively on this technique, showing lower fractional anisotropy and higher mean, radial, and axial diffusivity globally (Tona et al., 2014) and in the corpus callosum, the inferior and superior longitudinal fasciculi (Sbardella et al., 2015b), thalamic tracts (Zhou et al., 2016), and tracts connecting cortical areas of the DMN (Zhou et al., 2014) compared to controls. Moreover, in SPMS more severe alterations of diffusivity indices were seen in the corpus callosum and the cingulum (Rocca et al., 2010b).

Widespread correlations between scores on the PASAT 3" and fractional anisotropy mainly centred on the corpus callosum were found in one study that used tractbased spatial statistics analysis (TBSS) (Sbardella et al., 2015b). Furthermore, several regions of interest were investigated and were found to be associated with PS performance: the corpus callosum and the cingulum, but not the corticospinal tract and the optic radiations (Rocca et al., 2010b); tracts connecting the posterior cingulate and the precuneus with the right inferior parietal lobule (Zhou et al., 2014); and the anterior thalamic radiations (Zhou et al., 2016). One further study reported no correlations between the two PASAT versions analysed (2" and 3") and global fractional anisotropy and mean diffusivity (Tona et al., 2014). Instead, Meijer et al. (2018) found that patients with PS deficits compared to those without showed widespread WM damage signalled by lower FA values.

Results of studies of functional connectivity in RRMS were more variable when compared to healthy controls: thalamic connectivity was increased with dorsal and lateral frontal areas, but decreased with medial frontal, medial temporal and occipito-parietal cortices (Tona et al., 2014, Zhou et al., 2016); increased connectivity was found between various pairs of areas part of the DMN (Zhou et al., 2014); and finally decreases in functional connectivity between the left fronto-parietal network and the executive control network were found (Sbardella et al., 2015b). However, a study that compared 130 PS-impaired with 200 PS-preserved patients found that the former group had higher average functional connectivity across the whole brain (Meijer et al., 2018).

When functional connectivity was found to correlate with measures of PS, PASAT 3" score was positively associated with connectivity of the left medial prefrontal cortex and the anterior cingulate (Rocca et al., 2010b) and negatively with the posterior DMN on the left side (Zhou et al., 2014), the executive control network and the medial visual network (Sbardella et al., 2015b), and between the thalamus and distributed cortical and subcortical areas in both hemispheres (Tona et al., 2014). Zhou et al. (2016), instead, found no correlation between thalamic connectivity and performance on the PASAT 3".

Reductions in functional connectivity were also reported in the progressive forms of MS, with slightly different patterns across phenotypes: in the medial prefrontal cortex and the precentral gyrus for SPMS; in the anterior cingulate cortex and the precentral gyrus in PPMS (Rocca et al., 2010b).

Finally, no correlations were observed between measures of structural and functional connectivity by studies that focused on the thalamus (Tona et al., 2014, Zhou et al., 2016). Mean and axial diffusivity in tracts connecting the anterior and posterior portions of the DMN were, however, found to be correlated with their functional connectivity (Zhou et al., 2014), and fractional anisotropy in the corpus callosum and the cingulum correlated with functional connectivity of the anterior DMN (Rocca et al., 2010b).

## 2.2.6.6. Conclusions

The published literature shows contrasting results on correlations between PS function and measures of functional and structural connectivity. DTI studies have highlighted mainly vague and variable findings. Indeed, when voxel-wise analyses

were carried out, multiple and widespread clusters of WM correlated with PS tasks (Dineen et al., 2009, Genova et al., 2013, Mazerolle et al., 2013, Riccitelli et al., 2017, Sbardella et al., 2013a, Van Hecke et al., 2010, Yu et al., 2012) and the same was observed in the investigation of more specific regions of interest across a range of tests (Bergsland et al., 2018, Bonzano et al., 2008, Kern et al., 2015, Koenig et al., 2014, Koenig et al., 2015, Roca et al., 2008). Lack of correlation with brain connectivity measures was noted more often for the PASAT (especially the 3" version) than the SDMT and various explanations may account for these differences. Firstly, the sensory modality used to present stimuli differs between the two tests: auditory for the PASAT and visual for the SDMT. The latter, in fact, has been reported to be more susceptible to impairment in MS than the former and may better evaluate PS deficits associated with this disease (Costa et al., 2017). Secondly, the way stimuli are presented during test performance differs across tests: for the PASAT stimuli are presented one at a time in sequence, while all the stimuli are presented simultaneously on the same page for the SDMT, thus increasing the demands posed on inhibition of processing of possible distractors. For the PASAT, it has also been suggested that patients may put in place different solving strategies when facing different versions of the PASAT. In fact, Snyder and Cappelleri (2001) reported that patients tend not to perform the task continuously but to skip every third item, thus reducing considerably the difficulty of the test and achieving a higher, though less reliable, score. Finally, it cannot be ignored that the two tests, although both used as PS measures, require the engagement of different cognitive domains: verbal auditory working memory for the PASAT and visual attention for the SDMT. These cognitive functions are long known to rely on activity of different brain areas of both hemispheres (Smith and Jonides, 1999), suggesting these tasks may assess different aspects of the PS function.

Indeed, partially different WM tracts were observed to be related to the tests reviewed. Performance on the PASAT was more associated with the level of microstructural integrity of the left cingulum, the superior longitudinal fasciculus (especially left-lateralised), and the inferior longitudinal fasciculus. In contrast, the SDMT seems to be more associated with DTI measures in bilateral tracts: the fornix, the cingulum and the posterior thalamic radiations. However, the corpus callosum emerged as the WM tract that most consistently correlated with PS performance of people with MS across cognitive tasks. This suggests the importance of multiple WM tracts to support cognitive PS performance across cognitive domains through fast integration of information processed in distributed brain networks.

Despite the variability of results, DTI indices seem to be more consistently correlated with different PS performance than measures of lesion load and parenchymal atrophy. This may result from the fact that microstructural WM damage can spread across fibre tracts (Chiang et al., 2016), and can precede the detection of new macrostructural lesions (Ontaneda et al., 2014). Hence, diffusion indices may be more sensitive in detecting subtle MS pathology leading to decline in PS function than conventional MRI. In fact, apart from commissural fibres (i.e. the corpus callosum) associative WM tracts appear to be more critically involved in PS performance, namely the superior and inferior longitudinal fasciculi and the cingulum. Nevertheless, given the variability in PS tasks used, differential WM involvement may have been detected according to the specific measures used.

In contrast, higher quality and more consistent results were observed in RS-fMRI studies. Functional neuroplasticity seems to be the underlying mechanism supporting cognitive changes, or stability, in the early phases of MS. In fact both people with clinically isolated syndrome and RRMS showed functional connectivity changes, both increases (Lin et al., 2018a, Meijer et al., 2018, Tona et al., 2014, Zhou et al., 2014, Zhou et al., 2016) and decreases (Janssen et al., 2013, Lin et al., 2018a, Sbardella et al., 2015b, Tona et al., 2014, Wojtowicz et al., 2014, Zhou et al., 2015b, Tona et al., 2014, Wojtowicz et al., 2014, Zhou et al., 2016), within various brain networks. Only one study found no changes in static and dynamic FC of the DMN (van Geest et al., 2018). Furthermore, PS performance correlated with functional connectivity alterations in frontal areas, such as the prefrontal and anterior cingulate cortices, and fronto-thalamic connections (Lin et al., 2018a, Pravatá et al., 2016). It is also worth noting that, in contrast to DTI studies, almost all those exploring functional connectivity used exclusively the PASAT to measure PS abilities.

Even though a relationship between macrostructural damage and resting-state functional changes in MS appears likely (Droby et al., 2015b), current findings are not consistent. In fact, while some studies observed correlations between total lesion volume and changes of resting-state activity (Zhou et al., 2016) others reported no correlation (Rocca et al., 2010b, Sbardella et al., 2015b). The same discrepancy has been observed about the association between structural and functional connectivity measures, where significant correlations ware found only in a small number of studies (Rocca et al., 2010b, Zhou et al., 2014). Indeed, the relationship between functional and structural brain changes may not be that straightforward in consideration of the fact that if structural connectivity between two areas predicts functional connectivity, the reverse is not necessarily the case, since

functional connectivity can also depend on indirect connections to and from other brain areas (Damoiseaux and Greicius, 2009).

Current knowledge of how MS-related damage to both structural and functional connectivity affects PS function appears incomplete and preliminary. This may be due to methodological shortcomings detected in the reviewed articles. Firstly, most studies, especially those on structural connectivity, were carried out on samples of mixed MS phenotypes. Such lack of differentiation may confound results, particularly since the neuropathology in progressive forms of MS is increasingly recognised to be mainly characterised more by neurodegenerative rather than inflammatory processes (Mahad et al., 2015). Secondly, to date many studies have been carried out using a more explorative approach, often without a clearly defined hypothesis to test, and have been based on a cross-sectional design that does not allow for the assessment of PS decline over time. Finally, a lack of theoretical background on PS decline in MS has emerged from the published literature. The majority of the studies focused mainly on the most common tests of PS that are intrinsically related to various cognitive domains (i.e. working memory for the PASAT and visuospatial attention for the SDMT), neglecting alternative strategies of investigation. These could include better characterisation of the neural correlates of PS deficits in MS considering sensory, cognitive, and motor contributions (Costa et al., 2017) or clarifying any possible influence of PS decline on other cognitive domains when assessing correlations with MRI measures (Genova et al., 2013).

PS performance has been repeatedly found to be impaired in people with MS and to correlate with both structural and functional brain reorganization, in particular degeneration of the corpus callosum (Bester et al., 2013, Bozzali et al., 2013, Genova et al., 2013, Lin et al., 2008, Mazerolle et al., 2013, Mesaros et al., 2009, Ozturk et al., 2010, Rimkus et al., 2011, Rocca et al., 2010b, Roosendaal et al., 2009a, Van Hecke et al., 2010) and altered activity in frontal areas (Pravatá et al., 2016, Rocca et al., 2010b, Sbardella et al., 2015b, Wojtowicz et al., 2014). Nevertheless, the dynamic properties and topography of neural breakdown in MS have yet to be clarified. Recent meta-analyses have been published with the aim of advancing our understanding of brain regions mostly affected by MS. Lansley et al. (2013) showed that GM appears to degenerate in the thalamus, a crucial hub for information distribution across the brain, the basal ganglia, precentral and postcentral gyri, and the cingulate cortex, involved in complex cognitive functions. Furthermore, Welton et al. (2015) highlighted how WM microstructural degeneration could be functionally related: physical disability was found to be mainly related to the posterior corpus callosum and right inferior fronto-occipital fasciculus, while cognitive decline was mainly linked to the anterior part of the corpus callosum, the thalamus, and the fornix.

The published literature suggests that connectivity of the frontal cortices and between hemispheres is involved in PS function in MS. Interestingly, the *cognitive efficiency* theory (Vernon, 1983) postulates that activity of the prefrontal cortex plays a pivotal role in PS performance as do dynamic interactions with parietal cortices (Rao et al., 2014a, Rypma et al., 2006, Rypma and Prabhakaran, 2009). However, caution is needed when drawing conclusions based on current published evidence in light of limitations related to the lack of *a priori* hypotheses and theoretical definitions of PS function (Costa et al., 2017) and the diffuse practice of including people with mixed MS phenotypes.

In conclusion, whilst reviewed studies have shown significant promise for the use of resting-state functional MRI and DTI to explore the neural substrates underpinning of PS in MS, results to date have not been consistent and further clarifying investigations are necessary. Firstly, more detailed analysis of concepts related to PS function should be brought about in order to provide better theoretical frameworks to the neuroscientific investigation of this domain and its decline due to MS (Costa et al., 2017). Secondly, the differential associations between different measures of PS ability, which may potentially capture different cognitive aspects of this function, and their neural correlates need further characterisation. Thirdly, the use of a longitudinal design, that so far has been largely neglected, may be of help to clarify the interplay between neural and cognitive changes over time and potential maladaptive plasticity in MS. Indeed, Loitfelder et al. (2014) observed that higher activity in the left inferior parietal lobule at 1-year follow-up was negatively correlated with SDMT performance in RRMS. Finally, considering the higher scientific quality observed in studies combining different connectivity measures suggests that adopting multiple neuroimaging approaches may prove to be particularly helpful in tracking PS decline in MS. Combined use of different MRI techniques might allow a more comprehensive approach to mapping connectivity that may help unravel the complexity that characterises MS symptoms. Furthermore, the integration of multimodal MRI and targeted neuropsychological assessment in clinical trials, both pharmacological and non-pharmacological, may provide more detailed outcome measures than simple of enhancing lesions and scales of disease severity. Indeed, interventions targeting cognitive symptoms experienced by people with MS may exert beneficial effects difficult to detect by means of the currently most common outcome measures of neural and cognitive health. However, so far little use has
been done of MRI measures in such trials which almost completely neglected PS function in their design.

#### 2.3. Cognitive interventions and PS function in MS

#### 2.3.1. Cognitive effects

Apart from the pharmacological interventions mentioned in Chapter 1, attempts to tackle MS-related cognitive impairment have been mainly focussed on neuropsychological rehabilitation. However, in the design of such interventions little attention has been given to decline of PS abilities that have been specifically addressed only by a very limited number of studies, usually in combination with other cognitive domains. Three studies focussed particularly on working memory and PS rehabilitation and obtained variable results depending on the different PS measures used (Hancock et al., 2015, Hubacher et al., 2015, Vogt et al., 2009). Vogt et al. (2009) compared two versions of a cognitive rehabilitation programme (high vs low intensity) for people with MS, finding that both induced similar improvements, compared to a non-active group, on various WM and PS measures including also the PASAT and the SDMT. On the contrary, another study using the same programme in a much smaller sample was able to report a significant increase only in the score obtained on the SDMT (Hubacher et al., 2015). Inversely, Hancock et al. (2015) compared two groups of patients receiving alternative versions of the same treatment with different PS and WM difficulties and observed a significant group-by-time interaction only on the PASAT, but not on the SDMT and executive function measures.

In general, it appears that most cognitive interventions tested so far have adopted a multi-domain approach with the aim of rehabilitating impairments in different functions, among which PS. Consistent results regarding positive changes in PS performance, mainly measured with the PASAT, were detected across investigations (Bonavita et al., 2015, De Giglio et al., 2015, Filippi et al., 2012, Mattioli et al., 2010). However, some studies failed to induce significant post-treatment changes in PS function even though beneficial effects were exerted on working memory (Sastre-Garriga et al., 2010) and short term memory (Janssen et al., 2015, Mattioli et al., 2015). Moreover, irrespectively of the rehabilitative approach used all studies that investigated the impact of cognitive interventions on quality of life found no ameliorations in this kind of outcome measure (Mattioli et al.,

2010, Mattioli et al., 2015, Vogt et al., 2009) except for one study (De Giglio et al., 2015).

#### 2.3.2. Neural effects

Only a very small number of studies included neuroimaging outcome measures to test the effects of their protocol. Only Filippi et al. (2012) investigated the impact of cognitive rehabilitation on both brain macrostructure and WM microstructure detecting no significant changes. At a functional level, instead, reorganization was observed to occur in different resting-state networks, namely the DMN (Bonavita et al., 2015, Filippi et al., 2012), and the salience and executive control networks (Filippi et al., 2012). Increases in functional connectivity appear to be induced particularly by non-pharmacological treatments and to correlate with cognitive performance on the PASAT (Filippi et al., 2012) and the Stroop test (Bonavita et al., 2015).

Some studies investigated changes in brain activation during task performance in relation to cognitive interventions. Hubacher et al. (2015) used the n-back task with four people with MS undergoing their rehabilitative programme: no modifications were detected for two participants, while the other two showed changes in brain activation of the fronto-parietal network in opposite directions, thus undermining conclusive interpretations of the study. Sastre-Garriga et al. (2010) recruited fifteen people with MS who underwent cognitive rehabilitation and after completion showed increased activation in two cerebellar clusters while performing the PASAT, compared to a group of five healthy people. Moreover, one study found that engaging in cognitive rehabilitation induced significantly higher Stroop-related activation in the posterior cingulate and the DLPFC in a group of people with MS compared to a non-active group (Filippi et al., 2012).

#### 2.4. General conclusions

In light of the reviewed literature, it appears that lack of clarity about the neural correlates of PS ability in people with MS is still prominent despite its central role in the cognitive symptomatology of this disease. The high level of variability and the few consistent findings on the association between different PS and MRI measures pose strong limitations to drawing any definite conclusion. Moreover, the application of this, even though partial, knowledge to neuropsychological interventions to address cognitive impairment is currently confined to a few studies characterised by

small sample sizes, variable rehabilitative approaches mostly neglecting PS, and the use of different methodologies and outcome measures. As a consequence, the assessment and the comparison of these studies, especially regarding the role of PS in cognitive rehabilitation and possible related neural changes, is still a challenge.

Therefore, it appears necessary to generate hypotheses to characterise both the relationship between PS and indices of brain health (Van Schependom and Nagels, 2017), with particular attention to measures of structural connectivity, and to implement this knowledge in effective cognitive interventions for people with MS to track neuroplastic changes that may underlie cognitive improvements (Kincses and Vecsei, 2018). The present PhD constitutes an attempt to address some of these issues and the specific aims will be enunciated in Chapter 3.

### Chapter 3 | Aims and objectives

As highlighted in Chapter 2 current knowledge about how brain degeneration characterising MS is associated with consequent cognitive decline is still only partially understood. The predominant investigation of morphological (e.g. normalised brain volume, callosal volume and area, width of the third ventricle) and global lesional measures indicating brain atrophy development have led to inconsistent results on their impact on PS performance. In fact, although these indices may be useful to track longitudinal neurodegenerative changes they are poorly informative on which neural features may explain the core cognitive deficits observed in people with MS.

Only recently, research has been shifting towards the use of alternative MRI sequences, namely DTI and fMRI, which can provide more detailed information about cognitive performance. Indeed, these MRI techniques have allowed the collection of voxel-based data on the integrity of structural WM connections and on functional alterations of brain activity. In turn, the correlation between cognitive and MRI variables enables researchers to show specific regional associations that may shed light on which brain areas, or network of areas, are more susceptible to insult by MS pathology and therefore clinically relevant. Moreover, such MRI outcome measures may provide a better understanding of the neural correlates of different MS-related symptoms so to inform trials of both pharmacological and non-pharmacological interventions. However, only limited conclusions can be drawn from the current corpus of studies that have investigated the association between PS decline in MS and measures of structural and functional connectivity as highlighted in the systematic review carried out and reported in Chapter 2.

The application of more sophisticated MRI techniques and analyses in this field of research has shed light on the neural consequences of MS pathology leading to the concept of MS as a "disconnection syndrome". In fact, WM damage to structural connections causes alterations in coordinated activation of functionally related brain areas needed to perform cognitive computations. However, so far investigations on MS-related cognitive decline and on treatment strategies to manage it have exploited this available knowledge only to a limited extent. This is possibly one of the reasons why evidence of effectiveness for both pharmacological and non-pharmacological interventions targeting cognition is still poor.

Therefore, the primary aim of this project is to use different measure of brain connectivity to carry out hypothesis-led investigations about cognitive performance, especially PS, in people with different MS phenotypes. Moreover, findings from these investigations and from the review of the literature (Chapter 2) will be used to guide the design and the analyses of an evidence-based cognitive intervention for people affected by RRMS. More specifically the objectives of this PhD project are:

 To investigate the association between structural connectivity integrity and performance on tests of PS and PS-dependent cognitive functions in patients with RRMS.

Since WM is deeply affected by MS pathology, it is reasonable to hypothesise that disruption of signal transmission between structurally connected brain areas may induce a decrease in the speed at which certain cognitive operations are performed. Moreover, previous studies have reported mixed and inconsistent findings on which WM tracts are more implicated in cognitive tasks of PS and rarely tested any experimental hypothesis. Therefore, a study was carried out on patients with RRMS combining neuropsychological data and DTI scans to ascertain whether associative WM tracts in particular are more strongly and differentially associated with various measures of PS-dependent cognitive performance. The findings of this study are reported in Chapter 4, Experiment 1.

 To investigate the association between structural connectivity integrity and performance on tests of PS and PS-dependent cognitive functions in patients with SPMS.

Most studies that tested the link between WM integrity and PS-dependent cognition included either only people with RRMS or a mixed patient sample. Thus, what set of WM tracts supports PS abilities after patients transition to SPMS (when neurodegeneration becomes the predominant pathological process) and whether it resembles that observed in the relapsing-remitting phase (mainly characterised by neuroinflammation) is still an open question. For this reason, a study was carried out on a sample of patients affected by SPMS to test, both at macrostructural and microstructural levels, whether integrity of WM associative tracts account for PS abilities. The findings of this study are reported in Chapter 4, Experiment 2.

 To investigate the association between functional connectivity of several brain networks and performance on tests of PS and PS-dependent cognitive functions in patients with RRMS. As for studies on structural connectivity, no definite conclusion can be drawn on what functional networks are more associated with PS abilities of people with RRMS. A few studies consistently observed functional connectivity of frontal areas to support this function. However, a large part of the literature appears more explorative with rare accounts of overt testable hypothesis. Therefore, the relationship between PS performance in a sample of patients with RRMS and some selected brain functional networks was investigated. The hypothesis is that functional connectivity of networks involved in cognitive (especially fronto-parietal) rather than sensory or motor functions (control) may be associated with PS abilities. The findings of this study are reported in Chapter 5, Experiment 3.

4. To investigate the association between functional connectivity of several brain networks and performance on tests of PS and PS-dependent cognitive functions in patients with SPMS.

Little knowledge has been gained in the past years on the interplay between neural and cognitive changes in SPMS. Hence, how cognitive performance in this MS phenotype is related to functional connectivity of which brain regions remains still a largely unaddressed issue. For this reason a study was carried out on a sample of patients affected by SPMS to ascertain the association between PS function and selected brain networks by testing a set of hypotheses similar to those addressed for the RRMS group. The findings of this study are reported in Chapter 5, Experiment 4.

 To test the effects of a network-based cognitive stimulation programme on cognition, quality of life, structural and functional connectivity measure in a sample of patients with RRMS.

Despite the recent advancements in treatment discoveries for MS we are still lacking the definite cure which might stop this disease and its symptoms. On a similar note current strategies to manage cognitive impairment in patients with MS are characterised by weak outcomes and by lack of solid theoretical grounding. Thus, we tested the effects of a hypothesis-based nonpharmacological treatment to tackle cognitive impairments in a sample of patients with RRMS. Indeed, the cognitive stimulation programme used was designed with the aim of modulating the synchronous activation of brain areas across functional networks and, in turn, of promoting information integration. In particular, two alternative versions of the programme (standard and PS-loaded) were tested in order to clarify whether stressing PS abilities of patients may represent a viable strategy to mitigate cognitive symptoms and boost functional and structural neural changes. The findings of this study are reported in Chapter 6, Experiment 5.

# Chapter 4 | Structural neural correlates of PS function in people with MS

As seen in Chapter 2, a moderate number of investigations has been carried out into the associations between measures of PS function, mainly the PASAT, and WM structural integrity in MS. This situation appears mainly motivated by the fact that WM injury is an MS-specific neuropathological hallmark altough GM lesions are increasingly recognised as features of this disease. Indeed, slowing of cognitive abilities, together with executive problems, has been traditionally observed to be characteristic of pathologies mainly affecting WM (Cummings and Benson, 1984, Filley, 2010).

On the contrary, GM lesions may be driving more "cortical" and domain-specific cognitive deficits, depending on the location across the brain. Nevertheless, a contribution of cortical and subcortical GM damage to PS decline observed in MS cannot be definitely ruled out, especially in progressive phenotypes characterised by extensive neurodegenerative processes (Mahad et al., 2015).

As previously highlighted (Manca et al., 2018), the majority of the published studies in this field appears exploratory in nature and overtly stated hypotheses on how and where in the brain an association with PS is expected are rare. In general, no theorethical framework is adopted to clarify PS as a psychological construct and how its measurement may have an impact on the results of clinico-radiological correlations. Indeed, the cause of such variability observed in published results remains elusive and no proper explanation has been put forward regarding the possible roles of underlying differences in cognitive functions and sensory modalities required across tests.

Moreover, potential differences in the structural correlates of PS function/deficits between different MS phenotypes and, therefore, between different disease stages have been utterly neglected. As a matter of fact, altough cognitive impairment has been found more severe in progressive MS, this phenotype has been poorly investigated from a neurocognitive point of view.

## 4.1. Experiment 1 – Associations between measures of PS function and structural connectivity in people with RRMS

#### 4.1.1. Introduction

At present, a considerable body of knowledge has been accumulated on the changes of PS function which has been mainly investigated in people presenting with the RRMS form of the disease. Findings from many studies seem to suggest a wider role of PS impairment in MS-related cognitive decline in support of the *relative consequence* model (DeLuca et al., 2004). Indeed PS deficits have been linked to worsening in performance across several domains: attention (Roth et al., 2015), working memory (Demaree et al., 1999, Leavitt et al., 2011) and different executive functions (Denney and Lynch, 2009, Leavitt et al., 2014, Macniven et al., 2008, Owens et al., 2013).

Recenelty Leavitt et al. (2018) discussed how cognitive impairment in MS may manifest in a heterogeneous way, since subgroups of patients show decline in memory without signs of PS deficits. Some limitations, however, may be highlighted in this study (Leavitt et al., 2018). First, the third trial of the Stroop test (colour-word mismatch), usually considered a measure of response inhibition, was selected as measure of PS function rather than the first two trials that capture reading and naming speed. Second, memory impairment was diagnosed if performance was found one standard deviation below normative values in at least one out of two tests (Selective Reminding Test and Brief Visuospatial Memory Test-Revised), while PS deficits had to be found in two out of two tests investigated (SDMT and Stroop test). Therefore, an imbalance in the detection of specific cognitive deficits may have been artificially introduced. Although only a very small proportion was observed affected in both PS and memory, the causal relationship between deficits in these two functions cannot be excluded. In fact, it has been shown that when a comprehensive neuropsychological assessment is performed to characterise the cognitive status of patients in detail, memory performance is predicted by PS function (Köhler et al., 2017). In particular, PS deficits may affect encoding of new information (Chiaravalloti et al., 2013) or the efficiency of working memory processing and, in turn, long term memory performance (Sandry et al., 2018).

Nonetheless, it cannot be denied the fact that isolated PS-independent cognitive deficits can be observed in some patients with MS, considering the random distribution of lesions across brain areas and tissues. With reference to this issue, particular interest has been sparked by pathological and imaging studies that

showed how GM is affected as well as WM (Klaver et al., 2013). The presence of significant cortical lesions, therefore, may contribute to explaining specific cognitive deficits such as memory decline (Calabrese et al., 2009). Indeed, the hippocampus has been found to be affected by demyelinating lesions (Dutta et al., 2011, Geurts et al., 2007) which may represent the cause of hippocampal atrophy (Koenig et al., 2014, Sicotte et al., 2008). Koenig et al. (2014) observed that volumetric reduction of the hippocampus in patients with MS was associated with decline in PS performance, although this neurodegenerative finding is highly likely to be involved more selectively in memory dysfunction (Sacco et al., 2015, Sicotte et al., 2008).

Several studies have also investigated the association between different aspects of WM pathology and cognitive decline in MS. In particular the attempt by Rossi et al. (2012) to clarify where in the brain WM lesions are more likely to produce cognitive impairments highlighted the forceps major, i.e. the WM tract connecting the occipital cortices through the splenium of the corpus callosum. Higher quantity of lesions in posterior WM regions was correlated with performance on the SDMT, probably due to the negative impact of brain damage on effective visual processing. Similarly, frontal and parietal lesions have been associated with deficits in sustained attention and working memory (Sperling et al., 2001). Moreover, longitudinal studies seem to support the notion that accumulation of WM lesion over time is associated with worse cognitive outcomes (Ouellette et al., 2018), especially if damage occurs in the left hemisphere (Preziosa et al., 2017).

However, some limitations related to current knowledge on the relationship between WM lesions and cognitive decline in MS must be noted. First, cognitive impairment has been usually treated as a unitary construct and specific investigations into the degree of deterioration across different cognitive functions has been largely neglected. Second, lesional WM tissue has been commonly quantified by means of a global measure, namely TLV. A recent review observed that this index and other measure of brain atrophy have been found to be associated with PS performance in people with MS, though findings differed considerably across cognitive measures of PS (Rao et al., 2014b). Therefore, despite being a useful outcome measure that enables quick estimations of relevant brain damage, TLV provides few or no clues about regional localisation of lesions and, in turn, about which WM bundles are actually damaged. As a consequence, common analysis of WM lesions in general appears to be only marginally informative on decline in specific cognitive domains.

Recently, many studies have used DTI methodology, which provides more sophisticated means than simple lesion analysis to investigate WM involvement in cognition. Indeed, in DTI scans each single voxel carries information about specific physical properties related to diffusion of water molecules across brain tissues. For this reason, it is possible to investigate between-group differences or associations between diffusivity indices and clinical variables in both lesional and normal appearing WM jointly. The advantage of this type of analysis compared to the investigation of TLV is the possibility of localising brain areas in which variance in diffusivity significantly explains variance in cognitive abilities.

However, as highlighted in the review of the literature about the association between PS performance and structural connectivity in MS (Manca et al., 2018), the majority of DTI investigations carried out so far adopted an ROI approach. Once an ROI of a specific WM tract is identified and delineated on structural images, average diffusivity indices are extracted from it in order to examine correlations with cognitive performance. While this strategy may fit analysis based on *a priori* assumptions, it entails loss of information regarding other non-investigated brain areas. As a consequence, voxel-based analysis appears underrepresented in this field of research since just a few studies used this methodology (Dineen et al., 2009, Genova et al., 2013, Riccitelli et al., 2017, Sbardella et al., 2013a, Yu et al., 2012), in particular TBSS (Smith et al., 2006).

In one study the TMT-A and the Stroop test were used to assess PS function instead of the most common PASAT and SMDT (Genova et al., 2013). These PS measures were correlated with FA in consistent clusters of WM across several tracts comprising the corpus callosum, the corona radiata, posterior and (for the Stroop tests only) anterior thalamic radiations, the superior longitudinal fasciculus and (for the TMT-A only) the inferior fronto-occipital fasciculus.

Widespread patterns of correlations are commonly observed across studies, hinting PS may be a quite complex function with significant overlaps and/or relationships with other cognitive domains. As a matter of fact, PS performance captured by the PASAT (fundamentally a test of working memory but considered the gold standard for PS assessment in MS) emerged to be associated with WM microstructural integrity of several tracts. In particular, scores on the 3-second version of the PASAT correlated with FA in the corpus callosum, a quite consistent and commonly observed finding, the posterior thalamic radiations and the superior longitudinal fasciculus (Dineen et al., 2009, Riccitelli et al., 2017, Yu et al., 2012). Additional significant clusters were detected in the cingulum, inferior longitudinal fasciculus and arcuate fasciculus (Dineen et al., 2009), corona radiata and external capsule (Riccitelli et al., 2017) and sagittal stratum (Yu et al., 2012). This high variability in findings appears mainly due to the paucity of studies, considering that age and disease duration of patients' samples were comparable across studies. On the

contrary, the negative results found by Sbardella et al. (2013a) may be explained by the fact that significantly younger patients were recruited (mean age = 34 years, compared to 40-44 in the other studies) and they had been affected by MS for a shorter period of time (mean duration = 7.4 years, compared to about 10). Indeed, only performance on a more difficult version of the PASAT (2-second inter-stimulus interval) was significantly associated with structural integrity of several of the abovementioned WM tracts, namely in the corpus callosum, the internal and external capsule, the posterior thalamic radiations and the cerebral peduncles. In fact, increased PS load may have induced greater variance in behavioural data, thus allowing significant correlations with MRI measures to emerge (but scores obtained by patients in cognitive tests are not publicly available).

Similarly, the structural correlates of the SDMT were investigated by means of TBSS in two studies (Riccitelli et al., 2017, Yu et al., 2012). Highly convergent findings, partially overlapping with those of the PASAT, were observed in the corpus callosum, the corona radiata, the posterior thalamic radiations, the external capsule and the sagittal stratum. Nevertheless, other tracts were additionally found significantly associated with performance on this test. Therefore, the presented findings support the hypothesis that, independently of the measure used to assess PS abilities, structural damage due to MS resulting in disruption of this cognitive function is likely to occur in a network rather than being confined to a single WM tract.

Our current understanding of which structural network supports PS abilities in MS still remains very limited. Investigation of voxel-based structural connectivity measures may help elucidate whether the association with such network could be detected depending on PS load. Moreover, the use of and comparison between different tests of PS function appears as a fruitful strategy to highlight possible variability in the associated neural correlates. Indeed, PS measures may differ substantially in terms of sensory, cognitive or motor contributions to task execution: differences which remain largely unexplored (Costa et al., 2017).

#### 4.1.2. Methods

#### 4.1.2.1. Participants

A total of forty-five people affected by RRMS (Lublin and Reingold, 1996) who fulfilled the modified McDonald diagnostic criteria for RRMS (Polman et al., 2010) were selected among the forty-eight recruited for a cognitive stimulation intervention reported in Chapter 6. Two patients dropped out of the intervention study and they

were consequently excluded from the analyses. After quality check of the MRI scans, one subject was excluded from the present and the intervention experiments due to abnormally enlarged lateral ventricles evidenced on the T1-weighted scan. In fact, this finding poses challenges regarding the quality of MRI analysis, since significant cerebral morphological alterations may impinge the effectiveness of tissue segmentation.

Inclusion criteria were as follows: age between 25 and 65; EDSS  $\leq$  6; clinically stable disease for at least three months prior to recruitment; no changes in treatment for at least three months prior to recruitment; visual acuity in the normal range with visual aids (Davis et al., 2009); Mini Mental State Examination (MMSE) score  $\geq$  24; cognitive complaints; cognitive impairment observed as a score 2 standard deviations below normative values in at least one of the tests included in the neuropsychological battery. Exclusion criteria were as follows: history of major psychiatric disorders including abuse of alcohol or other substances; presence of concomitant neurological other diseases; severe visual impairment; contraindications to MRI.

Ethical approval was obtained from the Regional Ethics Committee of Yorkshire and Humber (Ref No: 12/YH/0474) (Appendix D). All participants were provided with written information material (Appendix E) at least one week before recruitment and gave written consent (Appendix F) to take part in this study.

#### 4.1.2.2. Neuropsychological assessment

A subset of neuropsychological tests from the comprehensive battery administered to test cognitive status of patients taking part in the cognitive stimulation study (Chapter 6) was selected for this experiment. In particular, six tests with prominent PS involvement were identified and scores obtained in the baseline assessment, before randomisation, were used:

The PASAT (Gronwall, 1977): the procedure described in Chapter 2 (section 2.2.1) was followed. The test was delivered by means of Inquisit version 4.0.3 and during task performance subjects wore a set of headphones to prevent distractions. Firstly, a screen with instructions and examples of the test was displayed, followed by a practice block with ten items. Feedback was provided in order to highlight right and wrong answers. After practice, instructions were verbally repeated to resolve any doubts and two consecutive experimental blocks of sixty-one random digits each were administered at two paces of presentation (3s and 2s) without any feedback provided. During digit

presentation a button with numbers from 2 to 18 were constantly displayed on the screen and patients were asked to use the mouse to click on the number they thought represented the right answer to each trial.

- The DSCT (Wechsler, 2008): the test was delivered using the procedure described in Chapter 2 (section 2.2.1).
- The Stroop test (Stroop, 1935): the short version elaborated by Venneri et al. (1993) reported in Chapter 2 (section 2.2.1) was used. As a measure of PS function (Stroop speed) we calculated the average of completion time in the first two trials (word reading and colour naming).
- The TMT part A and B (Armitage, 1946): the standard version already explained in Chapter 2 (section 2.2.1) was used.
- Phonemic and semantic fluency tests (Lezak, 2004): following the procedure reported in Chapter 2 (section 2.2.1) three letters (F, L, and P) for the former test, and three categories (animals, cities and fruits) for the latter were given to participants in random order.

Participants were asked to self-assess fatigue and depressive symptoms using the MFIS (Fisk et al., 1994a) and the 9-item Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9) (Spitzer et al., 1999), respectively.

#### 4.1.2.3. MRI acquisition

The outcome measures of the cognitive stimulation study comprised a wide set of MRI scans, acquired at 3T (Ingenia, Philips Healthcare, Best, NL) utilizing a 32channel radiofrequency head coil. However, only a subgroup of three sequences (baseline acquisition) has been considered in the present study in order to focus on the investigation of the structural neural correlates of PS performance in RRMS:

- Sagittal 3D T1-weighted magnetization prepared rapid acquisition gradient-echo (repetition time = 8.1 ms, echo time = 3.7 ms, slices = 170, slice thickness = 0.94 mm, matrix size = 240 x 222, field of view = 240 x 240 mm<sup>2</sup>);
- Sagittal 3D T2-weighted fluid attenuated inversion recovery (FLAIR) (repetition time = 4800 ms, echo time = 289 ms, slices = 326, slice thickness = 1.12 mm, matrix size = 224 x 224, field of view = 250 x 250 mm<sup>2</sup>);
- Axial diffusion-weighted echo planar images (repetition time = 3000 ms, echo time = 98 ms, diffusion-encoding gradients b = 0 and 1000 s/mm<sup>2</sup>, directions = 32, slices = 48, slice thickness = 2.5 mm, matrix size = 96 x 94, field of view = 240 x 240 mm<sup>2</sup>).

#### 4.1.2.4. MRI preprocessing

Macrostructural structural analyses were carried out by means of the Statistical Parametric Mapping software (SPM8, Wellcome Trust Centre for Neuroimaging, London, UK, http://www.fil.ion.ucl.ac.uk/spm) running on MATLAB R2008a, version 7.6.0 (The Mathworks, Natick, Massachusetts, USA). Firstly, T1-weighted and FLAIR scans were reoriented to the Anterior Commissure-Posterior Commissure line to optimize subsequent preprocessing steps. Secondly, WM lesions were automatically segmented on the reoriented T1-weighted and FLAIR images using the lesion growth algorithm of the Lesion Segmentation Toolbox v1.2.3 (www.statisticalmodelling.de/lst.html). This toolbox was developed for SPM8 and validated on a sample of 53 people with MS (Schmidt et al., 2011). TLV, i.e. the amount of lesional WM, was quantified in millilitres.

Lesion probability maps generated for each subject by the Lesion Segmentation Toolbox were subsequently binarised and normalised to the standard ICBM template by using SPM8. Finally, individual maps were averaged by using the SPM8 toolbox ImCalc in order to obtain a group-specific lesion probability map to localise the strongest lesion concentrations (Riccitelli et al., 2012).

The T1-weighted images were segmented in their native space into three separate tissue classes: GM, WM and CSF. The volume in millilitres of all the segmented images was extracted by means of the MATLAB function "get\_totals" and the TIV of each participant was hence calculated as the sum of GM, WM and CSF volumes.

DTI scans were preprocessed and analysed by using FMRIB Software Library v5.0.8 (FSL, http://www.fmrib.ox.ac.uk/fsl). Initially, artefacts commonly encountered in MRI practice, namely eddy currents and head motion, were corrected using the FSL Diffusion Toolbox. The Brain Extraction Tool subsequently allowed the elimination of the non-brain voxels from the corrected images by applying a fractional intensity threshold of 0.5 to DTI images in order to delineate the brain outline. Therefore, a binary brain mask was generated and used to fit the diffusion tensor model at each voxel to obtain maps of FA for each participant.

Hence, the obtained FA images were analysed adopting the widely used tract-based spatial statistics (TBSS) approach in order to overcome alignment and smoothing issues typical of voxel-based morphometry analyses applied to DTI (Smith et al., 2006). A four-step TBSS preprocessing procedure was followed (http://fsl.fmrib.ox.ac.uk/fsl/fslwiki/TBSS/UserGuide). Firstly, FA images were eroded in order to remove possible outliers derived from the previous diffusion tensor fitting phase. Secondly, all FA images were registered to each one of the others to identify the most representative subject of the sample, i.e. the subject that would require

minimum amount of warping for all the other subjects to be registered to it. Thirdly, each image was non-linearly registered to the sample-specific template, affinealigned into the MNI standard space (Collins et al., 1994), and averaged. Moreover, during this step the mean FA image was skeletonised, i.e. eroded so that only voxels in the core of WM tracts were maintained for statistical analysis, and individual images projected onto it. Finally, a threshold of 0.2, found to be the optimal value by Smith et al. (2006), was applied to the mean FA skeleton image in order to create the binary skeleton mask, used to prevent any GM and CSF voxels from being accidentally included in the subsequent statistical analysis.

#### 4.1.2.5. Statistical analysis

All the statistical analyses on cognitive and clinical data were carried out using IBM SPSS Statistics Version 21 (IBM, Chicago, IL, USA). Correlations (Spearman's  $\rho$ , two-tailed  $\alpha$  = .05) between cognitive tests were investigated to observe whether measures of PS would be associated, and to what extent, with one another. The same procedure was followed for demographic and clinical variables to ascertain possible relationships between confounding variables.

In consideration of the literature on this issue, a multiple regression model was created to investigate the impact of TLV (global WM damage) on cognitive performance controlling for the effects of other covariates, namely age, education and TIV. Indeed, it was necessary to rule out the effect of ageing processes on cognition that may be independent of any MS pathological changes (Bodling et al., 2009). Similarly, education and TIV were included in the analyses as measures of cognitive reserve and head size (Stern, 2009).

Multiple regression analysis was used to assess the relationship between PSrelated performance and FA throughout the WM skeleton controlling for the abovementioned covariates. The *randomise* FSL tool was used to perform nonparametric TBSS analysis and 5000 permutations were carried out for each model in search of both negative and positive associations (Smith et al., 2006). Significant results were reported by using threshold-free cluster enhanced (TFCE) images (Smith and Nichols, 2009). Raw result images were masked with significant (p < 0.05) voxels from TFCE images and Montreal Neurological Institute (MNI) coordinates of peaks were extracted from the resulting images. Finally, WM tract labels were identified using the JHU ICBM-DTI-81 White-Matter Labels atlas (Mori et al., 2008). A primary prediction relates to the fact that FA would correlate positively with cognitive performance: the higher FA the better PS abilities. However, DTI analyses were used to investigate the following more specific questions:

1) Does PS-load influence the pattern of associations detected between WM microstructural integrity (FA) and scores on the PASAT?

Two versions of the PASAT (2 sec and 3 sec) were compared in relation to the association with FA values throughout the WM skeleton. The prediction was that the higher the PS load the more extensive the correlation with WM integrity should be.

2) Do alternative cognitive measures of PS, i.e. the PASAT and the DSCT, correlate with WM microstructural integrity of different tracts?

WM neural correlates of the PASAT and the DSCT were compared expecting, as already observed in the literature, to find more significant correlations with FA levels for the DSCT.

3) Is the association between WM microstructural integrity and performance on PS-demanding tests of higher order cognitive functions (fluency tasks, TMT B-A and Stroop inhibition) modulated by the status of PS abilities?

The same procedure was followed for the abovementioned tests with the aim of controlling for PS abilities and expecting to cause a reduction in the strength of correlations with WM integrity levels.

#### 4.1.3. Results

#### 4.1.3.1. Clinical and cognitive results

All the clinical and cognitive characteristics of the patients and the number of patients impaired in each single neuropsychological test are reported in Table 4.1. From the inspection into clinical characteristics a highly significant positive association emerged between disease duration and TLV: as expectable the longer the disease history, the higher is the amount of WM damage accumulated. Age correlated positively with both variables, thus stressing the influence of a time variable on TLV generation. Instead, severity of fatigue and depressive symptoms were correlated to one another, but not to other demographic or neural characteristics (Table 4.2).

Variable	Mean	SD	Median	Minimum	Maximum	Patients with deficits
Clinical characteristics						
Age (years)	45.2	9.0	45.5	26	65	-
Education (years)	14.4	3.1	13.5	11	25	-
Duration (years)	9.4	7.1	7	1	30	-
EDSS	3.4	1.5	3.5	0	6	-
TIV (ml)	1498.2	194.6	1486.0	1361.2	2070.9	-
TLV (ml)	10.5	13.2	6.0	0	47.9	-
MFIS	48.4	15.7	51.0	11	79	-
PHQ-9	9.17	4.5	9.0	0	23	-
Cognitive tests						
PASAT 3"	37.7	16.6	40	9	59	13
PASAT 2"	22.8	13.9	20	4	55	17
DSCT	62.4	15.6	59	36	96	14
TMT-A (sec)	39.5	15.5	37.5	21	86	6
Stroop speed (sec)	17.6	3.5	17.5	10	27.5	5
TMT B-A (sec)	42.7	24.2	36.5	10	98	16
Stroop inhibition (sec)	16.7	8.3	14.5	4.5	39.5	5
Phonemic fluency	32.8	9.9	31	17	58	1
Semantic fluency	45.5	10.0	43.5	21	67	1

Table 4.1 Clinical and cognitive characteristics of the patient sample (n = 45)

DSCT: Digit Symbol Coding Test, EDSS: Expanded Disability Status Scale, MFIS: Modified Fatigue Impact Scale, PASAT: Paced Auditory Serial Addition Test, PHQ-9: 9-item Patient Health Questionnaire, TIV: Total intracranial volume, TLV: Total lesion volume, TMT: Trail Making Test

	Age	Education	Duration	EDSS	TIV	TLV	MFIS	PHQ-9
Age Education Duration EDSS TIV TLV MFIS PHQ-9	- .045 .357* .077 .006 .311* .096 - 144	128 349* .051 .028 .094 034	.317* 117 <b>.503†</b> .185 107	- .184 .179 247	003 022 025	- .155 078	713†	<u> </u>
MFIS PHQ-9	.096 144	.094 .034	.185 .107	.179 .247	022 .025	.155 .078	.713 <sup>†</sup>	-

\* p < .05 (uncorrected for multiple comparisons)

<sup>+</sup> p < .008 (.05/6 = .008, Bonferroni correction)

EDSS: Expanded Disability Status Scale, MFIS: Modified Fatigue Impact Scale, PHQ-9: 9-item Patient Health Questionnaire, TIV: Total intracranial volume, TLV: Total lesion volume

Instead, correlational analysis on the neuropsychological tests showed how both common PS measures (PASAT and DSCT) are highly correlated to one another and with the other PS-dependent tests despite differences in the underlying cognitive domains they assess (Table 4.3).

	PASAT 3"	PASAT 2"	DSCT	TMT-A	Stroop speed	TMT B-A	Stroop inhibition	PF	SF
PASAT 3" PASAT 2" DSCT TMT-A	<b>.833</b> <sup>†</sup> <b>.465</b> <sup>†</sup> 365*	- 348	- 520 <sup>†</sup>	-					
Stroop speed	183	158	255	.368*	-				
TMT B-A	432 <sup>†</sup>	264	368*	.153	.196	-			
Stroop inhibition	481 <sup>†</sup>	379*	478 <sup>†</sup>	.407*	.281	.388*	-		
PF SF	.381* <b>.444</b> †	.481 <sup>†</sup> .426 <sup>†</sup>	.364* .406*	284 122	293 113	247 064	224 <b>496</b> †	.437 <sup>†</sup>	-

Table 4.3 Correlations between cognitive variables

\* p < .05 (uncorrected for multiple comparisons) † p < .005 (.05/9 = .005, Bonferroni correction)

DSCT: Digit Symbol Coding Test, PASAT: Paced Auditory Serial Addition Test, PF: Phonemic fluency, SF: Semantic fluency, TMT: Trail Making Test

#### 4.1.3.2. TLV results

The WM lesion map is shown in Figure 4.1, with the highest lesion probability detected in the corona radiata.



Figure 4.1 Group-level lesion probability map

Multiple regression assumptions were tested to ensure they were fully met: A) linear relationship and B) homoscedasticity by plotting the residuals against the predicted values; C) normality of the residuals by visually inspecting their histogram and P-P plots; D) independence of residuals by means of the Durbin-Watson test (values between 1 and 3); E) multicollinearity by ensuring values of the variance inflation factor and of the tolerance statistics were, respectively, below 5 and above 0.2. Subsequently, multiple regression analysis highlighted significant models only for the DSCT (F(4, 37) = 3.7, p = .012) with an R<sup>2</sup> of .29 and the semantic fluency task (F(4, 37) = 4.7, p = .004) with an R<sup>2</sup> of .34. However, only the DSCT test was significantly predicted by the TLV (B = -.41, p = .028) but not by all the other covariates, meaning that every millilitre of TLV accumulated corresponds to a loss of .41 total score on the DSCT. On the contrary, semantic fluency scores were significantly predicted by education (B = 1.15, p = .011) and TIV (B = .015, p = 0.37). Therefore, particularly significant appears the influence of education on semantic fluency performance, since a one-year increment in education levels corresponds to an increase of 1.15 in the amount of items generated on the semantic fluency task.

#### 4.1.3.3. DTI results

The analyses carried out to answer the first research question (comparison between DTI correlates of PASAT 3" and of PASAT 2") revealed no significant correlations between either PASAT versions and WM microstructural integrity. However, the DSCT correlated with FA in several cluster mainly in the body of the corpus callosum, the left inferior fronto-occipital fasciculus and bilateral anterior thalamic radiations (Figure 4.2 and Table 4.4). With reference to the second research question, these findings appeared to suggest that different measures of PS abilities may show differential associations with structural connectivity. Yet they provide no clarification on the reason why these differences may occur. In fact, the PASAT and the DSCT differ in several ways, the cognitive functions engaged during task performance (verbal working memory vs visuospatial attention), the sensory modality of stimulus presentation (auditory vs visual). Moreover, while stimuli are presented in series during the PASAT, all the DSCT stimuli are simultaneously presented on a paper sheet, hence becoming sources of distraction.



Figure 4.2 Clusters of WM in which FA positively correlated with DSCT scores (p < .05)

Cluster	r	Side	Side White matter tract t		MN	II coordina	ites
extent		Clab		value	x	У	Z
520 .6	657	L	Inferior fronto-occipital fasciculus	4.32	-23	22	-3
		L	Inferior fronto-occipital fasciculus	4.23	-28	9	-12
		L	Inferior fronto-occipital fasciculus	3.95	-22	25	-4
		L	Anterior thalamic radiations	3.81	-22	14	13
		L	Inferior fronto-occipital fasciculus	3.47	-24	21	-1
		L	Anterior thalamic radiations	3.43	-23	19	9
439 .5	543	R	Forceps minor	3.28	4	24	5
		R	Forceps minor	3.22	12	20	18
		R	Forceps minor	3.04	16	25	17
		R	Forceps minor	2.98	9	24	10
		R	Forceps minor	2.94	14	24	15
		R	Forceps minor	2.89	13	22	17
265 .6	659	R	Anterior thalamic radiations	4.41	19	11	9
		R	Anterior thalamic radiations	4.09	22	12	10
		R	Anterior thalamic radiations	4.03	22	15	10
		R	Anterior thalamic radiations	3.98	23	17	10
		R	Anterior thalamic radiations	3.76	17	6	8
		R	Anterior thalamic radiations	3.52	16	8	8
151 .5	579	L	Anterior thalamic radiations	3.74	-24	-31	-1
		L	Anterior thalamic radiations	3.74	-19	-29	6
		L	Anterior thalamic radiations	3.70	-19	-31	5
		L	Inferior fronto-occipital fasciculus	3.60	-31	-30	5
		L	Anterior thalamic radiations	3.56	-18	-32	3
		L	Anterior thalamic radiations	3.45	-23	-31	5
147 .5	592	L	Forceps minor	3.75	-14	34	-6
		L	Forceps minor	3.59	-16	37	-5
		L	Forceps minor	3.27	-12	31	-5
		L	Forceps minor	3.06	-12	31	-1
		L	Forceps minor	3.00	-15	35	-2
		L	Forceps minor	2.80	-13	33	-1
85 .5	557	R	Body of corpus callosum	3.10	15	13	26
		R	Body of corpus callosum	3.08	18	13	31
		R	Body of corpus callosum	2.92	18	14	29
		R	Body of corpus callosum	2.84	13	10	26

**Table 4.4** Positive correlations between the DSCT and FA (p < .05)

For this reason two other PS measures both involving stimuli visually presented on a paper sheet to be processed either verbally (Stroop speed) or visuospatially (TMT-A) were investigated in association with FA. Considering that the two tests share the same sensory (visual) and executive (distractor suppression) demands, it was hypothesised that possible differences in neural correlates may be due to the type of cognitive processing needed (verbal vs visuospatial). Only performance on the TMT-A was correlated with FA in clusters of WM in the same tracts observed for the DSCT, though significant clusters were especially right-lateralised (Figure 4.3 and Table 4.5).



Figure 4.3 Clusters of WM in which FA negatively correlated with TMT-A scores (p < .05)

Cluster r Side		Side	White matter tract	t	MNI coordinates			
extent				value	x	У	Z	
1360	573	R	Forceps minor	5.26	5	24	7	
		R	Forceps minor	5.02	5	25	5	
		L	Forceps minor	3.97	-9	26	9	
		R	Forceps minor	3.94	1	21	-1	
		L	Forceps minor	3.91	-6	23	-3	
		R	Forceps minor	3.85	9	27	3	
142	561	R	Inferior fronto-occipital fasciculus	4.02	26	35	-1	
		R	Inferior fronto-occipital fasciculus	3.79	23	33	-4	
		R	Inferior fronto-occipital fasciculus	3.68	25	27	0	
		R	Inferior fronto-occipital fasciculus	2.79	30	35	3	
54	570	R	Anterior thalamic radiations	3.71	21	19	2	
		R	Anterior thalamic radiations	3.57	20	16	3	
		R	Anterior thalamic radiations	3.36	17	13	3	
		R	Anterior thalamic radiations	3.18	19	14	2	

**Table 4.5** Negative correlation between the TMT-A and FA (p < .05)

Finally, analyses carried out on the more complex cognitive tests characterised by PS demands in order to answer the third research question failed to show any significant association with indices of WM microstructural integrity.

#### 4.1.4. Discussion

In this study no significant correlations were observed between FA values and any of the PASAT versions investigated, independently of PS load. This finding was against the expectation that increasing task difficulty by reducing the time to manipulate verbal material would highlight, in DTI analysis, those WM tracts crucial to support performance on the PASAT as found by Sbardella et al. (2013a). However, in Chapter 2 it was already noted that not all the studies that have investigated this test found it to be reliably correlated with measures of WM microstructural integrity (Bester et al., 2013, Koenig et al., 2014, Koenig et al., 2015, Llufriu et al., 2012, Warlop et al., 2009). Consistently, Rao et al. (2014b) found that

PASAT performance of people with MS correlated significantly with measures of atrophy and TLV only in about 50% of the studies reviewed.

On the contrary, DSCT scores correlated with FA values in several frontal WM tracts such as the forceps minor and the anterior thalamic radiations, whose integrity has been previously associated with deficits in PS abilities in clinical populations showing WM damage due to cerebrovascular problems (Duering et al., 2013, Duering et al., 2014) and to colour naming (Stroop test) speed abilities of bilingual adults (Mamiya et al., 2018). These findings appear complementary to those of Bisecco et al. (2017) who observed how attention and PS functions are affected by MS-related thalamic atrophy. Indeed, electrical stimulation of the mediodorsal nucleus of the thalamus was shown to impact visual attention/working memory processes (Peräkylä et al., 2017).

The analysis highlighted the involvement of the inferior fronto-occipital fasciculus, a long associative tract connecting the frontal to occipital, and to some extent also parietal, cortices (Hau et al., 2016, Wu et al., 2016). Its functional relevance appears complex and not yet fully elucidated since several studies have shown this WM tract may support fast naming (Rollans et al., 2017), sensorimotor integration (Sarubbo et al., 2013), attentional (Herbet et al., 2017b) and even semantic processes (Almairac et al., 2014, Herbet et al., 2017a).

Consistently, scores obtained by patients on the DSCT were the only ones significantly predicted by the total amount of WM damage. Hence, signalling an association between cognitive functions involved in performance of the DSCT and WM structural integrity possibly due to the need for integration of information across different brain areas to execute this task effectively (He et al., 2009).

This point may help with the interpretation of the difference observed in clinicalradiological correlations between the PASAT and the DSCT. In fact, DSCT performance may depend on interhemispheric processing of information to a greater extent than PASAT performance does. As a consequence, DSCT-related cognitive processes may exhibit higher probability of being affected by insults to structural connections and accordingly explain the sensitivity of this test to cognitive impairment in people with MS (Parmenter et al., 2007b).

In fact, the visual stimuli used in the DSCT are minute letters and symbols processed visually through the left fusiform gyrus (Starrfelt and Gerlach, 2007, Vogel et al., 2014). However, visual attentional processes, commonly found impaired in MS (Gmeindl and Courtney, 2012) and crucially managed by the right fronto-parietal network (Capotosto et al., 2011, Coull et al., 1996), are needed to execute this task successfully. This hypothesis appears consistent with findings that

performance on the SDMT, an alternative version of the DSCT, is associated with more bilateral brain activation than the PASAT (Forn et al., 2011).

On the contrary, the PASAT, being a test of verbal working memory (Paulesu et al., 1993), has been proven to rely mainly on left-lateralised brain activation (Audoin et al., 2005, Cardinal et al., 2008) in line with the well-established specialisation of the left hemisphere for processing of verbal stimuli (Hervé et al., 2013). Greater bilateral frontal activation is only observed when working memory load, and in turn task difficulty, is significantly increased (Rypma et al., 1999).

However, although no major differences in motor execution can be highlighted between the abovementioned tests (at least in the procedures implemented for this study), significantly higher levels of distractibility characterise the DSCT rather than the PASAT. In fact, the simultaneous presentation of all the visual stimuli on the same paper sheet poses higher demands on attentional control (Lustig et al., 2006) that can influence performance on complex measures of PS (LaPointe et al., 2005, Randolph et al., 2017). Furthermore, it must be noted that experimental stimuli are presented through two different sensory modalities: auditory for the PASAT and visual for the DSCT; the latter being usually the most affected by MS pathology (Iragui et al., 1986) even in attentional tasks (McCarthy et al., 2005).

For these reasons, further analyses were performed on two time-based PS measures with the aim of minimizing discrepancies between sensory modalities involved: the TMT-A and the Stroop speed index, both requiring processing of visual stimuli presented simultaneously and, therefore, characterised by similar levels of distractibility. Although the motor responses required by the two tests were dissimilar (hand for the TMT vs mouth for the Stroop), the main and crucial difference is thought to be represented by the underlying cognitive processing: visuo-spatial and verbal respectively. As a result, the detection of the same WM tracts observed to be associated with the DSCT was replicated also in the analysis of the TMT-A only, though mainly right-lateralised. Thus, suggesting that in the RRMS phase, visuo-spatial PS function appears more extensively dependent on integrity of structural connectivity than its verbal counterpart.

Finally, to assess the impact of PS decline on higher order cognitive functions, investigations were made into different tests with PS demands. No significant associations with FA for any of the tests, assessing both executive and linguistic functions, were observed in contrast with the findings by Genova et al. (2013). A possible explanation for these negative results may be found in the observation that the patients recruited for this experiment had generally preserved cognitive status, characterised by only mild impairments. Indeed, patients had been in stable

remission for at least three months before recruitment and previous studies highlighted how cognition is usually, and expectedly, more preserved in such phases rather than while patients are experiencing a relapse (Giedraitiene et al., 2018). Reduced variance both in cognitive performance and diffusivity levels due to disease stability might not allow the detection of significant cognitive-radiological associations. Currently, only a handful of investigations have compared cognitive functioning of people with RRMS while in relapse vs remission phases and mainly limited cognitive assessment to the SDMT (Benedict et al., 2014, Morrow et al., 2011, Pardini et al., 2014). Moreover, none of these studies investigated the neural markers associated with cognitive changes across disease stages, apart from longitudinal evaluation of enhancing lesions (Pardini et al., 2014). It follows that the proposed hypothesis cannot be more than speculative and would need support by further longitudinal research with aims, however, different from those of this PhD work.

In conclusion, from the results of this study it emerges that microstructural damage in frontal WM associative tracts may be a marker of PS impairment in RRMS. This appears particularly the case when PS function is assessed by means of measures requiring integrated processing of information and, in turn, recruitment of widespread functional networks.

### 4.2. Experiment 2 – Associations between measures of PS function and structural connectivity in people with SPMS

#### 4.2.1. Introduction

Research on the cognitive manifestations of MS has generally attributed little attention specifically to those people presenting with SPMS (D'Amico et al., 2016). This situation has probably been caused by the fact that this phenotype is considered the natural evolution of RRMS (Weinshenker et al., 1989). Moreover, although in general transition to the secondary progressive phase is considered to occur when steady functional deterioration is observed gradually over a period of at least 6 months in the absence of any relapse (Lublin and Reingold, 1996), diagnostic uncertainty of transition remains high (Katz Sand et al., 2014). As a consequence, most investigations have not distinguished between RRMS and SPMS when comparing cognitive performance of patients and healthy controls. Additionally, only a few studies have investigated whether differential degrees of impairment exist across MS phenotypes (D'Amico et al., 2016). Nevertheless, it appears well-established that cognitive deterioration is more severe in SPMS than RRMS, globally and particularly in PS abilities (Archibald and Fisk, 2000, De Sonneville et al., 2002, Huijbregts et al., 2004, Papathanasiou et al., 2014). De Sonneville et al. (2002) noticed complex PS function is particularly affected by disease severity that is higher in progressive phenotypes, though the effect size of this difference has been estimated to be small (Papathanasiou et al., 2014).

Understandably, the amount of knowledge currently accumulated on the neural correlates of cognitive deficits in SPMS is even scarcer than that available for the RRMS phenotype and non-specific. Camp et al. (1999) used a global index to assess overall cognitive decline in patients with both primary and transitional progressive MS and observed that it correlated with TLV and cerebral volume. Moreover, the corpus callosum area calculated on a mid-sagittal T1-weighted image was associated with cognitive performance of patients with SPMS, both on tests of memory and processing speed (Papathanasiou et al., 2017). Instead, Riccitelli et al. (2011) highlighted by means of VBM analysis that cognitively impaired patients have more atrophy in fronto-temporal areas, the hippocampus and the thalamus than those with preserved cognition. Finally, only a couple of studies examined microstructural differences associated with cognitive decline in patients with SPMS by means of TBSS analysis on DTI data, yielding quite inconsistent results due to paucity of data (Francis et al., 2014, Meijer et al., 2016). In fact, Francis et al. (2014)

found that overall cognitive deficits were associated with lower FA in the left posterior thalamic radiations, corpus callosum and right sagittal stratum, while Meijer et al. (2016) observed reduced WM microstructural integrity in the fornix, the superior longitudinal fasciculus and the forceps major.

From this brief review, a clear picture emerges that shows how structural neural damage associated with PS deficits in SPMS have been completely neglected. Some DTI studies included a few patients with this phenotype in their analysis, but only as part of mixed groups in which people affected by RRMS were numerically predominant (Benedict et al., 2013, Genova et al., 2013, Koenig et al., 2014, Koenig et al., 2015, Ozturk et al., 2010, Roosendaal et al., 2009a). Therefore, currently no substantial information is available to hypothesise whether PS abilities in the SPMS stage are supported by the same WM tracts observed for patients with RRMS. Indeed, although the border between these two MS phenotypes may be blurred during the transitional phase, it has been shown that inflammatory activity is significantly reduced in SPMS while different neurodegenerative processes become predominant (Calabrese et al., 2015, Mahad et al., 2015), driving volume loss significantly more severe than in RRMS (Fisher et al., 2008, Grothe et al., 2016, Mallik et al., 2015, Sampat et al., 2009) and associated with worsening of global disability (Ge et al., 2000).

Therefore, in light of the abovementioned differences observed between patients with RRMS and SPMS both in cognitive and brain changes, it seems advisable to study how these two elements are interrelated also in SPMS. In particular, alongside investigating the association between cognitive performance and WM microstructure as in Experiment 1, VBM will be used to ascertain whether PS abilities are associated with macrostructural indices (i.e. regional brain volumes).

#### 4.2.2. Methods

#### 4.2.2.1. Participants

Thirty-one patients affected by SPMS according to criteria by Lublin and Reingold (1996) who have been relapse-free for at least 3 months were consecutively recruited at the MS clinic of the IRCCS Fondazione Ospedale San Camillo (Venice, Italy). Patients who reported cognitive complaints had to show preserved global cognitive status, screened by means of the Raven's Coloured Progressive Matrices (Basso et al., 1987), and the absence of neurological or psychiatric comorbidities. This study was carried out according to the Declaration of Helsinki and was approved by the Institutional Review Board of the IRCCS Fondazione Ospedale San

Camillo (Venice, Italy) (Protocol N. 11/09 version 2) (Appendix G). Written informed consent was obtained from each study participant.

#### 4.2.2.2. Neuropsychological assessment

Cognitive performance of patients was assessed by means of a selected neuropsychological battery. Some tests were used in Experiment 1, namely the Stroop test, the TMT, phonemic and semantic fluency tasks, with the addition of:

- Raven's Coloured Progressive Matrices (Basso et al., 1987): thirty-six figures missing a part were presented to participants who were asked to complete each of them with a piece selected among a choice of six within a maximum execution time of 10 minutes. This test measures abstract reasoning skills and the absence of major intellectual deficits is indexed by an adjusted score > 17.5.
- Digit Cancellation Test (Spinnler and Tognoni, 1987): the administration procedure is that explained in Chapter 2 (section 2.2.1).

Scores obtained by patients on three timed tests that enable the evaluation of the speed of different cognitive processes (the TMT part A, the Stroop speed and the number of items detected on the Digit Cancellation Test) were z-transformed and averaged to calculate a composite index (PS<sub>CI</sub>) as a measure of PS function. Previously to this step, the score on the Digit Cancellation Test had been inverted so that it quantified PS abilities analogously to the other two tests, i.e. the higher the score the worse PS performance. The PS<sub>CI</sub> was calculated by combining three simple tests routinely used in clinical practice but nonetheless characterised by a substantial cognitive component (more complex than in simple reaction time tasks) in order to minimise possible confounding effects of peripheral motor impairments on test results. Indeed, it appears difficult, if not almost impossible, to disentangle completely the assessment of sensory, cognitive, and motor components in PS tasks (Costa et al., 2017). Moreover, raw scores on the TMT B-A, Stroop inhibition, phonemic and semantic fluency tests were used to investigate cognitive abilities characterised by substantial PS load as in Experiment 1.

#### 4.2.2.3. MRI acquisition

Patients were scanned on a 1.5 T Philips Medical Systems Achieva scanner (Best, the Netherlands) with a standard head coil. The structural MRI protocol all patients underwent included:

- Sagittal 3D T1-weighted turbo field echo (repetition time = 7.4 ms, echo time = 3.4 ms, slices = 280, slice thickness = 0.6 mm, matrix size = 256 x 256, field of view = 240 x 240 mm<sup>2</sup>).
- Coronal 3D T2-weighted FLAIR (repetition time = 8000 ms, echo time = 125 ms, slices = 30, slice thickness = 4.5 mm, matrix size = 260 x 232, field of view = 148 x 192 mm<sup>2</sup>).
- Axial diffusion-weighted echo planar images (repetition time = 8280 ms, echo time = 70 ms, diffusion-encoding gradients b = 0 and 800 s/mm2, directions = 32, slices = 45, slice thickness = 3 mm, matrix size = 96 x 96, field of view = 240 x 240 mm<sup>2</sup>).

#### 4.2.2.4. MRI preprocessing

The same procedures as in Experiment 1 were followed for preprocessing of WM lesions and DTI scans. VBM analyses (Ashburner and Friston, 2000) were carried out in SPM8 (Wellcome Trust Centre for Neuroimaging, London, UK. http://www.fil.ion.ucl.ac.uk/spm) running on MATLAB R2008a, version 7.6.0 (The Mathworks, Natick, Massachusetts, USA). Firstly, reorientation to the Anterior Commissure-Posterior Commissure was performed for all the T1-weighted images to facilitate the following steps. Secondly, as in Experiment 1 three tissue classes (GM, WM and CSF) were segmented on the T1-weighted images in their native space, in order to extract their volumes by means of the MATLAB function "get totals", and, limitedly to GM and WM, normalised to the MNI standard coordinate system (Collins et al., 1994). Moreover, this step included modulation of normalised images, i.e. a spatial scaling process to compensate for possible volumetric alterations induced by normalisation (Good et al., 2001). Finally, modulated normalised GM and WM images were smoothed to correct possible normalisation inaccuracies: an isotropic Gaussian kernel of 8 mm was applied so that smoothed intensity value of each voxel was transformed in the locally weighted average of the values of the surrounding ones (Good et al., 2001).

#### 4.2.2.5. Statistical analysis

All the statistical analyses on cognitive and clinical data were carried out using IBM SPSS Statistics Version 21 (IBM, Chicago, IL, USA). A procedure similar to Experiment 1 was followed, at first in order to investigate the associations between clinical and cognitive variables (Spearman's  $\rho$ , two-tailed  $\alpha$  = .05). Consequently,

the impact of the amount of TLV on cognitive performance was investigated using multiple regression models which included age, education and TIV as covariates. The regression model was applied to VBM and subsequently to TBSS analyses to ascertain both macrostructural and microstructural correlates of PS-related cognitive performance in SPMS. Predictions were made that higher PS performance would correlate positively with higher WM volumes and FA values. In particular, the aim of this experiment was to answer the following research questions related to the structural neural correlates of PS:

### 1) Does PS function in people affected by SPMS rely mainly on WM rather than GM volume?

VBM analysis was used to answer this question by correlating scores on the selected PS-related cognitive tests and GM as well as WM maps (Tyler et al., 2005). PS ability was expected to be associated more extensively with regional WM volumes. Only clusters that survived statistical correction for multiple comparisons at a Family Wise Error (FWE) threshold of p < .05 were considered. GM areas containing significant peaks highlighted by the analysis were identified by means of the Talairach Daemon (http://www.talairach.org/daemon.html), after converting their coordinates from the MNI to the Talairach reference system (Talairach and Tournoux, 1988). Instead, WM tracts were identified using the JHU ICBM-DTI-81 White-Matter Labels atlas (Mori et al., 2008).

2) Are PS abilities in SPMS supported by a specific structural network of WM tracts?

This point was tackled by using DTI scans to ascertain where in the brain FA levels were associated with PS<sub>CI</sub> and PS-demanding tests. The higher FA values the better PS performance was expected. Analyses were performed in FSL, by means of the procedure reported in Experiment 1.

3) Is the association between performance on PS-demanding tests and measures of brain volume and WM microstructural integrity modulated by the status of PS abilities in SPMS?

Similarly to the procedures previously used (VBM and diffusivity analysis), analogous regression models were generated for PS-demanding tests but adding the  $PS_{CI}$  scores among the covariates to control statistically for PS demands. The exoectation was that the association between PS-demanding tests and

neuroimaging measures would be absent or reduced after accounting for  $\mathsf{PS}_{\mathsf{CI}}$  scores.

#### 4.2.3. Results

#### 4.2.3.1. Clinical and cognitive results

The full clinical profile of the sample of patients is summarised in Table 4.6.

Variable	Mean	SD	Median	Minimum	Maximum	Patients with deficits
Clinical characteristics						
Age (years)	54.8	11.5	54	29	70	-
Education (years)	10.3	2.8	11	5	13	-
Duration (years)	16.3	8.5	14	3	31	-
EDSS	6.5	1.2	7	3.5	8	-
FSS	5.0	1.2	5	2.7	7	-
TIV (ml)	1685.1	170.4	1685.6	1341.3	2044.4	-
TLV (ml)	23.5	18.9	21.7	0.8	82.0	-
Cognitive tests						
PS <sub>CI</sub>	0.0	1.0	-0.1	-1.1	2.4	-
Stroop inhibition (sec)	28.3	15.0	20.5	5.5	66	8
TMT B-A (sec)	131.9	151.0	80.0	5	663	16
Phonemic fluency	28.1	11.2	31	8	48	6
Semantic fluency	38.0	11.6	35	20	61	6

**Table 4.6** Clinical, cognitive and volumetric characteristics of the sample (n = 31)

EDSS: Expanded Disability Status Scale, FSS: Fatigue Severity Scale, PS<sub>CI</sub>: Processing speed composite index, TIV: Total intracranial volume, TLV: Total lesion volume, TMT: Trail Making Test

Weak associations were detected between clinical and demographic variables (Table 4.7). These associations did not survive Bonferroni correction for multiple comparisons (p < .05/7 = .007).

|--|

	Age	Education	Duration	EDSS	FSS	TIV	TLV
Age	-						
Education	364*	-					
Duration	.193	138	-				
EDSS	385*	.292	.360*	-			
FSS	151	.447*	.057	.371	-		
TIV	124	.235	.013	.108	.201	-	
TLV	243	.023	.023	.246	.315	.230	-

\* p < .05 (uncorrected for multiple comparisons)

EDSS: Expanded Disability Status Scale, FSS: Fatigue Severity Scale, TIV: Total intracranial volume, TLV: Total lesion volume

Associations between cognitive variables were highlighted between the PS<sub>CI</sub> and most of the other PS-dependent tests, especially the fluency tasks which were strongly correlated to one another (Table 4.8).

	PS <sub>CI</sub>	Stroop inhibition	TMT B-A	Phonemic fluency	Semantic fluency
PS <sub>CI</sub> Stroop inhibition (sec)	- .378*	-			
TMT B-A (sec) Phonemic fluency Semantic fluency	.375 <b>498</b> † <b>560</b> †	.332 068 271	- 231 .058	- .608 <sup>†</sup>	-

Table 4.8	Correlations	between	coanitive	variables
14010 110	001101010110	000000	ooginato	vanabio0

\* p < .05 (uncorrected for multiple comparisons) † p < .01 (.05/5 = .01, Bonferroni correction)

PScl: Processing speed composite index, TMT: Trail Making Test

#### 4.2.3.2. TLV results

The highest peaks of WM lesion probability were mainly detected in the superior corona radiata, periventricular and occipital areas (Figure 4.4).



Figure 4.4 Group-level lesion probability map

First, it was checked that all assumptions for regression were met as in Experiment 1 in order to proceed with the analysis for all cognitive tests. It emerged that, while the PS<sub>CI</sub> was not significantly predicted by any of the covariates investigated, the multiple regression model significantly explained response inhibitory performance on the Stroop test (F(4, 26) = 3.2, p = .032) with an  $R^2$  of .33. Moreover, TLV represented the only significant predictor (B = .428, p = .004) and showed a negative impact on inhibition abilities: every additional millilitre of TLV was associated with an increase in the time for response inhibition of almost half second. Finally, although the whole model did not significantly explained scores obtained on the semantic fluency test, yet TLV emerged as a significant predictor of cognitive performance (B = -.308, p = .012).

#### 4.2.3.3. VBM results

In relation to the first research question, no significant associations with WM volume were detected for the  $PS_{CI}$ , the phonemic fluency test, the TMT-A and the Stroop inhibition test. Only the semantic fluency task was found to correlate with regional volumes of bilateral WM clusters mainly involving the superior longitudinal fasciculus, the corpus callosum and the anterior thalamic radiations (Figure 4.5 and Table 4.9).

Similar findings were observed in the VBM analysis on GM maps where only the semantic fluency task was observed to correlate significantly with several regional GM volumes. In particular, the significant clusters were located in occipital and temporal areas, the posterior cingulate cortex and the caudate (Figure 4.5 and Table 4.9).

After statistically controlling for PS performance (research question 3), significant associations were still detected between semantic fluency scores and: volumes of WM tracts mentioned above, though in smaller clusters, and the volume of a GM clster in occipito-temporal areas (Table 4.9).



**Figure 4.5** WM (left) and GM regions (right) positively correlated with the semantic fluency task before (red) and after (blue) correcting for PS abilities (p < .05 FWE)

Cognitive	Cluster	r	Side	Brain region	t value	MNI	coordin	ates
Vallable	CALCHI			White metter treate	value	~	у	2
05	004	005			0.40	4.0	•	
SF	364	.635	L	Anterior thalamic radiations	6.16	-16	-2	24
			L	Body of corpus callosum	4.32	-8	-12	28
			L	Forceps minor	3.96	-14	26	10
	1180	.634	L	Uncinate fasciculus	5.81	-42	16	16
			L	SLF	5.30	-34	12	20
			L	SLF	4.88	-32	-4	40
	334	.613	R	SLF	4.72	46	-6	18
			R	SLF	4.68	42	2	18
50	004		R	SLF	4.19	42	-14	36
PS <sub>CI</sub> - corrected SF	281	.620	L	Anterior thalamic radiations	5.38	-16	-2	24
			L	Body of corpus callosum	4.28	-12	-14	30
			L	Anterior thalamic radiations	4.20	-18	-20	24
	235	.626	R	SLF	4.37	42	4	16
			R	SLF	4.36	48	-6	18
			R	SLF	3.99	36	12	24
				Grey matter regions				
SF	504	.639	R	Temporal pole (BA 38)	5.99	16	14	-36
			R	PHG (BA 28)	4.21	16	-14	-38
			R	PHG (BA 34)	4.11	8	-8	-24
	456	.639	R	MTG (BA 19)	5.48	44	-84	14
			R	IOG (BA 18)	5.46	40	-92	-12
	070	007	R	IOG (BA 19)	4.74	50	-82	-10
	272	.667	L	Caudate	5.06	-6	12	0
			L	Caudate	4.07	-10	8	14
	710	/715			3.97	-10	-2 56	14 54
	110	//15		Procupous (BA 7)	4.9Z	-2	-50	04 ∕/Q
			L I	Precupeus (BA 7)	4.00	- <u>-</u> -12	-04	-+0 52
	835	654	I	STG (BA 22)	4 86	-48	10	-2
	000		L	STG (BA 42)	4.44	-58	-14	14
			L	PreCG (BA 44)	4.34	-58	14	10
PS <sub>CI</sub> -	211	.708	L	IOG (BA 18)	6.11	-42	-92	-12
corrected SF					E 1E	50	01	2
	466	667	L D	MOG (BA 19)	5.45	-50	-04 _8/	-2 12
	400	.007	R		5 37	44	-04	-12
			R	ITG (BA 37)	4 65	58	-72	-2
	223	646		STG (BA 21)	00 5 4 9	-52	-6	-12
	220		L	STG (BA 22)	3.92	-48	10	-2
			L	Temporal pole (BA 38)	3.65	-40	6	-16
	215	.637	R	Temporal pole (BA 38)	5.27	16	14	-36
			R	PHG (BA 36)	4.43	14	6	-40
			R	PHG (BA 35)	4.00	16	-14	-36

Table 4.9 Positive association between semantic fluency and GM/WM regional volumes before and after controlling for the  $PS_{Cl}$  (p < .05 FWE)

BA: Brodmann area, IOG: Inferior occipital gyrus, ITG: Inferior temporal gyrus, MOG: Middle occipital gyrus, MTG: Middle temporal gyrus, PHG: Parahippocampal gyrus, PreCG: Precentral gyrus, SF: Semantic fluency, SLF: Superior longitudinal fasciculus, STG: Superior temporal gyrus

#### 4.2.3.4. DTI results

WM microstructure analysis carried out to answer the second research question showed  $PS_{CI}$  scores were associated with integrity of the corpus callosum and different frontal tracts, namely the anterior thalamic radiations and the inferior fronto-occipital fasciculus. Instead, performance on all cognitive tests was differentially associated with FA in several WM tracts (Figure 4.6), though for the TMT B-A the significance threshold had to be increased to p = .1 in order to probe the strongest peaks of correlation which emerged in a cluster in the forceps minor. Indeed, FA in the corpus callosum was positively associated with performance on all tests despite widespread patterns of correlations, especially for the semantic fluency and the Stroop inhibition tasks. Nonetheless, some of the strongest associations were consistently found in the inferior fronto-occipital fasciculus as observed for the PS<sub>CI</sub> (Table 4.10). Additionally, the superior longitudinal fasciculus emerged as significantly involved in PS-demanding cognitive performance across tests.

For semantic fluency and Stroop inhibition, a similar pattern survived after statistically correcting for the  $PS_{CI}$  but in smaller clusters (research question 3). However, a shift of the most significant peaks of association towards more posterior occipito-temporal tracts, i.e. the forceps major and the inferior longitudinal fasciculus, clearly emerged for both tests. For phonemic fluency no significant results were observed after controlling for PS abilities.

Cognitive variable	Cluster extent	r	Side	White matter tract	<i>t</i> value	MNI coordinates		tes
						Х	У	Ζ
PS <sub>CI</sub> †	1705	705	L	Anterior thalamic radiations	5.42	-20	27	30
			L	Body of corpus callosum	4.78	-13	14	26
			L	Anterior thalamic radiations	4.75	-22	29	21
			L	Body of corpus callosum	4.48	-13	7	30
			L	IFOF	4.46	-24	28	8
			L	Body of corpus callosum	4.40	-7	7	27
SI <sup>⊺</sup>	38191	647	R	SLF	5.91	42	-45	9
			L	IFOF	5.76	-29	-72	4
			R	Body of corpus callosum	5.49	12	19	22
			L	Anterior thalamic radiations	5.39	-16	-10	-1
			L	Forceps major	5.31	-27	-74	4
			R	Forceps minor	5.20	11	28	13
PS <sub>CI</sub> -	29954	586	R	SLF	6.14	43	-46	8
corrected SI <sup>†</sup>								
			R	SLF	6.07	43	-46	10
			L	Forceps major	5.50	-29	-72	4
			L	Forceps major	5.12	-29	-71	6
			L	İLF Ó	5.02	-44	-38	-7
			L	Forceps major	5.00	-27	-69	2

Table 4.10 Correlation between cognitive tests and FA (p < .05)
Table 4.10	(continued)
------------	-------------

TMT B-A* <sup>†</sup>	18	642	L	Forceps minor	3.85	-10	30	11
			L	Forceps minor	3.66	-8	29	10
			L	Forceps minor	3.39	-5	27	10
$PF^{\ddagger}$	212	.699	L	SLF	4.71	-17	6	34
			L	SLF	4.19	-17	12	34
			L	SLF	3.93	-16	1	37
			L	Body of corpus callosum	3.67	-15	19	25
			L	SLF	3.65	-16	9	35
			L	SLF	3.48	-17	15	32
	205	.644	L	SLF	4.70	-29	3	7
			L	SLF	4.58	-28	3	9
			L	IFOF	3.97	-25	18	0
			L	SLF	3.91	-30	-4	11
			L	SLF	3.69	-29	-1	10
			L	IFOF	3.66	-26	14	0
SF <sup>‡</sup>	18771	.693	L	SLF	7.58	-18	7	35
-	-		L	SLF	7.37	-17	6	37
			R	Body of corpus callosum	6.44	6	-24	28
			L	SLF	5.86	-41	11	8
			L	Body of corpus callosum	5.86	-10	2	31
			Ĺ	SLF	5.64	-17	1	37
	144	.484	R	IFOF	3.10	39	-27	-3
			R	IFOF	3.02	39	-28	-1
			R	IFOF	2.98	32	-21	-2
			R	IFOF	2 67	35	-28	0
			R	IFOF	2 61	37	-32	2
			R	IFOF	2 49	40	-32	-3
DC	4400	670			6.74	10	7	27
corrected SF <sup>‡</sup>	4420	.070	L	SLF	0.74	-10	7	37
			L	SLF	6.36	-18	7	35
			R	Body of corpus callosum	6.14	6	-24	28
			I.	Body of corpus callosum	5 77	-15	-5	36
			ī	SI F	5 42	-17	-18	37
			ī	SLE	5.38	-17	-16	36
	1332	577	ī	II F	4 27	-32	-60	24
			-	 II F	4 17	-32	-61	26
			1	IFOF	3 66	-31	-60	19
			1	IFOF	3 52	-33	-55	17
			1	II F	3 48	-27	-59	10
			ь 1	SI F	3 37	-37	-51	20
			L	JLI	5.57	-57	-51	23

\* p < 0.1

<sup>†</sup> negative correlation

<sup>‡</sup> positive correlation

IFOF: Inferior fronto-occipital fasciculus, ILF: Inferior longitudinal fasciculus, PF: Phonemic fluency, PS<sub>CI</sub>: Processing speed composite index, SF: Semantic fluency, SI: Stroop inhibition, SLF: Superior longitudinal fasciculus, TMT: Trail Making Test



**Figure 4.6** Patterns of correlation (orange negative, blue positive) between FA and the  $PS_{CI}$ , phonemic fluency, and semantic fluency and the Stroop inhibition scores before and after correcting for PS abilities (p < .05)

## 4.2.4. Discussion

In this study the combination of VBM and TBSS analyses provided new insights on the association between measures of structural brain integrity and cognitive performance of patients with SPMS on tasks characterized by substantial PS load. In particular, the investigation of WM microstructure showed that PS function was positively associated preferentially with the level of integrity of commissural and frontal associative WM tracts: the body of the corpus callosum, the anterior thalamic radiations and the inferior fronto-occipital fasciculus. Furthermore, performance on the PS-loaded cognitive tests investigated was associated with FA values in analogous WM tracts, in particular with the corpus callosum, which resulted significantly involved in each single test, and the inferior fronto-occipital fasciculus, detected for the Stroop and the fluency tasks. Hence, these two WM tracts, along with the anterior thalamic radiations, appear to represent the structural network supporting PS-loaded cognitive performance in people affected by SPMS, in line with previous findings in ageing (Borghesani et al., 2013, Kerchner et al., 2012, Salami et al., 2012). Additionally, the superior longitudinal fasciculus was found to be associated only with the more complex tests (Stroop and the fluency tasks), but not with the index of PS, possibly because of their greater global cognitive load beyond PS (Kincses et al., 2011, Turken et al., 2008). This might explain why performance on Stroop inhibition and semantic fluency tasks was significantly predicted also by TLV. In fact, the highest lesion probabilities were observed in fronto-parietal WM areas.

After statistically controlling for PS ability, the correlation between FA and the Stroop and semantic fluency tests only survived in smaller clusters of WM mainly localised in posterior occipital (forceps major) and occipito-temporal (inferior longitudinal fasciculus) tracts involved mainly in visual perceptual processes (Catani and Thiebaut de Schotten, 2008). Therefore, the PS load that characterizes these tests appears, as expected, to modulate the detection of significant correlations with clusters of WM in more frontal and cognitively salient tracts.

VBM analysis was used with the aim to investigate whether regional atrophy of either WM or GM could also capture PS decline, since the secondary progressive stage of this disease is heavily characterized by neurodegenerative processes (Mahad et al., 2015) driving considerable levels of brain atrophy (Eshaghi et al., 2018). In our battery of tests, only the scores obtained on the semantic fluency task emerged significantly correlated with both GM and WM volumes. Moreover, this unique association was found with TLV, thus confirming semantic fluency may be particularly sensitive to WM damage. Indeed, semantic cognition is supported by a distributed network both regarding storage of semantic knowledge (Patterson et al., 2007) and deployment of sematic control processes (Jefferies, 2013). On the contrary phonemic fluency is a task requiring prevalently executive control

processes associated with the frontal lobes that undergo macrostructural degeneration later on in the disease course (Eshaghi et al., 2018).

The findings of this study suggest that in this clinical population fast cognitive processing is supported by structural connections that enable integration of information across each hemisphere and especially between frontal lobes and other GM structures. Among the various WM tracts likely to be crucial for cognitive PS abilities, of particular interest is the inferior fronto-occipital tract whose level of microstructural integrity was found to correlate with all the PS-related tests investigated in this study. In fact, the inferior fronto-occipital fasciculus has been found to subserve complex functions related to semantic cognition, though characterized by interhemispheric differences (Herbet et al., 2017a, Khan et al., 2014), and to contribute to attention orienting (Herbet et al., 2017b).

In conclusion, this study provides new insights into the structural correlates of PSrelated cognitive performance in patients with SPMS, a phenotype that has been mostly neglected by researchers. Further investigations on the functional networks connected by the WM tracts observed in these analyses are needed to characterise more extensively the relationship between neural and cognitive changes in SPMS. Indeed, currently little is known about functional reorganization in the SPMS phenotype since most investigations focused on RRMS and the Default Mode Network only (Raichle et al., 2001).

### 4.3. General discussion

The findings from Experiment 1 showed that performance mainly on measures of visual and visuo-spatial rather than verbal/auditory PS seem to be correlated with integrity of structural connections in people affected by RRMS. In particular, the structural correlates highlighted in this study differ, apart from the corpus callosum, from those most consistently observed to be associated with visual PS abilities measured by the SDMT across the studies reviewed in Chapter 2: the fornix, the cingulum and the posterior thalamic radiations. By contrast, the forceps minor, the anterior thalamic radiations and the inferior fronto-occipital fasciculus emerged from analyses in Experiment 1 for both the DSCT and the TMT-A.

First, these discrepancies may be partially explained by the exiguous number of studies on the structural correlates of the SDMT in RRMS. Indeed, a certain degree of variability in results across investigations is normally expected due to inevitable subtle differences in the samples recruited and methodologies used (ROI vs voxel-based). Moreover, the exploratory nature and the widespread lack of hypothesis

testing observed in most studies can be seen as a probable factor contributing to less critical discussion of the results obtained. In light of these limitations, it appears difficult to consider the current knowledge as a definite frame of reference.

It may also be argued that the results found in Experiment 1 appear to have higher functional relevance than those summarised in the literature review when considering their implications for PS function (Manca et al., 2018). In fact, although some of the mentioned fibre bundles may contribute to performance on the DSCT (or the SDMT), they may support functions not necessarily related to speed of information processing. First, the fornix has been extensively studied both in monkeys (Gaffan and Wilson, 2008) and humans (Aggleton and Brown, 2001) and its role in mnestic function, of visual and visuo-spatial types, is widely recognised. Second, the cingulum is a quite complex tract, possibly subdivided into different and functionally specialised sections like the adjacent cingulate gyrus (Bubb et al., 2018). Although its frontal portion is likely to be involved in executive/attentional processes that may contribute to PS, current DTI analytic techniques do not allow an effective disentangling of cingulum components. Third, the posterior thalamic radiations may subserve visual perceptual functions, necessary in order to perform the SDMT, but not clearly involved in PS-demanding cognitive processes (Schmahmann and Pandya, 2008). On the contrary, as reported in the discussion to Experiment 1 evidence has been accumulated on the prominent role of frontal connectivity in supporting fast cognitive operations. Indeed, executive control processes may contribute to support performance of challenging tasks requiring information to be processed quickly (Amann et al., 2010, Benedict et al., 2013, Bisecco et al., 2017). The lesser is the damage to frontal structures the more executive support can be deployed to perform cognitive tasks in conditions experienced as challenging by both patients and healthy people (Bonnet et al., 2010, Forn et al., 2013).

Notably, in Experiment 2 very similar tracts have been found associated with PS abilities of people who transitioned to SPMS, with the addition of the superior longitudinal fasciculus. However, differently from Experiment 1 the significant findings emerged mainly for PS-demanding tests requiring verbal rather than visuo-spatial processing. Although a direct comparison between the two experiments cannot be performed due to fundamental differences in characteristics of the samples (native languages and cultures that impact cognitive performance), cognitive measures used and MRI parameters (3T vs 1.5T), a qualitative interpretation may be attempted. Indeed, it appears that tasks assessing visuo-spatial abilities may be particularly sensitive early on in the disease course due to a

particular vulnerability to this pathology. Indeed, alerting deficits may be observed that may induce additional burden on attentional control mechanisms (Crivelli et al., 2012, Roth et al., 2015). Thus, variance in scores on tests of visual PS function relying on integration of information across hemispheres may be significantly explained by variance in structural damage induced by neuroinflammation to related WM tracts.

However, as the disease progresses to SPMS and neurodegeneration spreads throughout the brain, also performance in tasks that heavily rely on GM integrity, such as semantic fluency, may be impaired. Indeed, it has been shown semantic knowledge is stored in several different cortical areas functionally connected in a network to the left temporal pole that is thought to "contain" amodal representations of concepts (Patterson et al., 2007). Therefore, tests like semantic fluency may be particularly sensitive to a combination of widespread WM damage (disrupting integration of information) and GM atrophy (impacting on memory storage) as detected in the analyses of Experiment 2. Consistently, Preziosa et al. (2017) have recently been investigating how increased lesion accumulation in the left hemisphere, prominently specialised in processing of information of verbal type, appears to be the significant predictor of progression of cognitive decline over a period of 5 years. Thus, even though analysis on single tests were not carried out in their study, these findings suggest that in more advanced stages of the disease language-based tests requiring integration of information may be good markers of changes in cognitive functions.

As mentioned above, the differences in methodologies observable between the two studies in this chapter relating to discrepancies in neuropsychological tests and MRI parameters used limit any direct quantitative comparisons. Indeed, the cross-sectional nature of these investigations poses challenges for the interpretation of differential findings across the two MS phenotypes. Therefore, the fact that performance on different PS-demanding tests was associated with microstructural damage in similar WM tracts for the two samples needs further clarification and no definite conclusions can be currently drawn. Additionally, the technique used for processing of DTI data (i.e. namely TBSS) may be seen as a partial limitation since it constrains the analysis to the core of WM tracts, thus potentially missing smaller or more complex bundles. In fact, despite allowing voxel-based analysis, resolution of individual tracts is limited and tractography analysis may provide complementary insights. However, the resolution of the DTI scans collected could not enable such analysis to satisfying standards.

Nevertheless, these experiments showed that hypothesis-based use of voxel-based analysis combined with neuropsychological tests can provide more detailed information on the structural correlates of PS function in MS than the investigation of TLV. In fact, detection of enhancing lesions predicts the absence of practice effect over time on the SDMT (Fenu et al., 2018), significant microstructural changes may affect normal appearing WM before any macrostructural damage could be detected (Ontaneda et al., 2014). Similarly, the formation of new lesions has been observed to have wider impact on both structural (Chiang et al., 2016) and functional connectivity (Droby et al., 2015b) that may explain clinical evolution of symptoms, among which also cognitive ones.

In conclusion, the results of these two experiments together mainly support the conceptualization of MS as a disconnection syndrome (Mesulam, 2012), with cognitive symptoms arising from network disruption (Schoonheim et al., 2015). It may be argued, therefore, that effective execution of PS-challenging cognitive tasks require brains affected by MS to deploy executive control processes reliant on brain networks centred on the frontal lobes to a greater extent than in healthy brains. This appears in line with cognitive (Vernon, 1983) and neuroimaging (Rypma et al., 2006, Rypma and Prabhakaran, 2009) findings on efficient and fast cognitive processing in healthy people. Therefore, preservation of frontal connections that allow control processes and integration of other cognitive functions appears crucial for supporting execution of PS-demanding tasks.

# Chapter 5 | Resting-state functional neural correlates of PS function in people with MS

Research carried out to investigate how PS function in people with MS depends on measures of functional connectivity is very limited compared to the amount of studies on structural connectivity. In fact, only in recent years the identification and investigation of networks of functionally related areas have become more represented in the field of functional MRI. Less than twenty years ago Raichle et al. (2001) described the DMN, which represents the most widely studied among all brain networks in relation to PS performance in MS (Janssen et al., 2013, Rocca et al., 2010b, Sbardella et al., 2015b, Zhou et al., 2014). In particular, most papers currently available on this topic mainly used the PASAT as PS measure (Manca et al., 2018). Therefore, it appears difficult to hypotesise whether the association between alterations in this network and PS decline is specific or whether damage to other functional networks may play a major role.

Current characterisation of the involvement of functional networks in cognitive symptoms in MS appears in general insufficient, especially regarding SPMS. High variability of findings emerged across and within studies, since Sbardella et al. (2015b) found that performance on the PASAT was related to functional connectivity of two out of the eleven networks investigated: the executive control network, expectedly due to well established frontal activation during working memory tasks, and the medial visual network, despite no visual processing is involved in such test. The lack of consistency seen so far may be explained by the very limited number of studies that have addressed this topic not without substantial methodological discrepancies (ROI-based, network-based and graph-theory-based approaches). Moreover, it is likely that the randomness of lesion manifestation may pose a particular challenge to the investigation of the association between complex brain networks and one single measure of PS function. Indeed, it has been recently shown that MS-related structural damage to both WM and GM has an impact on functional connectivity in different ways (Tewarie et al., 2018). Hence, alterations observed in patients are likely to be complex, widespread and dynamic.

Additionally, it is worth mentioning that different authors may define the same networks in slightly different ways, especially due to the methods used to separate them, potentially introducing further sources of variability. Indeed, the most common analysis technique used is the so-called Independent Component Analysis (ICA): the blood-oxygen-level dependent signal acquired from the whole brain, at rest, is fed into statistical analyses carried out with the aim of disentangling signal implied to be generated by independent sources (Calhoun et al., 2001). In doing so, brain activity from each voxel is correlated with brain activity in each other voxel, in order to highlight those clusters whose resting low-frequency fluctuations occur synchronously, i.e. functionally related networks of areas (Raichle, 2011). In fact, these networks detected in the resting brain happen to co-activate while performing specific tasks of either sensory, motor, or cognitive kind.

This approach emerges as predominant in the field and it has been applied to the study of brain alterations in various pathologies, since it offers a window into the brain functional architecture without requiring participants to engage in task performance and it is easily applicable to intervention studies as outcome measure (Barkhof et al., 2014). For these reasons, network-based analysis was chosen to investigate in detail the functional correlates of PS function in people affected by two different phenotypes of MS with the aim of obtaining complementary findings to those on structural connectivity reported in Chapter 4 (Enzinger and Fazekas, 2015). It must be stressed that, although structural and functional connectivity may be associated, their relationship is not bidirectional (Damoiseaux and Greicius, 2009). Therefore, the investigation of the functional correlates of PS abilities in this chapter may be guided by the results of the structural and functional findings.

# 5.1. Experiment 3 – Associations between measures of PS function and functional connectivity in people with RRMS

### 5.1.1. Introduction

A widely investigated aspect associated with MS pathology, but observed also in other diseases to different degrees and in various manifestations, consists in the alteration and reorganization of several functional brain networks (Cruz-Gomez et al., 2014, Rocca et al., 2012b). These changes express predominantly as decreases of functional connectivity, although increases have been reported to a lesser extent. In particular, different studies focussed their investigations on the role that the DMN may have in MS-related cognitive impairment. This network of areas usually deactivates when engagement in goal-directed behaviours is required (Raichle et al., 2001). Therefore, a failure in shifting activation from the DMN to other taskrelated networks may impact negatively on cognitive performance. Bonavita et al. (2011) showed that in cognitively impaired patients alterations in different hubs of the DMN occur compared to cognitively preserved individuals with MS: decreased resting-state activity was observed in the posterior cingulate and the left inferior parietal lobule, while increases were noted in the posterior cingulate more posteriorly. Similar results were also obtained by applying graph-theory analysis, which comprises an initial parcellation of the brain in anatomically distinct areas (nodes) and the generation of the network of connections (edges) on the basis of the correlation between the resting-state signal of each couple of nodes. The comparison between patients with and without cognitive symptoms showed that the presence of deficits is associated with loss of nodes mainly in left-lateralised areas such as the superior frontal gyrus, the anterior cingulate gyrus, the precuneus and the thalamus (Rocca et al., 2016). Moreover, the DMN appears to become more central across the brain organization at rest in cognitively impaired patients, suggesting a dysfunction in this network that may be associated with inability to shift brain activation toward other task-related networks (Eijlers et al., 2017).

However, as already mentioned in previous chapters, there may be problems with the interpretation of the results from studies that distinguish between cognitively impaired and preserved patients on the basis of failure on a set number of tests, without discriminating functions assessed by specific tests. In fact, across patients within a group, impairments may be present in different cognitive domains, which rely on the integrity of distinct brain networks. Moreover, patients supposed to have intact cognition may show, though to a lesser extent (e.g. failure on a single test), signs of decline that may be ignored. For these reasons, confounders might have been introduced in the results currently available. Additionally, most studies focussed their analysis exclusively on the DMN, thus preventing speculations on the possibility that disruption of other networks may be significantly affecting cognitive performance.

From the results of the literature review it emerged that more specific investigations into the commonly observed PS deficits have generated quite variable and inconsistent results so far. The PASAT has been extensively used as a measure of PS function and performance of people with RRMS on this test appears to be associated with functional connectivity of several distinct brain networks: the DMN (Zhou et al., 2014), thalamic connectivity by Tona et al. (2014) but not by Zhou et al. (2016), executive control and medial visual networks (Sbardella et al., 2015b). Hence, current knowledge of the resting-state functional correlates of PS abilities in MS seems limited. Indeed, the results by Sbardella et al. (2015b) are unexpected and counterintuitive considering the lack of visual information processing during performance on the PASAT. Although recruitment of non-cognitively related brain areas (such as the primary visual cortex) might represent a compensatory mechanism needed to support cognitive efficiency in other pathologies (De Marco et al., 2017), visual function and organization of cortical visual networks are often affected in MS because of optic neuritis (Janssen et al., 2013, Tewarie et al., 2017). As a consequence, it seems less likely that in MS visual areas may be recruited to maintain or improve cognitive performance. Indeed, the negative correlation detected between PASAT scores and connectivity of the visual network (Sbardella et al., 2015b) may highlight a phenomenon of maladaptive plasticity (Stern, 2009).

Consistent findings across studies point at a preferential involvement of the left hemisphere in supporting PS functions in MS. Zhou et al. (2014) observed that performance on the PASAT correlated with functional connectivity between the posterior DMN and the left medial temporal lobe. Instead, in a study involving repeated measurements of brain activity, a drop in functional coupling between left superior frontal gyrus and left thalamus was observed after the execution of the PASAT, although no significant correlation emerged between performance on the test and functional connectivity of the left superior frontal gyrus (Pravatá et al., 2016). Additionally, intraindividual variability on a semantic search reaction time task correlated with the strength of connectivity between the anterior hub of the DMN and the left frontal pole (Wojtowicz et al., 2014). It is worth noting that the predominant localization of findings mainly in the left hemisphere may be explained by the fact that most PS tests used required processing of verbal information. In particular, the role of the left fronto-parietal network in cognitive decline caused by MS is still unclear since it appears altered also in cognitively preserved patients, while cognitive decline may be due to more widespread disruption (Cruz-Gomez et al., 2014).

On the contrary, the only study among those included in the abovementioned review that used a composite index of PS function found no correlations with any of the investigated networks (Janssen et al., 2013). Moreover, Gamboa et al. (2014) showed by means of graph-based analysis that performance on a modified version of the PASAT was predicted by the level of functional modularity, i.e. the degree of integration of information across brain networks. This means that PS function may be affected particularly by disconnection between different functionally specialised networks and subnetworks that, in the absence of pathology, cooperate to enable efficient information processing. It follows that the interplay between PS-dependent cognitive performance and measures of resting-state brain activity may be less straightforward than expected, on the basis of the results reported by multiple studies that compared cognitively impaired and preserved people with MS.

Nevertheless, involvement of sensory and motor networks is not likely or may be detected for tests such as the TMT, prominently dependent on motor responses and processing of visual information that are often compromised in MS. It is expected that cognitive decline in PS function may be due to altered functional connectivity of cognitive networks (including the DMN). The clarification of the role of two networks appears particularly compelling: the salience network (Seeley et al., 2007), whose function is related to assessment of the level of experienced salience, i.e. relevance for the organism, in order to guide subsequent goal-directed behaviours; and the fronto-parietal network, which may be divided in left and right, controlling the coordination of such goal-directed behaviours (Coull et al., 1996). Indeed, although these three networks (DMN, salience network and fronto-parietal network) perform different functions, they are to some degree connected to one another and successful task execution depends on the coordination of their activation and deactivation patterns (Sridharan et al., 2008). Therefore, PS performance in people affected by MS may depend on dysfunction in one or more of these networks and investigation of this issue is the aim of the experiments reported in this chapter.

### 5.1.2. Methods

### 5.1.2.1. Participants

Forty-two out of forty-eight people affected by RRMS (Lublin and Reingold, 1996) who fulfilled the modified McDonald diagnostic criteria for RRMS (Polman et al., 2010) were selected from the cohort recruited for the intervention reported in Chapter 6. Inclusion and exclusion criteria are the same used in Experiment 1 (Chapter 4). Three participants were excluded for the same reasons highlighted in Experiment 1. Three additional patients who emerged as outliers during resting-state MRI scan preprocessing for head motion parameters were excluded to avoid artefacts in subsequent analysis.

Ethical approval was obtained from the Regional Ethics Committee of Yorkshire and Humber (Protocol STH17001 version 4.0) (Appendix D). All participants were provided with written information material (Appendix E) at least one week before recruitment and gave written consent (Appendix F) to take part in this study.

# 5.1.2.2. Neuropsychological assessment

This study used the same short battery of tests used in Experiment 1 comprising tests with prominent PS involvement (scores from the baseline assessment): the PASAT (3s and 2s), the DSCT, the Stroop test, the TMT and the phonemic and semantic fluency tests.

### 5.1.2.3. MRI acquisition

The MRI protocol used in this study was acquired at 3T (Ingenia, Philips Healthcare, Best, NL) utilizing a 32-channel radiofrequency head coil. Analyses were carried out specifically on:

Axial T2\*-weighted Echo Planar Imaging (repetition time = 2600ms; echo time = 35ms; slices = 35; volumes = 200; slice thickness = 4 mm; matrix size = 96 x 94, field of view = 230 x 230 mm<sup>2</sup>).

### 5.1.2.4. MRI preprocessing

First, all resting state scans were initially slice-time corrected in order to compensate for the delay in time of acquisition between slices of each brain volume (100 volumes for each of the two sessions). Second, each session was realigned independently by using the 4th Degree B-Spline Interpolation option. This step was needed in order to correct for possible head movements occurred in between the acquisition of different volumes. Indeed, mean volumes were created as reference and parameters of linear and rotational head motion were estimated. Graphical reports were visually inspected to ensure linear and rotational head movements would not exceed, respectively,  $\pm 3$  mm and  $\pm 3^{\circ}$  to avoid negative consequences on subsequent analyses. Third, realigned images were normalized using the first realigned volume of the first session as source image to match the default echoplanar template available in SPM 8, and voxel size was isotropied at  $2.0 \times 2.0 \times 2.0$ mm. Normalization of resting-state scan was applied in order to account for differences in head size and shape and to facilitate subsequent statistical analyses. Fourth, a band-pass filter was applied to normalized scans with the aim of removing noise frequencies not believed to result from the expression of neural activity. This was carried out using the REST toolbox (www.restfmri.net) (Song et al., 2011). Similar to the majority of studies on BOLD signal, a low-pass filter was set at 0.1 Hz to eliminate frequencies generated by physiological mechanisms and a high-pass filter was set at 0.008 Hz to remove low-frequency scanner drifts (Fox and Raichle, 2007). Finally, band-pass filtered volumes were spatially smoothed with a 6 mm<sup>3</sup> full-width at half maximum Gaussian kernel to account for any possible inter-subject differences remaining after normalization, and to improve signal-to-noise ratio.

After pre-processing, group-level ICA was performed on all baseline resting state fMRI scans using the GIFT toolbox for SPM8 (GIFT v1.3i; mialab.mrn.org/software/gift) (Calhoun et al., 2001) to identify several sample-specific functional networks for further analyses. The general aim of an ICA is to separate sources of signal assumed to be independent that have been mixed together in the acquisition of the signal itself.

An initial principal component analysis was carried out to reduce the number of sources of signal variability. The Infomax algorithm was then chosen to perform the ICA on the group and the number of components to extract was set at twenty, commonly accepted as a standard value that allows the detection of the main functional brain networks known and avoids excessive dissociation of signal sources (Wang and Li, 2015). Finally, the ICA procedure ended by reconstructing participant-specific spatial maps of each one of the twenty components estimated. This study focused on six different networks already investigated in the literature: four extensively invoved in cognitive processes, i.e. the default mode network, the salience network, the right and left fronto-parietal networks, and two control networks associated with sensory and motor functions particularly affected in MS, i.e. the visual network and the sensorimotor network. The z-score maps of these

networks were visually identified and extracted from all individual sets of components for statistical analysis.

## 5.1.2.5. Statistical analysis

Multiple regression models were created to investigate the association between all the above mentioned PS-dependent tests and each one of the six functional networks extracted from the sample of RS-fMRI scans. For sake of consistency with Experiment 1 and to allow complementary interpretations of the results on structural connectivity, the same covariates were statistically controlled for in each model: age, years of education and TIV.

Only clusters that survived statistical correction for multiple comparisons at a FWE threshold of p < .05 were considered. GM areas containing significant peaks highlighted by the analysis were identified by means of the Talairach Daemon (http://www.talairach.org/daemon.html), after converting their coordinates from the MNI to the Talairach reference system (Talairach and Tournoux, 1988).

In consideration of the results obtained from DTI analyses which pointed at a prevalent role of frontal, in addition to interhemispheric, structural connectivity in support of PS function in MS a main research question was first addressed:

1) Are PS abilities of people with RRMS based on visuo-spatial rather than verbal cognitive operations associated with functional connectivity of the left and right fronto-parietal networks?

Indeed, the hypothesis was tested that DSCT and the TMT-A scores were expected to correlate with functional connectivity of networks mainly anchored to the frontal lobes. However, based on previously published findings focussed on the role of DMN dysregulation in MS-related cognitive decline, it appeared necessary to extend investigations to other cognitive networks and address the following question:

2) Is PS function in people with RRMS associated with functional connectivity of the default mode or the salience networks rather than that of fronto-parietal networks?

Since the DMN, the salience network and the fronto-parietal ones have been observed to be functionally connected to one another, it does not appear trivial to hypothesise that one or more of these networks may contribute to sustain PS-demanding cognitive performance in this clinical population.

Additionally, regression analysis was used to investigate the association between PS performance and functional connectivity of two control networks, namely the visual and the sensorimotor networks, and to answer the following research question:

3) Is performance on PS-demanding tests specifically dependent on functional connectivity of cognitive rather than perceptual and motor networks in people with RRMS?

The different cognitive measures used in this study were selected to assess PSdemanding cognitive performance in conditions with little or no demand posed on motor and sensory functions. Therefore, it was hypothesised that no correlations should be detected between PS cognitive performance and functional connectivity of these two networks.

### 5.1.3. Results

### 5.1.3.1. Clinical and cognitive results

All the clinical and cognitive characteristics of the patients, who consist in a subsample of those included in Experiment 1, are reported in Table 5.1.

Variable	Mean	SD	Median	Minimum	Maximum	Patients with deficits
Clinical characteristics						
Age (years)	44.6	8.8	45.0	26	65	-
Education (years)	14.0	2.7	13.0	11	19	-
Duration (years)	9.7	7.2	7.5	1	30	-
EDSS	3.4	1.6	3.5	0	6	-
TIV (ml)	1503.2	184.9	1486.0	1361.2	2070.9	-
TLV (ml)	10.6	13.4	6.0	0	47.9	-
Cognitive tests						
PASAT 3"	39.0	15.9	42.5	9	59	11
PASAT 2"	23.4	13.9	21	4	55	15
DSCT	62.7	15.8	61	36	96	14
TMT-A (sec)	39.5	15.8	37.5	21	86	6
Stroop speed (sec)	17.6	3.6	17.7	10	27.5	5
Phonemic fluency	32.2	9.5	31	17	58	1
Semantic fluency	45.3	10.1	43.5	21	67	1

**Table 5.1** Clinical and cognitive characteristics of the patient sample (n = 42)

DSCT: Digit Symbol Coding Test, EDSS: Expanded Disability Status Scale, PASAT: Paced Auditory Serial Addition Test, TIV: Total intracranial volume, TLV: Total lesion volume, TMT: Trail Making Test

### 5.1.3.2. Resting-state fMRI results

First, correlations between scores of all the cognitive tests and functional connectivity maps of the fronto-parietal networks were investigated. Connectivity of the right fronto-parietal network was not correlated with PS-dependent cognitive performance on any of the tests. However, unexpected results were highlighted for the left fronto-parietal network: neither the DSCT nor the TMT-A scores were found to be associated with this network, against predictions made on the basis of the results observed in Experiment 1. These tests, in fact, were thought to be sensitive cognitive measures that could capture alterations in brain connectivity, also at the functional level. Results related to tests of verbal PS function were mixed: both PASAT versions yielded null results, while Stroop speed scores were negatively correlated with functional connectivity between the left fronto-parietal network and the right posterior cingulate cortex (Table 5.2 and Figure 5.1).

 Table 5.2 Correlations between performance on PS-dependent tests and functional connectivity of the left fronto-parietal network (p < .05 FWE)</th>

Cognitive variable	Cluster extent r Side		Side	Brain region	<i>t</i> value		MNI coordinates			
						Х	У	Ζ		
Stroop speed*	73	628	R	PCC (BA 31)	5.26	28	-44	30		
			R	PCC (BA 31)	4.05	28	-52	28		
Phonemic fluency <sup>†</sup>	115	.605	R	SFG (BA 8)	4.86	4	32	56		
-			R	SFG (BA 8)	4.10	2	36	46		
Semantic fluency <sup>†</sup>	100	.481	R	PCG (BA 4)	5.06	60	-6	22		
			R	PCG (BA 6)	4.14	54	-8	34		
			R	PCG (BA 6)	3.73	46	-8	32		

\* negative correlation

<sup>†</sup> positive correlation

BA: Brodmann area, PCC: posterior cingulate cortex, PCG: Precentral gyrus, SFG: superior frontal gyrus

Consistently, the total scores obtained by patients on the fluency tasks were directly associated with functional connectivity between the same network and different frontal areas and, in particularly, the prefrontal cortex for the phonemic fluency task and the motor and premotor cortices for the semantic fluency task (Table 5.2 and Figure 5.1).



**Figure 5.1** Negative (red) and positive (blue) correlations between PS-dependent performance and functional connectivity of the left fronto-parietal network (p < .05 FWE)

Second, the same analytic procedure was applied to other previously mentioned cognitive networks: the default mode network whose connectivity with the cerebellum was found to be negatively associated with performance on the semantic fluency task; and the salience network, found to be associated with both the PASAT (only 3s version) and the TMT-A. In particular, the PASAT scores were negatively correlated with connectivity between the salience network and the posterior cingulate cortex, while the TMT-A scores were positively correlated with functional coupling with a network of frontal, parietal and cerebellar areas (Figure 5.2 and Table 5.3).



**Figure 5.2** Negative (red) and positive (blue) correlations between semantic fluency scores and functional connectivity of the default mode network (top row) and between functional connectivity of the salience network and performance on the PASAT 3" (A) and TMT-A (B) (p < .05 FWE)

Cognitive variable	Cluster r extent		Side	Brain region	<i>t</i> value	MNI coordinates			
						Х	У	Ζ	
			Defa						
Semantic fluency*	69	541	R	Nodule	5.82	8	-64	-32	
-			R	Uvula	4.21	0	-64	-36	
			R	Declive	4.08	20	-60	-28	
	Salience network								
PASAT 3"*	76	634	L/R	PCC (BA 23)	6.22	0	32	20	
$TMT-A^{\dagger}$	91	.745	L	PCC (BA 30)	5.07	-16	-68	4	
			L	Cuneus (BA 18)	4.48	-12	-72	16	
			L	Lingual gyrus (BA 18)	4.32	-8	-72	4	
	102	.678	R	Declive	4.97	-14	-78	-26	
			R	Declive	4.69	-22	-76	-28	
			R	Declive	4.07	-30	-78	-30	
	140	.714	R	IFG (BA 44)	4.84	46	10	20	
			R	IFG (BA 44)	4.26	52	4	12	
			R	IFG (BA 45)	4.20	46	18	18	

**Table 5.3** Correlations between performance on PS-dependent tests and functional connectivity of thedefault mode and salience networks (p < .05 FWE)

\* positive correlation

<sup>†</sup> negative correlation

BA: Brodmann area, IFG: inferior frontal gyrus, PASAT: Paced Auditory Serial Addition Test, PCC: posterior cingulate cortex, TMT: Trail Making Test

Finally, control analyses were carried out on the visual and the sensorimotor networks with the expectation not to detect any significant associations between PS performance and connectivity of either networks. However, TMT-A scores correlated with functional coupling of the sensorimotor network with motor areas, positively, and with the right inferior frontal gyrus, negatively (Table 5.4 and Figure 5.3).

**Table 5.4** Correlation between TMT-A scores and functional connectivity of the sensorimotor network (p < .05 FWE)

Cognitive variable	Cluster	r	Side	Brain region	value	MNI coordinates		
-	extent			-		X	У	Ζ
			Posi	itive correlation				
TMT-A	398	.676	R	PCG (BA 6)	5.80	48	-16	26
			R	PCG (BA 43)	4.97	60	-10	10
			R	PCG (BA 4)	4.94	64	-10	28
	315	.604	L	PCG (BA 43)	5.19	-54	-6	14
			L	Insula (BA 13)	5.05	-44	-12	26
			L	PCG (BA 4)	4.22	-60	-4	28
			Nega	ative correlation				
	73	687	R	IFG (BA 44)	5.25	48	6	16
			R	IFG (BA 44)	4.28	54	12	18
			R	IFG (BA 9)	4.13	46	14	24

BA: Brodmann area, IFG: inferior frontal gyrus, PCG: Precentral gyrus, TMT: Trail Making Test



**Figure 5.3** Positive (red) and negavtive (blue) correlations between TMT-A scores and functional connectivity of the sensorimotor network (p < .05 FWE)

### 5.1.4. Discussion

Coherently with findings from Experiment 1 that highlighted a strong association between integrity of frontal structural connectivity PS function in RRMS, functional connectivity of the left fronto-parietal network was found associated with several of the PS-dependent test considered in this study. This network supports attentional and executive processes that are necessary to coordinate other cognitive functions (Coull et al., 1996). Associations were observed both for elementary PS measures, namely the Stroop speed, and more complex ones, i.e. the fluency tasks. Moreover, it was systematically noticed across tests that better PS performance was associated with stronger functional connectivity between the left fronto-parietal network and either bilateral (phonemic fluency) or right-lateralised (Stroop speed and semantic fluency) frontal and parieto-limbic areas. These findings support the hypothesis that efficient integration of information across both hemispheres in several areas involved in cognitive control and motor planning contributes to faster processing. Indeed, the dorsal posterior cingulate, found to be linked to performance

on the Stroop speed index, correlates at rest with attentional networks and may play a role in attention allocation (Leech et al., 2011).

On the contrary, the right fronto-parietal network was not associated with any PSdemanding tasks, independently of the cognitive processes/modalities engaged. In particular, differently from what emerged from Experiment 1, no significant correlations were detected with scores on either the DSCT or the TMT-A, mainly dependent on visual and visuo-spatial processes associated prevalently with right frontal and parietal activations. Therefore, the left lateralisation observed in these findings may support the hypothesis of a stronger role of this hemisphere in PS performance. Alternatively, it may be due to the fact that all of the above mentioned tests fundamentally require processing of verbal information mainly elaborated by areas in the left hemisphere.

The investigation of the DMN showed that only the semantic fluency test was negatively correlated with the strength of functional connectivity between this network and the right cerebellum. This result may be interpreted as the need for a functional dissociation between the DMN, not active during active task performance, and a cerebellar area consistently observed to contribute to execution of this test (Gurd et al., 2002, Schlosser et al., 1998). However, none of the PS measures were correlated with resting-state activity of the DMN, contrarily to what reported by some studies (Wojtowicz et al., 2014, Zhou et al., 2014). It is worth highlighting that Janssen et al. (2013) found no correlations between a robust PS composite score and functional connectivity of any of the functional networks investigated, DMN included.

On the contrary, the salience network appeared significantly associated with two PS measures: the PASAT 3" and the TMT-A. In particular, negative effect on performance across both tasks of increased coupling at rest between this network and various bilateral frontal, cerebellar and posterior cingulate areas involved in different executive (Sestieri et al., 2014, Vallesi, 2014) and visuospatial processes (Maguire, 2001) was observed. Hence, it appears that a functional dissociation between the salience network and, on one hand, the posterior DMN and, on the other hand, areas of the right fronto-parietal network may facilitate PS performance. Indeed, these networks are negatively correlated to one another (Uddin et al., 2009) and the integrity of the salience network has been observed to be a predictor of DMN functionality after traumatic brain injury (Bonnelle et al., 2012). Therefore, the salience network may play a crucial role in enabling efficient deployment of attentional resources that allow effective information processing.

Bidirectional correlations emerged between completion time on the TMT-A and connectivity of the sensorimotor network, possibly due to the importance of motor function in the execution of this test. More specifically, higher completion times were predicted by higher connectivity with areas within the network and by lower connectivity with the right inferior frontal gyrus. These findings seem to suggest that functional segregation of the sensorimotor network and lack of integration with executive networks may impact motor execution as well as psycho-motor PS function.

It can be argued that the results obtained in this study show that different functional networks anchored to frontal hubs (the salience and the left fronto-parietal ones) appear to be associated with PS performance in people with RRMS. This is in line with what expected on the basis of the results obtained in Experiment 1 and hypothesised in the first research question investigated. However, discrepancies have emerged between the two experiments with respect to the measures of PS abilities detected as significantly associated with such frontal areas. In fact, while in Experiment 1 mainly visuo-spatial PS abilities seemed sensitive to variable degrees of microstructural WM integrity, in Experiment 3 different measures of PS function based on elaboration of verbal material were mainly highlighted in the analyses. This situation may be explained by the fact that the match between structural and functional connectivity is not straightforward and perfectly bidirectional (Damoiseaux and Greicius, 2009). Moreover, MS pathology may differentially affect these two neural levels, thus influencing the associations that can be detected. Indeed, Tona et al. (2014), by adopting an ROI approach, found that performance on the PASAT correlated only with thalamic functional connectivity but not with DTI indices. The exact opposite scenario has been observed by Zhou et al. (2016) hence hinting that current knowledge on the interplay between cognitive performance and different connectivity measures affected by MS is not conclusive.

Additionally, a quite considerable level of variability was seen in relation to the fact that not all PS-dependent measures investigated were found to be associated with the same functional networks. The most compelling explanation of such variable results appears to rely on the diversity of cognitive functions underlying the PS measures collected. This means that different cognitive tests may not be interchangeable in the assessment of the same function and may depend on different neural correlates. Another caveat may be in the fact that networks' resting-state activity probably enables only partial characterisation of the status of a cognitive function that is essentially dynamic, such as quickly performing cognitive processes (van Geest et al., 2018).

In line with the latter point, the findings from Experiment 3 suggest that integrity of PS function in RRMS may depend on functional connectivity strength between different networks rather than on a single one. Indeed, Gamboa et al. (2014) found that MS-caused lack of communication between functionally specialised brain modules and may affect fast cognitive operations that depend on integration of different types of information across brain areas and hemispheres. On the contrary, functions that are eminently lateralised in one hemisphere rely less on information transfer because performed by more localised networks (Simon-Dack et al., 2015). Therefore, understanding the relevance of balance between functional segregation and integration across brain networks seems to be a relevant issue for further investigating PS function decline in MS.

# 5.2. Experiment 4 – Associations between measures of PS function and functional connectivity in people with SPMS

### 5.2.1. Introduction

It has been established that people affected by RRMS generally experience a transition to SPMS about 10 years after disease onset (Rovaris et al., 2006). Therefore, the two phenotypes can be said to constitute a clinical continuum in the evolution of the disease that may prove challenging to disentangle, especially with respect to the transition phase (Larochelle et al., 2016). However, differences in neural and clinical manifestations allow the distinction of these phenotypes, both qualitatively and quantitatively. Indeed, Faivre et al. (2016) applied graph-theory-based analysis to study longitudinally disease progression showing that decreases in brain functional connectivity, i.e. disconnection between different brain areas, are linked to steady increase in disability levels. Similarly, from a clinical point of view cognitive symptoms have been observed to present to a greater extent in people with SPMS compared to those with RRMS, especially regarding PS function (Archibald and Fisk, 2000, De Sonneville et al., 2002, Denney et al., 2004, Papathanasiou et al., 2014, Ruet et al., 2013b).

Nevertheless, the use of functional neuroimaging techniques has received little attention so far in the investigation of the neural features that characterise SPMS and its phenotypical expression (Brown and Chard, 2016). Most efforts to clarify the neural correlates of cognitive impairment in this disease, in fact, have been focussed on RRMS. Small groups of people with SPMS have often been included alongside, but rarely examined independently. Therefore, the scarcity and variability of the literature in this field limits any consideration of the currently available findings that are to be considered preliminary.

Two approaches have been used to study functional reorganization related to cognitive dysfunction in SPMS: analysis of task-related and resting-state brain activity. Loitfelder et al. (2011) found people with SPMS, despite being more cognitively impaired, performed as well as people with CIS on a go-no go discrimination task. However, stronger and more widespread cerebral activations were observed for people with SPMS across prefrontal, parietal and temporal associative areas also in the least challenging experimental condition. This finding was interpreted in terms of functional compensation needed in order to sustain cognitive performance in more advanced stages of the disease. Rocca et al. (2012a) showed altered patterns of connectivity of the right cerebellum with fronto-parietal

areas during the performance of incongruent trials of the Stroop task for people with SPMS compared to those affected by RRMS. The observed functional alterations were associated with worse cognitive performance in the SPMS group. Taken together, these results seem to suggest that different processes of reconfiguration of brain activity may occur, but the specific valence of these changes in relation to cognitive performance remains unclear. Moreover, mainly executive functions have been investigated, while other cognitive abilities more commonly observed impaired, such as memory and PS, received little attention.

Resting-state functional MRI analyses revealed mixed results regarding the direction of changes in functional connectivity of the DMN. In fact, both decreases (Rocca et al., 2010b) and increases (Basile et al., 2014) in resting-state activity of this network have been reported for people with SPMS compared to healthy controls. In particular, it was found that these changes appeared more pronounced in SPMS than in RRMS. Nonetheless, both studies revealed a similar involvement of the anterior cingulate cortex in PS performance: total score of correct items (Rocca et al., 2010b) and errors on the PASAT 3" (Basile et al., 2014). The relationship between the DMN and the salience network, whose core hub is represented by the anterior cingulate, appears to be crucially supporting PS abilities in SPMS. However, the investigation of how fast information processing might be potentially affected by disruption in the salience network or of other important cognitive networks, namely the two fronto-parietal networks, has been utterly neglected. Only Basile et al. (2014) showed that increased functional connectivity of the sensorimotor network in SPMS is significantly higher than in healthy controls but lower than in RRMS. Yet these changes were not found to be associated with performance on the PASAT. In consideration of the findings outlined above the scenario appears fragmented, highly inconsistent and minimally helpful for explaining the functional correlates of cognitive slowing that characterises people who have transitioned to SPMS. Hence, this study will address this issue to investigate which functional networks (cognitive, sensory or motor) may be associated with PS-dependent cognitive performance in this poorly studied MS phenotype.

### 5.2.2. Methods

#### 5.2.2.1. Participants

Twenty-five people affected by SPMS according to criteria by (Lublin and Reingold, 1996) from the cohort recruited for Experiment 2 were included in this study. One individual was excluded after preprocessing due to issues related to high degree of

head motion, while five participants were not able to complete the full MRI assessment.

This study was carried out according to the Declaration of Helsinki and was approved by the Institutional Review Board of the IRCCS Fondazione Ospedale San Camillo (Venice, Italy) (Protocol N. 11/09 version 2) (Appendix G). Written informed consent was obtained from each study participant.

# 5.2.2.2. Neuropsychological assessment

The same neuropsychological assessment carried out in Experiment 2 was used in this study, comprising scores on: the Digit Cancellation Test, the Stroop test and the TMT (used to create the  $PS_{CI}$ ) and the addition of the phonemic and semantic fluency tests.

# 5.2.2.3. MRI acquisition

Patients were scanned on a 1.5 T Philips Medical Systems Achieva scanner (Best, the Netherlands) with a standard head coil in order to collect functional MRI scans:

 Axial T2\*-weighted Echo Planar Imaging (repetition time = 2000 ms, echo time = 50 ms, slices = 20, slice thickness = 6 mm, matrix size = 72 x 71, field of view = 230 x 120 mm<sup>2</sup>).

# 5.2.2.4. MRI preprocessing

The same preprocessing procedure as explained for Experiment 3 was followed for resting-state scans to obtain network images for statistical analysis.

# 5.2.2.5. Statistical analysis

The analysis of the association between PS performance and functional connectivity across functional networks was carried out following the same procedure used in Experiment 3.

Structural connectivity analysis that showed frontal connections, especially leftlateralised, emerged as correlates of PS abilities in people with SPMS. Therefore, a first main question was elaborated:

1) Are PS abilities of people with SPMS differentially associated with functional connectivity of the two fronto-parietal networks?

The prediction is that scores on fluency tasks would be preferentially associated with connectivity of the left fronto-parietal network. Moreover, considering that connectivity of the DMN was found to be altered and potentially detrimental for cognitive functioning in the SPMS phase, like in Experiment 3, additional analyses were carried out on the default mode and the salience networks to answer the following research question:

2) Is PS function in people with SPMS associated with functional connectivity of other malfunctioning brain networks mainly involved in cognitive processing?

Indeed, as the disease progresses it seems likely that widespread brain damage may impact negatively on the functional reorganization of the brain leading to failure in information integration across several networks. If this were the case, PS function would be expected to be associated with functional connectivity across a plurality of networks others than the fronto-parietal ones.

Finally, the visual and the sensorimotor networks were investigated to clarify the following issue:

3) Is performance on PS-demanding tests specifically dependent on functional connectivity of cognitive rather than perceptual and motor networks in people with SPMS?

This choice was made because, given the general exacerbation of neurological symptoms in SPMS, compared to RRMS, it cannot be ruled out that changes in information processing at levels other than those prominently cognitive may affect PS performance.

### 5.2.3. Results

### 5.2.3.1. Clinical and cognitive results

The clinical profile of the sample of patients, a subsample of those included in Experiment 2, is summarised in Table 5.5.

Variable	Mean	SD	Median	Minimum	Maximum	Patients with deficits
Clinical characteristics						
Age (years) Education (years) Duration (years) EDSS FSS TIV (ml) TLV (ml)	55.8 10.0 16.6 6.5 4.9 1659.0 22.9	11.0 2.6 8.0 1.1 1.2 179.1 18.4	56 9.5 15.5 7 4.7 1659.2 20.6	36 5 4.5 2.7 1341.3 1.2	70 13 30 8 7 2044.4 82.0	- - - - -
Cognitive tests						
PS <sub>CI</sub> Stroop speed TMT-A/DCT Phonemic fluency Semantic fluency	0.1 17.9 0.6 28.8 38.8	1.0 5.6 1.0 12.0 12.2	-0.2 16.7 -0.1 32 35.5	-1.1 10.5 -1.3 8 20	2.4 37.0 2.9 48 61	- 7 15 5 5

**Table 5.5** Clinical, cognitive and volumetric characteristics of the sample (n = 25)

DCT: Digit Cancellation Test, EDSS: Expanded Disability Status Scale, FSS: Fatigue Severity Scale, PS<sub>CI</sub>: Processing speed composite index, TIV: Total intracranial volume, TLV: Total lesion volume, TMT: Trail Making Test

### 5.2.3.2. Resting-state fMRI results

The analyses carried out on the  $PS_{CI}$  and the fluency tasks yielded, unexpectedly, only null results across all brain networks independently of their functional role: either prominently cognitive or sensory/motor.

Failure to detect any significant correlations prompted supplementary analysis on the  $PS_{cl}$  by disentangling two distinct components: verbal (Stroop speed) and visuospatial (TMT-A + Digit Cancellation Test). Parallel analyses were performed to investigate whether more basic PS measures than fluency tasks would be associated with functional connectivity of the expected networks differentially depending on the modality of information processing. The expectation, based on findings from Experiment 2, was that the verbal PS component would correlate more significantly than its visuo-spatial counterpart.

Indeed, as expected Stroop speed scores correlated negatively with connectivity of the left fronto-parietal network with the right inferior frontal gyrus (Table 5.6 and Figure 5.4). Additionally, verbal PS abilities emerged to be positively associated with functional connectivity of the anterior cingulate cortex in the salience network (Table 5.6 and Figure 5.4).

Cognitive variable	Cluster extent	r	Side	Brain region	<i>t</i> value	MNI <i>x</i>	coordii <i>y</i>	nates <i>z</i>	
	Left fronto-parietal network*								
Stroop speed	90	810	L	IFG (BA 47)	6.31	-36	22	-12	
			L	IFG (BA 47)	5.09	-36	22	-2	
	Salience network <sup>†</sup>								
	108	.784	L	ACC (BA 33)	4.95	-8	8	30	
				ACC (BA 24)	4.82	-4	12	30	

**Table 5.6** Correlations between performance on the Stroop speed index and functional connectivity of the left fronto-parietal and salience networks (p < .05 FWE)

\* negative correlation

<sup>†</sup> positive correlation

ACC: posterior cingulate cortex, BA: Brodmann area, IFG: inferior frontal gyrus, PASAT: Paced Auditory Serial Addition Test



**Figure 5.4** Correlations (negative in orange and positive in blue) between Stroop speed scores and functional connectivity of the left fronto-parietal and salience networks (p < .05 FWE)

### 5.2.4. Discussion

The results of this experiment showed that only one of the different PS measures investigated (the Stroop speed index) was significantly correlated with functional connectivity of the left fronto-parietal network as emerged also from analysis on the

RRMS cohort. However, differently from Experiment 3, slower performance on the Stroop test was associated with lower functional connectivity between this network and the left inferior frontal gyrus: an area associated with oral verbal production and semantic processing (Hagoort, 2005, Sowman et al., 2012). Moreover, these results appear compatible with those on the structural correlates of PS. Indeed, in Experiment 2 scores on the same test were shown to be associated with microstructural integrity levels of the inferior fronto-occipital fasciculus, a WM tract connecting the inferior frontal gyrus to occipital areas and found to be involved in semantic functions (Sarubbo et al., 2013).

The analyses carried out to answer the second research question revealed that also connectivity of the salience network with the rostral anterior cingulate cortex (part of the DMN) was associated with patients' PS abilities. In particular the stronger the association between these two networks the slower was cognitive performance. Interestingly, this finding has already been repeatedly observed in the literature on DMN alterations in SPMS (Basile et al., 2014, Rocca et al., 2010b). However, the analysis carried out in this experiment on the DMN maps showed no significant associations with PS performance. The interpretation of the discrepancy between this result and the findings of the studies reported above remains uncertain. Indeed, they both included the anterior cingulate as part of the DMN although this structure is considered a central hub of the salience network (Seeley et al., 2007). However, it cannot be ignored that brain networks are functionally associated with one another (Sridharan et al., 2008) and, hence, fast cognitive processing may be affected by between- rather than within-network disconnections, e.g. decoupling between the default mode and salience networks.

On the contrary, no involvement of motor or sensory networks was highlighted, thus showing how PS decline detected also in simple tasks may be attributed mainly to cognitive causes. Indeed, in Experiment 3 only scores obtained on the TMT, a test that relies on eye-hand coordination, were associated with connectivity of the sensorimotor network. Indeed, functional analyses showed no significant results for the index of visual PS replicating the results on structural connectivity. This may suggest that PS-dependent tests based on processing of verbal material might be more sensitive to neural disruption in later stages of MS.

However, the investigation of the fluency tasks failed to detect associations with functional connectivity of any of the investigated networks contrary to expectations based on the results of Experiment 2. First, a possible explanation may be found in the fact that the accumulation of structural damage is the main cause driving cognitive symptoms (Preziosa et al., 2017) and functional alterations in MS (Droby

et al., 2015b). Therefore, reorganization of functional brain architecture may occur in the early stages of the disease and contribute to support cognitive performance (Faivre et al., 2016). The increasing severity of brain insults may lead to the depletion of these adaptations and produce a drop in variance both in cognitive performance and functional connectivity that may, in turn, prevent the identification of associations between cognitive and neural variables. Second, it must be stressed that the relationship between static structural connectivity and dynamic functional connectivity appears not straightforward and our current understanding of it is still highly limited (Fjell et al., 2017, Tsang et al., 2017). Third, it cannot be ignored the fact that the limited sample size of this study (a subsample of all patients recruited for Experiment 2) may have negatively affected statistical power in the present study.

From these analyses the left fronto-parietal network seems to represent the main functional neural correlate of verbal PS abilities exhibited by people with SPMS in line with previous findings on structural connectivity. Nevertheless, functional differentiation between the DMN and the salience network emerged as a crucial aspect related to cognitive functioning in this clinical population.

### 5.3. General discussion

The results of the experiments reported in this chapter point towards a central role of the left fronto-parietal network in supporting performance on tests requiring fast information processing, e.g. the Stroop speed index. In fact, this network emerged consistently in the analyses carried out on two cohorts of patients affected by RRMS and SPMS and across tests characterised by PS demands. Yet the implications of its involvement may assume differential significance in distinct phases of the disease as suggested by the associations observed in the two studies: fast performers exhibited higher functional coupling between the left fronto-parietal network and the right posterior cingulate, in the RRMS group, and with the left inferior frontal gyrus in the SPMS group. Therefore, it may be argued that the left fronto-parietal network supports PS abilities by interacting with areas involved in allocation of attentional resources in early MS (Leech et al., 2011). As the disease and cognitive impairments progress, interactions with hubs involved in cognitive control of information processing become more important (Jefferies, 2013). However, a longitudinal assessment of both cognitive and neuroimaging features should be implemented to test this hypothesis.

Although this network is mainly thought to be involved in language-based processes, e.g. verbal working memory (Yamashita et al., 2015), it is likely to be engaged in various cognitive functions. Indeed, together with its counterpart in the right hemisphere it supports not only attentional, but also mnestic processes performed on different types of materials (Naghavi and Nyberg, 2005). Indeed, prefrontal and parietal areas comprise associative cortices with several connections across the brain concerned with integrating information and modulating other cortical activity. Interestingly, disruption of functional connectivity of this network has been associated with severity of cognitive fluctuations, i.e. spontaneous alterations in attention and arousal, observed in patients affected by dementia with Lewy bodies (Peraza et al., 2014).

Nevertheless, Cruz-Gomez et al. (2014) have previously highlighted alterations not only in the left but also in the right fronto-parietal network, as well as in the salience network, in patients with MS and cognitive impairments. Hence, decline is likely to be linked to functional neural correlates not confined to a single brain network. In fact, the salience network and, to much lesser extent, the DMN have emerged to be associated with performance on different PS-dependent tests in both experiments reported in this chapter. Indeed, the quick evaluation of stimuli salience may speed up responses to them. Moreover, it is worth noting that the salience network seems to overlap substantially with the so-called cingulo-opercular network (Muller et al., 2016) that is believed to maintain tonic alertness (Sadaghiani and D'Esposito, 2014) and thus potentially important to facilitate efficient information processing.

Convergent findings in these and previously published studies, both in MS and other pathologies, show how different networks may be involved in basic and complex attentional functions and their disruption may affect PS function. However, whether one of these networks has a specific and prominent role in fast cognitive processing over other networks cannot be clarified with these analyses.

What clearly emerges is the need to push investigations further in the attempt to overcome a series of limitations currently present in the literature. First, there is a strong need for more extensive characterisation of disease-stage-dependent alterations in functional neural networks in MS phenotypes and their involvement in manifestation of cognitive symptoms. Indeed, several studies have shown cognitive impairments due to MS are likely to be dependent on scattered disruptions in communications between brain areas beyond the most commonly studied DMN (Meijer et al., 2017, Nejad-Davarani et al., 2016, Rocca et al., 2018). Second, the use of multi-domain tests, that require integration of information across brain areas and networks in a fast way, may represent a fruitful strategy to contribute to the

assessment of cognitive status in people in different stages of MS. Third, the implementation of longitudinal studies may help a deeper understanding of the complex intertwined evolution of functional and structural connectivity changes due to MS pathology, as well as their relevance for cognition (Park and Friston, 2013).

The clarification of the above issues may significantly contribute not only to the understanding of the neural correlates of cognitive symptoms experienced by people affected by MS, but also to the identification of possible MRI markers to be employed in clinical trials. Indeed, it appears necessary to develop objective and reliable outcome measures to test the mechanisms of action and effectiveness of treatments to manage cognitive health in this clinical population.
# Chapter 6 | Cognitive rehabilitation to modulate cognitive performance and brain connectivity in people with RRMS

6.1. Experiment 5 – Application of a network-based cognitive rehabilitation programme in a sample of people with RRMS

#### 6.1.1. Introduction

In the past decades, as cognitive manifestations associated with MS became increasingly recognised, the management of these symptoms has captured attention of clinicians and researchers. DMTs and previously developed medications for treating MS have been only marginally effective (see Chapter 1). Non-pharmacological interventions targeted for cognition have been proposed more recently, but this kind of approach has not been always characterised by high quality, and often detailed descriptions of the form of intervention used have been lacking or insufficient (Mhizha-Murira et al., 2017).

The debate on whether cognitive rehabilitation might or might not be a viable strategy to improve cognitive performance in MS is still open. In general, findings appear inconsistent (Mitolo et al., 2015), though computerised training may have the potential to improve memory functions (Dardiotis et al., 2018). Beneficial effects seem to occur across a wider spectrum comprising patients' metacognitive abilities, awareness of disease status, and quality of life (Klein et al., 2017).

The best rehabilitative approach has yet to be defined and it is possible that individual differences and needs may guide the decision-making process. Most interventions which have been tested were individualised, but group-based cognitive rehabilitation was found to be effective in treating cognitive decline due to MS (Rilo et al., 2016). Another unsolved issue relates to the duration of the effects, if any exist. Studies that included follow-up assessments found that post-training improvements in performance on PS and verbal fluency tasks was maintained after six months (Stuifbergen et al., 2018) and even after two years (Mattioli et al., 2016) from completion of the treatment.

As already highlighted in Chapter 2, although PS deficits are commonly observed in patients with MS, to date only a handful of rehabilitative programmes have been specifically designed to train PS and working memory abilities (Hancock et al., 2015,

Hubacher et al., 2015, Vogt et al., 2009). As a result, findings appear only partially comparable across studies due to methodological differences and definite conclusions cannot be drawn. However, reappraising the literature reported in Chapter 2, that shows how a strong the relationship between PS and other cognitive functions is in both people with and without MS, it may be argued that rehabilitating the ability to perform cognitive operations quickly may induce generalised improvements. In fact, a recently published pilot study (Chiaravalloti et al., 2018) found that PS training can induce improvements not only in the pace of information processing, but also in verbal short term memory and timed instrumental activities of daily living.

Previous investigations on PS ability training have been mainly carried out on healthy subjects and used tasks tapping into visuospatial divided attention (Takeuchi et al., 2011). Hence, most studies found improvement in this function, as seen by means of pupillometry (Takeuchi and Kawashima, 2012). Additionally, PS training induced increases in self-reported measures of quality of life and timed instrumental activities of daily living. In a cohort of young adults, Takeuchi et al. (2011) found that rehabilitating basic PS abilities induced not only improvements in simple PS measures, but also in complex arithmetic tasks as well as PS-dependent intelligence measures. However, more recently it was noted that neither working memory nor PS training for healthy adults older than those recruited by Takeuchi et al. (2011) resulted in significant increases in any of the cognitive domains investigated, PS included (Lawlor-Savage and Goghari, 2016). On the other hand, Bayesian analysis of the effects of home-based working memory training seems to suggest the absence of transfer gains to other cognitive functions (De Simoni and von Bastian, 2018). These and other recent findings currently leave many questions related to cognitive rehabilitation still unanswered.

Another scarcely explored aspect resides in the inclusion of MRI outcome measures as part of the objective evaluation of the effects of non-pharmacological interventions for cognitive impairment due to MS. Although resting-state functional MRI has already been shown to provide reliable results in MS (Pinter et al., 2016), only a restricted set of studies can be tracked down in the literature that adopted such approach in combination with neuropsychological testing. Therefore, the use of advanced imaging, considered a promising tool to investigate treatments for MS, appears only marginally explored in its applications to cognition (Mahajan and Ontaneda, 2017).

Weak modulatory effects of rehabilitation targeting specifically episodic memory emerged in only two studies: Ernst et al. (2016) found training-induced increased

174

activity in fronto-temporal areas that did not survive statistical correction for multiple comparisons; in contrast, Huiskamp et al. (2016) noted no behavioural improvements but increased activation in the fronto-parietal network during performance of the n-back task for the experimental group, even though working memory was not trained. One poorly designed study, including only six participants in the training and four in the control group, investigated the effects of a rehabilitation programme based on Baddeley's working memory model (Hubacher et al., 2015). Qualitative comparisons across individual post-treatment brain changes showed increases in activation over fronto-parietal cortices while performing the n-back task only for one subject and decreases for another one. However, four out of six participants who underwent the training showed no changes in brain functioning different from those in the control group.

Most rehabilitative programmes combined exercises targeting different domains such as attention, executive functions and processing speed. In particular, the RehaCom package appears the most commonly used platform to deliver cognitive rehabilitation (www.schuhfried.at) (Bonavita et al., 2015, Cerasa et al., 2013, Filippi et al., 2012, Parisi et al., 2014a, Parisi et al., 2014b). Different MRI outcome measures have been included across studies, though only a couple explored structural changes. Filippi et al. (2012) investigated the effects of a twelve-week-long training on brain structure in a group of ten people with MS finding no volumetric or WM diffusivity changes. Similarly, Campbell et al. (2017a) found no significant rehabilitation-related changes using magnetic transfer imaging.

More variegated results emerged from analysis of brain activity either during task performance or at rest. However, in general it appears that brain activation in people affected by MS can be increased by cognitive exercises. In particular, post-treatment increases in activation during tasks of working memory were detected in the cerebellum (Cerasa et al., 2013, Sastre-Garriga et al., 2010) and parietal cortices (Campbell et al., 2017a, Cerasa et al., 2013). Stroop-induced brain activity has been found to be particularly enhanced in the posterior DMN and the left DLFPC (Filippi et al., 2012).

Furthermore, changes in resting-state brain architecture have been noted across various functional networks. Increases in functional connectivity of the posterior DMN were found in two studies (Bonavita et al., 2015, Filippi et al., 2012), aside a reduction in the correlation between this network and superior frontal areas (Bonavita et al., 2015). Similarly, the salience network appears to be modulated by cognitive rehabilitation, especially connectivity of the anterior cingulate cortex (Filippi et al., 2012, Parisi et al., 2014b). In fact, increased synchronicity between this area

and the right inferior parietal lobule has been found to sustain cognitive performance of people with MS two years after completion of treatment (Parisi et al., 2014a). Moreover, variations in functional connectivity have been observed across other cognitive, i.e. thalamic (De Giglio et al., 2016), frontal executive and cerebellar (Filippi et al., 2012, Pareto et al., 2018), as well as more perceptual networks, i.e. visual and auditory (Pareto et al., 2018). Although these publications appear to suggest that cognitive rehabilitation may induce neuroplastic changes in people with MS, the clinical significance of these results currently remains difficult to acknowledge fully. In fact, several criticisms shall be taken into account that may limit the generalisation of any interpretations. First of all, to date the number of studies that included MRI outcome measures is relatively small. Moreover, the rehabilitative approaches adopted have mainly been symptomatic (Ernst et al., 2016, Hubacher et al., 2015, Huiskamp et al., 2016) and in general devoid of any a priori hypotheses regarding the mechanisms of action. In addition, a range of methodological flaws can be highlighted: 1) all studies recruited small samples of patients and, therefore, current findings can be considered only limited (Cerasa et al., 2013, De Giglio et al., 2016, Ernst et al., 2016, Filippi et al., 2012, Hubacher et al., 2015, Huiskamp et al., 2016, Parisi et al., 2014a, Parisi et al., 2014b); 2) the choice of the control group does not always appear appropriate, e.g. people not affected by MS who did not undergo the same cognitive rehabilitation (Pareto et al., 2018, Sastre-Garriga et al., 2010); 3) in some cases results of MRI analyses appear weak as they did not survive correction for multiple comparisons, probably because of lack of statistical power (Ernst et al., 2016, Hubacher et al., 2015); 4) interaction analyses comparing neural changes between groups have not always been performed, favouring more qualitative analyses (Bonavita et al., 2015, Ernst et al., 2016, Hubacher et al., 2015); 5) in general no active control group has been included in the studies. Hence, current knowledge must be interpreted with caution and no clear conclusions can be drawn on whether cognitive rehabilitation yields consistent changes in people with MS.

In consideration of the shortcomings listed above, the aim of this study was to apply multi-modality MRI to test the effects of a hypothesis-based cognitive rehabilitation programme and to characterise associated neuroplastic changes in people affected by RRMS (Tomassini et al., 2012). Specifically, two research questions were investigated:

1) Does engaging in multidomain rehabilitative exercises developed to stimulate cross-network functional connectivity (De Marco et al., 2016) have an impact on neural reorganization and cognitive performance?

Since functional disconnection has been suggested to be the main mechanism underlying cognitive decline in MS (Schoonheim et al., 2015), counteracting this process was hipotesised to exert beneficial effects for patients.

2) Does engaging in multidomain rehabilitative exercises with high PS demands generate stronger and more generalised neurocognitive effects than in a condition with low PS demands?

Indeed, it has been shown that PS training for people with MS might generated cognitive improvements in untrained functions such as memory (Chiaravalloti et al., 2018).

# 6.1.2. Methods

# 6.1.2.1. Participants

Forty-eight patients affected by RRMS (Lublin and Reingold, 1996) who fulfilled the modified McDonald diagnostic criteria for RRMS (Polman et al., 2010) were recruited at the MS clinic at Sheffield Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (UK). Inclusion and exclusion criteria were the same as in Experiment 1 (Chapter 4). Pharmacological treatment had been stable for all patients over the whole year before recruitment: 22 were not receiving any DMTs, 11 were receiving interferone beta 1a, 7 natalizumab, 6 fingolimod, 1 glatiramer acetate and 1 dimethyl fumarate.

# 6.1.2.2. Procedure

Ethical approval was obtained from the Regional Ethics Committee of Yorkshire and Humber (Ref No: 12/YH/0474) (Appendix D). At the time of clinic visit, all participants who met the inclusion criteria and were willing to take part in the study were provided with written information material after a brief introduction on the study requirements (Appendix E) (Figure 6.1). One week later they were contacted via telephone to confirm their willingness to volunteer. A first appointment was booked during which participants gave written consent to take part in the study (Appendix F) and the full neuropsychological assessment was carried out. An MRI scanning session was carried out within three days from then neuropsychological assessment. Subsequently, from week 2 to week 5 patients were assigned without concealed allocation to either a non-active control group or to one of two treatment groups: standard cognitive rehabilitation programme or PS-loaded programme. The treatment started the week following the baseline assessment. Two patients dropped out after seven and eight sessions of cognitive rehabilitation respectively. Additionally, one patient from the control group was excluded after observing abnormally enlarged ventricles, thus leaving the total number of participants who completed the study to forty-five (fifteen in each group). Neuropsychological and MRI assessment were repeated the week following the end of the rehabilitation programme or after four weeks of usual care for participants in the control group.



Figure 6.1 Study design

# 6.1.2.3. Cognitive rehabilitation programme

Participants in the treatment groups received the intensive programme of cognitive rehabilitation over twenty sessions: five days a week for four consecutive weeks. Participants were allowed to catch up with any missed sessions at the end of the four weeks. Each treatment session lasted for about one hour and was performed under the supervision of a neuropsychologist. The non-active control group received no rehabilitation, but care as usual, e.g. DMTs, physiotherapy and engagement in activities of patient groups: all these activities involved different types of social contact but not with the researcher.

The rehabilitation programme was computer-based and comprised tasks specifically designed to target multiple cognitive domains by promoting the synchronous coactivation of multiple brain areas. The expectation was to counteract functional disconnection usually observed in several neurological conditions including MS. All tasks were administered through the E-Prime Software, Version 2.0 (Psychology Software Tools, Inc., Sharpsburg, PA). The program was not tailored to individual performance and the difficulty level was fixed across each of the experimental groups. In particular, the standard cognitive rehabilitation exercises were developed and adapted from previously used methodology (De Marco et al., 2016, De Marco et al., 2018) with four clusters according to the most prominent cognitive domain: PS/attention, working memory, semantic knowledge and logical reasoning.

Four tasks were designed to exercise PS and sustained attention abilities considered to be fundamentally affected by MS (Costa et al., 2017) and related to cognitive efficiency (Rypma et al., 2006) (Figure 6.2). Indeed, it has been reported that faster and more efficient individuals exhibit less activation in prefrontal regions and higher activations in parietal cortices (Rypma and Prabhakaran, 2009). Thus, the evidence from these studies shows how fronto-parietal interactions appear to be central for fast cognitive processing.

The tasks used were the following:

- Verbal simple reaction time: after an initial fixation cross was presented for 1000 ms and then a blue capital A was displayed at the centre of the computer screen for 150 ms. Participants were instructed to press the "0" key as fast as they could any time they saw the stimulus. One hundred and sixty stimuli were presented in two blocks of eighty each.
- *Visual simple reaction time*: this task is similar to the previous one, but the stimulus presented was a blue square (1 cm x 1 cm).
- Verbal choice reaction time: eighty blue capital As and eighty Bs were displayed at the centre of the computer screen for 150 ms and participants were instructed to press the "1" key as fast as they could in response to A and to press "2" in response to B. One hundred and sixty stimuli were presented in two blocks of eighty each.
- Visual choice reaction time: this task is equivalent to the previous one but stimuli presented comprised either red or blue squares (same as in the simple reaction time task). The "1" key was to be pressed in response to red squares while "2" in response to the blue ones.



**Figure 6.2** PS and sustained attention tasks: A. simple visual reaction time; B. choice visual reaction time; C. simple verbal reaction time; D. choice verbal reaction time

For all these tasks an interstimulus interval of 10 seconds was set in order to allow participants to respond to each stimulus. However, the delivery of a new stimulus was triggered by each response.

Four tasks were aimed to exercise mainly semantic retrieval and control mechanisms that are widely accepted to be reliant on a network of associative areas scattered across temporal, frontal and parietal lobes bilaterally (Binder et al., 2009, Jefferies, 2013, Patterson et al., 2007). Nevertheless, the abovementioned semantic processes served as a scaffolding to develop integrated tasks that required working memory and inhibitory processes on both verbal and visual stimuli. Indeed, deficits in such functions have been extensively documented in MS (Henry and Beatty, 2006). Therefore, it is assumed that exchange and integration of information across multiple cerebral networks, prominently involved in cognitive computations rather than motor or sensory abilities, is heightened by engaging with these tasks that may favour functional connectivity changes. A description of the semantic tasks used is provided and shown in Figure 6.3:

- Change calculation: first a fixation cross was presented for 1000 ms followed by the image of a banknote (£5, £10, £20 or £50) or a £2 coin to remember was displayed on the computer screen for 5000 ms. Then the images of four different items were presented for 5000 ms and participants had to scan through them to detect the only item that could be bought with the amount of money previously presented. Finally, a list of four amounts of money were presented and the participants had to choose (by pressing the key of the corresponding number 1 to 4) which one represented the change he/she would receive after paying for the affordable item with the note/coin originally presented. Seven consecutive trials were presented in each session.
- Lexical odd one out: a fixation cross was presented for 1000 ms at first and then the ending of a word was displayed 5000 ms, followed by a list of four possible word beginnings only three of which could make a word if completed with the previously given ending. The participants had to report the number associated with the only resulting non-word by pressing the relative key (1 to 4). Eight consecutive trials were presented in each session.
- Semantic odd one out: after a fixation cross lasting 1000 ms four words were displayed simultaneously, three of which belonged to one semantic category. Participants were instructed to find the only word which did not fit the target category. However, one of the other three words represented a distractor being semantically related to the odd one. Ten consecutive trials were presented in each session.
- Semantic inhibition: in each trial (four in total) after a fixation cross displayed for 1000 ms, a sentence was presented with no time limit to allow the participants to read it carefully and memorise it. As instructed, when they felt ready they had to press the space bar to show four images on the screen: three of them semantically related to the sentence and one not. The aim was to report the latter.



Figure 6.3 Lexical-semantic tasks: A. change calculation; B. lexical odd one out; C. semantic odd one out; D. semantic inhibition

Similarly, logical reasoning tasks were created based on semantic material that could train higher order cognitive functioning on both verbal and visual material (Figure 6.4). Indeed, complex and sequential cognitive computations are performed during exercises of deductive reasoning, namely material exploration, evidence gathering and information integration (Fangmeier et al., 2006). Therefore, different brain networks are thought to be stimulated with this type of exercises:

 Verbal sequence completion: after an initial presentation of a fixation cross (1000 ms), a set of different words was displayed in each trial (five in total) with two on the left side of the screen being connected by an arrow and related to one another. In the middle of the screen a word only was present with an arrow and a blank space for a word to be picked from two options on the right side of the screen so that the same relationship of the first couple is reproduced. However, both options were semantically related to the words in the middle of the screen, so that inhibitory processes had to be used in order to detect the most relevant one in the given context.

- *Visual sequence completion*: this test is similar to the previous one apart from the fact that images were presented instead of words.
- Sentence completion: after an initial presentation of a fixation cross (1000 ms), a sentence was presented on the screen with a missing word and four options below it, two of which semantically related to the sentence. The participants had to select the most appropriate word to obtain semantically correct sentences (five trials in total).
- Scene completion: in five consecutive trials an array of five images, one in the middle and four smaller ones at the corners of the computer screen. The participants were instructed to select the image most logically/semantically associated with the target one in the middle.



**Figure 6.4** Reasoning tasks: A. verbal sequence completion; B. visual sequence completion; C. sentence completion; D. scene completion

The PS-loaded programme included exactly the same exercises of the standard one. However, all tasks but those based on reaction times were modified by setting a maximum amount of time to respond to each trial. The allocated time in each individual task was equivalent to median reaction time obtained with a pilot study conducted in the preliminary phase of the study. Seven additional people with RRMS were recruited from the same clinic to ensure that at least 80% of the responses in each task were correct. Moreover, from session 6 on (throughout weeks 2, 3 and 4) the maximum response time allocated to each task was progressively decreased of 100 ms in each session. The aim was to gradually exercise participants' PS ability, in light of its prominent role played in cognitive functioning of people with MS, and to test whether this strategy could produce stronger effects than the standard rehabilitation approach.

#### 6.1.2.4. Neuropsychological assessment

A comprehensive battery of tests and questionnaires was used to evaluate different aspects of cognitive functioning of all participants at baseline and after either completion of the rehabilitation sessions or four weeks of usual care.

Global cognitive functioning was assessed by means of the common MMSE (Folstein et al., 1975) and only patients with a score  $\geq$  24 were recruited as previously mentioned. The definition of this threshold allowed the inclusion of people with just mild cognitive impairment. Indeed, severely compromised cognitive function may affect the ability of participants to engage effectively in the rehabilitation tasks and, in turn, the possibility of gaining benefits from them.

Verbal memory was extensively assessed using several tests:

- the PASAT (Gronwall, 1977): procedure was describe in Chapter 2, two interstimulus intervals of 3 sec and 2 sec were used;
- the Digit Span Test (Wechsler, 2008): a series of digits are verbally presented to the participant that has to report them either in the same order (forward condition to assess verbal short term memory capacity) or reverse (backward condition to assess verbal working memory capacity). First two digits are presented and as the participants report them correctly the amount of digits is increased of a unit at a time till two consecutive errors are made. Two alternative lists were used and counterbalanced between baseline and posttreatment assessments;
- the Logical Memory Test (Wechsler, 2008): a brief story is verbally presented to the participant and he/she is instructed to report all the details that they could remember immediately after. The story is read a second time and recall is requested after a ten minute delay during which the participant is engaged in other tasks not tapping memory or verbal processes to test long term episodic memory for organised verbal material (the maximum score is 25);

- the Buschke Selective Reminding Test (Buschke, 1973): this test assesses learning of verbal material by presenting a list of twelve words to the participants and asking them to report as many words as they can. This is repeated for twelve times, but from the second trial on only the words that have not been mentioned in the previous trial are read. Yet participants have to aim to report all of the twelve words (the maximum score is 144). Moreover, after a 30 minute delay spent on other tasks the participants are asked to freely recall the list again;
- the Phonemic and Semantic fluency tasks (Lezak, 2004): to assess lexical knowledge and semantic memory retrieval as explained in Chapter 2.
- the Corsi Block-Tapping Test (Corsi, 1972): this test is used to assess visuo-spatial memory in two conditions by using a tray with nine cubes on it. First, similarly to the Digit Span Test, the examiner points at some cubes (starting with two) and asks the participant to point at these cubes in the same order. The amount of cubes is gradually increased until the participant makes two consecutive errors: the final score is considered a measure of visuo-spatial short term memory capacity (span). Two alternative lists were used and counterbalanced between baseline and post-treatment assessments. Second, the examiner points at a sequence of eight cubes and the participant is asked to reproduce it (supraspan conditions). Eighteen trials are available to this aim and the sequence is repeated by the examiner before each attempt. However, the test stops if the participant reproduces the sequence correctly for three times consecutively. This condition evaluates visuo-spatial learning abilities (the maximum score is 29.16);
- the Rey-Osterreith Complex Figure Test (Osterreith, 1944): in order to asses visuo-constructive abilities, the participant is provided with a complex figure to copy. After a ten minute delay, filled with other non-visuo-spatial tasks, the participant is asked to recall the figure to evaluate visual long term memory (the maximum score is 36).

A selection of tests of attention and PS were included to ascertain performance on these domains, which are consistently reported as affected by MS pathology:

- the Digit Cancellation Test (Spinnler and Tognoni, 1987): this is a visual search task that allows the evaluation of selective visual attention as described in Chapter 2;
- the TMT part A (Armitage, 1946): this test allows the evaluation of both visuospatial attentional and PS abilities (see Chapter 2 for description);

- the Stroop speed index (Stroop, 1935): calculated as the average of the completion time of the first two trials of the Stroop test (see Chapter 2), this index provides a measure of PS for automatic responses;
- the DSCT (Wechsler, 2008): test of visual PS extensively used in MS described in Chapter 2.

Moreover, executive functions were assessed by means of some of the abovementioned tests, namely:

- the TMT (Armitage, 1946): the difference in completion time between part B and part A gives an index of task-switching executive abilities;
- the Stroop inhibition index (Venneri et al., 1993): the difference between the completion time of the third trial of the Stroop test and the Stroop speed index is thought to measure the ability to inhibit automatic responses efficiently and provides a measure of executive inhibitory control.

Finally, participants were additionally asked to fill in four questionnaires to selfassess a range of different symptoms associated with MS as well as perceived levels of quality of life:

- the MFIS (Fisk et al., 1994a): this scale is used to ascertain the severity of fatigue, the most common symptom experienced by people with MS;
- the PHQ-9 (Spitzer et al., 1999): this short questionnaire gives information about depressive symptoms in patients;
- the 7-item Generalised Anxiety Disorder (GAD-7) scale (Spitzer et al., 2006): a common questionnaire used to evaluate symptoms related to anxiety;
- the Multiple Sclerosis Quality of Life (MSQoL-54) Instrument (Vickrey et al., 1995): a 54-item questionnaire developed specifically to investigate the impact of MS on quality of life, both physical and mental.

Motor performance was assessed for patients in the active groups by comparing simple and choice reaction times (average of visual and verbal) from the first and last sessions of the programme. Only correct trials were considered.

# 6.1.2.5. MRI acquisition

A comprehensive MRI scanning session was performed at baseline and posttreatment. The acquisition protocol included T1-weighted, T2-weighted FLAIR, DTI and T2\*-weighted resting-state functional MRI scans. Acquisition parameters were previously described in Experiment 1 (Chapter 4) and Experiment 3 (Chapter 5).

#### 6.1.2.6. MRI preprocessing

Structural and DTI images were preprocessed following the procedure already explained in Experiment 1. Resting-state functional MRI scans were preprocessed as described in Experiment 3. In particular, three specific pairwise ICAs were run on resting-state scans to extract functional networks to be fed into subsequent analyses.

#### 6.1.2.7. Statistical analysis

All demographic, clinical, cognitive and self-reported characteristics of the sample underwent a first inspection to check the normality of distribution within each of the three groups. Moreover, homogeneity of variance across groups was assessed for each variable by means of the Leven's test. Therefore, possible differences across the three treatment groups in demographic and clinical variables, normally or not normally distributed, were investigated respectively using analysis of variance (ANOVA) and Kruskal-Wallis test. Subsequently, analysis of covariance was used to check for differences in cognitive performance controlling for demographic/clinical variables that resulted significantly different across groups. Given the high amount of cognitive and self-reported measures (twenty-six in total) results were statistically corrected for multiple comparisons by applying the Bonferroni correction to the significance threshold that was set at p < .002 (.05/26 = .002). Independent sample t-test was used to compare reaction time measures between the two active groups.

Similarly, baseline DTI and resting-state preprocessed scans were compared across the three groups to ascertain whether there were any differences either in WM microstructural integrity or functional network connectivity at the stage of recruitment.

The aim of assessing the effects of the cognitive rehabilitation programmes on cognitive functioning, structural and functional connectivity was pursued by means of three repeated measures models. These models were created to test for interaction effects between two two-level factors, namely *time*, as a within-group factor, and *treatment group*, as a between-group factor. In particular, two groups at a time were investigated: 1) Standard programme vs Control, to test the effects of the multidomain cognitive exercises (to answer research question 1); 2) PS-loaded programme vs Control, to test the effects of PS-demanding multidomain cognitive

exercises; 3) Standard programme vs PS-loaded programme, to test directly whether engaging in rehabilitative exercises with high PS demands can exert stronger effects than the condition with low PS demands (to answer research question 2). This choice was made not to reduce the degrees of freedom in the analysis, in consideration of the limited sample size of the recruited groups. For the cognitive outcome measures the same corrected significance threshold p < .002 was used, while for DTI and resting-state analysis the same thresholds (set level uncorrected and cluster FWE-corrected) as already described in Experiment 1 and Experiment 3 were adopted. Partial  $\eta^2$  was calculated to quantify the effect size of cognitive changes observed. Additionally, paired t-test was used to assess within group changes in cognitive performance.

# 6.1.3. Results

#### 6.1.3.1. Cognitive results

Analyses carried out on demographic and clinical characteristics of the participants revealed that only educational levels significantly differed across groups (Table 6.1). In particular, Dunn's pairwise tests showed that patients allocated to the control group had significantly fewer years of education than those in the PS-loaded group (test statistics = -15.27, p = .004 adjusted with Bonferroni correction), but not than those in the Standard treatment group. For this reason education was included as a covariate in subsequent analysis.

Characteristic	Standard programme (N = 15)	PS-loaded programme (N = 15)	Control (N = 15)	F	р
Demographic					
Age (years)	45.40 (10.55)	45.73 (8.61)	42.73 (7.27)	.51	.604
Age at onset (years)	36.80 (9.92)	37.13 (8.40)	32.73 (6.86)	1.25	.297
Education (years)	14.07 (2.63)	16.47 (3.5)	12.67 (1.88)	10.68*	.005
Clinical					
Disease duration (years)	8.60 (5.38)	8.60 (7.05)	10.00 (7.40)	.31*	.856
Relapses (n. in last 12m)	0.13 (0.35)	0.60 (1.06)	0.27 (0.59)	3.09*	.213
EDSS	3.23 (1.83)	2.87 (0.90)	4.14 (1.38)	2.83	.070
TIV (ml)	1511.81	1452.25	1497.02	.63*	.729
	(150.95)	(196.25)	(244.79)		
TLV (ml)	11.96 (16.60)	9.28 (10.70)	10.19 (12.36)	.36*	.837

Table 6.1 Clinical and demographic characteristics of the sample

\* Kruskal-Wallis test

EDSS: Expanded Disability Severity Scale, TIV: total intracranial volume, TLV: total lesion volume

No differences across groups on cognitive or self-reported variables were observed after applying Bonferroni correction to the analysis of covariance (Table 6.2).

Characteristic	Standard programme (N = 15)	PS-loaded programme (N = 15)	Control (N = 15)	F	р
Global cognitive status					
MMSE	28.80 (1.26)	28.67 (1.88)	28.47 (1.19)	1.12	.335
Verbal working memory					
PASAT 3" PASAT 2" Digit Span - forward	35.93 (17.79) 21.40 (14.98) 6.00 (0.84)	36.87 (19.90) 23.73 (12.90) 6.47 (1.68)	39.53 (14.41) 23.40 (15.51) 6.33 (0.98) 4.73 (1.10)	1.25 .67 1.13	.299 .517 .334 280
Verbal long term memory	4.03 (1.00)	4.95 (1.55)	4.73 (1.10)	.99	.500
LMT - immediate recall LMT - delayed recall BSRT - total	13.40 (3.52) 14.87 (3.89) 90.33 (17.43)	13.93 (3.90) 17.13 (3.54) 100.93 (13.20)	12.73 (3.26) 15.00 (2.90) 102.33 (15.87)	.37 1.21 2.31	.861 .324 .063
BSRT - delayed recall Phonemic fluency Semantic fluency	8.13 (2.53) 28.40 (9.17) 43.73 (9.47)	6.80 (2.76) 38.93 (9.58) 52.87 (9.22)	(13.87) 7.47 (2.56) 32.07 (9.14) 43.47 (9.65)	.98 .17 3.56	.439 .844 .038
Visuo-spatial memory					
Corsi test - span Corsi test - supraspan Rey Figure - copy Rey Figure - delayed recall	4.87 (1.19) 25.00 (3.82) 34.80 (1.37) 14.53 (4.26)	4.73 (1.22) 25.64 (3.46) 33.47 (2.53) 18.27 (6.38)	4.93 (1.16) 26.11 (2.68) 34.80 (1.37) 18.16 (3.77)	.25 .81 .83 1.08	.782 .451 .444 .348
PS/visuo-spatial attention					
Digit Cancellation test TMT-A (sec) Stroop speed (sec) DSCT	50.87 (7.38) 44.33 (14.45) 17.83 (3.87) 62.20 (16.56)	52.00 (6.00) 36.00 (9.88) 17.53 (2.65) 62.60 (13.24)	54.27 (4.83) 36.47 (16.91) 16.33 (3.07) 64.20 (16.87)	.56 1.18 .43 .05	.577 .316 .824 .998
Executive functions	( )	( - )			
Stroop inhibition (sec) TMT B-A (sec)	16.27 (8.63) 43.87 (24.03)	16.10 (5.99) 45.73 (27.61)	15.40 (7.62) 36.53 (21.07)	1.04 .31	.363 .736
Self-reported measures					
MFIS PHQ-9 GAD-7 MSQoL-54 - Physical MSQoL-54 - Mental	43.53 (16.34) 8.93 (5.65) 6.87 (6.08) 51.68 (20.25) 58.64 (17.52)	53.07 (16.34) 10.87 (5.79) 6.13 (4.53) 44.81 (16.63) 53.38 (18.83)	48.47 (17.10) 8.40 (3.60) 7.20 (5.06) 52.02 (19.79) 64.53 (19.79)	.74 .37 .31 .46 1.21	.597 .856 .903 .806 .325
Motor performance	. ,	. ,	. ,		
Simple reaction times* Choice reaction times*	149.28 (41.04) 374.39 (61.68)	182.10 (51.32) 401.04 (78.17)		1.91 1.02	.067 .315

**Table 6.2** Baseline cognitive and self-reported characteristics of the sample

-

BSRT: Buschke Selective Reminding Test, DSCT: Digit Symbol Coding Test, GAD-7: 7-item Generalised Anxiety Disorder, LMT: Logical Memory Test, MFIS: Modified Fatigue Impact Scale, MMSE: Mini Mental State Examination, MSQoL-54: 54-item Multiple Sclerosis Quality of Life; PASAT: Paced Auditory Serial Addition Test, PHQ-9: 9-item Patient Health Questionnaire, TMT: Trail Making Test

\* Independent sample t-test

A trend towards a significant difference, however, was noted for the semantic fluency test. Post-treatment data and within-group changes are shown in Table 6.3.

Characteristic	Standard programme (N = 15)	t	PS-loaded programme (N = 15)	t	Control (N = 15)	t
Global cognitive	status					
MMSE	29.33 (1.05)	-1.95	29.27 (1.83)	.69	28.73 (1.03)	74
Verbal working m	nemory					
PASAT 3" PASAT 2" DS - F DS - B	41.87 (16.35) 26.93 (16.00) 6.60 (0.99) 4.93 (1.49)	-3.02 <b>-3.87</b> -2.81 -2.75	39.80 (16.33) 26.40 (14.96) 6.53 (1.19) 5.27 (1.33)	-1.39 -1.26 19 .00	43.07 (13.90) 28.33 (15.83) 6.07 (0.70) 4.60 (0.91)	-1.84 -2.00 1.29 .49
Verbal long term	memory					
LMT - IR LMT - DR BSRT - total BSRT - DR PF SF	14.27 (3.61) 17.73 (3.08) 115.80 (12.76) 8.93 (2.37) 38.80 (10.53) 55.93 (13.91)	-1.12 -4.16 -8.96 -4.78 -9.25 -6.19	13.73 (4.46) 16.33 (4.27) 110.60 (15.44) 8.73 (2.55) 43.73 (12.03) 55.73 (8.78)	.28 .68 <b>-3.72</b> -1.35 -2.17 -1.30	11.40 (3.68) 14.20 (5.28) 107.73 (15.37) 8.13 (2.26) 36.87 (10.49) 44.67 (8.68)	1.86 .84 -1.56 -1.72 <b>-4.00</b> 94
Visuo-spatial me	mory		· · · · ·		· · · · ·	
Corsi test - spar Corsi test - SU RF - copy RF - DR	5.47 (1.24) 27.04 (1.94) 35.00 (1.00) 22.47 (4.94)	-2.95 -2.08 54 <b>-8.03</b>	5.00 (1.36) 25.76 (3.66) 34.20 (2.31) 18.80 (6.90)	-0.81 95 95 33	5.40 (0.91) 27.50 (1.42) 34.93 (1.03) 22.20 (5.17)	-1.70 -1.77 40 -3.50
PS/visuo-spatial	attention		(		( )	
DCT TMT-A (sec) SS (sec) DSCT	55.07 (5.24) 35.67 (14.36) 15.50 (2.72) 69.07 (16.92)	-2.69 <b>3.87</b> 3.11 -2.88	54.47 (5.89) 33.67 (9.55) 16.63 (3.12) 67.00 (15.29)	<b>-4.24</b> 1.09 2.34 -2.84	54.47 (5.36) 34.00 (13.89) 17.13 (3.80) 70.87 (21.75)	13 1.03 -1.09 -2.97
Executive functio	ns		, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,		х <i>у</i>	
SI (sec) TMT B-A (sec)	12.10 (5.46) 35.53 (23.48)	2.44 1.91	14.97 (5.47) 39.87 (19.82)	.74 .82	13.87 (4.68) 29.60 (12.45)	1.34 1.14
Self-reported me	asures					
MFIS PHQ-9 GAD-7 MSQoL-54 - P MSQoL-54 - M	32.40 (15.98) 6.53 (3.96) 4.33 (3.31) 61.80 (21.21) 66.58 (19.87)	3.65 2.33 1.83 -3.40 -1.28	44.93 (17.64) 8.60 (5.34) 5.87 (5.07) 44.45 (17.81) 56.03 (24.42)	2.42 2.91 1.71 .14 -2.14	49.07 (18.10) 8.73 (4.03) 5.27 (3.86) 50.38 (22.08) 59.30 (19.28)	20 38 1.34 .82 1.49
Motor performan	се		. ,		. ,	
SRT CRT	151.74 (41.04) 333.63 (60.73)	29 2.10	187.67 (47.93) 379.79 (93.23)	34 1.00		

**Table 6.3** Cognitive and self-reported characteristics of the sample after completion of the interventionand paired t-test showing within-group changes (in bold t-tests surviving Bonferroni correction p < .002)

BSRT: Buschke Selective Reminding Test, CRT: Choice reaction time, DCT: Digit Cancellation Test, DR: Delayed recall, DS: Digit Span (B: backward, F: forward), DSCT: Digit Symbol Coding Test, GAD-7: 7-item Generalised Anxiety Disorder, IR: Immediate recall, LMT: Logical Memory Test, MFIS: Modified Fatigue Impact Scale, MMSE: Mini Mental State Examination, MSQoL-54: 54-item Multiple Sclerosis Quality of Life (P: physical, M: mental); PASAT: Paced Auditory Serial Addition Test, PF: Phonemic fluency, PHQ-9: 9-item Patient Health Questionnaire, RF: Rey Figure, SF: Semantic fluency, SI: Stroop inhibition, SRT: Simple reaction time, SS: Stroop Speed, SU: supraspan, TMT: Trail Making Test

The standard programme induced the strongest within-group effects, especially in memory. Pairwise repeated measures models were used to investigate differential effects of the rehabilitation programmes on cognitive performance (Table 6.4).

Characteristic	Standard vs PS-loaded Control Control		aded vs ntrol	d vs Standard vs PS ol Ioaded		
	F	р	F	р	F	р
Global cognitive status						
MMSE	1.42	.243	.15	.700	.60	.445
Verbal working memory						
PASAT 3"	.30	.587	.92	.347	2.87	.102
PASAT 2" Digit Span forward	.35	.558	2.43	.130	2.36	.136
Digit Span – backward	6.35	.010	.28	.599	1.98	.233
Verbal long term memory						
LMT - immediate recall	3.13	.088	.81	.377	1.34	.256
LMT - delayed recall	9.40	.005	.01	.918	4.78	.038
BSRT - total recall	19.21	< .001	2.34	.138	12.22	.002
BSRT - delayed recall	8.88	.006	.23	.637	3.77	.063
Semantic fluency	9.42 18.96	.005 <.001	.54	.409 820	2.90 13.03	.100 . <b>001</b>
Visuo-spatial memory						
Corsi test - span	.27	.608	.22	.642	3.94	.057
Corsi test - supraspan	.09	.769	1.64	.211	1.76	.196
Rey Figure - copy	.05	.824	.29	.594	.01	.930
Rey Figure - delayed recall	6.69	.015	1.64	.212	< .01	.988
PS/visuo-spatial attention						
Digit Cancellation test	3.00	.095	2.40	.133	.27	.605
IMIT-A (SEC) Stroop speed (sec)	3.55 6 30	.071	1.31	.262	2.30	.141 //28
DSCT	.03	.860	.15	.704	.60	.446
Executive functions						
Stroop inhibition (sec)	3.90	.059	.10	.758	.79	.381
TMT B-A (sec)	.28	.602	.02	.894	.17	.686
Self-reported measures						
MFIS	5.30	.029	1.55	.224	1.32	.261
PHQ-9	4.42	.045	3.79	.062	< .01	.987
GAD-7 MSOol -54 - Physical	.03	.860	.02 17	.894 679	.21 4.74	.047
MSQoL-54 - Mental	4.97	.034	2.04	.164	.01	.914
Motor performance						
Simple reaction times					.04	.844
Choice reaction times					1.46	.238

**Table 6.4** Cognitive changes resulting from the three group-by-time  $(2 \times 2)$  repeated measures models (in bold: tests surviving Bonferroni correction p < .002)

BSRT: Buschke Selective Reminding Test, DSCT: Digit Symbol Coding Test, LMT: Logical Memory Test, MFIS: Modified Fatigue Impact Scale, MMSE: Mini Mental State Examination, MSQoL-54: 54-item Multiple Sclerosis Quality of Life; PASAT: Paced Auditory Serial Addition Test, PHQ-9: 9-item Patient Health Questionnaire, TIV: total intracranial volume, TLV: total lesion volume, TMT: Trail Making Test

These models showed significant interactions between treatments and time. In particular, the Standard programme induced significantly stronger improvements than usual care on two measures of verbal memory: total recall on the Buschke Selective Reminding Test (Figure 6.5) and the semantic fluency test (Figure 6.6). The effect size resulted high for both tests as shown by a partial  $\eta^2$  index of .42 and .41 respectively.







**Figure 6.6** Changes in the total number of items reported on the semantic fluency test in the Standard programme and Control groups

Additionally, some improvement (approaching significance threshold) in physical quality of life was seen post-treatment compared to the control group. No significant interactions emerged from the contrast between the PS-loaded programme and the

control groups, even before applying the Bonferroni correction. Hence, these quantitative results show that this version of the treatment appears not to influence cognitive performance differently from usual care. Finally, the direct contrast between the two active groups showed results coherent with those reported above. In fact, participants who underwent the Standard programme showed an increase in cognitive performance significantly higher than that observed in those who underwent the PS-loaded programme exactly on the same tests as found in the first contrast (Table 6.4), i.e. the total recall on the Buschke Selective Reminding Test (Figure 6.7) and the semantic fluency test (Figure 6.8). The effect size for both tests resulted moderately high with observed partial  $\eta^2$  values of .31 and .33 respectively.



**Figure 6.7** Changes in the total number of items reported on the Buschke Selective Reminding Test in the active treatment groups



**Figure 6.8** Changes in the total number of items reported on the semantic fluency test in the active treatment groups

#### 6.1.3.2. Structural connectivity results

Analysis carried out on DTI scans at baseline highlighted no differences in FA between any of the groups. Similarly, no longitudinal intervention-related FA changes were detected in any of the three mixed models.

# 6.1.3.3. Functional connectivity results

Interaction analyses highlighted a significant modulation of functional connectivity only in the salience network when comparing the Standard programme group with both of the other patient groups. These changes, however, were observed in different directions (both increases and decreases) within various brain areas (Table 6.5). In particular, patients undergoing the Standard programme showed a decrease in functional connectivity in the anterior cingulate. This decrease was significantly higher than that observed in those patients who did not engage in cognitive rehabilitation (Figure 6.9). In the comparison between the Standard and the PS-loaded programmes the Standard group experienced decreased connectivity in the left putamen and thalamus, but increased in temporo-occipital areas (Figure 6.10). No significant changes were detected for any of the other functional networks included in the analysis.

FC	Cluster	Sido	Brain ragion	tvoluo	MNI	coordii	nates
changes	extent	Side	Brain region	i value	X	У	Ζ
			Standard vs Control				
Decrease	110	R	Anterior cingulate (BA 24)	4.90	20	-6	42
		R	Anterior cingulate (BA 24)	4.81	12	-2	40
		R	Anterior cingulate (BA 32)	4.03	18	6	42
			Standard vs PS-load				
Decrease	119	L	Putamen	5.30	-28	-22	-2
		L	Thalamus	3.81	-16	-16	-2
Increase	160	R	Fusiform gyrus (BA 19)	4.79	36	-70	-18
		R	Fusiform gyrus (BA 37)	4.37	34	-58	-24
		R	Middle occipital gyrus (BA 18)	4.06	30	-82	-12

**Table 6.5** Significant changes in functional connectivity of the salience network resulting from the mixed repeated measures models (p < .05 FWE)

BA: Brodmann area



Figure 6.9 Decreases in functional connectivity of the salience network: Standard programme vs Control (p < .05 FWE)



**Figure 6.10** Decreases (red) and increases (blue) in functional connectivity of the salience network: Standard programme vs PS-loaded programme (p < .05 FWE)

# 6.1.3.4. Supplementary results

After observing parallel significant interactions in cognitive and resting-state functional connectivity in the comparison between the Standard treatment and both the Control and PS-loaded programme groups, associations between measures of cognition and connectivity were tested for the group that showed cognitive improvements. Two approaches were adopted: a region-of-interest analysis and a subtraction-map analysis.

The first type of analysis was performed by saving in SPM the three clusters where significant changes in functional connectivity occurred (Table 6.5) as regions of interest. The average resting-state signal within each region was then extracted from both baseline and post-treatment maps of the salience network by means of MarsBaR (Brett et al., 2002). Subsequently, treatment-induced changes in connectivity as well as in clinical measures scores (Buschke Selective Reminding Test, semantic fluency and physical quality) were calculated by subtracting baseline from post-treatment values. Finally, correlations between cognitive/quality of life and functional connectivity difference scores were investigated.

The second approach required the calculation of subtraction maps by means of the SPM function ImCalc: baseline salience network maps were subtracted, for each individual who underwent the Standard cognitive rehabilitation, from the post-treatment ones. In a second step, regression models were run in SPM to investigate the association between difference scores on measures of cognition/quality of life and the subtraction maps.

Either approaches failed to highlight any significant associations between improvements in cognition or physical quality of life and changes in functional connectivity in the salience network.

Finally, given the findings of an association between cognitive performance and functional connectivity of the DMN and the left fronto-parietal network reported in the previous chapter, a decision was made to replicate the latter analysis (subtraction maps) to investigate the potential role of these networks in supporting cognitive improvements. Indeed, the increase in performance on the semantic fluency task was positively associated with greater functional connectivity of the left hippocampus within the DMN (FWE-corrected p < .05) (Table 6.6 and Figure 6.11).

Table	6.6	Positive	associations	between	changes	in	functional	connectivity	of	the	DMN	and
improv	emer	nts on the	semantic flue	ncy task fo	or the Star	Idar	d rehabilita	tion group (p ·	<.05	5 FW	E)	

Cluster extent	Sido	Proin region	tvoluo	MN	coordin	ates
	ister exterit. Side Brain region	i value	X	У	Ζ	
81	L	Hippocampus Hippocampus	9.05 6.90	-32 -28	-30 -26	-12 -12



**Figure 6.11** Positive associations between improvement on the semantic fluency task and increased functional connectivity of the DMN in the Standard rehabilitation group (p < .05 FWE)

# 6.1.4. Discussion

### 6.1.4.1. Cognition

The results of the study presented in this chapter appear in line with the idea that using tasks fostering integration of information supported by multiple brain networks may be a viable strategy to improve cognition in people with RRMS. In fact, the multi-domain rehabilitation exercises that patients underwent involved the synchronous engagement of various functions across a range including: PS, sustained attention, working and short-term memory, learning, lexical-semantic processing, inhibitory abilities and logical reasoning. The intensive pace of the standard programme aimed at stimulating the coordination of the neural systems supporting these functions resulted in improvements, compared to controls, especially in semantic processing (semantic fluency) and verbal long-term memory functions (Buschke Selective Reminding Tests). Effects on these functions have been observed in some previous studies (Bonavita et al., 2015, Filippi et al., 2012, Rilo et al., 2016). However, high variability across findings and even lack of effects (Campbell et al., 2017a) can be traced in the literature. Moreover, it is worth noting that most of the published studies have adopted a symptomatic approach and no transfer effects were in general found. Indeed, only Chiaravalloti et al. (2018) recently showed how PS training may positively influence memory functioning.

In this study post-treatment improvements were observed in verbal long term memory. This function is often impaired in MS, perhaps because of a combination of retrieval and encoding deficits (Lafosse et al., 2013). Although memory was not specifically targeted by the exercises, beneficial effects on this function may arise as a consequence of generally improved efficiency of information processing (Sandry et al., 2018). Indeed, decline in mnestic function has been suggested to be partially dependent on loss of interhemispheric integration of information due to corpus callosum agenesis (Paul et al., 2016) and shrinkage observed in amnestic mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease (Qiu et al., 2016). Therefore, improved efficiency due to strengthened functional connectivity of regions involved in supporting cognitive processes (i.e. semantic processing) necessary to perform well on long term memory tasks might have played a role. Moreover, there were improvements in some aspects of semantic memory that depends on a distributed neural system and, thus, possibly prone to benefit from improvements in distributed information processing (Patterson et al., 2007).

On a different note, it must be noted that previous applications of some of the rehabilitation exercises used in this study have yielded no significant effects on cognitive functioning of healthy older adults (De Marco et al., 2016) and people affected by mild cognitive impairment (De Marco et al., 2018). However, the version that was used in this study included modifications to the original set of exercises. These changes were aimed at reducing the engagement of lexical processing in favour of more intensive practice of executive attentional/executive functions, more consistently impaired in MS. Indeed, they appear to have been beneficial and have triggered gains in cognitive performance. Additionally, patients with MS were significantly younger than those previously tested (De Marco et al., 2018), as MS onset occurs much earlier in life than cognitive decline due to neurodegeneration. Hence, although experience-dependent neuroplasticity has been observed also in older adults (Park and Bischof, 2013), younger brains may retain higher neuroplastic abilities resulting in significant post-rehabilitation improvements in performance. Furthermore, the impact on response to treatment due to differences in neuropathological damage between MS and primary neurodegenerative conditions cannot be completely ruled out. In fact, although it is believed MS shares some of the neurodegenerative mechanisms linked with Alzheimer's disease (Lassmann, 2011), neurotransmission does not appear to be severely affected. MS-induced synaptic alterations are reversible (Mandolesi et al., 2015) and, therefore, it might be suggested that neurons affected by this pathology are in a better position than those pressed by neurodegenerative conditions to form new connections and synaptic links in response to intensive training.

Paired t-tests showed that the Standard programme induced improvements on a number of tests wider than those observed for the other two groups. These changes were observed mainly in tests of memory, as well as working memory and attention. However, the significance of the findings of this study emerges from the analyses

carried out on the second experimental group who underwent the PS-loaded version of the rehabilitation programme. In fact, these patients showed no changes in their cognitive performance after treatment when compared to the non-active control group. Nevertheless, the contrast between the two active groups showed how the standard programme induced significant improvements on exactly the same neuropsychological tests already observed in the comparison with the untreated controls.

First, it may be suggested that the modified programme appears ineffective because the increased PS-load made the tasks too challenging for patients. Indeed, no adaptations were applied on the basis of individual PS abilities. However, the time cap had been decided after group-based preliminary findings on patients' performance from the pilot study. Although adjusted to be suitable for most patients with MS, this time-limited condition might have prevented efficient information processing or strategy acquisition for those with more severe PS deficits and, in turn, resulted in lack of overall gains in performance. The practical implication of these findings is that, in order to be effective, cognitive rehabilitation should allow patients all time needed to complete processing of stimuli and decision making to the full. This is to ensure that all the necessary underlying processes are duly engaged and can foster functional rewiring. Second, the comparison between the active groups strengthens the evidence about the potential of the Standard programme to tackle cognitive decline in MS effectively. Indeed, patients in the two groups performed the same tasks across the same number of sessions and interacted with the researcher in analogous ways. It follows that divergent effects on cognitive outcome measures do not appear to depend on differences in treatment exposure across experimental conditions (apart from the imposition of pressure on information processing in the PS-loaded programme version), thus ruling out some unspecified placebo effects triggered by the personal attention received as a result of engaging with the trial. In fact, no changes in self-reported levels of depression and anxiety were detected across treatment groups.

Therefore, on one hand prompting patients with MS to perform cognitive tasks by engaging multiple functions simultaneously appears to lead to improvements in their cognitive health. On the other hand, however, reducing the time allocated to process information with the aim of stimulating quicker answers seems to be an ineffective strategy.

#### 6.1.4.2. Structural connectivity

The analysis carried out on DTI scans showed no effects of cognitive rehabilitation on WM microstructural integrity: both active groups had no greater changes in FA than those observed in the control group. Previously, only one study has used a similar methodology in a sample of patients with RRMS (Filippi et al., 2012). Despite methodological differences in the length of the rehabilitation programme (twelve weeks vs four weeks) and the type of imaging analysis carried out, a similar lack of modulation of structural connectivity by means of cognitive rehabilitation was observed. Two studies do not probably constitute enough sources of evidence to discard the idea that non-pharmacological interventions for MS-related cognitive impairment may be able to induce structural neuroplastic changes. However, they pose a challenge for future investigations since neither high-intensity nor lowintensity multi-domain cognitive rehabilitation appeared to influence WM microstructure.

One study has been able to detect short-term experience-dependent microstructural plasticity in MS. A randomized controlled trial of a video-game-delivered balance training intervention in people with MS (Prosperini et al., 2014) observed significantly increased FA and decreased RD in the superior cerebellar peduncle twelve weeks after training, though these changes were not maintained at the 3-month follow-up. Therefore, these findings suggest that also in brains affected by a demyelinating disease like MS, neuroplasticity may still occur at a microstructural level. Whether these effects can be triggered by cognitive interventions and whether treatment exposure over time plays a role can only be ascertained with further research. Indeed, the study presented in this chapter might have failed to induce microstructural changes bacuase it included only twenty sessions in four weeks. However, longer treatments may not necessarily stimulate such changes (Filippi et al., 2012).

In fact, a few studies explored the effects of cognitive rehabilitation on neural structural connections and found contrasting results. Training of logical reasoning in a sample of healthy participants without neurological disease has been associated with changes in both mean and radial diffusivity in a widespread network including frontal and parietal areas (Mackey et al., 2012). It is worth noting that the age of the participants recruited by Mackey et al. (2012) was around 21 years, an age at which myelination of associative tracts is still an ongoing process and, in turn, the brain is more plastic (Lebel et al., 2008). However, a modulation of DTI indices in parietal areas that correlated with improvements in PS abilities following multi-domain cognitive training was found in healthy elderly people (Cao et al., 2016). On the

contrary, no effects on WM microstructural integrity have been seen in stroke patients who underwent a 6-week working memory training (Nyberg et al., 2018). Consequently, such variety of findings currently leaves open the question about whether improvements in structural brain connections can be induced by cognitive rehabilitation, both in MS and other neurological conditions.

#### 6.1.4.3. Functional connectivity

The investigation of the effects exerted by cognitive rehabilitation on functional brain organisation clearly showed a modulation of connectivity of the salience network only. These changes occurred in response to the Standard cognitive programme and were observed in comparison to both PS-loaded treatment and standard care, thus matching the findings at the cognitive level. The salience network is functionally associated with networks differently involved in various cognitive control functions (Cauda et al., 2013) and appears to have a mediational role in the transition from an internally focussed to a more externally directed activity (Sridharan et al., 2008).

It may be argued that engagement in the multi-domain exercises included in the rehabilitation programme might have been particularly reliant on the use of this network. In particular, it was found that after completing the standard treatment patients showed decreased functional connectivity in the anterior cingulate cortex, an important hub of the salience network (Seeley et al., 2007). Previous studies reported a change in the opposite direction (Filippi et al., 2012, Parisi et al., 2014a), that seemed to be associated with maintenance of cognitive improvements two years after treatment completion (Parisi et al., 2014b). However, this discrepancy may be due to the different form of treatment used by Filippi et al. (2012) that included exercises for attention, PS and executive functions. Instead, the programme used in this study involved also intensive practice of lexical-semantic processing across exercises. Additionally, treatment exposure was noted to be significantly different: while in this study an intense pace was followed, patients recruited by Filippi et al. (2012) completed a total of thirty-six sessions, with three sessions a week spread over twelve weeks. Finally, differences in sample characteristics may have played a role as the patients who took part in the study by Filippi et al. (2012) appear less educated and had MS for a longer period of time than those recruited for this study.

The role of anterior cingulate plasticity in supporting post-treatment cognitive improvements appears interesting because thickness of this brain area has previously been linked to different fluency tasks (Geisseler et al., 2016). However,

the supplementary analysis in this study highlighted how gains on the semantic fluency test induced by the standard programme were associated with increased connectivity of the left hippocampus. This brain area, considered a part of the DMN (Buckner et al., 2008), has been long known to be involved in declarative retrieval, both semantic and episodic (Burianova et al., 2009, Prince et al., 2005, Venneri et al., 2018). Moreover, functional coupling between the hippocampus and the semantic network has been observed during performance on the semantic fluency task (Glikmann-Johnston et al., 2015).

The comparison between the two active groups showed changes in connectivity of the salience network in both directions. In the Standard treatment group a decrease was found in the connectivity of a left-lateralised cluster comprising the thalamus and the putamen. Both these deep GM nuclei are believed to be part of the salience network (Seeley et al., 2007) as well as of the so-called cingulo-opercular network (Muller et al., 2016, Sadaghiani and D'Esposito, 2014, Sestieri et al., 2014). These regions usually undergo shrinkage in MS (Lansley et al., 2013), probably due to their susceptibility to WM damage (Kuceyeski et al., 2015). The severity of atrophy of these structures was also consistently found to predict cognitive impairment in people with MS (Fujiwara et al., 2017), especially in attentional functions and PS (Bisecco et al., 2017, Tortorella et al., 2013). Hence, the behavioural effects observed may be interpreted as an effect of a more efficient reshaping of the salience network.

After treatment completion patients in the Standard group showed increased coupling with areas across the right fusiform and middle occipital gyri. These are visual associative areas that have been seen to be active during performance on the SDMT (Forn et al., 2013), but also to be over-recruited by patients with MS while performing tasks that would not require their contribution (Loitfelder et al., 2011, Rocca et al., 2010a, Sweet et al., 2004). Therefore, the strengthening of the association between the salience network and perceptual areas may emerge as a compensatory change aimed at improving information processing. In fact, it has been suggested that the salience network not only detects salient perceptual stimuli, but favours access of such stimuli to attention and working memory systems for further processing (Menon and Uddin, 2010).

The scenario that emerges from these findings could be interpreted within the framework of the disconnection hypothesis proposed to explain MS symptomatology (Fleischer et al., 2017). The group who had the Standard treatment which resulted in cognitive improvements seems to experience a reorganization of an important functional network that holds a coordinating role by decreasing its internal functional

connections and strengthening those with cortices outside the network. Therefore, these modulations seem to counteract the modularisation of brains affected my MS pathology by reinforcing connections between brain areas and facilitating integration of information. In turn, this may result in beneficial effects on clinical outcome measures, such as cognition. However, no correlations were found between the variations observed in functional connectivity within areas of the salience network and in cognitive performance. A possible explanation may reside in lack of statistical power since only a small number of patients had this form of the treatment. Alternatively, it cannot be ruled out that the effects observed at the two levels (behavioural and neural) may have occurred independently from one another and that the observed neural changes had little or no influence on cognitive performance. Moreover, the network-based approach used might not be the best strategy to detect the neural counterpart of behavioural improvements as they could emerge subsequently to modifications in connectivity between different networks or even between subsets of network nodes. However, this finding seems to suggest that it is possible that inter-network communication changes may play a prominent role as significant associations were detected between improvements in semantic fluency performance and increases in functional connectivity of the left hippocampus within the DMN.

Finally, arguments similar to those exposed in section 6.1.4.1 may be extended to the divergent functional connectivity findings from those of previous studies that used the original version of the cognitive rehabilitation programme (De Marco et al., 2016, De Marco et al., 2018). Indeed, a modulation of the DMN has not been replicated in this clinical population. However, the modifications applied to the cognitive exercises and the different demographic, cognitive, and neurological profiles of the two patient samples may have driven such discrepancies. In particular, the programme was integrated and modified to tackle more intensively sustained attention and executive processes, which are more in the domain of the salience network where changes were indeed observed in this study.

#### 6.1.4.4. General

A series of strengths of this study can be highlighted that differentiate it from previous investigations. First, the cognitive programme used has been developed on the basis of a hypothesis, i.e. stimulating the brain by means of multi-domain exercises that tap into different functional networks should enhance neural connections and lead to cognitive improvements. Moreover, a second hypothesis concerning the fact that increasing cognitive PS demands may induce even larger improvements was also investigated. On the contrary, so far no other studies overtly referred to, tested or proposed theories or models about how cognitive rehabilitation should be in MS, and all focussed on training only specific symptoms. Second, an active control group was included in the study design to enable a direct comparison between alternative treatments aside of standard care. Indeed, the Standard programme elicited improvements on the same neuropsychological tests in comparison to both of the other groups. Hence, it is suggested that the observed effects may be due to rehabilitation-related mechanisms rather than some sort of placebo effect due to exposure to a new care setting and the interaction with the researcher. Third, the use of multiple MRI outcome measures is particularly important, though limitedly explored in the literature, as an objective means to assess possible mechanisms of action of cognitive rehabilitation. Fourth, the inclusion of self-reported measures of clinical symptoms and quality of life ensure that possible behavioural effects may not confounded by these factors.

Yet some limitations must be noted, such as the size of the samples that is to be considered small, as only fifteen patients were included in each treatment group. This situation partially depended on the study design itself since the number and frequency of hospital visits to attend daily sessions had an impact on people willingness to take part in the study. However, the experimental nature of the investigation could not allow high degrees of adaptability in order to maintain treatment conditions as similar as possible across participants. Exploring homedelivered computerised interventions may overcome this issue in future investigations. Given these conditions, a possible selection bias towards overall more educated and motivated participants than those recruited in other studies may not be completely ruled out. The PS-loaded exercises were not subjected to adaptations to individual cognitive abilities, thus possibly limiting the potential effects of the treatment. Finally, hemispheric dominance and handedness were not recorded, although the researchers involved in the study recall that most patients were right-handed. Additionally, no objective measure of motor performance is available for all patients. Only reaction times were collected for patients in the two active groups who showed a comparable performance since no significant betweengroup differences were observed. However, all patients recruited had no upper limb motor deficits and the motor action required by all exercises in the programme was a simple key press. Therefore, any influence of motor performance and handedness on either the cognitive or neural results observed would be negligible. Indeed, no modulation of psychomotor speed on either simple or choice reaction times was observed following cognitive rehabilitation.

In general, this study shows that the original hypothesis of rehabilitation by boosting neural connectivity may be effective as a form of non-pharmacological treatment for people with stable RRMS well grounded in a solid theoretical framework. Nonetheless, the strategy selected to modulate PS demands in the rehabilitative programme and test the neurocognitive consequences of this modifications did not exert the expected effects. In fact, as PS deficits are often observed in patients with MS it was forecasted that practising fast information processing could facilitate cognitive gains. Future investigations into alternative approaches to clarifying this issue may be trialled by using adaptive training. This may be realised by introducing the possibility to individualise exercise PS-demands so that escalation to more difficult (i.e. faster) sessions would depend on the accuracy of each participant's previous performance.

Use of advanced brain imaging analysis techniques, e.g. graph theory, is an area to be developed further to test how non-pharmacological interventions might induce structural neural adaptations. Volumetric changes might be difficult to observe in response to a short-term, although intense, treatment in brains already affected by different types of damage, including neurodegeneration. However, changes at a microstructural level may be better detected in terms of connection strength across network. Nevertheless, considering that cognitive rehabilitation acts on brain functioning, it follows that more significant effects should be detected (as in the case of this study) by assessing brain activity, even at rest. However, it is possible that only more detailed techniques characterised by higher resolution, e.g. new generation 7T MRI scanners, will enable the ascertainment of whether clinically meaningful practice-dependent neuroplasticity actually occurs in this clinical population and to what extent.

# Chapter 7 | General discussion

Cognitive impairment is one of the many symptoms that MS may present with and is increasingly recognised as a major source of functional burden for people affected by this condition. Suboptimal performance across a variety of domains has been associated with a negative impact on quality of life (Glanz et al., 2010). In fact, the majority of the people affected by MS are diagnosed around 30 years of age, a period of life which represents the peak of productivity both in personal and professional contexts. Therefore, it is understandable that effortful processing of information and reduced attentional functions can have a detrimental impact on intellectual outputs and emotional status. As a result, cognitively impaired people with MS are highly likely to face work capacity reduction and even unemployment. Therefore, better and more articulated understanding of the causes that lead to cognitive decline in MS emerges as a pressing issue that needs to be targeted with effective treatments.

Shedding light on how core cognitive deficits relate to brain imaging indices at different levels appears particularly crucial. For decades, scholars have been wondering why patients with similar levels of brain damage show variable degrees of functional impairments, i.e. the so-called clinical-radiological paradox. Cognitive reserve may represent a helpful concept that provides a justification for such paradox by considering inter-individual differences in the efficiency of neurocognitive functioning due to exposure to life experiences and their role in shaping the clinical manifestations of MS (Stern, 2009). However, recent technical advancements in the acquisition and analysis of brain imaging have enabled more detailed investigations of the relationship between severity of neural damage and clinical symptoms (Droby et al., 2015a, Welton et al., 2015). Deeper characterisation of predominant structural and functional pathways to cognitive impairment in MS would also contribute to guiding the design and assessment of different types of interventions.

Pharmacological treatments currently used in clinical practice are mainly DMTs designed to intervene during the relapsing-remitting phase and meant to reduce the recurrence of relapses. However, no definite treatment is currently available to stop this disease, although encouraging results have been observed with stem cell transplantation (Sormani et al., 2017a). Moreover, it must be noted that cognitive symptoms are usually an overlooked issue in clinical trials and that the EDSS score, the main outcome measure of disease severity, is heavily reliant on motor dysfunction. So far, only a few investigations have been carried out on the effects of

DMTs on cognitive functioning. The results of these studies have been variable. Also drugs repurposed from related clinical fields and trialled to treat specific cognitive symptoms in MS have mainly led to failure. Lack of knowledge about the factors (biological or otherwise) that might mitigate cognitive dysfunction in people with MS and about the evolution of these symptoms over time may have contributed significantly to lead research in this field to such a dead-end. Similarly, nonpharmacological interventions for cognitive deficits experienced by people with MS have only achieved partial results. In particular, solid theoretical foundations appear to be lacking in the design of most interventions that, in turn, mainly represent explorative attempts to induce cognitive improvements. Moreover, integration of MRI outcome measures has been pursued only by a small number of studies even though this brain imaging technique plays a major role in diagnosis and routine check-ups.

Experiment 1 and 2 were designed to assess how patients' cognitive performance, particularly in conditions with high PS load, was modulated by degradation of structural brain connections. In fact, it is widely believed that slowed information symptoms processing is among the most common observed during neuropsychological assessments in people affected by MS. Since PS is a multifaceted function, slower cognitive computations may be observed across several related functions, namely attention, working memory and learning. Indeed, a wide variety of psychological constructs imply not only structural (i.e. how much information can be processed) but also operational capacity (i.e. how or how fast the information can be processed). Therefore, different neuropsychological tests of PS skills used in clinical settings can be fruitfully used to unravel possible associations with neural measures detected by means of MRI.

The study of a sample of people with RRMS showed that visual PS measures correlated with microstructural integrity of the anterior corpus callosum, the anterior thalamic radiations and the inferior fronto-occipital fasciculus. All of these WM tracts connect areas of the frontal lobes with other subcortical and cortical hubs that are mainly associated with attentional and executive functions. The same tracts, among others, were found underpinning cognitive performance also in the SPMS group with the difference that associations were mainly observed for PS measures involving verbal processes. Although only qualitative comparisons can be made between the two experiments, results strongly suggest that a distributed network of structural connections mainly located in frontal areas support fast information processing in MS. Therefore, demyelination of both interhemispheric and associative WM fibres that enable cognitive control processes to be performed by the frontal lobes appears
to limit PS abilities in these patients. In fact, this pathological process may pose limitations to functional compensatory phenomena consistently observed as more extensive frontal activation needed to sustain optimal performance in demanding conditions (Forn et al., 2013). In MS and several other diseases, increased frontal recruitment is seen in conditions that are considered not challenging for healthy individuals and for this reason is thought to signal reduced neural efficiency and increased cognitive effort (Chiaravalloti et al., 2015). Hence, it can be argued that damage to structural connections of frontal areas usually involved in boosting cognitive performance may reduce efficient communication within these same areas and result in serious limitations to any compensatory mechanisms.

In Experiment 3 and 4 the contribution of different functional networks to PSdemanding cognitive processes was investigated in both RRMS and SPMS. In particular, considering the results found in Experiment 1 and 2 fronto-parietal networks were expected to emerge as core correlates of fast information processing. Several brain networks were investigated with the aim to explore those known to be involved in different cognitive functions, in consideration of the fact that these networks do communicate with one another (Sridharan et al., 2008). Indeed, although specific cognitive processes have been linked to definite cerebral anatomical locations, it is now widely accepted that the brain works by engaging networks encompassing different areas in order to perform complex functions. In parallel, sensory and motor networks were also investigated to highlight and rule out possible non-cognitive contributions to indices of PS function (Costa et al., 2017).

In line with expectations, measures of verbal PS resulted mainly associated with functional connectivity of the left fronto-parietal network in both groups of patients. Additionally, the salience network and, limitedly to patients with RRMS, the DMN were found to be implicated in PS abilities measured by different neuropsychological tests. However, TMT-A scores correlated with connectivity of the sensorimotor network, possibly because of the major reliance of this test on the execution of upper limb movements. As already seen at the structural level, it is likely that PS performance depends also on the integrity of different functional networks and on the communication between them. In particular, the involvement of left fronto-parietal network may depend on attentional and executive processes required to perform the tasks included in the assessment independently of the salience network appears to have an impact on fast cognitive processing. A reason may resides on the fact that this set of areas processes environmental stimuli and attaches valence to them and, in turn, prioritises access of the most relevant stimuli to higher

functions, mainly performed by frontal and parietal associative areas (Menon and Uddin, 2010). Therefore, current knowledge of this network may suggest it plays an important role in ensuring information processing occurs smoothly. Whether the malfunctioning of one of these networks or of an hub belonging to such networks play a pivotal role in affecting fast information flow across the brain affected by MS cannot be definitely established with these experiments. Further hypothesis-driven investigations particularly focussed on connectivity of those considered the principal hubs of such networks should be brought about to clarify this issue.

So far, most studies carried out on this topic concentrated their attention mainly on the most widely known network, i.e. the DMN (Janssen et al., 2013, Rocca et al., 2010b, Wojtowicz et al., 2014, Zhou et al., 2014). In contrast with this line of research, Experiment 3 and 4 did not highlight a prominent involvement of the DMN, only found to be associated with scores obtained by patients with RRMS on the semantic fluency test. Different reasons could account for such results: first, this network is particularly involved in memory-related and internally-generated processes rather than more general speed of information processing (Sestieri et al., 2011); second, it is believed that the DMN negatively affects goal-directed cognitive performance if its deactivation fails to occur (Anticevic et al., 2012). Hence, this network may exert only indirect influences on the speed at which information is processed. It is worth noting that no exhaustive comparisons with the previous literature can be made due to lack of investigations into the relationships between functional connectivity of other networks and cognitive performance in MS.

Experiments reported in Chapters 4 and 5 suggest that the combined use of multiple cognitive measures with different PS involvement may provide useful insights for the understanding of the MS-related neural changes associated with performance on this function. Indeed, considering that MS pathology may affect various cognitive and non-cognitive functions (Costa et al., 2017) and that performance on different PS tests partially depends on other cognitive functions, the investigation of a single measure of PS abilities may provide only a partial view of the picture. In contrast, hypothesis-based comparisons between multiple PS measures appear necessary in order to ascertain the potential contributions of different neural circuits to such function.

A possible limitation associated with the cognitive measures used in the experiments in this thesis relates to their ecological validity, i.e. the ability of cognitive measures to predict patients' functional impairment in real life. Indeed, the ecological validity of neuropsychological assessment for patients with MS remains an overlooked issue (dasNair et al., 2018). Research has shown that tests of

memory and attention designed to have enhanced ecological validity predict MSrelated functional imparments better than standard tests, althought both types are correlated with severity of impairment (Higginson et al., 2000). Moreover, it has been observed that environmental distractions (similar to those present in real life settings) during task performance may enhance the detection of PS deficits in people with MS (Randolph et al., 2017). However, performance on common tests of PS function, as well as global cognitive performance (Goverover et al., 2016), appears to be associated with scores on the Timed Instrumental Activities of Daily Living task (Goverover et al., 2007) and the Test of Everyday Cognitive Ability (Charvet et al., 2018), both tests particularly sensitive to MS-specific functional impairments. Therefore, although further investigations are needed to produce more clinically relevant results on how neural changes impact cognition in MS, it seems reasonable to suggest that commonly used cognitive tests have moderate ecological validity.

Findings of the first four experiments outline a complex scenario characterised by multiple levels of disconnection underlying PS abilities observed in different MS phenotypes. In this framework, counteracting MS pathological processes by means of connectivity restoration appeared a reasonable strategy to attempt in Experiment 5 with the aim of reducing the extent of cognitive impairments. Differently from other approaches used before, this experimental work was based on the hypothesis that enhancing the communication between different neurocognitive systems that rely on networks of functionally (and structurally) related areas could boost performance. Hence, a previously tested cognitive rehabilitation programme (De Marco et al., 2016) comprising a set of multi-domain exercises was partially adapted to the cognitive profile typically observed in MS. The effects of this programme were not only compared to usual care, but also to a modified version with increased PS-load implemented in all exercises. The second hypothesis behind this intervention was that speeding up the abovementioned inter-network communication would produce even broader neural and cognitive effects.

The relapsing-remitting phenotype appeared to be the natural target of this intervention due to the expectation of lower degree of neurodegeneration, in comparison to SPMS, that might have negatively impacted on treatment outcomes. Similarly, higher levels of disability, both cognitive and physical, experienced in advanced stages of the disease were considered a significant obstacle to compliance to high-intensity treatments. Moreover, the limited number of patients presenting with the secondary progressive phenotype could have affected the

recruitment phase and should be carefully considered in order to design trials with enough statistical power and appropriate to the needs of this population.

Among these two hypotheses, only the first one was supported by the results of this experiment. In fact, engagement in cognitive rehabilitation without time constraints led patients to experience cognitive improvements significantly larger than those seen in the other two groups. These changes were observable on tests of learning and semantic processing. Although long-term memory was not specifically targeted by the programme, the effects seemed to transfer to this function that substantially relies on the manipulation of semantic representations that are known to depend on a distributed neural system. At the neural level, neuroplastic effects were detected in parallel to cognitive improvements in the same contrasts, i.e. standard treatment vs control and standard vs PS-loaded treatment. Only functional connectivity changes were detected limitedly to the reorganisation of the salience network itself and with areas outside the network, since increased coupling was seen between the salience network and more posterior visual areas.

However, the clinical relevance of these results remains partially elusive. In fact, the salience network is known not to be involved in mnestic functions or semantic processes. Speculations could be made that increased connectivity between this network and occipito-temporal areas involved in visual object recognition may enhance information processing and saliency detection. As a consequence, information encoding and later recall may be enhanced. Nevertheless, no correlations were detected between the observed cognitive improvements and changes in functional connectivity of the salience network.

*Post hoc* analyses on the possible links between cognitive and neural changes showed that the increased number of items reported by people in the standard treatment group on the semantic fluency task was associated with higher functional connectivity of the left hippocampus, a part of the DMN. This result appears plausible and in line with current knowledge regarding the neural correlates of semantic memory functioning (Burianova et al., 2009), although no modulation of this network was seen across treatment groups. A possibility is that multiple networks have been modulated by the intervention and analyses focussed on individual networks may not fully capture the extent of the effects exerted. Improved inter-network connectivity may meaningfully contribute to sustaining efficient cognitive performance more than functional reorganization within single networks.

The experiments carried out offer some insights on how different levels of brain organization relate to PS-demanding performance in people with MS who usually suffer from slowing in cognitive abilities. Moreover, evidence that cognitive

rehabilitation can trigger both behavioural and neural changes has been shown in experiment 5. However, as previously mentioned each one of these studies has limitations and further research is necessary to clarify the underpinning of these positive changes. Advanced imaging techniques, in particular more extensive applications of ultra-high field MRI at 7T, hold the potential to improve spatial resolution of image acquisition significantly, and to enable more detailed analysis of lesions due to MS. Indeed, so far cortical and subcortical lesion contribution to cognitive decline in MS has gained limited and variable results. Similarly, the use of novel diffusion-weighted sequences such as high angular resolution diffusion imaging (Frank, 2001) and neurite orientation dispersion and density imaging (Zhang et al., 2012), now increasingly available in clinical contexts, provides alternative models more accurate than that based on the diffusion tensor. These images can be fed to tractography analysis resulting in the reconstruction of detailed tri-dimensional WM fibre tracts (by means of spherical deconvolution methods) and improved quantification of macro- and micro-structural alterations that can be linked to clinical symptoms. Nonetheless, limitations to the applicability of this type of analysis must be considered since probabilistic fibre tracking relies on directionality of water diffusivity in the brain, i.e. on FA values in each single voxel. It follows that abrupt variations in FA due to the presence of demyelinating lesions can affect the efficient reconstruction of WM tracts and lead to false positives (Ciccarelli et al., 2008).

Additionally, the development of new methodologies to analyse MRI data must necessarily move forward with a multidisciplinary effort that would combine technical-mathematical insight with clinical knowledge. In particular, the application of graph theory and network-based analysis are increasingly regarded as new tools to uncover alterations in brain functional and structural organization due to pathological processes. Such approach has already been applied to MS (Fleischer et al., 2017) and with apparent good reason, considering that MS lesions randomly distribute across the brain causing damage to structural connections and functional alterations. However, more sophisticated and hypothesis-driven investigations may shed light on specific pathways that are crucially involved in MS-related cognitive symptoms. Moreover, biological and environmental factors that may contribute to mitigate cognitive decline have received so far little attention, especially their impact on connectivity measures. The implementation of this kind of analysis in studies with longitudinal designs will enable the tracking of the evolution of clinically relevant changes over time.

Regarding treatments for cognitive deficits in MS, two possible strategies may be further explored. One relies on the better characterisation of the effects exerted on cognitive performance by the most promising DMTs. Currently, how most of the available pharmacological treatments affect brain structure and functioning has been very limitedly explored by means of advanced MRI techniques. In fact, global measures of atrophy and lesion volume are fast and, to some extent, clinically informative outcome measures in clinical trials. However, exploration of more sophisticated MRI sequences and dedicated analyses may clarify the wider impact that DMTs have on the brains affected by MS and even factors causally involved in treatment responsiveness. In particular, an intervention for MS that appears worth more thorough investigations is transplant of autologous stem cells due to its recognised potential.

An alternative to medications is the development of effective non-pharmacological interventions. Integration of the wealth of knowledge about MS-induced cognitive impairments and their neural correlates with theories on neurocognitive functioning should be pursued to tackle these symptoms. Additionally, the use of non-invasive neurostimulation has also been drawing attention in the past decades in the field of neuroscience. Several techniques, above all transcranial direct current and transcranial magnetic stimulation, have been tested in the treatment of a wide range of clinical manifestations in MS. Significant results have been highlighted in a recent review about improvement of cognitive as well as motor performance (lodice et al., 2017), thus motivating further research on the potential effects of protocols combining synergistically cognitive rehabilitation with neurostimulation.

Another possible pathway to explore with the aim of improving the delivery of cognitive interventions is the personalised home-based approach involving technological devices (Lavorgna et al., 2018). In fact, adopting an e-health approach could help improving the clinical management of this patient population that presents with a quite variable range of symptoms. From a research point of view recruitment of patients for clinical trials could be facilitated by delivering interventions by means of applications for digital devices and allowing more degrees of flexibility to meet participants' needs. Using this type of approach, more difficult populations, especially those people affected by progressive and more severe forms of the disease, would have the opportunity to be more easily included in trials specifically designed on their clinical profile. Finally, this approach would enable the testing of treatment effects in an everyday life context and would provide insights into the real applicability of such interventions and their ecological validity.

## References

- ABOU ZEID, N. E., WEINSHENKER, B. G. & KEEGAN, B. M. 2009. Gait apraxia in multiple sclerosis. *Can J Neurol Sci*, 36, 562-5.
- ADHYA, S., JOHNSON, G., HERBERT, J., JAGGI, H., BABB, J. S., GROSSMAN, R. I. & INGLESE, M. 2006. Pattern of hemodynamic impairment in multiple sclerosis: Dynamic susceptibility contrast perfusion MR imaging at 3.0 T. *Neuroimage*, 33, 1029-35.
- ADLER, G. & LEMBACH, Y. 2015. Memory and selective attention in multiple sclerosis: Cross-sectional computer-based assessment in a large outpatient sample. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci,* 265, 439-43.
- AGGLETON, J. P. & BROWN, M. W. 2001. Episodic memory, amnesia, and the hippocampal-anterior thalamic axis. *Behav Brain Sci*, 22, 425-44; discussion 444-89.
- AIRAS, L., NYLUND, M. & RISSANEN, E. 2018. Evaluation of microglial activation in multiple sclerosis patients using positron emission tomography. *Front Neurol*, 9, 181.
- ALBERT, M. L. 2005. Subcortical dementia: Historical review and personal view. *Neurocase*, 11, 243-5.
- ALLA, S. & MASON, D. F. 2014. Multiple sclerosis in New Zealand. J Clin Neurosci, 21, 1288-91.
- ALMAIRAC, F., HERBET, G., MORITZ-GASSER, S., DE CHAMPFLEUR, N. M. & DUFFAU,
   H. 2014. The left inferior fronto-occipital fasciculus subserves language semantics: a multilevel lesion study. *Brain Struct Funct*, 220, 1983-95.
- ALTER, M., KAHANA, E., ZILBER, N. & MILLER, A. 2006. Multiple sclerosis frequency in Israel's diverse populations. *Neurology*, 66, 1061-6.
- ALVAREZ, J. A. & EMORY, E. 2006. Executive function and the frontal lobes: A metaanalytic review. *Neuropsychol Rev*, 16, 17-42.
- ALVAREZ, J. I., SAINT-LAURENT, O., GODSCHALK, A., TEROUZ, S., BRIELS, C., LAROUCHE, S., BOURBONNIERE, L., LAROCHELLE, C. & PRAT, A. 2014. Focal disturbances in the blood-brain barrier are associated with formation of neuroinflammatory lesions. *Neurobiol Dis*, 74, 14-24.
- AMANN, M., DÖSSEGGER, L. S., PENNER, I. K., HIRSCH, J. G., RASELLI, C., CALABRESE, P., WEIER, K., RADÜ, E. W., KAPPOS, L. & GASS, A. 2010. Altered functional adaptation to attention and working memory tasks with increasing complexity in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis patients. *Hum Brain Mapp*, 32, 1704-19.
- AMATO, M. P., LANGDON, D., MONTALBAN, X., BENEDICT, R. H., DELUCA, J., KRUPP,
   L. B., THOMPSON, A. J. & COMI, G. 2013. Treatment of cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis: Position paper. *J Neurol*, 260, 1452-68.
- AMATO, M. P., PONZIANI, G., ROSSI, F., LIEDL, C. L., STEFANILE, C. & ROSSI, L. 2001. Quality of life in multiple sclerosis: The impact of depression, fatigue and disability. *Mult Scler,* 7, 340-4.
- ANTICEVIC, A., COLE, M. W., MURRAY, J. D., CORLETT, P. R., WANG, X. J. & KRYSTAL, J. H. 2012. The role of default network deactivation in cognition and disease. *Trends Cogn Sci*, 16, 584-92.
- ARCHIBALD, C. J. & FISK, J. D. 2000. Information processing efficiency in patients with multiple sclerosis. *J Clin Exp Neuropsychol,* 22, 686-701.
- ARCHIBALD, C. J., WEI, X., SCOTT, J. N., WALLACE, C. J., ZHANG, Y., METZ, L. M. & MITCHELL, J. R. 2004. Posterior fossa lesion volume and slowed information processing in multiple sclerosis. *Brain*, 127, 1526-34.
- ARMITAGE, S. G. 1946. An analysis of certain psychological tests used for the evaluation of brain injury. *Psychology Monographs*, 60.
- ARNETT, P. A., RAO, S. M., GRAFMAN, J., BERNARDIN, L., LUCHETTA, T., BINDER, J. R. & LOBECK, L. 1997. Executive functions in multiple sclerosis: An analysis of temporal ordering, semantic encoding, and planning abilities. *Neuropsychology*, 11, 535-44.
- ARNOLD, D. L., GOLD, R., KAPPOS, L., BAR-OR, A., GIOVANNONI, G., SELMAJ, K., YANG, M., ZHANG, R., STEPHAN, M., SHEIKH, S. I. & DAWSON, K. T. 2014. Effects

of delayed-release dimethyl fumarate on MRI measures in the phase 3 DEFINE study. *J Neurol*, 261, 1794-802.

- ARRUDA, L. C., CLAVE, E., MOINS-TEISSERENC, H., DOUAY, C., FARGE, D. & TOUBERT, A. 2016. Resetting the immune response after autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplantation for autoimmune diseases. *Curr Res Transl Med*, 64, 107-13.
- ASANO, M. & FINLAYSON, M. L. 2014. Meta-analysis of three different types of fatigue management interventions for people with multiple sclerosis: exercise, education, and medication. *Mult Scler Int*, 2014, 798285.
- ASCHERIO, A., MUNGER, K. L. & SIMON, K. C. 2010. Vitamin D and multiple sclerosis. *Lancet Neurol*, 9, 599-612.
- ASHBURNER, J. & FRISTON, K. J. 2000. Voxel-based morphometry--the methods. *Neuroimage*, 11, 805-21.
- ASLANI, S., JAFARI, N., JAVAN, M. R., KARAMI, J., AHMADI, M. & JAFARNEJAD, M. 2016. Epigenetic modifications and therapy in multiple sclerosis. *Neuromolecular Med*, 1-13.
- ASPELUND, A., ANTILA, S., PROULX, S. T., KARLSEN, T. V., KARAMAN, S., DETMAR, M., WIIG, H. & ALITALO, K. 2015. A dural lymphatic vascular system that drains brain interstitial fluid and macromolecules. J Exp Med, 212, 991-9.
- ATKINS, H. L., BOWMAN, M., ALLAN, D., ANSTEE, G., ARNOLD, D. L., BAR-OR, A., BENCE-BRUCKLER, I., BIRCH, P., BREDESON, C., CHEN, J., FERGUSSON, D., HALPENNY, M., HAMELIN, L., HUEBSCH, L., HUTTON, B., LANEUVILLE, P., LAPIERRE, Y., LEE, H., MARTIN, L., MCDIARMID, S., O'CONNOR, P., RAMSAY, T., SABLOFF, M., WALKER, L. & FREEDMAN, M. S. 2016. Immunoablation and autologous haemopoietic stem-cell transplantation for aggressive multiple sclerosis: a multicentre single-group phase 2 trial. *Lancet*, 388, 576-85.
- ATKINS, H. L. & FREEDMAN, M. S. 2013. Hematopoietic stem cell therapy for multiple sclerosis: Top 10 lessons learned. *Neurotherapeutics,* 10, 68-76.
- AUDOIN, B., IBARROLA, D., AU DUONG, M. V., PELLETIER, J., CONFORT-GOUNY, S., MALIKOVA, I., ALI-CHERIF, A., COZZONE, P. J. & RANJEVA, J. P. 2005. Functional MRI study of PASAT in normal subjects. *Magma*, 18, 96-102.
- AYACHE, S. S., CHALAH, M. A., AL-ANI, T., FARHAT, W. H., ZOUARI, H. G., CRÉANGE, A. & LEFAUCHEUR, J. P. 2015. Tremor in multiple sclerosis: The intriguing role of the cerebellum. *J Neurol Sci*, 358, 351-6.
- AZEVEDO, C. J., OVERTON, E., KHADKA, S., BUCKLEY, J., LIU, S., SAMPAT, M., KANTARCI, O., LEBRUN FRENAY, C., SIVA, A., OKUDA, D. T. & PELLETIER, D. 2015. Early CNS neurodegeneration in radiologically isolated syndrome. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm*, 2, e102.
- BABBE, H., ROERS, A., WAISMAN, A., LASSMANN, H., GOEBELS, N., HOHLFELD, R., FRIESE, M., SCHRODER, R., DECKERT, M., SCHMIDT, S., RAVID, R. & RAJEWSKY, K. 2000. Clonal expansions of CD8(+) T cells dominate the T cell infiltrate in active multiple sclerosis lesions as shown by micromanipulation and single cell polymerase chain reaction. J Exp Med, 192, 393-404.
- BADDELEY, A. & HITCH, G. 1974. Working Memory. *Psychology of Learning and Motivation*, 8, 47-89.
- BAILEY, A., CHANNON, S. & BEAUMONT, J. G. 2007. The relationship between subjective fatigue and cognitive fatigue in advanced multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler*, 13, 73-80.
- BAKSHI, R., MILETICH, R. S., KINKEL, P. R., EMMET, M. L. & KINKEL, W. R. 1998. Highresolution fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography shows both global and regional cerebral hypometabolism in multiple sclerosis. *J Neuroimaging*, 8, 228-34.
- BALL, K. K., BEARD, B. L., ROENKER, D. L., MILLER, R. L. & GRIGGS, D. S. 1988. Age and visual search: expanding the useful field of view. *J Opt Soc Am A*, 5, 2210-9.
- BALTRUSCHAT, S. A., VENTURA-CAMPOS, N., CRUZ-GÓMEZ, Á. J., BELENGUER, A. & FORN, C. 2015. Gray matter atrophy is associated with functional connectivity reorganization during the Paced Auditory Serial Addition Test (PASAT) execution in Multiple Sclerosis (MS). *J Neuroradiol*, 42, 141-9.
- BAR-OR, A., PACHNER, A., MENGUY-VACHERON, F., KAPLAN, J. & WIENDL, H. 2014. Teriflunomide and its mechanism of action in multiple sclerosis. *Drugs*, 74, 659-74.
- BARANZINI, S. E., MUDGE, J., VAN VELKINBURGH, J. C., KHANKHANIAN, P., KHREBTUKOVA, I., MILLER, N. A., ZHANG, L., FARMER, A. D., BELL, C. J., KIM, R. W., MAY, G. D., WOODWARD, J. E., CAILLIER, S. J., MCELROY, J. P., GOMEZ, R.,

PANDO, M. J., CLENDENEN, L. E., GANUSOVA, E. E., SCHILKEY, F. D., RAMARAJ, T., KHAN, O. A., HUNTLEY, J. J., LUO, S., KWOK, P. Y., WU, T. D., SCHROTH, G. P., OKSENBERG, J. R., HAUSER, S. L. & KINGSMORE, S. F. 2010. Genome, epigenome and RNA sequences of monozygotic twins discordant for multiple sclerosis. *Nature*, 464, 1351-6.

- BARIZZONE, N., ZARA, I., SOROSINA, M., LUPOLI, S., PORCU, E., PITZALIS, M., ZOLEDZIEWSKA, M., ESPOSITO, F., LEONE, M., MULAS, A., COCCO, E., FERRIGNO, P., GUERINI, F. R., BRAMBILLA, P., FARINA, G., MURRU, R., DEIDDA, F., SANNA, S., LOI, A., BARLASSINA, C., VECCHIO, D., ZAULI, A., CLARELLI, F., BRAGA, D., PODDIE, F., CANTELLO, R., MARTINELLI, V., COMI, G., FRAU, J., LOREFICE, L., PUGLIATTI, M., ROSATI, G., MELIS, M., MARROSU, M. G., CUSI, D., CUCCA, F., MARTINELLI BONESCHI, F. & D'ALFONSO, S. 2015. The burden of multiple sclerosis variants in continental Italians and Sardinians. *Mult Scler*, 21, 1385-95.
- BARKER-COLLO, S. L. 2006. Quality of life in multiple sclerosis: Does informationprocessing speed have an independent effect? *Arch Clin Neuropsychol*, 21, 167-74.
- BARKHOF, F. 2002. The clinico-radiological paradox in multiple sclerosis revisited. *Curr Opin Neurol*, 15, 239-45.
- BARKHOF, F., HALLER, S. & ROMBOUTS, S. A. 2014. Resting-state functional MR imaging: A new window to the brain. *Radiology*, 272, 29-49.
- BASILE, B., CASTELLI, M., MONTELEONE, F., NOCENTINI, U., CALTAGIRONE, C., CENTONZE, D., CERCIGNANI, M. & BOZZALI, M. 2014. Functional connectivity changes within specific networks parallel the clinical evolution of multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler*, 20, 1050-7.
- BASSO, A., CAPITANI, E. & LAIACONA, M. 1987. Raven's coloured progressive matrices: normative values on 305 adult normal controls. *Funct Neurol*, 2, 189-94.
- BATISTA, S., D'ALMEIDA, O. C., AFONSO, A., FREITAS, S., MACÁRIO, C., SOUSA, L., CASTELO-BRANCO, M., SANTANA, I. & CUNHA, L. 2017. Impairment of social cognition in multiple sclerosis: Amygdala atrophy is the main predictor. *Mult Scler*, 1352458516680750.
- BAUMSTARCK-BARRAU, K., SIMEONI, M. C., REUTER, F., KLEMINA, I., AGHABABIAN, V., PELLETIER, J. & AUQUIER, P. 2011. Cognitive function and quality of life in multiple sclerosis patients: A cross-sectional study. *BMC Neurol*, 11, 17.
- BAYEN, E., PAPEIX, C., PRADAT-DIEHL, P., LUBETZKI, C. & JOEL, M. E. 2015. Patterns of objective and subjective burden of informal caregivers in sultiple sclerosis. *Behav Neurol*, 648415.
- BEATTY, W. W., GOODKIN, D. E., BEATTY, P. A. & MONSON, N. 1989. Frontal lobe dysfunction and memory impairment in patients with chronic progressive multiple sclerosis. *Brain Cogn*, 11, 73-86.
- BEATTY, W. W. & MONSON, N. 1996. Problem solving by patients with multiple sclerosis: Comparison of performance on the Wisconsin and California Card Sorting Tests. J Int Neuropsychol Soc, 2, 134-40.
- BEECHAM, A. H., PATSOPOULOS, N. A., XIFARA, D. K., DAVIS, M. F., KEMPPINEN, A., COTSAPAS, C., SHAH, T. S., SPENCER, C., BOOTH, D., GORIS, A., OTURAI, A., SAARELA, J., FONTAINE, B., HEMMER, B., MARTIN, C., ZIPP, F., D'ALFONSO, S., MARTINELLI-BONESCHI, F., TAYLOR, B., HARBO, H. F., KOCKUM, I., HILLERT, J., OLSSON, T., BAN, M., OKSENBERG, J. R., HINTZEN, R., BARCELLOS, L. F., AGLIARDI, C., ALFREDSSON, L., ALIZADEH, M., ANDERSON, C., ANDREWS, R., SONDERGAARD, H. B., BAKER, A., BAND, G., BARANZINI, S. E., BARIZZONE, N., BARRETT, J., BELLENGUEZ, C., BERGAMASCHI, L., BERNARDINELLI, L., BERTHELE, A., BIBERACHER, V., BINDER, T. M., BLACKBURN, H., BOMFIM, I. L., BRAMBILLA, P., BROADLEY, S., BROCHET, B., BRUNDIN, L., BUCK, D., BUTZKUEVEN, H., CAILLIER, S. J., CAMU, W., CARPENTIER, W., CAVALLA, P., CELIUS, E. G., COMAN, I., COMI, G., CORRADO, L., COSEMANS, L., COURNU-REBEIX, I., CREE, B. A., CUSI, D., DAMOTTE, V., DEFER, G., DELGADO, S. R., DELOUKAS, P., DI SAPIO, A., DILTHEY, A. T., DONNELLY, P., DUBOIS, B., DUDDY, M., EDKINS, S., ELOVAARA, I., ESPOSITO, F., EVANGELOU, N., FIDDES, B., FIELD, J., FRANKE, A., FREEMAN, C., FROHLICH, I. Y., GALIMBERTI, D., GIEGER, C., GOURRAUD, P. A., GRAETZ, C., GRAHAM, A., GRUMMEL, V., GUASCHINO, C., HADJIXENOFONTOS, A., HAKONARSON, H., HALFPENNY, C.,

HALL, G., HALL, P., HAMSTEN, A., HARLEY, J., HARROWER, T., HAWKINS, C., HELLENTHAL, G., HILLIER, C., et al. 2013. Analysis of immune-related loci identifies 48 new susceptibility variants for multiple sclerosis. *Nat Genet,* 45, 1353-60.

- BEHRMAN-LAY, A. M., ÚSHER, C., CONTURO, T. E., CORREIÁ, S., LAIDLAW, D. H., LANE, E. M., BOLZENIUS, J., HEAPS, J. M., SALMINEN, L. E., BAKER, L. M., CABEEN, R., AKBUDAK, E., LUO, X., YAN, P. & PAUL, R. H. 2015. Fiber bundle length and cognition: a length-based tractography MRI study. *Brain Imaging Behav*, 9, 765-75.
- BELBASIS, L., BELLOU, V., EVANGELOU, E., IOANNIDIS, J. P. & TZOULAKI, I. 2015. Environmental risk factors and multiple sclerosis: An umbrella review of systematic reviews and meta-analyses. *Lancet Neurol*, 14, 263-73.
- BEN-NUN, A., KAUSHANSKY, N., KAWAKAMI, N., KRISHNAMOORTHY, G., BERER, K., LIBLAU, R., HOHLFELD, R. & WEKERLE, H. 2014. From classic to spontaneous and humanized models of multiple sclerosis: Impact on understanding pathogenesis and drug development. *J Autoimmun*, 54, 33-50.
- BENEDICT, R. H. & BOBHOLZ, J. H. 2007. Multiple sclerosis. Semin Neurol, 27, 78-85.
- BENEDICT, R. H., BRUCE, J., DWYER, M. G., WEINSTOCK-GUTTMAN, B., TJOA, C., TAVAZZI, E., MUNSCHAUER, F. E. & ZIVADINOV, R. 2007. Diffusion-weighted imaging predicts cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler*, 13, 722-30.
- BENEDICT, R. H., DELUCA, J., PHILLIPS, G., LAROCCA, N., HUDSON, L. D. & RUDICK, R. 2017. Validity of the Symbol Digit Modalities Test as a cognition performance outcome measure for multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler*, 23, 721-733.
- BENEDICT, R. H., FISCHER, J. S., ARCHIBALD, C. J., ARNETT, P. A., BEATTY, W. W., BOBHOLZ, J., CHELUNE, G. J., FISK, J. D., LANGDON, D. W., CARUSO, L., FOLEY, F., LAROCCA, N. G., VOWELS, L., WEINSTEIN, A., DELUCA, J., RAO, S. M. & MUNSCHAUER, F. 2002. Minimal neuropsychological assessment of MS patients: A consensus approach. *Clin Neuropsychol*, 16, 381-97.
- BENEDICT, R. H., HULST, H. E., BERGSLAND, N., SCHOONHEIM, M. M., DWYER, M. G., WEINSTOCK-GUTTMAN, B., GEURTS, J. J. & ZIVADINOV, R. 2013. Clinical significance of atrophy and white matter mean diffusivity within the thalamus of multiple sclerosis patients. *Mult Scler*, 19, 1478-84.
- BENEDICT, R. H., MORROW, S., RODGERS, J., HOJNACKI, D., BUCELLO, M. A., ZIVADINOV, R. & WEINSTOCK-GUTTMAN, B. 2014. Characterizing cognitive function during relapse in multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler*, 20, 1745-52.
- BENEDICT, R. H., MUNSCHAUER, F., ZAREVICS, P., ERLANGER, D., ROWE, V., FEASTER, T. & CARPENTER, R. L. 2008. Effects of I-amphetamine sulfate on cognitive function in multiple sclerosis patients. *J Neurol*, 255, 848-52.
- BERGSLAND, N., SCHWESER, F., DWYER, M. G., WEINSTOCK-GUTTMAN, B., BENEDICT, R. H. B. & ZIVADINOV, R. 2018. Thalamic white matter in multiple sclerosis: A combined diffusion-tensor imaging and quantitative susceptibility mapping study. *Hum Brain Mapp*, 39, 4007-4017.
- BERGSLAND, N., TAVAZZI, E., LAGANA, M. M., BAGLIO, F., CECCONI, P., VIOTTI, S., ZIVADINOV, R., BASELLI, G. & ROVARIS, M. 2016a. White matter tract injury is associated with deep gray matter iron deposition in multiple sclerosis. *J Neuroimaging*, 27, 107-113.
- BERGSLAND, N., ZIVADINOV, R., DWYER, M. G., WEINSTOCK-GUTTMAN, B. & BENEDICT, R. H. 2016b. Localized atrophy of the thalamus and slowed cognitive processing speed in MS patients. *Mult Scler*, 22, 1327-36.
- BERRIGAN, L. I., LEFEVRE, J. A., REES, L. M., BERARD, J., FREEDMAN, M. S. & WALKER, L. A. 2013. Cognition in early relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis: Consequences may be relative to working memory. *J Int Neuropsychol Soc*, 19, 938-49.
- BERTI, R., BRENNAN, M. B., SOLDAN, S. S., OHAYON, J. M., CASARETO, L., MCFARLAND, H. F. & JACOBSON, S. 2002. Increased detection of serum HHV-6 DNA sequences during multiple sclerosis (MS) exacerbations and correlation with parameters of MS disease progression. *J Neurovirol*, 8, 250-6.
- BESTER, M., FORKERT, N. D., STELLMANN, J. P., STÜRNER, K., ALY, L., DRABIK, A., YOUNG, K. L., HEESEN, C., FIEHLER, J. & SIEMONSEN, S. 2015. Increased perfusion in normal appearing white matter in high inflammatory multiple sclerosis patients. *PLoS One*, 10, e0119356.

- BESTER, M., LAZAR, M., PETRACCA, M., BABB, J. S., HERBERT, J., GROSSMAN, R. I. & INGLESE, M. 2013. Tract-specific white matter correlates of fatigue and cognitive impairment in benign multiple sclerosis. *J Neurol Sci*, 330, 61-6.
- BETHOUX, F. & MARRIE, R. A. 2016. A cross-sectional study of the impact of spasticity on daily activities in multiple sclerosis. *Patient*, 9, 537-546.
- BHARGAVA, P. & NEWSOME, S. D. 2016. An update on the evidence base for peginterferon beta1a in the treatment of relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. *Ther Adv Neurol Disord*, 9, 483-490.
- BINDER, J. R., DESAI, R. H., GRAVES, W. W. & CONANT, L. L. 2009. Where is the semantic system? A critical review and meta-analysis of 120 functional neuroimaging studies. *Cereb Cortex*, 19, 2767-96.
- BINÉTRUY, M., CHOPARD, G., LAURENT, E., GALMICHE, J., VANDEL, P., MOREAU, T. & MAGNIN, E. 2016. Slowing of information processing speed without motor slowing in multiple sclerosis observed during two crossing-off tasks. *Rev Neurol (Paris)*, 172, 225-30.
- BISECCO, A., STAMENOVA, S., CAIAZZO, G., D'AMBROSIO, A., SACCO, R., DOCIMO, R., ESPOSITO, S., CIRILLO, M., ESPOSITO, F., BONAVITA, S., TEDESCHI, G. & GALLO, A. 2017. Attention and processing speed performance in multiple sclerosis is mostly related to thalamic volume. *Brain Imaging Behav*, 12, 20-28.
- BISHOP, C. A., NEWBOULD, R. D., LEE, J. S., HONEYFIELD, L., QUEST, R., COLASANTI, A., ALI, R., MATTOSCIO, M., CORTESE, A., NICHOLAS, R., MATTHEWS, P. M., MURARO, P. A. & WALDMAN, A. D. 2017. Analysis of ageingassociated grey matter volume in patients with multiple sclerosis shows excess atrophy in subcortical regions. *Neuroimage Clin*, 13, 9-15.
- BISWAL, B., YETKIN, F. Z., HAUGHTON, V. M. & HYDE, J. S. 1995. Functional connectivity in the motor cortex of resting human brain using echo-planar MRI. *Magn Reson Med*, 34, 537-41.
- BLAIR, M., GILL, S., GUTMANIS, I., SMOLEWSKA, K., WARRINER, E. & MORROW, S. A. 2016. The mediating role of processing speed in the relationship between depressive symptoms and cognitive function in multiple sclerosis. *J Clin Exp Neuropsychol*, 38, 782-94.
- BØ, L., VEDELER, C. A., NYLAND, H. I., TRAPP, B. D. & MØRK, S. J. 2003. Subpial demyelination in the cerebral cortex of multiple sclerosis patients. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol*, 62, 723-32.
- BODLING, A. M., DENNEY, D. R. & LYNCH, S. G. 2008. Rapid serial processing in patients with multiple sclerosis: the role of peripheral deficits. *J Int Neuropsychol Soc*, 14, 646-50.
- BODLING, A. M., DENNEY, D. R. & LYNCH, S. G. 2009. Cognitive aging in patients with multiple sclerosis: A cross-sectional analysis of speeded processing. Arch Clin Neuropsychol, 24, 761-7.
- BODLING, A. M., DENNEY, D. R. & LYNCH, S. G. 2012. Individual variability in speed of information processing: An index of cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis. *Neuropsychology*, 26, 357-67.
- BOESCHOTEN, R. E., BRAAMSE, A. M., BEEKMAN, A. T., CUIJPERS, P., VAN OPPEN, P., DEKKER, J. & UITDEHAAG, B. M. 2016. Prevalence of depression and anxiety in multiple sclerosis: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Neurol Sci*, 372, 331-341.
- BOGIE, J. F., STINISSEN, P. & HENDRIKS, J. J. 2014. Macrophage subsets and microglia in multiple sclerosis. *Acta Neuropathol*, 128, 191-213.
- BOMBOI, G., IKONOMIDOU, V. N., PELLEGRINI, S., STERN, S. K., GALLO, A., AUH, S., EVANGELOU, I. E., AGARWAL, J., PELLICANO, C., OHAYON, J. M., CANTOR, F. K., EHRMANTRAUT, M., MCFARLAND, H. F., KANE, R. L. & BAGNATO, F. 2011. Quality and quantity of diffuse and focal white matter disease and cognitive disability of patients with multiple sclerosis. *J Neuroimaging*, 21, e57-63.
- BONAVITA, S., GALLO, A., SACCO, R., CORTE, M. D., BISECCO, A., DOCIMO, R., LAVORGNA, L., CORBO, D., COSTANZO, A. D., TORTORA, F., CIRILLO, M., ESPOSITO, F. & TEDESCHI, G. 2011. Distributed changes in default-mode restingstate connectivity in multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler*, 17, 411-22.
- BONAVITA, S., SACCO, R., DELLA CORTE, M., ESPOSITO, S., SPARACO, M., D'AMBROSIO, A., DOCIMO, R., BISECCO, A., LAVORGNA, L., CORBO, D., CIRILLO, S., GALLO, A., ESPOSITO, F. & TEDESCHI, G. 2015. Computer-aided

cognitive rehabilitation improves cognitive performances and induces brain functional connectivity changes in relapsing remitting multiple sclerosis patients: An exploratory study. *J Neurol*, 262, 91-100.

- BONAVITÁ, S., SACCO, R., ESPOSITO, S., D'AMBROSIO, A., DELLA CORTE, M., CORBO, D., DOCIMO, R., GALLO, A., LAVORGNA, L., CIRILLO, M., BISECCO, A., ESPOSITO, F. & TEDESCHI, G. 2017. Default mode network changes in multiple sclerosis: A link between depression and cognitive impairment? *Eur J Neurol*, 24, 27-36.
- BONNELLE, V., HAM, T. E., LEECH, R., KINNUNEN, K. M., MEHTA, M. A., GREENWOOD, R. J. & SHARP, D. J. 2012. Salience network integrity predicts default mode network function after traumatic brain injury. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 109, 4690-5.
- BONNET, M. C., ALLARD, M., DILHARREGUY, B., DELOIRE, M., PETRY, K. G. & BROCHET, B. 2010. Cognitive compensation failure in multiple sclerosis. *Neurology*, 75, 1241-8.
- BONZANO, L., PARDINI, M., MANCARDI, G. L., PIZZORNO, M. & ROCCATAGLIATA, L. 2008. Structural connectivity influences brain activation during PVSAT in multiple sclerosis. *Neuroimage*, 44, 9-15.
- BORGHESANI, P. R., MADHYASTHA, T. M., AYLWARD, E. H., REITER, M. A., SWARNY, B. R., SCHAIE, K. W. & WILLIS, S. L. 2013. The association between higher order abilities, processing speed, and age are variably mediated by white matter integrity during typical aging. *Neuropsychologia*, 51, 1435-44.
- BOSTRÖM, I. & LANDTBLOM, A. M. 2015. Does the changing sex ratio of multiple sclerosis give opportunities for intervention? *Acta Neurol Scand*, 132, 42-5.
- BOTT, N. T., BETTCHER, B. M., YOKOYAMA, J. S., FRAZIER, D. T., WYNN, M., KARYDAS, A., YAFFE, K. & KRAMER, J. H. 2017. Youthful processing speed in older adults: Genetic, biological, and behavioral predictors of cognitive processing speed trajectories in aging. *Front Aging Neurosci*, 9, 55.
- BOUAFIA, A., GOLMARD, J. L., THURIES, V., SAZDOVITCH, V., HAUW, J. J., FONTAINE,
   B. & SEILHEAN, D. 2014. Axonal expression of sodium channels and neuropathology of the plaques in multiple sclerosis. *Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol*, 40, 579-90.
- BOUTIÈRE, C., REY, C., ZAARAOUI, W., LE TROTER, A., RICO, A., CRESPY, L., ACHARD, S., REUTER, F., PARIOLLAUD, F., WIRSICH, J., ASQUINAZI, P., CONFORT-GOUNY, S., SOULIER, E., GUYE, M., PELLETIER, J., RANJEVA, J. P. & AUDOIN, B. 2016. Improvement of spasticity following intermittent theta burst stimulation in multiple sclerosis is associated with modulation of resting-state functional connectivity of the primary motor cortices. *Mult Scler*, 23, 855-863.
- BOZZALI, M., SPANO, B., PARKER, G. J., GIULIETTI, G., CASTELLI, M., BASILE, B., ROSSI, S., SERRA, L., MAGNANI, G., NOCENTINI, U., CALTAGIRONE, C., CENTONZE, D. & CERCIGNANI, M. 2013. Anatomical brain connectivity can assess cognitive dysfunction in multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler*, 19, 1161-8.
- BRAMOW, S., FRISCHER, J. M., LASSMANN, H., KOCH-HENRIKSEN, N., LUCCHINETTI, C. F., SORENSEN, P. S. & LAURSEN, H. 2010. Demyelination versus remyelination in progressive multiple sclerosis. *Brain*, 133, 2983-98.
- BRENNER, P. & PIEHL, F. 2016. Fatigue and depression in multiple sclerosis: Pharmacological and non-pharmacological interventions. *Acta Neurol Scand*, 134 Suppl 200, 47-54.
- BRETT, M., ANTON, J., VALABREGUE, R. & POLINE, J. 2002. Region of interest analysis using an SPM toolbox [abstract] Presented at the 8th International Conference on Functional Mapping of the Human Brain, June 2-6, 2002, Sendai, Japan. 16.
- BREUER, J., SCHWAB, N., SCHNEIDER-HOHENDORF, T., MARZINIAK, M., MOHAN, H., BHATIA, U., GROSS, C. C., CLAUSEN, B. E., WEISHAUPT, C., LUGER, T. A., MEUTH, S. G., LOSER, K. & WIENDL, H. 2014. Ultraviolet B light attenuates the systemic immune response in central nervous system autoimmunity. *Ann Neurol*, 75, 739-58.
- BROOKS, J. B., GIRAUD, V. O., SALEH, Y. J., RODRIGUES, S. J., DAIA, L. A. & FRAGOSO, Y. D. 2011. Paced auditory serial addition test (PASAT): A very difficult test even for individuals with high intellectual capability. *Arg Neuropsiquiatr*, 69, 482-4.
- BROWN, J. W. & CHARD, D. T. 2016. The role of MRI in the evaluation of secondary progressive multiple sclerosis. *Expert Rev Neurother*, 16, 157-71.

- BROWN, J. W., PARDINI, M., BROWNLEE, W. J., FERNANDO, K., SAMSON, R. S., PRADOS CARRASCO, F., OURSELIN, S., GANDINI WHEELER-KINGSHOTT, C. A., MILLER, D. H. & CHARD, D. T. 2017. An abnormal periventricular magnetization transfer ratio gradient occurs early in multiple sclerosis. *Brain*, 140, 387-398.
- BROWN, T. R. & SLEE, A. 2015. A randomized placebo-controlled trial of duloxetine for central pain in multiple sclerosis. *Int J MS Care*, 17, 83-9.
- BROWNE, C., SALMON, N. & KEHOE, M. 2015. Bladder dysfunction and quality of life for people with multiple sclerosis. *Disabil Rehabil*, 37, 2350-8.
- BROWNE, P., CHANDRARATNA, D., ANGOOD, C., TREMLETT, H., BAKER, C., TAYLOR,
  B. V. & THOMPSON, A. J. 2014. Atlas of multiple sclerosis 2013: A growing global problem with widespread inequity. *Neurology*, 83, 1022-4.
- BUBB, E. J., METZLER-BADDELEY, C. & AGGLETON, J. P. 2018. The cingulum bundle: Anatomy, function, and dysfunction. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev*.
- BUCKNER, R. L., ANDREWS-HANNA, J. R. & SCHACTER, D. L. 2008. The brain's default network: Anatomy, function, and relevance to disease. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, 1124, 1-38.
- BURIANOVA, H., MCINTOSH, A. R. & GRADY, C. L. 2009. A common functional brain network for autobiographical, episodic, and semantic memory retrieval. *Neuroimage*, 49, 865-74.
- BUSCHKE, H. 1973. Selective reminding for analysis of memory and learning. J Verbal Learning Verbal Behav, 12, 543-550.
- BUZZARD, K. A., BROADLEY, S. A. & BUTZKUEVEN, H. 2012. What do effective treatments for multiple sclerosis tell us about the molecular mechanisms involved in pathogenesis? *Int J Mol Sci*, 13, 12665-709.
- CALABRESE, M., AGOSTA, F., RINALDI, F., MATTISI, I., GROSSI, P., FAVARETTO, A., ATZORI, M., BERNARDI, V., BARACHINO, L., RINALDI, L., PERINI, P., GALLO, P. & FILIPPI, M. 2009. Cortical lesions and atrophy associated with cognitive impairment in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. *Arch Neurol*, 66, 1144-50.
- CALABRESE, M., MAGLIOZZI, R., CICCARELLI, O., GEURTS, J. J., REYNOLDS, R. & MARTIN, R. 2015. Exploring the origins of grey matter damage in multiple sclerosis. *Nat Rev Neurosci*, 16, 147-58.
- CALHOUN, V. D., ADALI, T., PEARLSON, G. D. & PEKAR, J. J. 2001. A method for making group inferences from functional MRI data using independent component analysis. *Hum Brain Mapp*, 14, 140-51.
- CAMERON, M. H., HORAK, F. B., HERNDON, R. R. & BOURDETTE, D. 2008. Imbalance in multiple sclerosis: A result of slowed spinal somatosensory conduction. *Somatosens Mot Res*, 25, 113-22.
- CAMP, S. J., STEVENSON, V. L., THOMPSON, A. J., MILLER, D. H., BORRAS, C., AURIACOMBE, S., BROCHET, B., FALAUTANO, M., FILIPPI, M., HERISSE-DULO, L., MONTALBAN, X., PARRCIRA, E., POLMAN, C. H., DE SA, J. & LANGDON, D. W. 1999. Cognitive function in primary progressive and transitional progressive multiple sclerosis: A controlled study with MRI correlates. *Brain*, 122 (Pt 7), 1341-8.
- CAMPBELL, G. R., WORRALL, J. T. & MAHAD, D. J. 2014. The central role of mitochondria in axonal degeneration in multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler*, 20, 1806-13.
- CAMPBELL, J., LANGDON, D., CERCIGNANI, M. & RASHID, W. 2017a. A randomised controlled trial of efficacy of cognitive rehabilitation in multiple sclerosis: A cognitive, behavioural, and MRI study. *Neural Plast*, 2016, 4292585.
- CAMPBELL, J., RASHID, W., CERCIGNANI, M. & LANGDON, D. 2017b. Cognitive impairment among patients with multiple sclerosis: Associations with employment and quality of life. *Postgrad Med J*, 93, 143-147.
- CAO, X., YAO, Y., LI, T., CHENG, Y., FENG, W., SHEN, Y., LI, Q., JIANG, L., WU, W., WANG, J., SHENG, J., FENG, J. & LI, C. 2016. The impact of cognitive training on cerebral white matter in community-dwelling elderly: One-year prospective longitudinal diffusion tensor imaging study. *Sci Rep*, 6, 33212.
- CAPOTOSTO, P., BABILONI, C., ROMANI, G. L. & CORBETTA, M. 2011. Differential contribution of right and left parietal cortex to the control of spatial attention: A simultaneous EEG-rTMS study. *Cereb Cortex*, 22, 446-54.
- CARDINAL, K. S., WILSON, S. M., GIESSER, B. S., DRAIN, A. E. & SICOTTE, N. L. 2008. A longitudinal fMRI study of the paced auditory serial addition task. *Mult Scler*, 14, 465-71.

- CARTA, M. G., MORO, M. F., LOREFICE, L., TRINCAS, G., COCCO, E., DEL GIUDICE, E., FENU, G., COLOM, F. & MARROSU, M. G. 2013. The risk of bipolar disorders in multiple sclerosis. *J Affect Disord*, 155, 255-60.
- CATANI, M. & THIEBAUT DE SCHOTTEN, M. 2008. A diffusion tensor imaging tractography atlas for virtual in vivo dissections. *Cortex*, 44, 1105-32.
- CAUDA, F., TORTA, D. M., SACCO, K., D'AGATA, F., GEDA, E., DUCA, S., GEMINIANI, G.
   & VERCELLI, A. 2013. Functional anatomy of cortical areas characterized by Von Economo neurons. *Brain Struct Funct*, 218, 1-20.
- CECCARELLI, A., ROCCA, M. A., VALSASINA, P., RODEGHER, M., FALINI, A., COMI, G. & FILIPPI, M. 2010. Structural and functional magnetic resonance imaging correlates of motor network dysfunction in primary progressive multiple sclerosis. *Eur J Neurosci*, 31, 1273-80.
- CELIK, D. B., POYRAZ, E. Ç., BINGÖL, A., IDIMAN, E., OZAKBAŞ, S. & KAYA, D. 2013. Sexual dysfunction in multiple sclerosis: Gender differences. *J Neurol Sci*, 324, 17-20.
- CEPEDA, N. J., BLACKWELL, K. A. & MUNAKATA, Y. 2013. Speed isn't everything: complex processing speed measures mask individual differences and developmental changes in executive control. *Dev Sci*, 16, 269-86.
- CERASA, A., VALENTINO, P., CHIRIACO, C., PIRRITANO, D., NISTICÒ, R., GIOIA, C. M., TROTTA, M., DEL GIUDICE, F., TALLARICO, T., ROCCA, F., AUGIMERI, A., BILOTTI, G. & QUATTRONE, A. 2013. MR imaging and cognitive correlates of relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis patients with cerebellar symptoms. *J Neurol*, 260, 1358-66.
- CEREZO GARCÍA, M., MARTÍN PLASENCIA, P. & ALADRO BENITO, Y. 2015. Alteration profile of executive functions in multiple sclerosis. *Acta Neurol Scand*, 131, 313-20.
- CERMELLI, C., BERTI, R., SOLDAN, S. S., MAYNE, M., D'AMBROSIA J, M., LUDWIN, S.
   K. & JACOBSON, S. 2003. High frequency of human herpesvirus 6 DNA in multiple sclerosis plaques isolated by laser microdissection. *J Infect Dis*, 187, 1377-87.
- CHARIL, A., ZIJDENBOS, A. P., TAYLOR, J., BOELMAN, C., WORSLEY, K. J., EVANS, A.
   C. & DAGHER, A. 2003. Statistical mapping analysis of lesion location and neurological disability in multiple sclerosis: Application to 452 patient data sets. *Neuroimage*, 19, 532-44.
- CHARVET, L. E., SHAW, M. T., SHERMAN, K., HAAS, S. & KRUPP, L. B. 2018. Timed instrumental activities of daily living in multiple sclerosis: The test of everyday cognitive ability (TECA). *Mult Scler Relat Disord*, 23, 69-73.
- CHIANG, G. C., PINTO, S., COMUNALE, J. P. & GAUTHIER, S. A. 2016. Gadoliniumenhancing lesions lead to decreases in white matter tract fractional anisotropy in multiple sclerosis. *J Neuroimaging*, 26, 289-95.
- CHIARAVALLOTI, N. D., CHRISTODOULOU, C., DEMAREE, H. A. & DELUCA, J. 2003. Differentiating simple versus complex processing speed: Influence on new learning and memory performance. *J Clin Exp Neuropsychol*, 25, 489-501.
- CHIARAVALLOTI, N. D. & DELUCA, J. 2008. Cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis. *Lancet Neurol*, 7, 1139-51.
- CHIARAVALLOTI, N. D., GENOVA, H. M. & DELUCA, J. 2015. Cognitive rehabilitation in multiple sclerosis: The role of plasticity. *Front Neurol*, 6, 67.
- CHIARAVALLOTI, N. D., GOVEROVER, Y., COSTA, S. L. & DELUCA, J. 2018. A pilot study examining speed of processing training (SPT) to improve processing speed in persons with multiple sclerosis. *Front Neurol*, 9, 685.
- CHIARAVALLOTI, N. D., STOJANOVIC-RADIC, J. & DELUCA, J. 2013. The role of speed versus working memory in predicting learning new information in multiple sclerosis. *J Clin Exp Neuropsychol*, 35, 180-91.
- CHOI, S. R., HOWELL, O. W., CARASSITI, D., MAGLIOZZI, R., GVERIC, D., MURARO, P. A., NICHOLAS, R., RONCAROLI, F. & REYNOLDS, R. 2012. Meningeal inflammation plays a role in the pathology of primary progressive multiple sclerosis. *Brain*, 135, 2925-37.
- CHRISTODOULOU, C., MELVILLE, P., SCHERL, W. F., MACALLISTER, W. S., ELKINS, L. E. & KRUPP, L. B. 2006. Effects of donepezil on memory and cognition in multiple sclerosis. *J Neurol Sci*, 245, 127-36.
- CHUN, J. & BRINKMANN, V. 2011. A mechanistically novel, first oral therapy for multiple sclerosis: The development of fingolimod (FTY720, Gilenya). *Discov Med*, 12, 213-28.

- CHUN, J. & HARTUNG, H. P. 2010. Mechanism of action of oral fingolimod (FTY720) in multiple sclerosis. *Clin Neuropharmacol*, 33, 91-101.
- CHWASTIAK, L., EHDE, D. M., GIBBONS, L. E., SULLIVAN, M., BOWEN, J. D. & KRAFT,
   G. H. 2002. Depressive symptoms and severity of illness in multiple sclerosis: Epidemiologic study of a large community sample. *Am J Psychiatry*, 159, 1862-8.
- CICCARELLI, O., CATANI, M., JOHANSEN-BERG, H., CLARK, C. & THOMPSON, A. 2008. Diffusion-based tractography in neurological disorders: Concepts, applications, and future developments. *Lancet Neurol*, 7, 715-27.
- CLERICO, M., ARTUSI, C. A., LIBERTO, A. D., ROLLA, S., BARDINA, V., BARBERO, P., MERCANTI, S. F. & DURELLI, L. 2017. Natalizumab in multiple sclerosis: Long-term management. *Int J Mol Sci*, 18, 940.
- COCCO, E. & MARROSU, M. G. 2014. The current role of mitoxantrone in the treatment of multiple sclerosis. *Expert Rev Neurother*, 14, 607-16.
- COHEN, J. A., BARKHOF, F., COMI, G., HARTUNG, H. P., KHATRI, B. O., MONTALBAN, X., PELLETIER, J., CAPRA, R., GALLO, P., IZQUIERDO, G., TIEL-WILCK, K., DE VERA, A., JIN, J., STITES, T., WU, S., ARADHYE, S. & KAPPOS, L. 2010. Oral fingolimod or intramuscular interferon for relapsing multiple sclerosis. *N Engl J Med*, 362, 402-15.
- COHEN, J. A. & CHUN, J. 2011. Mechanisms of fingolimod's efficacy and adverse effects in multiple sclerosis. *Ann Neurol*, 69, 759-77.
- COLES, A. J., TWYMAN, C. L., ARNOLD, D. L., COHEN, J. A., CONFAVREUX, C., FOX, E. J., HARTUNG, H. P., HAVRDOVA, E., SELMAJ, K. W., WEINER, H. L., MILLER, T., FISHER, E., SANDBRINK, R., LAKE, S. L., MARGOLIN, D. H., OYUELA, P., PANZARA, M. A. & COMPSTON, D. A. 2012. Alemtuzumab for patients with relapsing multiple sclerosis after disease-modifying therapy: A randomised controlled phase 3 trial. *Lancet*, 380, 1829-39.
- COLLINS, D. L., NEELIN, P., PETERS, T. M. & EVANS, A. C. 1994. Automatic 3D intersubject registration of MR volumetric data in standardized Talairach space. *J Comput Assist Tomogr*, 18, 192-205.
- COLLINS, F., KAZMI, M. & MURARO, P. A. 2017. Progress and prospects for the use and the understanding of the mode of action of autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in the treatment of multiple sclerosis. *Expert Rev Clin Immunol,* 13, 611-622.
- COMI, G., BATTAGLIA, M. A., BERTOLOTTO, A., DEL SETTE, M., GHEZZI, A., MALFERRARI, G., SALVETTI, M., SORMANI, M. P., TESIO, L., STOLZ, E., ZARATIN, P. & MANCARDI, G. 2013. Observational case-control study of the prevalence of chronic cerebrospinal venous insufficiency in multiple sclerosis: results from the CoSMo study. *Mult Scler*, 19, 1508-17.
- COMPSTON, A. & COLES, A. 2008. Multiple sclerosis. Lancet, 372, 1502-17.
- COMPSTON, A., CONFAVREAUX, C., LASSMANN, H., MCDONALD, I., MILLER, D., NOSEWORTHY, J., SMITH, K. & WEKERLE, H. 2006. *McAlpine's multiple sclerosis,* London, Churchill Livingstone/Elsevier.
- CONFAVREUX, C., O'CONNOR, P., COMI, G., FREEDMAN, M. S., MILLER, A. E., OLSSON, T. P., WOLINSKY, J. S., BAGULHO, T., DELHAY, J. L., DUKOVIC, D., TRUFFINET, P. & KAPPOS, L. 2014. Oral teriflunomide for patients with relapsing multiple sclerosis (TOWER): A randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 3 trial. *Lancet Neurol*, 13, 247-56.
- CONFAVREUX, C., VUKUSIC, S., MOREAU, T. & ADELEINE, P. 2000. Relapses and progression of disability in multiple sclerosis. *N Engl J Med*, 343, 1430-8.
- CORSI, P. M. 1972. Human memory and the medial temporal region of the brain. *Dis Abstr Intl*, 34, 819B.
- COSTA, S. L., GENOVA, H. M., DELUCA, J. & CHIARAVALLOTI, N. D. 2017. Information processing speed in multiple sclerosis: Past, present, and future. *Mult Scler*, 23, 772-789.
- COSTA, S. L., GONÇALVES, Ó. F., CHIARAVALLOTI, N. D., DELUCA, J. & ALMEIDA, J. 2015. Neuro-ophthalmic syndromes and processing speed in multiple sclerosis. *J Neuroophthalmol*, 36, 23-8.
- COSTA, S. L., GONÇALVES, O. F., DELUCA, J., CHIARAVALLOTI, N., CHAKRAVARTHI, R. & ALMEIDA, J. 2016. The temporal dynamics of visual processing in multiple sclerosis. *Appl Neuropsychol Adult,* 23, 133-40.

- COTTER, J., FIRTH, J., ENZINGER, C., KONTOPANTELIS, E., YUNG, A. R., ELLIOTT, R. & DRAKE, R. J. 2016. Social cognition in multiple sclerosis: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Neurology*, 87, 1727-1736.
- COULL, J. T., FRITH, C. D., FRACKOWIAK, R. S. & GRASBY, P. M. 1996. A fronto-parietal network for rapid visual information processing: A PET study of sustained attention and working memory. *Neuropsychologia*, 34, 1085-95.
- COVEY, T. J., SHUCARD, J. L. & SHUCARD, D. W. 2017. Event-related brain potential indices of cognitive function and brain resource reallocation during working memory in patients with multiple sclerosis. *Clin Neurophysiol*, 128, 604-621.
- COX, A. L., THOMPSON, S. A., JONES, J. L., ROBERTSON, V. H., HALE, G., WALDMANN, H., COMPSTON, D. A. & COLES, A. J. 2005. Lymphocyte homeostasis following therapeutic lymphocyte depletion in multiple sclerosis. *Eur J Immunol*, 35, 3332-42.
- CRIVELLI, L., FAREZ, M. F., GONZALEZ, C. D., FIOL, M., AMENGUAL, A., LEIGUARDA, R. & CORREALE, J. 2012. Alerting network dysfunction in early multiple sclerosis. J Int Neuropsychol Soc, 18, 757-63.
- CROSSMAN, E. R. F. W. & SZAFRAN, J. 1956. Changes with age in the speed of information intake and discrimination. *Experientia Supplementum IV Symposium on Experimental Gerontology*, 4, 128-135.
- CRUZ-GOMEZ, Á. J., VENTURA-CAMPOS, N., BELENGUER, A., ÁVILA, C. & FORN, C. 2014. The link between resting-state functional connectivity and cognition in MS patients. *Mult Scler*, 20, 338-48.
- CUI, F., ZHOU, L., WANG, Z., LANG, C., PARK, J., TAN, Z., YU, Y., SUN, C., GAO, Y. & KONG, J. 2017. Altered functional connectivity of striatal subregions in patients with multiple sclerosis. *Front Neurol*, *8*, 129.
- CUMMINGS, J. L. & BENSON, D. F. 1984. Subcortical dementia. Review of an emerging concept. *Arch Neurol*, 41, 874-9.
- CUTTER, G. R., BAIER, M. L., RUDICK, R. A., COOKFAIR, D. L., FISCHER, J. S., PETKAU, J., SYNDULKO, K., WEINSHENKER, B. G., ANTEL, J. P., CONFAVREUX, C., ELLISON, G. W., LUBLIN, F., MILLER, A. E., RAO, S. M., REINGOLD, S., THOMPSON, A. & WILLOUGHBY, E. 1999. Development of a multiple sclerosis functional composite as a clinical trial outcome measure. *Brain*, 122 (Pt 5), 871-82.
- D'AMICO, E., LEONE, C., HAYRETTIN, T. & PATTI, F. 2016. Can we define a rehabilitation strategy for cognitive impairment in progressive multiple sclerosis? A critical appraisal. *Mult Scler,* 22, 581-9.
- D'ESPOSITO, M., POSTLE, B. R. & RYPMA, B. 2000. Prefrontal cortical contributions to working memory: evidence from event-related fMRI studies. *Exp Brain Res,* 133, 3-11.
- D'HAESELEER, M., BEELEN, R., FIERENS, Y., CAMBRON, M., VANBINST, A. M., VERBORGH, C., DEMEY, J. & DE KEYSER, J. 2013. Cerebral hypoperfusion in multiple sclerosis is reversible and mediated by endothelin-1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 110, 5654-8.
- D'HAESELEER, M., HOSTENBACH, S., PEETERS, I., SANKARI, S. E., NAGELS, G., DE KEYSER, J. & D'HOOGHE M, B. 2015. Cerebral hypoperfusion: A new pathophysiologic concept in multiple sclerosis? *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab*, 35, 1406-10.
- DALTON, C. M., BODINI, B., SAMSON, R. S., BATTAGLINI, M., FISNIKU, L. K., THOMPSON, A. J., CICCARELLI, O., MILLER, D. H. & CHARD, D. T. 2011. Brain lesion location and clinical status 20 years after a diagnosis of clinically isolated syndrome suggestive of multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler*, 18, 322-8.
- DALTON, C. M., BREX, P. A., MISZKIEL, K. A., HICKMAN, S. J., MACMANUS, D. G., PLANT, G. T., THOMPSON, A. J. & MILLER, D. H. 2002. Application of the new McDonald criteria to patients with clinically isolated syndromes suggestive of multiple sclerosis. *Ann Neurol*, 52, 47-53.
- DAMASCENO, A., DAMASCENO, B. P. & CENDES, F. 2014. The clinical impact of cerebellar grey matter pathology in multiple sclerosis. *PLoS One*, 9, e96193.
- DAMOISEAUX, J. S. & GREICIUS, M. D. 2009. Greater than the sum of its parts: a review of studies combining structural connectivity and resting-state functional connectivity. *Brain Struct Funct*, 213, 525-33.
- DARDIOTIS, E., NOUSIA, A., SIOKAS, V., TSOURIS, Z., ANDRAVIZOU, A., MENTIS, A. A., FLOROU, D., MESSINIS, L. & NASIOS, G. 2018. Efficacy of computer-based

cognitive training in neuropsychological performance of patients with multiple sclerosis: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*, 20, 58-66.

- DASNAIR, R., GRIFFITHS, H., CLARKE, S., METHLEY, A., KNEEBONE, I. & TOPCU, G. 2018. Everyday memory measures in multiple sclerosis: a systematic review. *Neuropsychol Rehabil*, 1-26.
- DAVIS, A. S., HERTZA, J., WILLIAMS, R. N., GUPTA, A. S. & OHLY, J. G. 2009. The influence of corrected visual acuity on visual attention and incidental learning in patients with multiple sclerosis. *Appl Neuropsychol*, 16, 165-8.
- DE GIGLIO, L., DE LUCA, F., PROSPERINI, L., BORRIELLO, G., BIANCHI, V., PANTANO, P. & POZZILLI, C. 2015. A low-cost cognitive rehabilitation with a commercial video game improves sustained attention and executive functions in multiple sclerosis: a pilot study. *Neurorehabil Neural Repair*, 29, 453-61.
- DE GIGLIO, L., TONA, F., DE LUCA, F., PETSAS, N., PROSPERINI, L., BIANCHI, V., POZZILLI, C. & PANTANO, P. 2016. Multiple sclerosis: changes in thalamic restingstate functional connectivity induced by a home-based cognitive rehabilitation program. *Radiology*, 280, 202-11.
- DE MARCO, M., DUZZI, D., MENEGHELLO, F. & VENNERI, A. 2017. Cognitive efficiency in Alzheimer's disease is associated with increased occipital connectivity. *J Alzheimers Dis*, 57, 541-556.
- DE MARCO, M., MENEGHELLO, F., DUZZI, D., RIGON, J., PILOSIO, C. & VENNERI, A. 2016. Cognitive stimulation of the default-mode network modulates functional connectivity in healthy aging. *Brain Res Bull*, 121, 26-41.
- DE MARCO, M., MENEGHELLO, F., PILOSIO, C., RIGON, J. & VENNERI, A. 2018. Upregulation of DMN connectivity in mild cognitive impairment via network-based cognitive training. *Curr Alzheimer Res*, 15, 578-589.
- DE SEZE, J. 2013. Inflammatory optic neuritis: From multiple sclerosis to neuromyelitis optica. *Neuroophthalmology*, 37, 141-145.
- DE SIMONI, C. & VON BASTIAN, C. C. 2018. Working memory updating and binding training: Bayesian evidence supporting the absence of transfer. J Exp Psychol Gen, 147, 829-858.
- DE SONNEVILLE, L. M., BORINGA, J. B., REULING, I. E., LAZERON, R. H., ADÈR, H. J. & POLMAN, C. H. 2002. Information processing characteristics in subtypes of multiple sclerosis. *Neuropsychologia*, 40, 1751-65.
- DE STEFANO, N. & ARNOLD, D. L. 2015. Towards a better understanding of pseudoatrophy in the brain of multiple sclerosis patients. *Mult Scler*, 21, 675-6.
- DE STEFANO, N., COCCO, E., LAI, M., BATTAGLINI, M., SPISSU, A., MARCHI, P., FLORIS, G., MORTILLA, M., STROMILLO, M. L., PAOLILLO, A., FEDERICO, A. & MARROSU, M. G. 2006. Imaging brain damage in first-degree relatives of sporadic and familial multiple sclerosis. *Ann Neurol*, 59, 634-9.
- DE STEFANO, N., SILVA, D. G. & BARNETT, M. H. 2017. Effect of fingolimod on brain volume loss in patients with multiple sclerosis. *CNS Drugs*, 31, 289-305.
- DEBERNARD, L., MELZER, T. R., VAN STOCKUM, S., GRAHAM, C., WHEELER-KINGSHOTT, C. A., DALRYMPLE-ALFORD, J. C., MILLER, D. H. & MASON, D. F. 2014. Reduced grey matter perfusion without volume loss in early relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*, 85, 544-51.
- DELOIRE, M. S., RUET, A., HAMEL, D., BONNET, M., DOUSSET, V. & BROCHET, B. 2011. MRI predictors of cognitive outcome in early multiple sclerosis. *Neurology*, 76, 1161-7.
- DELOIRE, M. S., SALORT, E., BONNET, M., ARIMONE, Y., BOUDINEAU, M., AMIEVA, H., BARROSO, B., OUALLET, J. C., PACHAI, C., GALLIAUD, E., PETRY, K. G., DOUSSET, V., FABRIGOULE, C. & BROCHET, B. 2005. Cognitive impairment as marker of diffuse brain abnormalities in early relapsing remitting multiple sclerosis. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry, 76, 519-26.
- DELUCA, G. C., YATES, R. L., BEALE, H. & MORROW, S. A. 2014. Cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis: Clinical, radiologic and pathologic insights. *Brain Pathol,* 25, 79-98.
- DELUCA, J., BARBIERI-BERGER, S. & JOHNSON, S. K. 1994. The nature of memory impairments in multiple sclerosis: acquisition versus retrieval. *J Clin Exp Neuropsychol,* 16, 183-9.

DELUCA, J., CHELUNE, G. J., TULSKY, D. S., LENGENFELDER, J. & CHIARAVALLOTI, N. D. 2004. Is speed of processing or working memory the primary information processing deficit in multiple sclerosis? J Clin Exp Neuropsychol, 26, 550-62.

- DELUCA, J. & KALMAR, J. H. 2007. Information processing speed in clinical populations, New York, Psychology Press.
- DEMAREE, H. A., DELUCA, J., GAUDINO, E. A. & DIAMOND, B. J. 1999. Speed of information processing as a key deficit in multiple sclerosis: Implications for rehabilitation. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry, 67, 661-3.
- DENDROU, C. A., FUGGER, L. & FRIESE, M. A. 2015. Immunopathology of multiple sclerosis. *Nat Rev Immunol*, 15, 545-58.
- DENNEY, D. R., GALLAGHER, K. S. & LYNCH, S. G. 2011. Deficits in processing speed in patients with multiple sclerosis: Evidence from explicit and covert measures. *Arch Clin Neuropsychol*, 26, 110-9.
- DENNEY, D. R., HUGHES, A. J., ELLIOTT, J. K., ROTH, A. K. & LYNCH, S. G. 2015. Incidental learning during rapid information processing on the Symbol-Digit Modalities Test. *Arch Clin Neuropsychol,* 30, 322-8.
- DENNEY, D. R. & LYNCH, S. G. 2009. The impact of multiple sclerosis on patients' performance on the Stroop Test: Processing speed versus interference. *J Int Neuropsychol Soc*, 15, 451-8.
- DENNEY, D. R., LYNCH, S. G. & PARMENTER, B. A. 2008. A 3-year longitudinal study of cognitive impairment in patients with primary progressive multiple sclerosis: Speed matters. *J Neurol Sci*, 267, 129-36.
- DENNEY, D. R., LYNCH, S. G., PARMENTER, B. A. & HORNE, N. 2004. Cognitive impairment in relapsing and primary progressive multiple sclerosis: mostly a matter of speed. J Int Neuropsychol Soc, 10, 948-56.
- DEPPE, M., KRÄMER, J., TENBERGE, J. G., MARINELL, J., SCHWINDT, W., DEPPE, K., GROPPA, S., WIENDL, H. & MEUTH, S. G. 2016. Early silent microstructural degeneration and atrophy of the thalamocortical network in multiple sclerosis. *Hum Brain Mapp*, 37, 1866-79.
- DEPPE, M., TABELOW, K., KRÄMER, J., TENBERGE, J. G., SCHIFFLER, P., BITTNER, S., SCHWINDT, W., ZIPP, F., WIENDL, H. & MEUTH, S. G. 2015. Evidence for early, non-lesional cerebellar damage in patients with multiple sclerosis: DTI measures correlate with disability, atrophy, and disease duration. *Mult Scler*, 22, 73-84.
- DERACHE, N., MARIÉ, R. M., CONSTANS, J. M. & DEFER, G. L. 2006. Reduced thalamic and cerebellar rest metabolism in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis, a positron emission tomography study: Correlations to lesion load. *J Neurol Sci*, 245, 103-9.
- DEVERE, T. R., TROTTER, J. L. & CROSS, A. H. 2000. Acute aphasia in multiple sclerosis. *Arch Neurol*, 57, 1207-9.
- DI BENEDETTO, P., DELNERI, C., BIASUTTI, E., BRAGADIN, L. M. & GIORGINI, T. 2008. Vesicourethral dysfunction in multiple sclerosis. Initial assessment based on lower urinary tract symptoms and their pathophysiology. *Neurol Sci*, 29 Suppl 4, S348-51.
- DIAMOND, B. J., JOHNSON, S. K., KAUFMAN, M. & GRAVES, L. 2008. Relationships between information processing, depression, fatigue and cognition in multiple sclerosis. *Arch Clin Neuropsychol*, 23, 189-99.
- DIAZ-OLAVARRIETA, C., CUMMINGS, J. L., VELAZQUEZ, J. & GARCIA DE LA CADENA, C. 1999. Neuropsychiatric manifestations of multiple sclerosis. *J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci*, 11, 51-7.
- DINEEN, R. A., VILISAAR, J., HLINKA, J., BRADSHAW, C. M., MORGAN, P. S., CONSTANTINESCU, C. S. & AUER, D. P. 2009. Disconnection as a mechanism for cognitive dysfunction in multiple sclerosis. *Brain*, 132, 239-49.
- DOBRYAKOVA, E., DELUCA, J., GENOVA, H. M. & WYLIE, G. R. 2013. Neural correlates of cognitive fatigue: cortico-striatal circuitry and effort-reward imbalance. *J Int Neuropsychol Soc,* 19, 849-53.
- DOBRYAKOVA, E., GENOVA, H. M., DELUCA, J. & WYLIE, G. R. 2015. The dopamine imbalance hypothesis of fatigue in multiple sclerosis and other neurological disorders. *Front Neurol,* 6.
- DOGONOWSKI, A. M., SIEBNER, H. R., SOELBERG SØRENSEN, P., PAULSON, O. B., DYRBY, T. B., BLINKENBERG, M. & MADSEN, K. H. 2013a. Resting-state connectivity of pre-motor cortex reflects disability in multiple sclerosis. *Acta Neurol Scand*, 128, 328-35.

- DOGONOWSKI, A. M., SIEBNER, H. R., SØRENSEN, P. S., WU, X., BISWAL, B., PAULSON, O. B., DYRBY, T. B., SKIMMINGE, A., BLINKENBERG, M. & MADSEN, K. H. 2013b. Expanded functional coupling of subcortical nuclei with the motor restingstate network in multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler*, 19, 559-66.
- DOMINGUES, H. S., PORTUGAL, C. C., SOCODATO, R. & RELVAS, J. B. 2016. Oligodendrocyte, astrocyte, and microglia crosstalk in myelin development, damage, and repair. *Front Cell Dev Biol*, 4, 71.
- DÖRR, J. & BAUM, K. 2016. Alemtuzumab in the treatment of multiple sclerosis: Patient selection and special considerations. *Drug Des Devel Ther*, 10, 3379-3386.
- DÖRR, J. & PAUL, F. 2015. The transition from first-line to second-line therapy in multiple sclerosis. *Curr Treat Options Neurol*, 17, 354.
- DOTY, R. L., TOURBIER, I. A., PHAM, D. L., CUZZOCREO, J. L., UDUPA, J. K., KARACALI, B., BEALS, E., FABIUS, L., LEON-SARMIENTO, F. E., MOONIS, G., KIM, T., MIHAMA, T., GECKLE, R. J. & YOUSEM, D. M. 2016. Taste dysfunction in multiple sclerosis. *J Neurol*, 263, 677-88.
- DRAKE, A. S., WEINSTOCK-GUTTMAN, B., MORROW, S. A., HOJNACKI, D., MUNSCHAUER, F. E. & BENEDICT, R. H. 2010. Psychometrics and normative data for the Multiple Sclerosis Functional Composite: Replacing the PASAT with the Symbol Digit Modalities Test. *Mult Scler*, 16, 228-37.
- DREW, M. A., STARKEY, N. J. & ISLER, R. B. 2009. Examining the link between information processing speed and executive functioning in multiple sclerosis. *Arch Clin Neuropsychol*, 24, 47-58.
- DROBY, A., FLEISCHER, V., CARNINI, M., ZIMMERMANN, H., SIFFRIN, V., GAWEHN, J., ERB, M., HILDEBRANDT, A., BAIER, B. & ZIPP, F. 2015a. The impact of isolated lesions on white-matter fiber tracts in multiple sclerosis patients. *Neuroimage Clin,* 8, 110-6.
- DROBY, A., YUEN, K. S., MUTHURAMAN, M., REITZ, S. C., FLEISCHER, V., KLEIN, J., GRACIEN, R. M., ZIEMANN, U., DEICHMANN, R., ZIPP, F. & GROPPA, S. 2015b. Changes in brain functional connectivity patterns are driven by an individual lesion in MS: A resting-state fMRI study. *Brain Imaging Behav*.
- DU PASQUIER, R. A., PINSCHEWER, D. D. & MERKLER, D. 2014. Immunological mechanism of action and clinical profile of disease-modifying treatments in multiple sclerosis. *CNS Drugs*, 28, 535-58.
- DUERING, M., GESIERICH, B., SEILER, S., PIRPAMER, L., GONIK, M., HOFER, E., JOUVENT, E., DUCHESNAY, E., CHABRIAT, H., ROPELE, S., SCHMIDT, R. & DICHGANS, M. 2014. Strategic white matter tracts for processing speed deficits in age-related small vessel disease. *Neurology*, 82, 1946-50.
- DUERING, M., GONIK, M., MALIK, R., ZIEREN, N., REYES, S., JOUVENT, E., HERVE, D., GSCHWENDTNER, A., OPHERK, C., CHABRIAT, H. & DICHGANS, M. 2013. Identification of a strategic brain network underlying processing speed deficits in vascular cognitive impairment. *Neuroimage*, 66, 177-83.
- DUNCAN, A., MALCOLM-SMITH, S., AMEEN, O. & SOLMS, M. 2016. The incidence of euphoria in multiple sclerosis: Artefact of measure. *Mult Scler Int*, 2016, 5738425.
- DUTTA, R., CHANG, A., DOUD, M. K., KIDD, G. J., RIBAUDO, M. V., YOUNG, E. A., FOX, R. J., STAUGAITIS, S. M. & TRAPP, B. D. 2011. Demyelination causes synaptic alterations in hippocampi from multiple sclerosis patients. *Ann Neurol*, 69, 445-54.
- EHDE, D. M., KRAFT, G. H., CHWASTIAK, L., SULLIVAN, M. D., GIBBONS, L. E., BOMBARDIER, C. H. & WADHWANI, R. 2008. Efficacy of paroxetine in treating major depressive disorder in persons with multiple sclerosis. *Gen Hosp Psychiatry*, 30, 40-8.
- EIJLERS, A. J., MEIJER, K. A., WASSENAAR, T. M., STEENWIJK, M. D., UITDEHAAG, B. M., BARKHOF, F., WINK, A. M., GEURTS, J. J. & SCHOONHEIM, M. M. 2017. Increased default-mode network centrality in cognitively impaired multiple sclerosis patients. *Neurology*, 88, 952-960.
- EISELE, P., ALONSO, A., GRIEBE, M., SZABO, K., HENNERICI, M. G. & GASS, A. 2016. Investigation of cerebral microbleeds in multiple sclerosis as a potential marker of blood-brain barrier dysfunction. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*, **7**, 61-4.
- ELLWARDT, E. & ZIPP, F. 2014. Molecular mechanisms linking neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration in MS. *Exp Neurol*, 262 Pt A, 8-17.
- ELONG NGONO, A., PETTRE, S., SALOU, M., BAHBOUHI, B., SOULILLOU, J. P., BROUARD, S. & LAPLAUD, D. A. 2012. Frequency of circulating autoreactive T cells

committed to myelin determinants in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis patients. *Clin Immunol*, 144, 117-26.

- ENCODE PROJECT, C. 2012. An integrated encyclopedia of DNA elements in the human genome. *Nature*, 489, 57-74.
- ENGSTRÖM, M., FLENSNER, G., LANDTBLOM, A. M., EK, A. C. & KARLSSON, T. 2013. Thalamo-striato-cortical determinants to fatigue in multiple sclerosis. *Brain Behav*, 3, 715-28.

ENZINGER, C. & FAZEKAS, F. 2015. Measuring gray matter and white matter damage in MS: Why this is not enough. *Front Neurol*, 6, 56.

- ERNST, A., SOURTY, M., ROQUET, D., NOBLET, V., GOUNOT, D., BLANC, F., DE SEZE, J. & MANNING, L. 2016. Functional and structural cerebral changes in key brain regions after a facilitation programme for episodic future thought in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis patients. *Brain Cogn*, 105, 34-45.
- ESHAGHI, A., MARINESCU, R. V., YOUNG, A. L., FIRTH, N. C., PRADOS, F., JORGE CARDOSO, M., TUR, C., DE ANGELIS, F., CAWLEY, N., BROWNLEE, W. J., DE STEFANO, N., LAURA STROMILLO, M., BATTAGLINI, M., RUGGIERI, S., GASPERINI, C., FILIPPI, M., ROCCA, M. A., ROVIRA, A., SASTRE-GARRIGA, J., GEURTS, J. J. G., VRENKEN, H., WOTTSCHEL, V., LEURS, C. E., UITDEHAAG, B., PIRPAMER, L., ENZINGER, C., OURSELIN, S., GANDINI WHEELER-KINGSHOTT, C. A., CHARD, D., THOMPSON, A. J., BARKHOF, F., ALEXANDER, D. C. & CICCARELLI, O. 2018. Progression of regional grey matter atrophy in multiple sclerosis. *Brain*.
- ETEMADIFAR, M., MEHRABI, B., KIANI-PEYKANI, R., ABTAHI, S. H., NEKOUIE-ISFAHANI, K., RAMAGOPALAN, S. V. & FEREIDAN-ESFAHANI, M. 2016. Soil heavy metals are associated with the distribution of multiple sclerosis in Isfahan, Iran. *Acta Neurol Scand*, 134, 292-9.
- FAIVRE, A., RICO, A., ZAARAOUI, W., CRESPY, L., REUTER, F., WYBRECHT, D., SOULIER, E., MALIKOVA, I., CONFORT-GOUNY, S., COZZONE, P. J., PELLETIER, J., RANJEVA, J. P. & AUDOIN, B. 2012. Assessing brain connectivity at rest is clinically relevant in early multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler*, 18, 1251-8.
- FAIVRE, A., ROBINET, E., GUYE, M., ROUSSEAU, C., MAAROUF, A., LE TROTER, A., ZAARAOUI, W., RICO, A., CRESPY, L., SOULIER, E., CONFORT-GOUNY, S., PELLETIER, J., ACHARD, S., RANJEVA, J. P. & AUDOIN, B. 2016. Depletion of brain functional connectivity enhancement leads to disability progression in multiple sclerosis: A longitudinal resting-state fMRI study. *Mult Scler*, 22, 1695-1708.
- FAN, J., MCCANDLISS, B. D., SOMMER, T., RAZ, A. & POSNER, M. I. 2002. Testing the efficiency and independence of attentional networks. *J Cogn Neurosci*, 14, 340-7.
- FANGMEIER, T., KNAUFF, M., RUFF, C. C. & SLOUTSKY, V. 2006. FMRI evidence for a three-stage model of deductive reasoning. *J Cogn Neurosci*, 18, 320-34.
- FASSBENDER, K., SCHMIDT, R., MOSSNER, R., KISCHKA, U., KUHNEN, J., SCHWARTZ, A. & HENNERICI, M. 1998. Mood disorders and dysfunction of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis in multiple sclerosis: Association with cerebral inflammation. *Arch Neurol*, 55, 66-72.
- FEINSTEIN, A., FEINSTEIN, K., GRAY, T. & O'CONNOR, P. 1997. Prevalence and neurobehavioral correlates of pathological laughing and crying in multiple sclerosis. *Arch Neurol*, 54, 1116-21.
- FEINSTEIN, A., MAGALHAES, S., RICHARD, J., AUDET, B. & MOORE, C. 2014. The link between multiple sclerosis and depression. *Nature Reviews Neurology*, 10, 507-517.
- FEINSTEIN, A., O'CONNOR, P., AKBAR, N., MORADZADEH, L., SCOTT, C. J. & LOBAUGH, N. J. 2010. Diffusion tensor imaging abnormalities in depressed multiple sclerosis patients. *Mult Scler*, 16, 189-96.
- FENU, G., ARRU, M., LOREFICE, L., FRAU, J., COGHE, G., FRONZA, M., LOI, L., BARRACCIU, M. A., MARROSU, M. G. & COCCO, E. 2018. Does focal inflammation have an impact on cognition in multiple sclerosis? An MRI study. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*, 23, 83-87.
- FERRER, E., WHITAKER, K., STEELE, J., GREEN, C., WENDELKEN, C. & BUNGE, S. 2013. White matter maturation supports the development of reasoning ability through its influence on processing speed. *Dev Sci*, 16, 941-51.
- FIEST, K. M., WALKER, J. R., BERNSTEIN, C. N., GRAFF, L. A., ZARYCHANSKI, R., ABOU-SETTA, A. M., PATTEN, S. B., SAREEN, J., BOLTON, J. M., MARRIOTT, J.

J., FISK, J. D., SINGER, A. & MARRIE, R. A. 2016. Systematic review and metaanalysis of interventions for depression and anxiety in persons with multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*, 5, 12-26.

- FILIPPI, M., RICCITELLI, G., MATTIOLI, F., CAPRA, R., STAMPATORI, C., PAGANI, E., VALSASINA, P., COPETTI, M., FALINI, A., COMI, G. & ROCCA, M. A. 2012. Multiple sclerosis: Effects of cognitive rehabilitation on structural and functional MR imaging measures--an explorative study. *Radiology*, 262, 932-40.
- FILIPPI, M., ROCCA, M. A., CICCARELLI, O., DE STEFANO, N., EVANGELOU, N., KAPPOS, L., ROVIRA, A., SASTRE-GARRIGA, J., TINTORÈ, M., FREDERIKSEN, J. L., GASPERINI, C., PALACE, J., REICH, D. S., BANWELL, B., MONTALBAN, X. & BARKHOF, F. 2016. MRI criteria for the diagnosis of multiple sclerosis: MAGNIMS consensus guidelines. *Lancet Neurol*, 15, 292-303.
- FILIPPINI, G., DEL GIOVANE, C., CLERICO, M., BEIKI, O., MATTOSCIO, M., PIAZZA, F., FREDRIKSON, S., TRAMACERE, I., SCALFARI, A. & SALANTI, G. 2017. Treatment with disease-modifying drugs for people with a first clinical attack suggestive of multiple sclerosis. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev,* 4, Cd012200.
- FILLEY, C. M. 2010. White matter: organization and functional relevance. *Neuropsychol Rev*, 20, 158-73.
- FILLI, L., HOFSTETTER, L., KUSTER, P., TRAUD, S., MUELLER-LENKE, N., NAEGELIN, Y., KAPPOS, L., GASS, A., SPRENGER, T., NICHOLS, T. E., VRENKEN, H., BARKHOF, F., POLMAN, C., RADUE, E. W., BORGWARDT, S. J. & BENDFELDT, K. 2012. Spatiotemporal distribution of white matter lesions in relapsing-remitting and secondary progressive multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler*, 18, 1577-84.
- FISCHER, J. S., PRIORE, R. L., JACOBS, L. D., COOKFAIR, D. L., RUDICK, R. A., HERNDON, R. M., RICHERT, J. R., SALAZAR, A. M., GOODKIN, D. E., GRANGER, C. V., SIMON, J. H., GRAFMAN, J. H., LEZAK, M. D., O'REILLY HOVEY, K. M., PERKINS, K. K., BARILLA-CLARK, D., SCHACTER, M., SHUCARD, D. W., DAVIDSON, A. L., WENDE, K. E., BOURDETTE, D. N. & KOOIJMANS-COUTINHO, M. F. 2000. Neuropsychological effects of interferon beta-1a in relapsing multiple sclerosis. Multiple Sclerosis Collaborative Research Group. Ann Neurol, 48, 885-92.
- FISCHER, M., KUNKEL, A., BUBLAK, P., FAISS, J. H., HOFFMANN, F., SAILER, M., SCHWAB, M., ZETTL, U. K. & KÖHLER, W. 2014. How reliable is the classification of cognitive impairment across different criteria in early and late stages of multiple sclerosis? *J Neurol Sci*, 343, 91-9.
- FISCHER, M. T., SHARMA, R., LIM, J. L., HAIDER, L., FRISCHER, J. M., DREXHAGE, J., MAHAD, D., BRADL, M., VAN HORSSEN, J. & LASSMANN, H. 2012. NADPH oxidase expression in active multiple sclerosis lesions in relation to oxidative tissue damage and mitochondrial injury. *Brain*, 135, 886-99.
- FISHER, E., LEE, J. C., NAKAMURA, K. & RUDICK, R. A. 2008. Gray matter atrophy in multiple sclerosis: A longitudinal study. *Ann Neurol*, 64, 255-65.
- FISHMAN, I., BENEDICT, R. H., BAKSHI, R., PRIORE, R. & WEINSTOCK-GUTTMAN, B. 2004. Construct validity and frequency of euphoria sclerotica in multiple sclerosis. *J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci*, 16, 350-6.
- FISK, J. D., PONTEFRACT, A., RITVO, P. G., ARCHIBALD, C. J. & MURRAY, T. J. 1994a. The impact of fatigue on patients with multiple sclerosis. *Can J Neurol Sci*, 21, 9-14.
- FISK, J. D., RITVO, P. G., ROSS, L., HAASE, D. A., MARRIE, T. J. & SCHLECH, W. F. 1994b. Measuring the functional impact of fatigue: Initial validation of the fatigue impact scale. *Clin Infect Dis*, 18 Suppl 1, S79-83.
- FJELL, A. M., SNEVE, M. H., GRYDELAND, H., STORSVE, A. B., AMLIEN, I. K., YENDIKI, A. & WALHOVD, K. B. 2017. Relationship between structural and functional connectivity change across the adult lifespan: A longitudinal investigation. *Hum Brain Mapp*, 38, 561-573.
- FLEISCHER, V., RADETZ, A., CIOLAC, D., MUTHURAMAN, M., GONZALEZ-ESCAMILLA, G., ZIPP, F. & GROPPA, S. 2017. Graph theoretical framework of brain networks in multiple sclerosis: A review of concepts. *Neuroscience*.
- FLING, B. W., DUTTA, G. G., SCHLUETER, H., CAMERON, M. H. & HORAK, F. B. 2014. Associations between proprioceptive neural pathway structural connectivity and balance in people with multiple sclerosis. *Front Hum Neurosci,* 8, 814.

- FOLSTEIN, M. F., FOLSTEIN, S. E. & MCHUGH, P. R. 1975. "Mini-mental state". A practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. *J Psychiatr Res*, 12, 189-198.
- FORN, C., BELENGUER, A., BELLOCH, V., SANJUAN, A., PARCET, M. A. & AVILA, C. 2011. Anatomical and functional differences between the Paced Auditory Serial Addition Test and the Symbol Digit Modalities Test. J Clin Exp Neuropsychol, 33, 42-50.
- FORN, C., BELENGUER, A., PARCET-IBARS, M. A. & AVILA, C. 2008. Informationprocessing speed is the primary deficit underlying the poor performance of multiple sclerosis patients in the Paced Auditory Serial Addition Test (PASAT). J Clin Exp Neuropsychol, 30, 789-96.
- FORN, C., RIPOLLÉS, P., CRUZ-GÓMEZ, A. J., BELENGUER, A., GONZÁLEZ-TORRE, J. A. & AVILA, C. 2013. Task-load manipulation in the Symbol Digit Modalities Test: An alternative measure of information processing speed. *Brain Cogn*, 82, 152-60.
- FOX, M. D. & RAICHLE, M. E. 2007. Spontaneous fluctuations in brain activity observed with functional magnetic resonance imaging. *Nat Rev Neurosci*, 8, 700-11.
- FRANCIS, P. L., CHIA, T. L., JAKUBOVIC, R., O'CONNOR, P., LEE, L., FEINSTEIN, A. & AVIV, R. I. 2014. Extensive white matter dysfunction in cognitively impaired patients with secondary-progressive multiple sclerosis. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol*, 35, 1910-5.
- FRANK, L. R. 2001. Anisotropy in high angular resolution diffusion-weighted MRI. *Magn Reson Med*, 45, 935-9.
- FRANKLIN, R. J. & FFRENCH-CONSTANT, C. 2008. Remyelination in the CNS: From biology to therapy. *Nat Rev Neurosci*, 9, 839-55.
- FREEMAN, L., GARCIA-LORENZO, D., BOTTIN, L., LEROY, C., LOUAPRE, C., BODINI, B., PAPEIX, C., ASSOUAD, R., GRANGER, B., TOURBAH, A., DOLLÉ, F., LUBETZKI, C., BOTTLAENDER, M. & STANKOFF, B. 2015. The neuronal component of gray matter damage in multiple sclerosis: A [(11) C]flumazenil positron emission tomography study. *Ann Neurol*, 78, 554-67.
- FRISCHER, J. M., BRAMOW, S., DAL-BIANCO, A., LUCCHINETTI, C. F., RAUSCHKA, H., SCHMIDBAUER, M., LAURSEN, H., SORENSEN, P. S. & LASSMANN, H. 2009. The relation between inflammation and neurodegeneration in multiple sclerosis brains. *Brain*, 132, 1175-89.
- FRUEHWALD, S., LOEFFLER-STASTKA, H., EHER, R., SALETU, B. & BAUMHACKL, U. 2001. Depression and quality of life in multiple sclerosis. *Acta Neurol Scand*, 104, 257-61.
- FUJITA, T., INOUE, K., YAMAMOTO, S., IKUMOTO, T., SASAKI, S., TOYAMA, R., CHIBA, K., HOSHINO, Y. & OKUMOTO, T. 1994. Fungal metabolites. Part 11. A potent immunosuppressive activity found in Isaria sinclairii metabolite. *J Antibiot (Tokyo)*, 47, 208-15.
- FUJIWARA, E., KMECH, J. A., COBZAS, D., SUN, H., SERES, P., BLEVINS, G. & WILMAN, A. H. 2017. Cognitive implications of deep gray matter iron in multiple sclerosis. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol*, 38, 942-948.
- FUKUSHIMA, R., KANAMORI, S., HIRASHIBA, M., HISHIKAWA, A., MURANAKA, R. I., KANETO, M., NAKAMURA, K. & KATO, I. 2007. Teratogenicity study of the dihydroorotate-dehydrogenase inhibitor and protein tyrosine kinase inhibitor Leflunomide in mice. *Reprod Toxicol*, 24, 310-6.
- FULTON, J. C., GROSSMAN, R. I., UDUPA, J., MANNON, L. J., GROSSMAN, M., WEI, L., POLANSKY, M. & KOLSON, D. L. 1999. MR lesion load and cognitive function in patients with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol*, 20, 1951-5.
- FURST, M. & LEVINE, R. A. 2015. Hearing disorders in multiple sclerosis. *Handb Clin Neurol*, 129, 649-65.
- GABELIC, T., RAMASAMY, D. P., WEINSTOCK-GUTTMAN, B., HAGEMEIER, J., KENNEDY, C., MELIA, R., HOJNACKI, D., RAMANATHAN, M. & ZIVADINOV, R. 2013. Prevalence of radiologically isolated syndrome and white matter signal abnormalities in healthy relatives of patients with multiple sclerosis. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol*, 35, 106-12.
- GABILONDO, I., MARTÍNEZ-LAPISCINA, E. H., MARTÍNEZ-HERAS, E., FRAGA-PUMAR, E., LLUFRIU, S., ORTIZ, S., BULLICH, S., SEPULVEDA, M., FALCON, C., BERENGUER, J., SAIZ, A., SANCHEZ-DALMAU, B. & VILLOSLADA, P. 2014. Trans-

synaptic axonal degeneration in the visual pathway in multiple sclerosis. *Ann Neurol,* 75, 98-107.

- GAFFAN, D. & WILSON, C. R. 2008. Medial temporal and prefrontal function: Recent behavioural disconnection studies in the macaque monkey. *Cortex*, 44, 928-35.
- GAITÁN, M. I., SATI, P., INATI, S. J. & REICH, D. S. 2012. Initial investigation of the bloodbrain barrier in MS lesions at 7 tesla. *Mult Scler*, 19, 1068-73.
- GAMBOA, O. L., TAGLIAZUCCHI, E., VON WEGNER, F., JURCOANE, A., WAHL, M., LAUFS, H. & ZIEMANN, U. 2014. Working memory performance of early MS patients correlates inversely with modularity increases in resting state functional connectivity networks. *Neuroimage*, 94, 385-95.
- GAY, M. C., BUNGENER, C., THOMAS, S., VRIGNAUD, P., THOMAS, P. W., BAKER, R., MONTEL, S., HEINZLEF, O., PAPEIX, C., ASSOUAD, R. & MONTREUIL, M. 2017. Anxiety, emotional processing and depression in people with multiple sclerosis. *BMC Neurol*, 17, 43.
- GE, Y., GROSSMAN, R. I., UDUPA, J. K., WEI, L., MANNON, L. J., POLANSKY, M. & KOLSON, D. L. 2000. Brain atrophy in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis and secondary progressive multiple sclerosis: Longitudinal quantitative analysis. *Radiology*, 214, 665-70.
- GEISSELER, O., PFLUGSHAUPT, T., BEZZOLA, L., REUTER, K., WELLER, D., SCHUKNECHT, B., BRUGGER, P. & LINNEBANK, M. 2016. Cortical thinning in the anterior cingulate cortex predicts multiple sclerosis patients' fluency performance in a lateralised manner. *Neuroimage Clin*, 10, 89-95.
- GENOVA, H. M., DELUCA, J., CHIARAVALLOTI, N. & WYLIE, G. 2013. The relationship between executive functioning, processing speed, and white matter integrity in multiple sclerosis. *J Clin Exp Neuropsychol*, 35, 631-41.
- GENOVA, H. M., LENGENFELDER, J., CHIARAVALLOTI, N. D., MOORE, N. B. & DELUCA, J. 2012. Processing speed versus working memory: Contributions to an information-processing task in multiple sclerosis. *Appl Neuropsychol Adult*, 19, 132-40.
- GEURTS, J. J., BÖ, L., ROOSENDAAL, S. D., HAZES, T., DANIELS, R., BARKHOF, F., WITTER, M. P., HUITINGA, I. & VAN DER VALK, P. 2007. Extensive hippocampal demyelination in multiple sclerosis. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol*, 66, 819-27.
- GHAFFAR, O., CHAMELIAN, L. & FEINSTEIN, A. 2008. Neuroanatomy of pseudobulbar affect: A quantitative MRI study in multiple sclerosis. *J Neurol*, 255, 406-12.
- GIANFRANCESCO, M. A. & BARCELLOS, L. F. 2016. Obesity and multiple sclerosis susceptibility: A review. *J Neurol Neuromedicine*, 1, 1-5.
- GIEDRAITIENE, N., KAUBRYS, G. & KIZLAITIENE, R. 2018. Cognition during and after multiple sclerosis relapse as assessed with the brief international cognitive assessment for multiple sclerosis. *Sci Rep*, 8, 8169.
- GILMORE, C. P., DONALDSON, I., BO, L., OWENS, T., LOWE, J. & EVANGELOU, N. 2008. Regional variations in the extent and pattern of grey matter demyelination in multiple sclerosis: a comparison between the cerebral cortex, cerebellar cortex, deep grey matter nuclei and the spinal cord. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*, 80, 182-7.
- GLANZ, B. I., HEALY, B. C., RINTELL, D. J., JAFFIN, S. K., BAKSHI, R. & WEINER, H. L. 2010. The association between cognitive impairment and quality of life in patients with early multiple sclerosis. *J Neurol Sci*, 290, 75-9.
- GLIKMANN-JOHNSTON, Y., OREN, N., HENDLER, T. & SHAPIRA-LICHTER, I. 2015. Distinct functional connectivity of the hippocampus during semantic and phonemic fluency. *Neuropsychologia*, 69, 39-49.
- GMEINDL, L. & COURTNEY, S. M. 2012. Deconstructing spatial working memory and attention deficits in multiple sclerosis. *Neuropsychology*, 26, 57-70.
- GOLAN, D., DONIGER, G. M., WISSEMANN, K., ZARIF, M., BUMSTEAD, B., BUHSE, M., FAFARD, L., LAVI, I., WILKEN, J. & GUDESBLATT, M. 2017. The impact of subjective cognitive fatigue and depression on cognitive function in patients with multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler*, 1352458517695470.
- GOLD, J., GOLDACRE, R., MARUSZAK, H., GIOVANNONI, G., YEATES, D. & GOLDACRE, M. 2014a. HIV and lower risk of multiple sclerosis: Beginning to unravel a mystery using a record-linked database study. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*, 86, 9-12.
- GOLD, R., KAPPOS, L., ARNOLD, D. L., BAR-OR, A., GIOVANNONI, G., SELMAJ, K., TORNATORE, C., SWEETSER, M. T., YANG, M., SHEIKH, S. I. & DAWSON, K. T.

2012. Placebo-controlled phase 3 study of oral BG-12 for relapsing multiple sclerosis. *N Engl J Med*, 367, 1098-107.

- GOLD, S. M., KERN, K. C., O'CONNOR, M. F., MONTAG, M. J., KIM, A., YOO, Y. S., GIESSER, B. S. & SICOTTE, N. L. 2010. Smaller cornu ammonis 2-3/dentate gyrus volumes and elevated cortisol in multiple sclerosis patients with depressive symptoms. *Biol Psychiatry*, 68, 553-9.
- GOLD, S. M., O'CONNOR, M. F., GILL, R., KERN, K. C., SHI, Y., HENRY, R. G., PELLETIER, D., MOHR, D. C. & SICOTTE, N. L. 2014b. Detection of altered hippocampal morphology in multiple sclerosis-associated depression using automated surface mesh modeling. *Hum Brain Mapp*, 35, 30-7.
- GONTKOVSKY, S. T. & BEATTY, W. W. 2006. Practical methods for the clinical assessment of information processing speed. *Int J Neurosci*, 116, 1317-25.
- GOOD, C. D., JOHNSRUDE, I. S., ASHBURNER, J., HENSON, R. N., FRISTON, K. J. & FRACKOWIAK, R. S. 2001. A voxel-based morphometric study of ageing in 465 normal adult human brains. *Neuroimage*, 14, 21-36.
- GOOD, K. P., TOURBIER, I. A., MOBERG, P., CUZZOCREO, J. L., GECKLE, R. J., YOUSEM, D. M., PHAM, D. L. & DOTY, R. L. 2017. Unilateral olfactory sensitivity in multiple sclerosis. *Physiol Behav*, 168, 24-30.
- GOODE, K. T., BALL, K. K., SLOANE, M., ROENKER, D. L., ROTH, D. L., MYERS, R. S. & OWSLEY, C. 1998. Useful field of view and other neurocognitive indicators of crash risk in older adults. *J Clin Psychol Med Settings*, *5*, 425-440.
- GOODIN, D. S. 2016. The epidemiology of multiple sclerosis: Insights to a causal cascade. *Handb Clin Neurol*, 138, 173-206.
- GOVEROVER, Y., CHIARAVALLOTI, N. & DELUCA, J. 2013. The influence of executive functions and memory on self-generation benefit in persons with multiple sclerosis. *J Clin Exp Neuropsychol*, 35, 775-83.
- GOVEROVER, Y., CHIARAVALLOTI, N. & DELUCA, J. 2016. Brief International Cognitive Assessment for Multiple Sclerosis (BICAMS) and performance of everyday life tasks: Actual Reality. *Mult Scler*, 22, 544-50.
- GOVEROVER, Y., GENOVA, H. M., HILLARY, F. G. & DELUCA, J. 2007. The relationship between neuropsychological measures and the Timed Instrumental Activities of Daily Living task in multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler*, 13, 636-44.
- GRANBERG, T., BERGENDAL, G., SHAMS, S., ASPELIN, P., KRISTOFFERSEN-WIBERG, M., FREDRIKSON, S. & MARTOLA, J. 2015. MRI-defined corpus callosal atrophy in multiple sclerosis: A comparison of volumetric measurements, corpus callosum area and index. *J Neuroimaging*, 25, 996-1001.
- GRANBERG, T., MARTOLA, J., ASPELIN, P., KRISTOFFERSEN-WIBERG, M. & FREDRIKSON, S. 2013. Radiologically isolated syndrome: An uncommon finding at a university clinic in a high-prevalence region for multiple sclerosis. *BMJ Open*, 3, e003531.
- GRANT, I., MCDONALD, W. I., TRIMBLE, M. R., SMITH, E. & REED, R. 1984. Deficient learning and memory in early and middle phases of multiple sclerosis. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*, 47, 250-5.
- GRAY, E., THOMAS, T. L., BETMOUNI, S., SCOLDING, N. & LOVE, S. 2008. Elevated myeloperoxidase activity in white matter in multiple sclerosis. *Neurosci Lett*, 444, 195-8.
- GRØNLIE, S. A., MYRVOLL, E., HANSEN, G., GRØNNING, M. & MELLGREN, S. I. 2000. Multiple sclerosis in north Norway, and first appearance in an indigenous population. J Neurol, 247, 129-33.
- GRONWALL, D. M. 1977. Paced auditory serial-addition task: A measure of recovery from concussion. *Percept Mot Skills*, 44, 367-73.
- GROTHE, M., LOTZE, M., LANGNER, S. & DRESSEL, A. 2016. The role of global and regional gray matter volume decrease in multiple sclerosis. *J Neurol*, 263, 1137-45.
- GUO, A. C., CHU, T., LIU, X. Q., SU, H. X. & WU, W. T. 2016. Reactivated astrocytes as a possible source of oligodendrocyte precursors for remyelination in remitting phase of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis rats. *Am J Transl Res*, 8, 5637-45.
- GURD, J. M., AMUNTS, K., WEISS, P. H., ZAFIRIS, O., ZILLES, K., MARSHALL, J. C. & FINK, G. R. 2002. Posterior parietal cortex is implicated in continuous switching between verbal fluency tasks: An fMRI study with clinical implications. *Brain*, 125, 1024-38.

- HACKMACK, K., WEYGANDT, M., WUERFEL, J., PFUELLER, C. F., BELLMANN-STROBL, J., PAUL, F. & HAYNES, J. D. 2012. Can we overcome the 'clinico-radiological paradox' in multiple sclerosis? *J Neurol*, 259, 2151-60.
- HADJIMICHAEL, O., VOLLMER, T. & OLEEN-BURKEY, M. 2008. Fatigue characteristics in multiple sclerosis: The North American Research Committee on Multiple Sclerosis (NARCOMS) survey. *Health Qual Life Outcomes*, 6, 100.
- HAENSCH, C. A. & JÖRG, J. 2006. Autonomic dysfunction in multiple sclerosis. *J Neurol*, 253 Suppl 1, I3-9.
- HAGENS, M. H. J., GOLLA, S. V., WIJBURG, M. T., YAQUB, M., HEIJTEL, D., STEENWIJK, M. D., SCHOBER, P., BREVÉ, J. J. P., SCHUIT, R. C., REEKIE, T. A., KASSIOU, M., VAN DAM, A. M., WINDHORST, A. D., KILLESTEIN, J., BARKHOF, F., VAN BERCKEL, B. N. M. & LAMMERTSMA, A. A. 2018. In vivo assessment of neuroinflammation in progressive multiple sclerosis: a proof of concept study with [(18)F]DPA714 PET. J Neuroinflammation, 15, 314.
- HAGOORT, P. 2005. On Broca, brain, and binding: A new framework. *Trends Cogn Sci*, 9, 416-23.
- HAIDER, L., SIMEONIDOU, C., STEINBERGER, G., HAMETNER, S., GRIGORIADIS, N., DERETZI, G., KOVACS, G. G., KUTZELNIGG, A., LASSMANN, H. & FRISCHER, J. M. 2014. Multiple sclerosis deep grey matter: The relation between demyelination, neurodegeneration, inflammation and iron. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*, 85, 1386-95.
- HAIDER, L., ZRZAVY, T., HAMETNER, S., HOFTBERGER, R., BAGNATO, F., GRABNER, G., TRATTNIG, S., PFEIFENBRING, S., BRUCK, W. & LASSMANN, H. 2016. The topograpy of demyelination and neurodegeneration in the multiple sclerosis brain. *Brain*, 139, 807-15.
- HÄMÄLÄINEN, P. & ROSTI-OTAJÄRVI, E. 2016. Cognitive impairment in MS: Rehabilitation approaches. *Acta Neurol Scand*, 134 Suppl 200, 8-13.
- HAMETNER, S., WIMMER, I., HAIDER, L., PFEIFENBRING, S., BRUCK, W. & LASSMANN, H. 2013. Iron and neurodegeneration in the multiple sclerosis brain. *Ann Neurol*, 74, 848-61.
- HANCOCK, L. M., BRUCE, J. M., BRUCE, A. S. & LYNCH, S. G. 2015. Processing speed and working memory training in multiple sclerosis: A double-blind randomized controlled pilot study. *J Clin Exp Neuropsychol*, 37, 113-27.
- HANDE, K. R. 2008. Topoisomerase II inhibitors. Update Cancer Ther, 3, 13-26.
- HANDEL, A. E., WILLIAMSON, A. J., DISANTO, G., DOBSON, R., GIOVANNONI, G. & RAMAGOPALAN, S. V. 2011. Smoking and multiple sclerosis: An updated metaanalysis. *PLoS One*, 6, e16149.
- HANDEL, A. E., WILLIAMSON, A. J., DISANTO, G., HANDUNNETTHI, L., GIOVANNONI,
   G. & RAMAGOPALAN, S. V. 2010. An updated meta-analysis of risk of multiple sclerosis following infectious mononucleosis. *PLoS One*, 5, e12496.
- HANKEN, K., ELING, P. & HILDEBRANDT, H. 2014. The representation of inflammatory signals in the brain A model for subjective fatigue in multiple sclerosis. *Front Neurol*, 5.
- HANKEN, K., MANOUSI, A., KLEIN, J., KASTRUP, A., ELING, P. & HILDEBRANDT, H. 2016. On the relation between self-reported cognitive fatigue and the posterior hypothalamic-brainstem network. *Eur J Neurol*, 23, 101-9.
- HANKOMÄKI, E., MULTANEN, J., KINNUNEN, E. & HÄMÄLÄINEN, P. 2014. The progress of cognitive decline in newly diagnosed MS patients. *Acta Neurol Scand*, 129, 184-91.
- HANNA, J., FEINSTEIN, A. & MORROW, S. A. 2016. The association of pathological laughing and crying and cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis. *J Neurol Sci*, 361, 200-3.
- HAREL, Y., APPLEBOIM, N., LAVIE, M. & ACHIRON, A. 2008. Single dose of methylphenidate improves cognitive performance in multiple sclerosis patients with impaired attention process. *J Neurol Sci*, 276, 38-40.
- HARRISON, A. M., DAS NAIR, R. & MOSS-MORRIS, R. 2016. Operationalising cognitive fatigability in multiple sclerosis: A Gordian knot that can be cut? *Mult Scler*, 1352458516681862.
- HARTELIUS, L., RUNMARKER, B. & ANDERSEN, O. 2000. Prevalence and characteristics of dysarthria in a multiple-sclerosis incidence cohort: Relation to neurological data. *Folia Phoniatr Logop*, 52, 160-77.

- HASSELMANN, H., BELLMANN-STROBL, J., RICKEN, R., OBERWAHRENBROCK, T., ROSE, M., OTTE, C., ADLI, M., PAUL, F., BRANDT, A. U., FINKE, C. & GOLD, S. M. 2016. Characterizing the phenotype of multiple sclerosis-associated depression in comparison with idiopathic major depression. *Mult Scler*, 22, 1476-1484.
- HAU, J., SARUBBO, S., PERCHEY, G., CRIVELLO, F., ZAGO, L., MELLET, E., JOBARD, G., JOLIOT, M., MAZOYER, B. M., TZOURIO-MAZOYER, N. & PETIT, L. 2016. Cortical terminations of the inferior fronto-occipital and uncinate fasciculi: anatomical stem-based virtual dissection. *Front Neuroanat*, 10.
- HAUSER, S. L. & OKSENBERG, J. R. 2006. The neurobiology of multiple sclerosis: Genes, inflammation, and neurodegeneration. *Neuron*, 52, 61-76.
- HAWKES, C. H. 2013. Multiple sclerosis genetics is dead. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*, 2, 156-61.
- HE, Y., DAGHER, A., CHEN, Z., CHARIL, A., ZIJDENBOS, A., WORSLEY, K. & EVANS, A. 2009. Impaired small-world efficiency in structural cortical networks in multiple sclerosis associated with white matter lesion load. *Brain*, 132, 3366-79.
- HEDSTRÖM, A. K., BÄÄRNHIELM, M., OLSSON, T. & ALFREDSSON, L. 2009. Tobacco smoking, but not Swedish snuff use, increases the risk of multiple sclerosis. *Neurology*, 73, 696-701.
- HEDSTRÖM, A. K., LIMA BOMFIM, I., HILLERT, J., OLSSON, T. & ALFREDSSON, L. 2014. Obesity interacts with infectious mononucleosis in risk of multiple sclerosis. *Eur J Neurol*, 22, 578-e38.
- HEGEN, H., ADRIANTO, I., LESSARD, C. J., MILLONIG, A., BERTOLOTTO, A., COMABELLA, M., GIOVANNONI, G., GUGER, M., HOELZL, M., KHALIL, M., FAZEKAS, F., KILLESTEIN, J., LINDBERG, R. L., MALUCCHI, S., MEHLING, M., MONTALBAN, X., RUDZKI, D., SCHAUTZER, F., SELLEBJERG, F., SORENSEN, P. S., DEISENHAMMER, F., STEINMAN, L. & AXTELL, R. C. 2016. Cytokine profiles show heterogeneity of interferon-beta response in multiple sclerosis patients. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm*, 3, e202.
- HELLINGS, N., BAREE, M., VERHOEVEN, C., D'HOOGHE M, B., MEDAER, R., BERNARD, C. C., RAUS, J. & STINISSEN, P. 2001. T-cell reactivity to multiple myelin antigens in multiple sclerosis patients and healthy controls. *J Neurosci Res,* 63, 290-302.
- HENDERSON, A. P., BARNETT, M. H., PARRATT, J. D. & PRINEAS, J. W. 2009. Multiple sclerosis: distribution of inflammatory cells in newly forming lesions. *Ann Neurol*, 66, 739-53.
- HENEKA, M. T., KUMMER, M. P. & LATZ, E. 2014. Innate immune activation in neurodegenerative disease. *Nat Rev Immunol*, 14, 463-77.
- HENRY, J. D. & BEATTY, W. W. 2006. Verbal fluency deficits in multiple sclerosis. *Neuropsychologia*, 44, 1166-74.
- HENRY, J. D. & CRAWFORD, J. R. 2004. A meta-analytic review of verbal fluency performance following focal cortical lesions. *Neuropsychology*, 18, 284-95.
- HENSTRIDGE, C. M., PICKETT, E. & SPIRES-JONES, T. L. 2016. Synaptic pathology: A shared mechanism in neurological disease. *Ageing Res Rev,* 28, 72-84.
- HEPPNER, F. L., GRETER, M., MARINO, D., FALSIG, J., RAIVICH, G., HOVELMEYER, N., WAISMAN, A., RULICKE, T., PRINZ, M., PRILLER, J., BECHER, B. & AGUZZI, A. 2005. Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis repressed by microglial paralysis. *Nat Med*, 11, 146-52.
- HERBET, G., MORITZ-GASSER, S. & DUFFAU, H. 2017a. Direct evidence for the contributive role of the right inferior fronto-occipital fasciculus in non-verbal semantic cognition. *Brain Struct Funct*, 222, 1597-1610.
- HERBET, G., YORDANOVA, Y. N. & DUFFAU, H. 2017b. Left spatial neglect evoked by electrostimulation of the right inferior fronto-occipital fasciculus. *Brain Topogr*, 30, 747-756.
- HERRANZ, E., GIANNI, C., LOUAPRE, C., TREABA, C. A., GOVINDARAJAN, S. T., OUELLETTE, R., LOGGIA, M. L., SLOANE, J. A., MADIGAN, N., IZQUIERDO-GARCIA, D., WARD, N., MANGEAT, G., GRANBERG, T., KLAWITER, E. C., CATANA, C., HOOKER, J. M., TAYLOR, N., IONETE, C., KINKEL, R. P. & MAINERO, C. 2016. Neuroinflammatory component of gray matter pathology in multiple sclerosis. *Ann Neurol*, 80, 776-790.

- HERVÉ, P. Y., ZAGO, L., PETIT, L., MAZOYER, B. & TZOURIO-MAZOYER, N. 2013. Revisiting human hemispheric specialization with neuroimaging. *Trends Cogn Sci*, 17, 69-80.
- HICKMAN, S. J., RAOOF, N., MCLEAN, R. J. & GOTTLOB, I. 2014. Vision and multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*, *3*, 3-16.
- HIGGINSON, C. I., ARNETT, P. A. & VOSS, W. D. 2000. The ecological validity of clinical tests of memory and attention in multiple sclerosis. *Arch Clin Neuropsychol*, 15, 185-204.
- HOANG, P. D., GANDEVIA, S. C. & HERBERT, R. D. 2013. Prevalence of joint contractures and muscle weakness in people with multiple sclerosis. *Disabil Rehabil*, 36, 1588-93.
- HOBART, J., FREEMAN, J. & THOMPSON, A. 2000. Kurtzke scales revisited: the application of psychometric methods to clinical intuition. *Brain*, 123 (Pt 5), 1027-40.
- HOHOL, M. J., GUTTMANN, C. R., ORAV, J., MACKIN, G. A., KIKINIS, R., KHOURY, S. J., JOLESZ, F. A. & WEINER, H. L. 1997. Serial neuropsychological assessment and magnetic resonance imaging analysis in multiple sclerosis. *Arch Neurol*, 54, 1018-25.
- HOLLENBACH, J. A. & OKSENBERG, J. R. 2015. The immunogenetics of multiple sclerosis: A comprehensive review. *J Autoimmun*, 64, 13-25.
- HONG, Z., NG, K. K., SIM, S. K., NGEOW, M. Y., ZHENG, H., LO, J. C., CHEE, M. W. & ZHOU, J. 2015. Differential age-dependent associations of gray matter volume and white matter integrity with processing speed in healthy older adults. *Neuroimage*, 123, 42-50.
- HOOGERVORST, E. L., KALKERS, N. F., VAN WINSEN, L. M. L., UITDEHAAG, B. M. & POLMAN, C. H. 2001. Differential treatment effect on measures of neurologic exam, functional impairment and patient self-report in multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler*, **7**, 335-9.
- HOWARD, J., TREVICK, S. & YOUNGER, D. S. 2016. Epidemiology of multiple sclerosis. *Neurol Clin*, 34, 919-939.
- HOWELL, O. W., REEVES, C. A., NICHOLAS, R., CARASSITI, D., RADOTRA, B., GENTLEMAN, S. M., SERAFINI, B., ALOISI, F., RONCAROLI, F., MAGLIOZZI, R. & REYNOLDS, R. 2011. Meningeal inflammation is widespread and linked to cortical pathology in multiple sclerosis. *Brain*, 134, 2755-71.
- HOWELL, O. W., SCHULZ-TRIEGLAFF, E. K., CARASSITI, D., GENTLEMAN, S. M., NICHOLAS, R., RONCAROLI, F. & REYNOLDS, R. 2015. Extensive grey matter pathology in the cerebellum in multiple sclerosis is linked to inflammation in the subarachnoid space. *Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol*, 41, 798-813.
- HUBACHER, M., KAPPOS, L., WEIER, K., STÖCKLIN, M., OPWIS, K. & PENNER, I. K. 2015. Case-based fMRI analysis after cognitive rehabilitation in MS: A novel approach. *Front Neurol*, 6, 78.
- HUGHES, A. J., DENNEY, D. R. & LYNCH, S. G. 2011. Reaction time and rapid serial processing measures of information processing speed in multiple sclerosis: Complexity, compounding, and augmentation. *J Int Neuropsychol Soc,* 17, 1113-21.
- HUIJBREGTS, S. C., KALKERS, N. F., DE SONNEVILLE, L. M., DE GROOT, V., REULING,
   I. E. & POLMAN, C. H. 2004. Differences in cognitive impairment of relapsing remitting, secondary, and primary progressive MS. *Neurology*, 63, 335-9.
- HUISKAMP, M., DOBRYAKOVA, E., WYLIE, G. D., DELUCA, J. & CHIARAVALLOTI, N. D. 2016. A pilot study of changes in functional brain activity during a working memory task after mSMT treatment: The MEMREHAB trial. *Mult Scler Relat Disord,* 7, 76-82.
- HUYNH, J. L., GARG, P., THIN, T. H., YOO, S., DUTTA, R., TRAPP, B. D., HAROUTUNIAN, V., ZHU, J., DONOVAN, M. J., SHARP, A. J. & CASACCIA, P. 2013. Epigenome-wide differences in pathology-free regions of multiple sclerosis-affected brains. *Nat Neurosci*, 17, 121-30.
- INGLE, G. T., SASTRE-GARRIGA, J., MILLER, D. H. & THOMPSON, A. J. 2005. Is inflammation important in early PPMS? A longitudinal MRI study. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry, 76, 1255-8.
- IODICE, R., MANGANELLI, F. & DUBBIOSO, R. 2017. The therapeutic use of non-invasive brain stimulation in multiple sclerosis A review. *Restor Neurol Neurosci*, 35, 497-509.
- IRAGUI, V. J., WIEDERHOLT, W. C. & ROMINE, J. S. 1986. Serial recordings of multimodality evoked potentials in multiple sclerosis: A four year follow-up study. *Can J Neurol Sci*, 13, 320-6.

- JANSSEN, A., BOSTER, A., LEE, H., PATTERSON, B. & PRAKASH, R. S. 2015. The effects of video-game training on broad cognitive transfer in multiple sclerosis: A pilot randomized controlled trial. *J Clin Exp Neuropsychol*, 37, 285-302.
- JANSSEN, A. L., BOSTER, A., PATTERSON, B. A., ABDULJALIL, A. & PRAKASH, R. S. 2013. Resting-state functional connectivity in multiple sclerosis: An examination of group differences and individual differences. *Neuropsychologia*, 51, 2918-29.
- JEFFERIES, E. 2013. The neural basis of semantic cognition: Converging evidence from neuropsychology, neuroimaging and TMS. *Cortex*, 49, 611-625.
- JENSEN, A. R. 2006. Clocking the mind: Mental chronometry and individual differences, Oxford, Elsevier.
- JENSEN, H., RAVNBORG, M., MAMOEI, S., DALGAS, U. & STENAGER, E. 2014. Changes in cognition, arm function and lower body function after slow-release fampridine treatment. *Mult Scler*, 20, 1872-80.
- JI, Q., PERCHELLET, A. & GOVERMAN, J. M. 2010. Viral infection triggers central nervous system autoimmunity via activation of CD8+ T cells expressing dual TCRs. *Nat Immunol,* 11, 628-34.
- JOHNSON, A. J., SUIDAN, G. L., MCDOLE, J. & PIRKO, I. 2007. The CD8 T cell in multiple sclerosis: Suppressor cell or mediator of neuropathology? *Int Rev Neurobiol*, 79, 73-97.
- JOLLES, J., HOUX, P. J., VAN BOXTEL, M. P. J. & PONDS, R. W. H. M. 1995. *The Maastricht Aging Study. Determinants of cognitive aging,* Maastricht, Neuropsych Publishers.
- JUN-O'CONNELL, A. H., BUTALA, A., MORALES, I. B., HENNINGER, N., DELIGIANNIDIS, K. M., BYATT, N. & IONETE, C. 2016. The prevalence of bipolar disorders and association with quality of life in a cohort of patients with multiple sclerosis. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci, 29, 45-51.
- KAIL, R. 1991. Developmental change in speed of processing during childhood and adolescence. *Psychol Bull,* 109, 490-501.
- KAIL, R. 1997. The neural noise hypothesis: Evidence from processing speed in adults with multiple sclerosis. *Aging Neuropsychol Cog*, 4, 157-165.
- KAIL, R. 1998. Speed of information processing in patients with multiple sclerosis. *J Clin Exp Neuropsychol*, 20, 98-106.
- KAIL, R. & SALTHOUSE, T. A. 1994. Processing speed as a mental capacity. Acta Psychol (Amst), 86, 199-225.
- KALINCIK, T., BROWN, J. W. L., ROBERTSON, N., WILLIS, M., SCOLDING, N., RICE, C. M., WILKINS, A., PEARSON, O., ZIEMSSEN, T., HUTCHINSON, M., MCGUIGAN, C., JOKUBAITIS, V., SPELMAN, T., HORAKOVA, D., HAVRDOVA, E., TROJANO, M., IZQUIERDO, G., LUGARESI, A., PRAT, A., GIRARD, M., DUQUETTE, P., GRAMMOND, P., ALROUGHANI, R., PUCCI, E., SOLA, P., HUPPERTS, R., LECHNER-SCOTT, J., TERZI, M., VAN PESCH, V., ROZSA, C., GRAND'MAISON, F., BOZ, C., GRANELLA, F., SLEE, M., SPITALERI, D., OLASCOAGA, J., BERGAMASCHI, R., VERHEUL, F., VUCIC, S., MCCOMBE, P., HODGKINSON, S., SANCHEZ-MENOYO, J. L., AMPAPA, R., SIMO, M., CSEPANY, T., RAMO, C., CRISTIANO, E., BARNETT, M., BUTZKUEVEN, H. & COLES, A. 2017. Treatment effectiveness of alemtuzumab compared with natalizumab, fingolimod, and interferon beta in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis: A cohort study. *Lancet Neurol*, 16, 271-281.
- KAMM, C. P., HELDNER, M. R., VANBELLINGEN, T., MATTLE, H. P., MURI, R. & BOHLHALTER, S. 2012. Limb apraxia in multiple sclerosis: prevalence and impact on manual dexterity and activities of daily living. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*, 93, 1081-5.
- KAMPMAN, M. T. & BRUSTAD, M. 2008. Vitamin D: a candidate for the environmental effect in multiple sclerosis - observations from Norway. *Neuroepidemiology*, 30, 140-6.
- KANG, J. H., SHEU, J. J., KAO, S. & LIN, H. C. 2011. Increased risk of multiple sclerosis following herpes zoster: A nationwide, population-based study. *J Infect Dis*, 204, 188-92.
- KANTARCI, O. H., LEBRUN, C., SIVA, A., KEEGAN, M. B., AZEVEDO, C. J., INGLESE, M., TINTORÉ, M., NEWTON, B. D., DURAND-DUBIEF, F., AMATO, M. P., DE STEFANO, N., SORMANI, M. P., PELLETIER, D. & OKUDA, D. T. 2015. Primary progressive multiple sclerosis evolving from radiologically isolated syndrome. *Ann Neurol*, 79, 288-94.

- KAPPUS, N., WEINSTOCK-GUTTMAN, B., HAGEMEIER, J., KENNEDY, C., MELIA, R., CARL, E., RAMASAMY, D. P., CHERNEVA, M., DURFEE, J., BERGSLAND, N., DWYER, M. G., KOLB, C., HOJNACKI, D., RAMANATHAN, M. & ZIVADINOV, R.
   2015. Cardiovascular risk factors are associated with increased lesion burden and brain atrophy in multiple sclerosis. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*, 87, 181-7.
- KATZ SAND, I., KRIEGER, S., FARRELL, C. & MILLER, A. E. 2014. Diagnostic uncertainty during the transition to secondary progressive multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler*, 20, 1654-7.
- KELSEY, P. J., OLIVEIRA, M. C., BADOGLIO, M., SHARRACK, B., FARGE, D. & SNOWDEN, J. A. 2016. Haematopoietic stem cell transplantation in autoimmune diseases: From basic science to clinical practice. *Curr Res Transl Med*, 64, 71-82.
- KERCHNER, G. A., RACINE, C. A., HALE, S., WILHEIM, R., LALUZ, V., MILLER, B. L. & KRAMER, J. H. 2012. Cognitive processing speed in older adults: Relationship with white matter integrity. *PLoS One*, *7*, e50425.
- KERN, K. C., GOLD, S. M., LEE, B., MONTAG, M., HORSFALL, J., O'CONNOR, M. F. & SICOTTE, N. L. 2015. Thalamic-hippocampal-prefrontal disruption in relapsingremitting multiple sclerosis. *Neuroimage Clin*, 8, 440-7.
- KESSLER, H. R., COHEN, R. A., LAUER, K. & KAUSCH, D. F. 1992. The relationship between disability and memory dysfunction in multiple sclerosis. *Int J Neurosci*, 62, 17-34.
- KETTENMANN, H., HANISCH, U. K., NODA, M. & VERKHRATSKY, A. 2011. Physiology of microglia. *Physiol Rev*, 91, 461-553.
- KHALAF, K. M., COYNE, K. S., GLOBE, D. R., ARMSTRONG, E. P., MALONE, D. C. & BURKS, J. 2015. Lower urinary tract symptom prevalence and management among patients with multiple sclerosis. *Int J MS Care*, 17, 14-25.
- KHALIL, M., ENZINGER, C., LANGKAMMER, C., PETROVIC, K., LOITFELDER, M., TSCHERNER, M., JEHNA, M., BACHMAIER, G., WALLNER-BLAZEK, M., ROPELE, S., SCHMIDT, R., FUCHS, S. & FAZEKAS, F. 2011. Cognitive impairment in relation to MRI metrics in patients with clinically isolated syndrome. *Mult Scler*, 17, 173-80.
- KHALIL, M., LANGKAMMER, C., PICHLER, A., PINTER, D., GATTRINGER, T., BACHMAIER, G., ROPELE, S., FUCHS, S., ENZINGER, C. & FAZEKAS, F. 2015. Dynamics of brain iron levels in multiple sclerosis: A longitudinal 3T MRI study. *Neurology*, 84, 2396-402.
- KHAN, O. H., HERBET, G., MORITZ-GASSER, S. & DUFFAU, H. 2014. The role of left inferior fronto-occipital fascicle in verbal perseveration: A brain electrostimulation mapping study. *Brain Topogr*, 27, 403-11.
- KIESEIER, B. C. 2011. The mechanism of action of interferon-beta in relapsing multiple sclerosis. *CNS Drugs*, 25, 491-502.
- KINCSES, Z. T., ROPELE, S., JENKINSON, M., KHALIL, M., PETROVIC, K., LOITFELDER, M., LANGKAMMER, C., ASPECK, E., WALLNER-BLAZEK, M., FUCHS, S., JEHNA, M., SCHMIDT, R., VECSEI, L., FAZEKAS, F. & ENZINGER, C. 2011. Lesion probability mapping to explain clinical deficits and cognitive performance in multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler*, 17, 681-9.
- KINCSES, Z. T. & VECSEI, L. 2018. Is diffusion MRI the future biomarker to measure therapeutic efficacy in multiple sclerosis? *Eur J Neurol.*
- KINDRED, J. H., KOO, P. J. & RUDROFF, T. 2014. Glucose uptake of the spinal cord in patients with multiple sclerosis detected by (1)(8)F-fluorodeoxyglucose PET/CT after walking. *Spinal Cord*, 52 Suppl 3, S11-3.
- KING, R. R. & REISS, J. P. 2013. The epidemiology and pathophysiology of pseudobulbar affect and its association with neurodegeneration. *Degener Neurol Neuromuscul Dis*, 3, 23-31.
- KINZEL, S. & WEBER, M. S. 2016. B cell-directed therapeutics in multiple sclerosis: rationale and clinical evidence. *CNS Drugs*, 30, 1137-1148.
- KLAVER, R., DE VRIES, H. E., SCHENK, G. J. & GEURTS, J. J. 2013. Grey matter damage in multiple sclerosis: A pathology perspective. *Prion*, 7, 66-75.
- KLEIN, O. A., DRUMMOND, A., MHIZHA-MURIRA, J. R., MANSFORD, L. & DASNAIR, R. 2017. Effectiveness of cognitive rehabilitation for people with multiple sclerosis: a meta-synthesis of patient perspectives. *Neuropsychol Rehabil*, 1-22.
- KLUGER, B. M., KRUPP, L. B. & ENOKA, R. M. 2013. Fatigue and fatigability in neurologic illnesses: Proposal for a unified taxonomy. *Neurology*, 80, 409-16.

- KOBELT, G., BERG, J., LINDGREN, P., FREDRIKSON, S. & JÖNSSON, B. 2006. Costs and quality of life of patients with multiple sclerosis in Europe. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*, 77, 918-26.
- KOCH-HENRIKSEN, N. & SORENSEN, P. S. 2010. The changing demographic pattern of multiple sclerosis epidemiology. *Lancet Neurol*, 9, 520-32.
- KOCH-HENRIKSEN, N. & SORENSEN, P. S. 2011. Why does the north-south gradient of incidence of multiple sclerosis seem to have disappeared on the northern hemisphere? *J Neurol Sci*, 311, 58-63.
- KOCH, M., KINGWELL, E., RIECKMANN, P. & TREMLETT, H. 2009. The natural history of primary progressive multiple sclerosis. *Neurology*, 73, 1996-2002.
- KOCH, M. W., GLAZENBORG, A., UYTTENBOOGAART, M., MOSTERT, J. & DE KEYSER, J. 2011. Pharmacologic treatment of depression in multiple sclerosis. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*, Cd007295.
- KOCHUNOV, P., COYLE, T., LANCASTER, J., ROBIN, D. A., HARDIES, J., KOCHUNOV, V., BARTZOKIS, G., STANLEY, J., ROYALL, D., SCHLOSSER, A. E., NULL, M. & FOX, P. T. 2010. Processing speed is correlated with cerebral health markers in the frontal lobes as quantified by neuroimaging. *Neuroimage*, 49, 1190-9.
- KOENIG, K. A., SAKAIE, K. E., LOWE, M. J., LIN, J., STONE, L., BERMEL, R. A., BEALL,
  E. B., RAO, S. M., TRAPP, B. D. & PHILLIPS, M. D. 2014. Hippocampal volume is related to cognitive decline and fornicial diffusion measures in multiple sclerosis. *Magn Reson Imaging*, 32, 354-8.
- KOENIG, K. A., SAKAIE, K. E., LOWE, M. J., LIN, J., STONE, L., BERMEL, R. A., BEALL, E. B., RAO, S. M., TRAPP, B. D. & PHILLIPS, M. D. 2015. The relationship between cognitive function and high-resolution diffusion tensor MRI of the cingulum bundle in multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler*, 21, 1794-1801.
- KÖHLER, W., FISCHER, M., BUBLAK, P., FAISS, J. H., HOFFMANN, F., KUNKEL, A., SAILER, M., SCHWAB, M., STADLER, E., ZETTL, U. K. & PENNER, I. K. 2017. Information processing deficits as a driving force for memory impairment in MS: A cross--sectional study of memory functions and MRI in early and late stage MS. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*, 18, 119-127.
- KORNEK, B. 2015. An update on the use of natalizumab in the treatment of multiple sclerosis: Appropriate patient selection and special considerations. *Patient Prefer Adherence*, 9, 675-84.
- KOROSTIL, M. & FEINSTEIN, A. 2007. Anxiety disorders and their clinical correlates in multiple sclerosis patients. *Mult Scler*, 13, 67-72.
- KOUDRIAVTSEVA, T. & MAINERO, C. 2017. Neuroinflammation, neurodegeneration and regeneration in multiple sclerosis: intercorrelated manifestations of the immune response. *Neural Regen Res*, 11, 1727-1730.
- KRUPP, L. B., CHRISTODOULOU, C., MELVILLE, P., SCHERL, W. F., MACALLISTER, W.
   S. & ELKINS, L. E. 2004. Donepezil improved memory in multiple sclerosis in a randomized clinical trial. *Neurology*, 63, 1579-85.
- KRUPP, L. B., CHRISTODOULOU, C., MELVILLE, P., SCHERL, W. F., PAI, L. Y., MUENZ, L. R., HE, D., BENEDICT, R. H., GOODMAN, A., RIZVI, S., SCHWID, S. R., WEINSTOCK-GUTTMAN, B., WESTERVELT, H. J. & WISHART, H. 2011. Multicenter randomized clinical trial of donepezil for memory impairment in multiple sclerosis. *Neurology*, 76, 1500-7.
- KRUPP, L. B., LAROCCA, N. G., MUIR-NASH, J. & STEINBERG, A. D. 1989. The fatigue severity scale. Application to patients with multiple sclerosis and systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arch Neurol*, 46, 1121-3.
- KUCEYESKI, A. F., VARGAS, W., DAYAN, M., MONOHAN, E., BLACKWELL, C., RAJ, A., FUJIMOTO, K. & GAUTHIER, S. A. 2015. Modeling the relationship among gray matter atrophy, abnormalities in connecting white matter, and cognitive performance in early multiple sclerosis. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol,* 36, 702-9.
- KUHLE, J., DISANTO, G., DOBSON, R., ADIUTORI, R., BIANCHI, L., TOPPING, J., BESTWICK, J. P., MEIER, U. C., MARTA, M., DALLA COSTA, G., RUNIA, T., EVDOSHENKO, E., LAZAREVA, N., THOUVENOT, E., IAFFALDANO, P., DIRENZO, V., KHADEMI, M., PIEHL, F., COMABELLA, M., SOMBEKKE, M., KILLESTEIN, J., HEGEN, H., RAUCH, S., D'ALFONSO, S., ALVAREZ-CERMEÑO, J. C., KLEINOVÁ, P., HORÁKOVÁ, D., ROESLER, R., LAUDA, F., LLUFRIU, S., AVSAR, T., UYGUNOGLU, U., ALTINTAS, A., SAIP, S., MENGE, T., RAJDA, C.,

BERGAMASCHI, R., MOLL, N., KHALIL, M., MARIGNIER, R., DUJMOVIC, I., LARSSON, H., MALMESTROM, C., SCARPINI, E., FENOGLIO, C., WERGELAND, S., LARONI, A., ANNIBALI, V., ROMANO, S., MARTÍNEZ, A. D., CARRA, A., SALVETTI, M., UCCELLI, A., TORKILDSEN, Ø., MYHR, K. M., GALIMBERTI, D., REJDAK, K., LYCKE, J., FREDERIKSEN, J. L., DRULOVIC, J., CONFAVREUX, C., BRASSAT, D., ENZINGER, C., FUCHS, S., BOSCA, I., PELLETIER, J., PICARD, C., COLOMBO, E., FRANCIOTTA, D., DERFUSS, T., LINDBERG, R., YALDIZLI, Ö., VÉCSEI, L., KIESEIER, B. C., HARTUNG, H. P., VILLOSLADA, P., SIVA, A., SAIZ, A., TUMANI, H., HAVRDOVÁ, E., VILLAR, L. M., LEONE, M., BARIZZONE, N., DEISENHAMMER, F., TEUNISSEN, C., MONTALBAN, X., TINTORÉ, M., OLSSON, T., TROJANO, M., LEHMANN, S., CASTELNOVO, G., LAPIN, S., HINTZEN, R., KAPPOS, L., FURLAN, R., MARTINELLI, V., COMI, G., RAMAGOPALAN, S. V. & GIOVANNONI, G. 2015. Conversion from clinically isolated syndrome to multiple sclerosis: A large multicentre study. *Mult Scler,* 21, 1013-24.

- KUHLE, J., HARDMEIER, M., DISANTO, G., GUGLETA, K., ECSEDI, M., LIENERT, C., AMATO, M. P., BAUM, K., BUTTMANN, M., BAYAS, A., BRASSAT, D., BROCHET, B., CONFAVREUX, C., EDAN, G., FÄRKKILÄ, M., FREDRIKSON, S., FRONTONI, M., D'HOOGHE, M., HUTCHINSON, M., DE KEYSER, J., KIESEIER, B. C., KÜMPFEL, T., RIO, J., POLMAN, C., ROULLET, E., STOLZ, C., VASS, K., WANDINGER, K. P. & KAPPOS, L. 2016. A 10-year follow-up of the European multicenter trial of interferon beta-1b in secondary-progressive multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler*, 22, 533-43.
- KUHLMANN, T., LUDWIN, S., PRAT, A., ANTEL, J., BRUCK, W. & LASSMANN, H. 2016. An updated histological classification system for multiple sclerosis lesions. *Acta Neuropathol,* 133, 13-24.
- KUNKEL, A., FISCHER, M., FAISS, J., DAHNE, D., KÖHLER, W. & FAISS, J. H. 2015. Impact of natalizumab treatment on fatigue, mood, and aspects of cognition in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. *Front Neurol*, 6, 97.
- KURTZKE, J. F. 1983. Rating neurologic impairment in multiple sclerosis: An expanded disability status scale (EDSS). *Neurology*, 33, 1444-52.
- KUTZELNIGG, A., LUCCHINETTI, C. F., STADELMANN, C., BRÜCK, W., RAUSCHKA, H., BERGMANN, M., SCHMIDBAUER, M., PARISI, J. E. & LASSMANN, H. 2005. Cortical demyelination and diffuse white matter injury in multiple sclerosis. *Brain*, 128, 2705-12.
- KUZNETSOVA, K. A., MANIEGA, S. M., RITCHIE, S. J., COX, S. R., STORKEY, A. J., STARR, J. M., WARDLAW, J. M., DEARY, I. J. & BASTIN, M. E. 2016. Brain white matter structure and information processing speed in healthy older age. *Brain Struct Funct*, 221, 3223-35.
- LABIANO-FONTCUBERTA, A., MARTÍNEZ-GINÉS, M. L., ALADRO, Y., AYUSO, L., MITCHELL, A. J., PUERTAS-MARTIN, V., CEREZO, M., HIGUERAS, Y. & BENITO-LEÓN, J. 2016. A comparison study of cognitive deficits in radiologically and clinically isolated syndromes. *Mult Scler*, 22, 250-3.
- LAFOSSE, J. M., MITCHELL, S. M., CORBOY, J. R. & FILLEY, C. M. 2013. The nature of verbal memory impairment in multiple sclerosis: A list-learning and meta-analytic study. *J Int Neuropsychol Soc,* 19, 995-1008.
- LAMARGUE-HAMEL, D., DELOIRE, M., SAUBUSSE, A., RUET, A., TAILLARD, J., PHILIP, P. & BROCHET, B. 2015. Cognitive evaluation by tasks in a virtual reality environment in multiple sclerosis. *J Neurol Sci*, 359, 94-9.
- LANG, H. L., JACOBSEN, H., IKEMIZU, S., ANDERSSON, C., HARLOS, K., MADSEN, L., HJORTH, P., SONDERGAARD, L., SVEJGAARD, A., WUCHERPFENNIG, K., STUART, D. I., BELL, J. I., JONES, E. Y. & FUGGER, L. 2002. A functional and structural basis for TCR cross-reactivity in multiple sclerosis. *Nat Immunol*, 3, 940-3.
- LANGDON, D. W., AMATO, M. P., BORINGA, J., BROCHET, B., FOLEY, F., FREDRIKSON, S., HAMALAINEN, P., HARTUNG, H. P., KRUPP, L., PENNER, I. K., REDER, A. T. & BENEDICT, R. H. 2012. Recommendations for a Brief International Cognitive Assessment for Multiple Sclerosis (BICAMS). *Mult Scler*, 18, 891-8.
- LANGFORD, R. M., MARES, J., NOVOTNA, A., VACHOVA, M., NOVAKOVA, I., NOTCUTT, W. & RATCLIFFE, S. 2013. A double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled, parallelgroup study of THC/CBD oromucosal spray in combination with the existing treatment regimen, in the relief of central neuropathic pain in patients with multiple sclerosis. J Neurol, 260, 984-97.

- LANSLEY, J., MATAIX-COLS, D., GRAU, M., RADUA, J. & SASTRE-GARRIGA, J. 2013. Localized grey matter atrophy in multiple sclerosis: A meta-analysis of voxel-based morphometry studies and associations with functional disability. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev*, 37, 819-30.
- LAPOINTE, L. L., MAITLAND, C. G., BLANCHARD, A. A., KEMKER, B. E., STIERWALT, J. A. & HEALD, G. R. 2005. The effects of auditory distraction on visual cognitive performance in multiple sclerosis. *J Neuroophthalmol*, 25, 92-4.
- LAROCHELLE, C., UPHAUS, T., PRAT, A. & ZIPP, F. 2016. Secondary progression in multiple sclerosis: Neuronal exhaustion or distinct pathology? *Trends Neurosci*, 39, 325-339.
- LARSSON, N. G. 2010. Somatic mitochondrial DNA mutations in mammalian aging. *Annu Rev Biochem*, 79, 683-706.
- LASSMANN, H. 2011. Mechanisms of neurodegeneration shared between multiple sclerosis and Alzheimer's disease. *J Neural Transm (Vienna)*, 118, 747-52.
- LAUPACIS, A., LILLIE, E., DUECK, A., STRAUS, S., PERRIER, L., BURTON, J. M., AVIV, R., THORPE, K., FEASBY, T. & SPEARS, J. 2011. Association between chronic cerebrospinal venous insufficiency and multiple sclerosis: a meta-analysis. *CMAJ*, 183, E1203-12.
- LAVORGNA, L., BRIGO, F., MOCCIA, M., LEOCANI, L., LANZILLO, R., CLERICO, M., ABBADESSA, G., SCHMIERER, K., SOLARO, C., PROSPERINI, L., TEDESCHI, G., GIOVANNONI, G. & BONAVITA, S. 2018. e-Health and multiple sclerosis: An update. *Mult Scler*, 1352458518799629.
- LAWLOR-SAVAGE, L. & GOGHARI, V. M. 2016. Dual n-back working memory training in healthy adults: A randomized comparison to processing speed training. *PLoS One*, 11, e0151817.
- LAZERON, R. H., BORINGA, J. B., SCHOUTEN, M., UITDEHAAG, B. M., BERGERS, E., LINDEBOOM, J., EIKELENBOOM, M. I., SCHELTENS, P. H., BARKHOF, F. & POLMAN, C. H. 2005. Brain atrophy and lesion load as explaining parameters for cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler*, 11, 524-31.
- LAZERON, R. H., DE SONNEVILLE, L. M., SCHELTENS, P., POLMAN, C. H. & BARKHOF, F. 2006. Cognitive slowing in multiple sclerosis is strongly associated with brain volume reduction. *Mult Scler*, 12, 760-8.
- LE BIHAN, D., MANGIN, J. F., POUPON, C., CLARK, C. A., PAPPATA, S., MOLKO, N. & CHABRIAT, H. 2001. Diffusion tensor imaging: Concepts and applications. *J Magn Reson Imaging*, 13, 534-46.
- LEAVITT, V. M., LENGENFELDER, J., MOORE, N. B., CHIARAVALLOTI, N. D. & DELUCA, J. 2011. The relative contributions of processing speed and cognitive load to working memory accuracy in multiple sclerosis. *J Clin Exp Neuropsychol*, 33, 580-6.
- LEAVITT, V. M., TOSTO, G. & RILEY, C. S. 2018. Cognitive phenotypes in multiple sclerosis. *J Neurol*, 265, 562-566.
- LEAVITT, V. M., WYLIE, G., KRCH, D., CHIARAVALLOTI, N., DELUCA, J. & SUMOWSKI, J. F. 2014. Does slowed processing speed account for executive deficits in multiple sclerosis? Evidence from neuropsychological performance and structural neuroimaging. *Rehabil Psychol*, 59, 422-8.
- LEBEL, C., WALKER, L., LEEMANS, A., PHILLIPS, L. & BEAULIEU, C. 2008. Microstructural maturation of the human brain from childhood to adulthood. *Neuroimage*, 40, 1044-1055.
- LEBRUN, C. 2015. The radiologically isolated syndrome. Rev Neurol (Paris), 171, 698-706.
- LEBRUN, C., BLANC, F., BRASSAT, D., ZEPHIR, H. & DE SEZE, J. 2010. Cognitive function in radiologically isolated syndrome. *Mult Scler*, 16, 919-25.
- LEDINEK, A. H., SAJKO, M. C. & ROT, U. 2013. Evaluating the effects of amantadin, modafinil and acetyl-L-carnitine on fatigue in multiple sclerosis--Result of a pilot randomized, blind study. *Clin Neurol Neurosurg*, 115 Suppl 1, S86-9.
- LEECH, R., KAMOURIEH, S., BECKMANN, C. F. & SHARP, D. J. 2011. Fractionating the default mode network: distinct contributions of the ventral and dorsal posterior cingulate cortex to cognitive control. *J Neurosci*, 31, 3217-24.
- LÉGER, O. J., YEDNOCK, T. A., TANNER, L., HORNER, H. C., HINES, D. K., KEEN, S., SALDANHA, J., JONES, S. T., FRITZ, L. C. & BENDIG, M. M. 1997. Humanization of a mouse antibody against human alpha-4 integrin: A potential therapeutic for the treatment of multiple sclerosis. *Hum Antibodies*, 8, 3-16.

- LENGENFELDER, J., BRYANT, D., DIAMOND, B. J., KALMAR, J. H., MOORE, N. B. & DELUCA, J. 2006. Processing speed interacts with working memory efficiency in multiple sclerosis. Arch Clin Neuropsychol, 21, 229-38.
- LENGENFELDER, J., CHIARAVALLOTI, N. D., RICKER, J. H. & DELUCA, J. 2003. Deciphering components of impaired working memory in multiple sclerosis. *Cogn Behav Neurol*, 16, 28-39.
- LENSCH, E. & JOST, W. H. 2011. Autonomic disorders in multiple sclerosis. *Autoimmune Dis*, 2011, 803841.
- LERDAL, A., CELIUS, E. G., KRUPP, L. & DAHL, A. A. 2007. A prospective study of patterns of fatigue in multiple sclerosis. *Eur J Neurol*, 14, 1338-43.
- LEVINTHAL, D. J., RAHMAN, A., NUSRAT, S., O'LEARY, M., HEYMAN, R. & BIELEFELDT, K. 2013. Adding to the burden: Gastrointestinal symptoms and syndromes in multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler Int*, 2013, 319201.
- LEVITT, T., FUGELSANG, J. & CROSSLEY, M. 2006. Processing speed, attentional capacity, and age-related memory change. *Exp Aging Res*, 32, 263-95.
- LEWIS, V. M., WILLIAMS, K., KOKO, C., WOOLMORE, J., JONES, C. & POWELL, T. 2016. Disability, depression and suicide ideation in people with multiple sclerosis. *J Affect Disord*, 208, 662-669.
- LEZAK, M. D. 2004. Neuropsychological assessment, New York, Oxford University Press.
- LI, L., CHOPP, M., NEJAD-DAVARANI, S. P., JAFARI-KHOUZANI, K., PATEL, S. C., BUDAJ, J., LU, M., ELIAS, S. B., CERGHET, M. & JIANG, Q. 2014. Perfusion and diffusion abnormalities of multiple sclerosis lesions and relevance of classified lesions to disease status. *J Neurol Neurophysiol*, 2014, 12.
- LIDDELOW, S. A., GUTTENPLAN, K. A., CLARKE, L. E., BENNETT, F. C., BOHLEN, C. J., SCHIRMER, L., BENNETT, M. L., MÜNCH, A. E., CHUNG, W. S., PETERSON, T. C., WILTON, D. K., FROUIN, A., NAPIER, B. A., PANICKER, N., KUMAR, M., BUCKWALTER, M. S., ROWITCH, D. H., DAWSON, V. L., DAWSON, T. M., STEVENS, B. & BARRES, B. A. 2017. Neurotoxic reactive astrocytes are induced by activated microglia. *Nature*, 541, 481-487.
- LIN, A., CHEN, F., LIU, F., LI, Z., LIU, Y., LIN, S., WANG, X. & ZHU, J. 2013. Regional gray matter atrophy and neuropsychologcal problems in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. *Neural Regen Res*, 8, 1958-65.
- LIN, F., ZIVADINOV, R., HAGEMEIER, J., WEINSTOCK-GUTTMAN, B., VAUGHN, C., GANDHI, S., JAKIMOVSKI, D., HULST, H. E., BENEDICT, R. H., BERGSLAND, N., FUCHS, T. & DWYER, M. G. 2018a. Altered nuclei-specific thalamic functional connectivity patterns in multiple sclerosis and their associations with fatigue and cognition. *Mult Scler*, 1352458518788218.
- LIN, S. J., VAVASOUR, I., KOSAKA, B., LI, D. K. B., TRABOULSEE, A., MACKAY, A. & MCKEOWN, M. J. 2018b. Education, and the balance between dynamic and stationary functional connectivity jointly support executive functions in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. *Hum Brain Mapp*.
- LIN, X., TENCH, C. R., MORGAN, P. S. & CONSTANTINESCU, C. S. 2008. Use of combined conventional and quantitative MRI to quantify pathology related to cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry, 79, 437-41.
- LINKER, R. A. & HAGHIKIA, A. 2016. Dimethyl fumarate in multiple sclerosis: Latest developments, evidence and place in therapy. *Ther Adv Chronic Dis*, 7, 198-207.
- LINKER, R. A., LEE, D. H., RYAN, S., VAN DAM, A. M., CONRAD, R., BISTA, P., ZENG, W., HRONOWSKY, X., BUKO, A., CHOLLATE, S., ELLRICHMANN, G., BRUCK, W., DAWSON, K., GOELZ, S., WIESE, S., SCANNEVIN, R. H., LUKASHEV, M. & GOLD, R. 2011. Fumaric acid esters exert neuroprotective effects in neuroinflammation via activation of the Nrf2 antioxidant pathway. *Brain*, 134, 678-92.
- LITVAN, I., GRAFMAN, J., VENDRELL, P. & MARTINEZ, J. M. 1988. Slowed information processing in multiple sclerosis. *Arch Neurol*, 45, 281-5.
- LIU, Y., LIANG, P., DUAN, Y., HUANG, J., REN, Z., JIA, X., DONG, H., YE, J., SHI, F. D., BUTZKUEVEN, H. & LI, K. 2015. Altered thalamic functional connectivity in multiple sclerosis. *Eur J Radiol*, 84, 703-8.
- LLUFRIU, S., BLANCO, Y., MARTINEZ-HERAS, E., CASANOVA-MOLLA, J., GABILONDO, I., SEPULVEDA, M., FALCON, C., BERENGUER, J., BARGALLO, N., VILLOSLADA, P., GRAUS, F., VALLS-SOLE, J. & SAIZ, A. 2012. Influence of corpus callosum

damage on cognition and physical disability in multiple sclerosis: A multimodal study. *PLoS One,* 7, e37167.

- LOITFELDER, M., FAZEKAS, F., KOSCHUTNIG, K., FUCHS, S., PETROVIC, K., ROPELE, S., PICHLER, A., JEHNA, M., LANGKAMMER, C., SCHMIDT, R., NEUPER, C. & ENZINGER, C. 2014. Brain activity changes in cognitive networks in relapsingremitting multiple sclerosis - Insights from a longitudinal FMRI study. *PLoS One*, 9, e93715.
- LOITFELDER, M., FAZEKAS, F., PETROVIC, K., FUCHS, S., ROPELE, S., WALLNER-BLAZEK, M., JEHNA, M., ASPECK, E., KHALIL, M., SCHMIDT, R., NEUPER, C. & ENZINGER, C. 2011. Reorganization in cognitive networks with progression of multiple sclerosis: insights from fMRI. *Neurology*, 76, 526-33.
- LOREFICE, L., FENU, G., TRINCAS, G., MORO, M. F., FRAU, J., COGHE, G. C., COCCO, E., MARROSU, M. G. & CARTA, M. G. 2015. Progressive multiple sclerosis and mood disorders. *Neurol Sci*, 36, 1625-31.
- LORSCHEIDER, J., BUZZARD, K., JOKUBAITIS, V., SPELMAN, T., HÁVRDOVÁ, E., HORÁKOVÁ, D., TROJANO, M., IZQUIERDO, G., GIRARD, M., DUQUETTE, P., PRAT, A., LUGARESI, A., GRAND'MAISON, F., GRAMMOND, P., HUPPERTS, R., ALROUGHANI, R., SOLA, P., BOZ, C., PUCCI, E., LECHNER-SCOTT, J., BERGAMASCHI, R., OREJA-GUEVARA, C., IULIANO, G., VAN PESCH, V., GRANELLA, F., RAMO-TELLO, C., SPITALERI, D., PETERSEN, T., SLEE, M., VERHEUL, F., AMPAPA, R., AMATO, M. P., MCCOMBE, P., VUCIC, S., SÁNCHEZ MENOYO, J. L., CRISTIANO, E., BARNETT, M. H., HODGKINSON, S., OLASCOAGA, J., SALADINO, M. L., GRAY, O., SHAW, C., MOORE, F., BUTZKUEVEN, H. & KALINCIK, T. 2016. Defining secondary progressive multiple sclerosis. *Brain*, 139, 2395-405.
- LOUAPRE, C., GOVINDARAJAN, S. T., GIANNI, C., MADIGAN, N., NIELSEN, A. S., SLOANE, J. A., KINKEL, R. P. & MAINERO, C. 2016. The association between intraand juxta-cortical pathology and cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis by guantitative T2\* mapping at 7 T MRI. *Neuroimage Clin*, 12, 879-886.
- LOUVEAU, A., SMIRNOV, I., KEYES, T. J., ECCLES, J. D., ROUHANI, S. J., PESKE, J. D., DERECKI, N. C., CASTLE, D., MANDELL, J. W., LEE, K. S., HARRIS, T. H. & KIPNIS, J. 2015. Structural and functional features of central nervous system lymphatic vessels. *Nature*, 523, 337-41.
- LOVERA, J. F., FROHMAN, E., BROWN, T. R., BANDARI, D., NGUYEN, L., YADAV, V., STUVE, O., KARMAN, J., BOGARDUS, K., HEIMBURGER, G., CUA, L., REMINGON, G., FOWLER, J., MONAHAN, T., KILCUP, S., COURTNEY, Y., MCALEENAN, J., BUTLER, K., WILD, K., WHITHAM, R. & BOURDETTE, D. 2010. Memantine for cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis: A randomized placebo-controlled trial. *Mult Scler*, 16, 715-23.
- LOWE, M. J., BEALL, E. B., SAKAIE, K. E., KOENIG, K. A., STONE, L., MARRIE, R. A. & PHILLIPS, M. D. 2008. Resting state sensorimotor functional connectivity in multiple sclerosis inversely correlates with transcallosal motor pathway transverse diffusivity. *Hum Brain Mapp*, 29, 818-27.
- LU, P. H., LEE, G. J., RAVEN, E. P., TINGUS, K., KHOO, T., THOMPSON, P. M. & BARTZOKIS, G. 2011. Age-related slowing in cognitive processing speed is associated with myelin integrity in a very healthy elderly sample. *J Clin Exp Neuropsychol*, 33, 1059-68.
- LUBLIN, F. D. & REINGOLD, S. C. 1996. Defining the clinical course of multiple sclerosis: Results of an international survey. National Multiple Sclerosis Society (USA) Advisory Committee on clinical trials of new agents in multiple sclerosis. *Neurology*, 46, 907-11.
- LUBLIN, F. D., REINGOLD, S. C., COHEN, J. A., CUTTER, G. R., SORENSEN, P. S., THOMPSON, A. J., WOLINSKY, J. S., BALCER, L. J., BANWELL, B., BARKHOF, F., BEBO, B., JR., CALABRESI, P. A., CLANET, M., COMI, G., FOX, R. J., FREEDMAN, M. S., GOODMAN, A. D., INGLESE, M., KAPPOS, L., KIESEIER, B. C., LINCOLN, J. A., LUBETZKI, C., MILLER, A. E., MONTALBAN, X., O'CONNOR, P. W., PETKAU, J., POZZILLI, C., RUDICK, R. A., SORMANI, M. P., STUVE, O., WAUBANT, E. & POLMAN, C. H. 2014. Defining the clinical course of multiple sclerosis: The 2013 revisions. *Neurology*, 83, 278-86.

- LUCAS, R. M., BYRNE, S. N., CORREALE, J., ILSCHNER, S. & HART, P. H. 2015. Ultraviolet radiation, vitamin D and multiple sclerosis. *Neurodegener Dis Manag*, 5, 413-24.
- LUCCHINETTI, C., BRUCK, W., PARISI, J., SCHEITHAUER, B., RODRIGUEZ, M. & LASSMANN, H. 2000. Heterogeneity of multiple sclerosis lesions: Implications for the pathogenesis of demyelination. *Ann Neurol*, 47, 707-17.
- LUCCHINETTI, C. F., POPESCU, B. F., BUNYAN, R. F., MOLL, N. M., ROEMER, S. F., LASSMANN, H., BRÜCK, W., PARISI, J. E., SCHEITHAUER, B. W., GIANNINI, C., WEIGAND, S. D., MANDREKAR, J. & RANSOHOFF, R. M. 2011. Inflammatory cortical demyelination in early multiple sclerosis. *N Engl J Med*, 365, 2188-97.
- LUDWIN, S. K. 2006. The pathogenesis of multiple sclerosis: Relating human pathology to experimental studies. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol*, 65, 305-18.
- LUDWIN, S. K., RAO, V., MOORE, C. S. & ANTEL, J. P. 2016. Astrocytes in multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler*, 22, 1114-24.
- LUSTIG, C., HASHER, L. & TONEV, S. T. 2006. Distraction as a determinant of processing speed. *Psychon Bull Rev,* 13, 619-25.
- LYCKE, J., WIKKELSÖ, C., BERGH, A. C., JACOBSSON, L. & ANDERSEN, O. 1993. Regional cerebral blood flow in multiple sclerosis measured by single photon emission tomography with technetium-99m hexamethylpropyleneamine oxime. *Eur Neurol*, 33, 163-7.
- MA, A. Y., VITORINO, R. C., HOJJAT, S. P., MULHOLLAND, A. D., ZHANG, L., LEE, L., CARROLL, T. J., CANTRELL, C. G., FIGLEY, C. R. & AVIV, R. I. 2017. The relationship between white matter fiber damage and gray matter perfusion in largescale functionally defined networks in multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler*, 1352458517691149.
- MACKEY, A. P., WHITAKER, K. J. & BUNGE, S. A. 2012. Experience-dependent plasticity in white matter microstructure: Reasoning training alters structural connectivity. *Front Neuroanat*, 6, 32.
- MACNIVEN, J. A., DAVIS, C., HO, M. Y., BRADSHAW, C. M., SZABADI, E. & CONSTANTINESCU, C. S. 2008. Stroop performance in multiple sclerosis: Information processing, selective attention, or executive functioning? *J Int Neuropsychol Soc*, 14, 805-14.
- MAGISTRO, D., TAKEUCHI, H., NEJAD, K. K., TAKI, Y., SEKIGUCHI, A., NOUCHI, R., KOTOZAKI, Y., NAKAGAWA, S., MIYAUCHI, C. M., IIZUKA, K., YOKOYAMA, R., SHINADA, T., YAMAMOTO, Y., HANAWA, S., ARAKI, T., HASHIZUME, H., SASSA, Y. & KAWASHIMA, R. 2015. The relationship between processing speed and regional white matter volume in healthy young people. *PLoS One*, 10, e0136386.
- MAGNIN, E., SAGAWA, Y., JR., CHAMARD, L., BERGER, E., MOULIN, T. & DECAVEL, P. 2015. Verbal fluencies and fampridine treatment in multiple sclerosis. *Eur Neurol*, 74, 243-50.
- MAGUIRE, E. A. 2001. The retrosplenial contribution to human navigation: A review of lesion and neuroimaging findings. *Scand J Psychol*, 42, 225-38.
- MAHAD, D. H., TRAPP, B. D. & LASSMANN, H. 2015. Pathological mechanisms in progressive multiple sclerosis. *Lancet Neurol*, 14, 183-93.
- MAHAJAN, K. R. & ONTANEDA, D. 2017. The role of advanced magnetic resonance imaging techniques in multiple sclerosis clinical trials. *Neurotherapeutics*, 14, 905-923.
- MAINERO, C., LOUAPRE, C., GOVINDARAJAN, S. T., GIANNI, C., NIELSEN, A. S., COHEN-ADAD, J., SLOANE, J. & KINKEL, R. P. 2015. A gradient in cortical pathology in multiple sclerosis by in vivo quantitative 7 T imaging. *Brain*, 138, 932-45.
- MALLIK, S., MUHLERT, N., SAMSON, R. S., SETHI, V., WHEELER-KINGSHOTT, C. A., MILLER, D. H. & CHARD, D. T. 2015. Regional patterns of grey matter atrophy and magnetisation transfer ratio abnormalities in multiple sclerosis clinical subgroups: A voxel-based analysis study. *Mult Scler*, 21, 423-32.
- MALLUCCI, G., PERUZZOTTI-JAMETTI, L., BERNSTOCK, J. D. & PLUCHINO, S. 2015. The role of immune cells, glia and neurons in white and gray matter pathology in multiple sclerosis. *Prog Neurobiol*, 127-128, 1-22.
- MAMIYA, P. C., RICHARDS, T. L. & KUHL, P. K. 2018. Right forceps minor and anterior thalamic radiation predict executive function skills in young bilingual adults. *Front Psychol*, 9.

MANCA, R., SHARRACK, B., PALING, D., WILKINSON, I. D. & VENNERI, A. 2018. Brain connectivity and cognitive processing speed in multiple sclerosis: A systematic review. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences*, 388, 115-127.

MANDIA, D., FERRARO, O. E., NOSARI, G., MONTOMOLI, C., ZARDINI, E. & BERGAMASCHI, R. 2014. Environmental factors and multiple sclerosis severity: A descriptive study. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*, 11, 6417-32.

MANDOLESI, G., GENTILE, A., MUSELLA, A., FRESEGNA, D., DE VITO, F., BULLITTA, S., SEPMAN, H., MARFIA, G. A. & CENTONZE, D. 2015. Synaptopathy connects inflammation and neurodegeneration in multiple sclerosis. *Nat Rev Neurol*, 11, 711-24.

MAO, P. & REDDY, P. H. 2010. Is multiple sclerosis a mitochondrial disease? *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1802, 66-79.

MARANGONI, C., NANNI, M., GRASSI, L. & FAEDDA, G. 2015. Bipolar disorder preceding the onset of multiple sclerosis. *Neuroimmunology and Neuroinflammation*, 2, 195-195.

MAROIS, R. & IVANOFF, J. 2005. Capacity limits of information processing in the brain. *Trends Cogn Sci*, 9, 296-305.

MARRIE, R. A., RUDICK, R., HORWITZ, R., CUTTER, G., TYRY, T., CAMPAGNOLO, D. & VOLLMER, T. 2010. Vascular comorbidity is associated with more rapid disability progression in multiple sclerosis. *Neurology*, 74, 1041-7.

MARSHALL, O., CHAWLA, S., LU, H., PAPE, L. & GE, Y. 2016. Cerebral blood flow modulation insufficiency in brain networks in multiple sclerosis: A hypercapnia MRI study. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab*, 36, 2087-2095.

MARTIN, N., TRABOULSEE, A. L., MACHAN, L., KLASS, D., ELLCHUK, T., ZHAO, Y., KNOX, K. B., KOPRIVA, D., LALA, S., NICKEL, D., OTANI, R., PERERA, W. R., RAUSCHER, A., SADOVNICK, A. D., SZKUP, P. & LI, D. K. 2016. Prevalence of extracranial venous narrowing on magnetic resonance venography is similar in people with multiple sclerosis, their siblings, and unrelated healthy controls: A blinded, aasecontrol study. *Can Assoc Radiol J.* 

MARTINELLI BONESCHI, F., VACCHI, L., ROVARIS, M., CAPRA, R. & COMI, G. 2013. Mitoxantrone for multiple sclerosis. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*, Cd002127.

MATHIEU, D., KONDZIOLKA, D., NIRANJAN, A., FLICKINGER, J. & LUNSFORD, L. D. 2007. Gamma knife thalamotomy for multiple sclerosis tremor. *Surg Neurol*, 68, 394-9.

- MATTIOLI, F., BELLOMI, F., STAMPATORI, C., PROVINCIALI, L., COMPAGNUCCI, L., UCCELLI, A., PARDINI, M., SANTUCCIO, G., FREGONESE, G., PATTINI, M., ALLEGRI, B., CLERICI, R., LATTUADA, A., MONTOMOLI, C., CORSO, B., GALLO, P., RICCARDI, A., GHEZZI, A., ROSCIO, M., TOLA, M. R., CALANCA, C., BALDINI, D., TRAFFICANTE, D. & CAPRA, R. 2016. Two years follow up of domain specific cognitive training in relapsing remitting multiple sclerosis: A randomized clinical trial. *Front Behav Neurosci.* 10, 28.
- MATTIOLI, F., STAMPATORI, C., BELLOMI, F., DANNI, M., COMPAGNUCCI, L., UCCELLI, A., PARDINI, M., SANTUCCIO, G., FREGONESE, G., PATTINI, M., ALLEGRI, B., CLERICI, R., LATTUADA, A., MONTOMOLI, C., CORSO, B. & CAPRA, R. 2015. A RCT comparing specific intensive cognitive training to aspecific psychological intervention in RRMS: The SMICT study. *Front Neurol*, *5*, 278.
- MATTIOLI, F., STAMPATORI, C., ZANOTTI, D., PARRINELLO, G. & CAPRA, R. 2010. Efficacy and specificity of intensive cognitive rehabilitation of attention and executive functions in multiple sclerosis. *J Neurol Sci*, 288, 101-5.
- MÄURER, M., ORTLER, S., BAIER, M., MEERGANS, M., SCHERER, P., HOFMANN, W. & TRACIK, F. 2012. Randomised multicentre trial on safety and efficacy of rivastigmine in cognitively impaired multiple sclerosis patients. *Mult Scler*, 19, 631-8.
- MAZANDERANI, F., O'NEILL, B. & POWELL, J. 2013. "People power" or "pester power"? YouTube as a forum for the generation of evidence and patient advocacy. *Patient Educ Couns*, 93, 420-5.
- MAZEROLLE, E. L., WOJTOWICZ, M. A., OMISADE, A. & FISK, J. D. 2013. Intra-individual variability in information processing speed reflects white matter microstructure in multiple sclerosis. *Neuroimage Clin*, 2, 894-902.

MAZHARI, A. 2016. Multiple Sclerosis-Related Pain Syndromes: An Imaging Update. *Curr Pain Headache Rep,* 20, 63.

MCAULEY, T. & WHITE, D. A. 2011. A latent variables examination of processing speed, response inhibition, and working memory during typical development. *J Exp Child Psychol*, 108, 453-68.
- MCCARTHY, M., BEAUMONT, J. G., THOMPSON, R. & PEACOCK, S. 2005. Modalityspecific aspects of sustained and divided attentional performance in multiple sclerosis. *Arch Clin Neuropsychol*, 20, 705-18.
- MCDONALD, W. I., COMPSTON, A., EDAN, G., GOODKIN, D., HARTUNG, H. P., LUBLIN, F. D., MCFARLAND, H. F., PATY, D. W., POLMAN, C. H., REINGOLD, S. C., SANDBERG-WOLLHEIM, M., SIBLEY, W., THOMPSON, A., VAN DEN NOORT, S., WEINSHENKER, B. Y. & WOLINSKY, J. S. 2001. Recommended diagnostic criteria for multiple sclerosis: Guidelines from the International Panel on the diagnosis of multiple sclerosis. Ann Neurol, 50, 121-7.
- MCMAHON, J. M., MCQUAID, S., REYNOLDS, R. & FITZGERALD, U. F. 2012. Increased expression of ER stress- and hypoxia-associated molecules in grey matter lesions in multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler*, 18, 1437-47.
- MEIJER, K. A., EIJLERS, A. J. C., DOUW, L., UITDEHAAG, B. M. J., BARKHOF, F., GEURTS, J. J. G. & SCHOONHEIM, M. M. 2017. Increased connectivity of hub networks and cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis. *Neurology*, 88, 2107-2114.
- MEIJER, K. A., MUHLERT, N., CERCIGNANI, M., SETHI, V., RON, M. A., THOMPSON, A. J., MILLER, D. H., CHARD, D., GEURTS, J. J. & CICCARELLI, O. 2016. White matter tract abnormalities are associated with cognitive dysfunction in secondary progressive multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler*.
- MEIJER, K. A., VAN GEEST, Q., EIJLERS, A. J. C., GEURTS, J. J. G., SCHOONHEIM, M. M. & HULST, H. E. 2018. Is impaired information processing speed a matter of structural or functional damage in MS? *Neuroimage Clin*, 20, 844-850.
- MELCON, M. O., CORREALE, J. & MELCON, C. M. 2014. Is it time for a new global classification of multiple sclerosis? *J Neurol Sci*, 344, 171-81.
- MELLA, N., FAGOT, D., LECERF, T. & DE RIBAUPIERRE, A. 2015. Working memory and intraindividual variability in processing speed: A lifespan developmental and individualdifferences study. *Mem Cognit*, 43, 340-56.
- MENON, V. 2011. Large-scale brain networks and psychopathology: a unifying triple network model. *Trends Cogn Sci*, 15, 483-506.
- MENON, V. & UDDIN, L. Q. 2010. Saliency, switching, attention and control: a network model of insula function. *Brain Struct Funct*, 214, 655-67.
- MESAROS, S., ROCCA, M. A., RICCITELLI, G., PAGANI, E., ROVARIS, M., CAPUTO, D., GHEZZI, A., CAPRA, R., BERTOLOTTO, A., COMI, G. & FILIPPI, M. 2009. Corpus callosum damage and cognitive dysfunction in benign MS. *Hum Brain Mapp*, 30, 2656-66.
- MESULAM, M. 2012. The evolving landscape of human cortical connectivity: facts and inferences. *Neuroimage*, 62, 2182-9.
- MHIZHA-MURIRA, J. R., DRUMMOND, A., KLEIN, O. A. & DASNAIR, R. 2017. Reporting interventions in trials evaluating cognitive rehabilitation in people with multiple sclerosis: A systematic review. *Clin Rehabil*, 32, 243-254.
- MIKE, A., GLANZ, B. I., HILDENBRAND, P., MEIER, D., BOLDEN, K., LIGUORI, M., DELL'OGLIO, E., HEALY, B. C., BAKSHI, R. & GUTTMANN, C. R. 2011. Identification and clinical impact of multiple sclerosis cortical lesions as assessed by routine 3T MR imaging. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol, 32, 515-21.
- MIKE, A., STRAMMER, E., ARADI, M., ORSI, G., PERLAKI, G., HAJNAL, A., SANDOR, J., BANATI, M., ILLES, E., ZAITSEV, A., HEROLD, R., GUTTMANN, C. R. & ILLES, Z. 2013. Disconnection mechanism and regional cortical atrophy contribute to impaired processing of facial expressions and theory of mind in multiple sclerosis: A structural MRI study. *PLoS One*, 8, e82422.
- MILLER, D. H. & LEARY, S. M. 2007. Primary-progressive multiple sclerosis. *Lancet Neurol*, 6, 903-12.
- MILLER, D. H., WEINSHENKER, B. G., FILIPPI, M., BANWELL, B. L., COHEN, J. A., FREEDMAN, M. S., GALETTA, S. L., HUTCHINSON, M., JOHNSON, R. T., KAPPOS, L., KIRA, J., LUBLIN, F. D., MCFARLAND, H. F., MONTALBAN, X., PANITCH, H., RICHERT, J. R., REINGOLD, S. C. & POLMAN, C. H. 2008. Differential diagnosis of suspected multiple sclerosis: a consensus approach. *Mult Scler*, 14, 1157-74.
- MILO, R. & KAHANA, E. 2010. Multiple sclerosis: Geoepidemiology, genetics and the environment. *Autoimmunity Reviews*, 9, A387-A394.

MINAGAR, A., BARNETT, M. H., BENEDICT, R. H., PELLETIER, D., PIRKO, I., SAHRAIAN, M. A., FROHMAN, E. & ZIVADINOV, R. 2013. The thalamus and multiple sclerosis: modern views on pathologic, imaging, and clinical aspects. *Neurology*, 80, 210-9.

MINDEN, S. L., ORAV, J. & REICH, P. 1987. Depression in multiple sclerosis. Gen Hosp Psychiatry, 9, 426-34.

MITOLO, M., VENNERI, A., WILKINSON, I. D. & SHARRACK, B. 2015. Cognitive rehabilitation in multiple sclerosis: A systematic review. *J Neurol Sci*, 354, 1-9.

MIYAKE, A., FRIEDMAN, N. P., EMERSON, M. J., WITZKI, A. H., HOWERTER, A. & WAGER, T. D. 2000. The unity and diversity of executive functions and their contributions to complex "Frontal Lobe" tasks: a latent variable analysis. *Cogn Psychol*, 41, 49-100.

MOCCIA, M., DE STEFANO, N. & BARKHOF, F. 2017. Imaging outcome measures for progressive multiple sclerosis trials. *Mult Scler*, 23, 1614-1626.

- MOCCIA, M., LANZILLO, R., PALLADINO, R., CHANG, K. C., COSTABILE, T., RUSSO, C., DE ROSA, A., CAROTENUTO, A., SACCÀ, F., MANISCALCO, G. T. & BRESCIA MORRA, V. 2015. Cognitive impairment at diagnosis predicts 10-year multiple sclerosis progression. *Mult Scler*, 22, 659-67.
- MODICA, C. M., ZIVADINOV, R., DWYER, M. G., BERGSLAND, N., WEEKS, A. R. & BENEDICT, R. H. 2014. Iron and volume in the deep gray matter: Association with cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol*, 36, 57-62.
- MOHER, D., LIBERATI, A., TETZLAFF, J. & ALTMAN, D. G. 2009. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: The PRISMA Statement. *Open Med*, 3, e123-30.
- MOKRY, L. E., ROSS, S., TIMPSON, N. J., SAWCER, S., DAVEY SMITH, G. & RICHARDS, J. B. 2016. Obesity and multiple sclerosis: A Mendelian randomization study. *PLoS Med*, 13, e1002053.
- MÖLLER, F., POETTGEN, J., BROEMEL, F., NEUHAUS, A., DAUMER, M. & HEESEN, C. 2011. HAGIL (Hamburg Vigil Study): A randomized placebo-controlled double-blind study with modafinil for treatment of fatigue in patients with multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler*, 17, 1002-9.
- MOLLISON, D., SELLAR, R., BASTIN, M., CHANDRAN, S., WARDLAW, J. & CONNICK, P. 2017. The clinico-radiological paradox of cognitive function and MRI burden of white matter lesions in people with multiple sclerosis: A systematic review and metaanalysis. *PLoS One*, 12, e0177727.
- MONTALBAN, X., TINTORÉ, M., SWANTON, J., BARKHOF, F., FAZEKAS, F., FILIPPI, M., FREDERIKSEN, J., KAPPOS, L., PALACE, J., POLMAN, C., ROVARIS, M., DE STEFANO, N., THOMPSON, A., YOUSRY, T., ROVIRA, A. & MILLER, D. H. 2010. MRI criteria for MS in patients with clinically isolated syndromes. *Neurology*, 74, 427-34.
- MONTI, M. C., GUIDO, D., MONTOMOLI, C., SARDU, C., SANNA, A., PRETTI, S., LOREFICE, L., MARROSU, M. G., VALERA, P. & COCCO, E. 2016. Is geoenvironmental exposure a risk factor for multiple sclerosis? A population-based crosssectional study in south-western Sardinia. *PLoS One*, 11, e0163313.
- MORBELLI, S., BAUCKNEHT, M., CAPITANIO, S., PARDINI, M., ROCCATAGLIATA, L. & NOBILI, F. 2019. A new frontier for amyloid PET imaging: multiple sclerosis. *Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging.* Germany.
- MORGEN, K., SAMMER, G., COURTNEY, S. M., WOLTERS, T., MELCHIOR, H., BLECKER, C. R., OSCHMANN, P., KAPS, M. & VAITL, D. 2006. Evidence for a direct association between cortical atrophy and cognitive impairment in relapsing-remitting MS. *Neuroimage*, 30, 891-8.
- MORI, S., OISHI, K., JIANG, H., JIANG, L., LI, X., AKHTER, K., HUA, K., FARIA, A. V., MAHMOOD, A., WOODS, R., TOGA, A. W., PIKE, G. B., NETO, P. R., EVANS, A., ZHANG, J., HUANG, H., MILLER, M. I., VAN ZIJL, P. & MAZZIOTTA, J. 2008. Stereotaxic white matter atlas based on diffusion tensor imaging in an ICBM template. *Neuroimage*, 40, 570-582.

MOROSO, A., RUET, A., DELOIRE, M., LAMARGUE-HAMEL, D., CUBIZOLLE, S., CHARRÉ-MORIN, J., SAUBUSSE, A. & BROCHET, B. 2016. Cerebellar assessment in early multiple sclerosis. *Cerebellum*, 16, 607-611.

MOROSO, A., RUET, A., LAMARGUE-HAMEL, D., MUNSCH, F., DELOIRE, M., COUPÉ, P., CHARRÉ-MORIN, J., SAUBUSSE, A., OUALLET, J. C., PLANCHE, V., TOURDIAS, T., DOUSSET, V. & BROCHET, B. 2017. Microstructural analyses of the posterior cerebellar lobules in relapsing-onset multiple sclerosis and their implication in cognitive impairment. *PLoS One*, 12, e0182479.

- MORROW, S. A., JURGENSEN, S., FORRESTAL, F., MUNCHAUER, F. E. & BENEDICT, R. H. 2011. Effects of acute relapses on neuropsychological status in multiple sclerosis patients. *J Neurol*, 258, 1603-8.
- MORROW, S. A., KAUSHIK, T., ZAREVICS, P., ERLANGER, D., BEAR, M. F., MUNSCHAUER, F. E. & BENEDICT, R. H. 2009. The effects of L-amphetamine sulfate on cognition in MS patients: Results of a randomized controlled trial. *J Neurol*, 256, 1095-102.
- MORROW, S. A., SMERBECK, A., PATRICK, K., COOKFAIR, D., WEINSTOCK-GUTTMAN, B. & BENEDICT, R. H. 2013. Lisdexamfetamine dimesylate improves processing speed and memory in cognitively impaired MS patients: A phase II study. *J Neurol*, 260, 489-97.
- MUKHERJEE, A. & CHAKRAVARTY, A. 2011. Spasticity mechanisms for the clinician. *Front Neurol*, 1, 149.
- MULLER, A. M., MÉRILLAT, S. & JÄNCKE, L. 2016. Small changes, but huge impact? The right anterior insula's loss of connection strength during the transition of old to very old age. *Front Aging Neurosci*, 8.
- MÜNZ, C., LUNEMANN, J. D., GETTS, M. T. & MILLER, S. D. 2009. Antiviral immune responses: triggers of or triggered by autoimmunity? *Nat Rev Immunol*, 9, 246-58.
- MURARO, P. A., PASQUINI, M., ATKINS, H. L., BOWEN, J. D., FARGE, D., FASSAS, A., FREEDMAN, M. S., GEORGES, G. E., GUALANDI, F., HAMERSCHLAK, N., HAVRDOVA, E., KIMISKIDIS, V. K., KOZAK, T., MANCARDI, G. L., MASSACESI, L., MORAES, D. A., NASH, R. A., PAVLETIC, S., OUYANG, J., ROVIRA, M., SAIZ, A., SIMOES, B., TRNENY, M., ZHU, L., BADOGLIO, M., ZHONG, X., SORMANI, M. P. & SACCARDI, R. 2017. Long-term outcomes after autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplantation for multiple sclerosis. JAMA Neurol, 74, 459-469.
- NAGELS, G., GEENTJENS, L., KOS, D., VLEUGELS, L., D'HOOGHE M, B., VAN ASCH, P., VUYLSTEKE, K. & DE DEYN, P. P. 2005. Paced visual serial addition test in multiple sclerosis. *Clin Neurol Neurosurg*, 107, 218-22.
- NAGHAVI, H. R. & NYBERG, L. 2005. Common fronto-parietal activity in attention, memory, and consciousness: shared demands on integration? *Conscious Cogn*, 14, 390-425.
- NAPOLI, I. & NEUMANN, H. 2009. Protective effects of microglia in multiple sclerosis. *Exp Neurol*, 225, 24-8.
- NASH, R. A., HUTTON, G. J., RACKE, M. K., POPAT, U., DEVINE, S. M., GRIFFITH, L. M., MURARO, P. A., OPENSHAW, H., SAYRE, P. H., STUVE, O., ARNOLD, D. L., SPYCHALA, M. E., MCCONVILLE, K. C., HARRIS, K. M., PHIPPARD, D., GEORGES, G. E., WUNDES, A., KRAFT, G. H. & BOWEN, J. D. 2014. High-dose immunosuppressive therapy and autologous hematopoietic cell transplantation for relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis (HALT-MS): A 3-year interim report. JAMA Neurol, 72, 159-69.
- NAVILLE, F. 1922. Études sur les complications et le sequelles mentales de l'encéphalite épidémique. *L'Encéphale*, 17, 369-375, 423-436.
- NEJAD-DAVARANI, S. P., CHOPP, M., PELTIER, S., LI, L., DAVOODI-BOJD, E., LU, M., BAGHER-EBADIAN, H., BUDAJ, J., GALLAGHER, D., DING, Y., HEARSHEN, D., JIANG, Q. & CERGHET, M. 2016. Resting state fMRI connectivity analysis as a tool for detection of abnormalities in five different cognitive networks of the brain in multiple sclerosis patients. *Clin Case Rep Rev*, 2, 464-471.
- NEUHAUS, O., WIENDL, H., KIESEIER, B. C., ARCHELOS, J. J., HEMMER, B., STUVE, O. & HARTUNG, H. P. 2005. Multiple sclerosis: Mitoxantrone promotes differential effects on immunocompetent cells in vitro. *J Neuroimmunol*, 168, 128-37.
- NEUMANN, M., STERR, A., CLAROS-SALINAS, D., GÜTLER, R., ULRICH, R. & DETTMERS, C. 2014. Modulation of alertness by sustained cognitive demand in MS as surrogate measure of fatigue and fatigability. *J Neurol Sci*, 340, 178-82.
- NG, A. V., MILLER, R. G., GELINAS, D. & KENT-BRAUN, J. A. 2004. Functional relationships of central and peripheral muscle alterations in multiple sclerosis. *Muscle Nerve*, 29, 843-52.

- NIKFAR, S., RAHIMI, R., REZAIE, A. & ABDOLLAHI, M. 2010. A meta-analysis on the efficacy and tolerability of natalizumab in relapsing multiple sclerosis. *Arch Med Sci*, 6, 236-44.
- NOCENTINI, U., BOZZALI, M., SPANÒ, B., CERCIGNANI, M., SERRA, L., BASILE, B., MANNU, R., CALTAGIRONE, C. & DE LUCA, J. 2014. Exploration of the relationships between regional grey matter atrophy and cognition in multiple sclerosis. *Brain Imaging Behav*, 8, 378-86.
- NOORI-ZADEH, A., MESBAH-NAMIN, S. A., BISTOON-BEIGLOO, S., BAKHTIYARI, S., ABBASZADEH, H. A., DARABI, S., RAJABIBAZL, M. & ABDANIPOUR, A. 2016. Regulatory T cell number in multiple sclerosis patients: A meta-analysis. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*, 5, 73-6.
- NORTON, C. & CHELVANAYAGAM, S. 2010. Bowel problems and coping strategies in people with multiple sclerosis. *Br J Nurs*, 19, 220, 221-6.
- NOURBAKHSH, B., AZEVEDO, C., NUNAN-SAAH, J., MAGHZI, A. H., SPAIN, R., PELLETIER, D. & WAUBANT, E. 2016. Longitudinal associations between brain structural changes and fatigue in early MS. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*, *5*, 29-33.
- NUNAN-SAAH, J., PAULRAJ, S. R., WAUBANT, E., KRUPP, L. B. & GOMEZ, R. G. 2015. Neuropsychological correlates of multiple sclerosis across the lifespan. *Mult Scler*, 21, 1355-64.
- NYBERG, C. K., NORDVIK, J. E., BECKER, F., ROHANI, D. A., SEDEREVICIUS, D., FJELL, A. M. & WALHOVD, K. B. 2018. A longitudinal study of computerized cognitive training in stroke patients effects on cognitive function and white matter. *Top Stroke Rehabil*, 25, 241-247.
- NYGAARD, G. O., DE RODEZ BENAVENT, S. A., HARBO, H. F., LAENG, B., SOWA, P., DAMANGIR, S., BERNHARD NILSEN, K., ETHOLM, L., TØNNESEN, S., KERTY, E., DROLSUM, L., INGE LANDRØ, N. & CELIUS, E. G. 2015. Eye and hand motor interactions with the Symbol Digit Modalities Test in early multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*, 4, 585-9.
- O'CONNOR, A. B., SCHWID, S. R., HERRMANN, D. N., MARKMAN, J. D. & DWORKIN, R.
   H. 2007. Pain associated with multiple sclerosis: Systematic review and proposed classification. *Pain*, 137, 96-111.
- OH, J. & O'CONNOR, P. W. 2014. Teriflunomide in the treatment of multiple sclerosis: current evidence and future prospects. *Ther Adv Neurol Disord*, 7, 239-52.
- OKUDA, D. T., SIVA, A., KANTARCI, O., INGLESE, M., KATZ, I., TUTUNCU, M., KEEGAN, B. M., DONLON, S., HUA LE, H., VIDAL-JORDANA, A., MONTALBAN, X., ROVIRA, A., TINTORÉ, M., AMATO, M. P., BROCHET, B., DE SEZE, J., BRASSAT, D., VERMERSCH, P., DE STEFANO, N., SORMANI, M. P., PELLETIER, D. & LEBRUN, C. 2014. Radiologically isolated syndrome: 5-year risk for an initial clinical event. *PLoS One*, 9, e90509.
- OLSSON, T., BARCELLOS, L. F. & ALFREDSSON, L. 2016. Interactions between genetic, lifestyle and environmental risk factors for multiple sclerosis. *Nat Rev Neurol*, 13, 25-36.
- ONTANEDA, D., SAKAIE, K., LIN, J., WANG, X., LOWE, M. J., PHILLIPS, M. D. & FOX, R. J. 2014. Identifying the start of multiple sclerosis injury: A serial DTI study. *J Neuroimaging*, 24, 569-76.
- ONTANEDA, D., THOMPSON, A. J., FOX, R. J. & COHEN, J. A. 2016. Progressive multiple sclerosis: Prospects for disease therapy, repair, and restoration of function. *Lancet*.
- OPTIC NEURITIS STUDY GROUP, T. 2008. Multiple sclerosis risk after optic neuritis: Final optic neuritis treatment trial follow-up. *Arch Neurol*, 65, 727-32.
- ORTIZ, G. G., PACHECO-MOISES, F. P., MACIAS-ISLAS, M. A., FLORES-ALVARADO, L. J., MIRELES-RAMIREZ, M. A., GONZALEZ-RENOVATO, E. D., HERNANDEZ-NAVARRO, V. E., SANCHEZ-LOPEZ, A. L. & ALATORRE-JIMENEZ, M. A. 2014. Role of the blood-brain barrier in multiple sclerosis. *Arch Med Res*, 45, 687-97.
- OSTERREITH, P. A. 1944. Le test de copie d'une figure complexe; contribution à l'étude de la perception et de la mémoire. *Archives de Psychologie*, 30, 206-356.
- OUELLETTE, R., BERGENDAL, A., SHAMS, S., MARTOLA, J., MAINERO, C., KRISTOFFERSEN WIBERG, M., FREDRIKSON, S. & GRANBERG, T. 2018. Lesion accumulation is predictive of long-term cognitive decline in multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*, 21, 110-116.

- OWENS, E. M., DENNEY, D. R. & LYNCH, S. G. 2013. Difficulties in planning among patients with multiple sclerosis: A relative consequence of deficits in information processing speed. J Int Neuropsychol Soc, 19, 613-20.
- OWSLEY, C., MCGWIN, G., JR., SLOANE, M. E., STALVEY, B. T. & WELLS, J. 2001. Timed instrumental activities of daily living tasks: Relationship to visual function in older adults. *Optom Vis Sci*, 78, 350-9.
- OZTURK, A., SMITH, S. A., GORDON-LIPKIN, E. M., HARRISON, D. M., SHIEE, N., PHAM, D. L., CAFFO, B. S., CALABRESI, P. A. & REICH, D. S. 2010. MRI of the corpus callosum in multiple sclerosis: Association with disability. *Mult Scler*, 16, 166-77.
- PAOLUCCI, S., MARTINUZZI, A., SCIVOLETTO, G., SMANIA, N., SOLARO, C., APRILE, I., ARMANDO, M., BERGAMASCHI, R., BERRA, E., BERTO, G., CARRARO, E., CELLA, M., GANDOLFI, M., MASCIULLO, M., MOLINARI, M., PAGLIANO, E., PECCHIOLI, C., RONCARI, L., TORRE, M., TRABUCCO, E., VALLIES, G., ZERBINATI, P. & TAMBURIN, S. 2016. Assessing and treating pain associated with stroke, multiple sclerosis, cerebral palsy, spinal cord injury and spasticity. Evidence and recommendations from the Italian Consensus Conference on Pain in Neurorehabilitation. *Eur J Phys Rehabil Med*, 52, 827-840.
- PAPADOPOULOU, A., MULLER-LENKE, N., NAEGELIN, Y., KALT, G., BENDFELDT, K., KUSTER, P., STOECKLIN, M., GASS, A., SPRENGER, T., RADUE, E. W., KAPPOS, L. & PENNER, I. K. 2013. Contribution of cortical and white matter lesions to cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler*, 19, 1290-6.
- PAPATHANASIOU, A., MESSINIS, L., GEORGIOU, V. L. & PAPATHANASOPOULOS, P. 2014. Cognitive impairment in relapsing remitting and secondary progressive multiple sclerosis patients: Efficacy of a computerized cognitive screening battery. *ISRN Neurol*, 2014, 151379.
- PAPATHANASIOU, A., MESSINIS, L., ZAMPAKIS, P. & PAPATHANASOPOULOS, P. 2017. Corpus callosum atrophy as a marker of clinically meaningful cognitive decline in secondary progressive multiple sclerosis. Impact on employment status. *J Clin Neurosci*, 43, 170-175.
- PARDINI, M., UCCELLI, A., GRAFMAN, J., YALDIZLI, Ö., MANCARDI, G. & ROCCATAGLIATA, L. 2014. Isolated cognitive relapses in multiple sclerosis. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*, 85, 1035-7.
- PARETO, D., SASTRE-GARRIGA, J., ALONSO, J., GALÁN, I., ARÉVALO, M. J., RENOM, M., MONTALBAN, X. & ROVIRA, À. 2018. Classic block design "pseudo"-resting-state fMRI changes after a neurorehabilitation program in patients with multiple sclerosis. J Neuroimaging, 28, 313-319.
- PARETO, D., SASTRE-GARRIGA, J., AUGER, C., VIVES-GILABERT, Y., DELGADO, J., TINTORE, M., MONTALBAN, X. & ROVIRA, A. 2015. Juxtacortical lesions and cortical thinning in multiple sclerosis. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol*, 36, 2270-6.
- PARISI, L., ROCCA, M. A., MATTIOLI, F., COPETTI, M., CAPRA, R., VALSASINA, P., STAMPATORI, C. & FILIPPI, M. 2014a. Changes of brain resting state functional connectivity predict the persistence of cognitive rehabilitation effects in patients with multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler*, 20, 686-94.
- PARISI, L., ROCCA, M. A., VALSASINA, P., PANICARI, L., MATTIOLI, F. & FILIPPI, M. 2014b. Cognitive rehabilitation correlates with the functional connectivity of the anterior cingulate cortex in patients with multiple sclerosis. *Brain Imaging Behav*, 8, 387-93.
- PARK, D. C. & BISCHOF, G. N. 2013. The aging mind: neuroplasticity in response to cognitive training. *Dialogues Clin Neurosci*, 15, 109-19.
- PARK, H. J. & FRISTON, K. 2013. Structural and functional brain networks: From connections to cognition. *Science*, 342, 1238411.
- PARMENTER, B. A., SHUCARD, J. L., BENEDICT, R. H. & SHUCARD, D. W. 2006. Working memory deficits in multiple sclerosis: Comparison between the n-back task and the Paced Auditory Serial Addition Test. *J Int Neuropsychol Soc*, 12, 677-87.
- PARMENTER, B. A., SHUCARD, J. L. & SHUCARD, D. W. 2007a. Information processing deficits in multiple sclerosis: A matter of complexity. *J Int Neuropsychol Soc,* 13, 417-23.
- PARMENTER, B. A., WEINSTOCK-GUTTMAN, B., GARG, N., MUNSCHAUER, F. & BENEDICT, R. H. 2007b. Screening for cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis using the Symbol Digit Modalities Test. *Mult Scler*, 13, 52-7.

- PASSAMONTI, L., CERASA, A., LIGUORI, M., GIOIA, M. C., VALENTINO, P., NISTICO, R., QUATTRONE, A. & FERA, F. 2009. Neurobiological mechanisms underlying emotional processing in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. *Brain*, 132, 3380-91.
- PATEJDL, R., PENNER, I. K., NOACK, T. K. & ZETTL, U. K. 2015. Multiple sclerosis and fatigue: A review on the contribution of inflammation and immune-mediated neurodegeneration. *Autoimmun Rev*, 15, 210-20.
- PATRIKIOS, P., STADELMANN, C., KUTZELNIGG, A., RAUSCHKA, H., SCHMIDBAUER, M., LAURSEN, H., SORENSEN, P. S., BRUCK, W., LUCCHINETTI, C. & LASSMANN, H. 2006. Remyelination is extensive in a subset of multiple sclerosis patients. *Brain*, 129, 3165-72.
- PATSOPOULOS, N. A., BARCELLOS, L. F., HINTZEN, R. Q., SCHAEFER, C., VAN DUIJN, C. M., NOBLE, J. A., RAJ, T., GOURRAUD, P. A., STRANGER, B. E., OKSENBERG, J., OLSSON, T., TAYLOR, B. V., SAWCER, S., HAFLER, D. A., CARRINGTON, M., DE JAGER, P. L. & DE BAKKER, P. I. 2013. Fine-mapping the genetic association of the major histocompatibility complex in multiple sclerosis: HLA and non-HLA effects. *PLoS Genet*, 9, e1003926.
- PATTERSON, K., NESTOR, P. J. & ROGERS, T. T. 2007. Where do you know what you know? The representation of semantic knowledge in the human brain. *Nat Rev Neurosci*, 8, 976-87.
- PATTI, F., AMATO, M. P., BASTIANELLO, S., CANIATTI, L., DI MONTE, E., FERRAZZA, P., GORETTI, B., GALLO, P., MORRA, V. B., LO FERMO, S., PICCONI, O., TOLA, M. R. & TROJANO, M. 2010. Effects of immunomodulatory treatment with subcutaneous interferon beta-1a on cognitive decline in mildly disabled patients with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler*, 16, 68-77.
- PAUL, L. K., ERICKSON, R. L., HARTMAN, J. A. & BROWN, W. S. 2016. Learning and memory in individuals with agenesis of the corpus callosum. *Neuropsychologia*, 86, 183-92.
- PAUL, R. H., BEATTY, W. W., SCHNEIDER, R., BLANCO, C. & HAMES, K. 1998. Impairments of attention in individuals with multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler*, 4, 433-9.
- PAULESU, E., FRITH, C. D. & FRACKOWIAK, R. S. 1993. The neural correlates of the verbal component of working memory. *Nature*, 362, 342-5.
- PEDRE, X., MASTRONARDI, F., BRUCK, W., LOPEZ-RODAS, G., KUHLMANN, T. & CASACCIA, P. 2011. Changed histone acetylation patterns in normal-appearing white matter and early multiple sclerosis lesions. *J Neurosci*, 31, 3435-45.
- PEELEN, E., KNIPPENBERG, S., MURIS, A. H., THEWISSEN, M., SMOLDERS, J., TERVAERT, J. W., HUPPERTS, R. & DAMOISEAUX, J. 2011. Effects of vitamin D on the peripheral adaptive immune system: A review. *Autoimmun Rev*, 10, 733-43.
- PEFEROEN, L. A., VOGEL, D. Y., UMMENTHUM, K., BREUR, M., HEIJNEN, P. D., GERRITSEN, W. H., PEFEROEN-BAERT, R. M., VAN DER VALK, P., DIJKSTRA, C. D. & AMOR, S. 2015. Activation status of human microglia is dependent on lesion formation stage and remyelination in multiple sclerosis. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol*, 74, 48-63.
- PENKE, L., MUÑOZ MANIEGA, S., MURRAY, C., GOW, A. J., HERNÁNDEZ, M. C., CLAYDEN, J. D., STARR, J. M., WARDLAW, J. M., BASTIN, M. E. & DEARY, I. J. 2010. A general factor of brain white matter integrity predicts information processing speed in healthy older people. *J Neurosci*, 30, 7569-74.
- PERÄKYLÄ, J., SUN, L., LEHTIMAKI, K., PELTOLA, J., ÖHMAN, J., MOTTONEN, T., OGAWA, K. H. & HARTIKAINEN, K. M. 2017. Causal evidence from humans for the role of mediodorsal nucleus of the thalamus in working memory. *J Cogn Neurosci*, 29, 2090-2102.
- PERAZA, L. R., KAISER, M., FIRBANK, M., GRAZIADIO, S., BONANNI, L., ONOFRJ, M., COLLOBY, S. J., BLAMIRE, A., O'BRIEN, J. & TAYLOR, J. P. 2014. fMRI resting state networks and their association with cognitive fluctuations in dementia with Lewy bodies. *Neuroimage Clin*, 4, 558-65.
- PERRICONE, C., VERSINI, M., BEN-AMI, D., GERTEL, S., WATAD, A., SEGEL, M. J., CECCARELLI, F., CONTI, F., CANTARINI, L., BOGDANOS, D. P., ANTONELLI, A., AMITAL, H., VALESINI, G. & SHOENFELD, Y. 2016. Smoke and autoimmunity: The fire behind the disease. *Autoimmun Rev*, 15, 354-74.

- PETRIDES, M., ALIVISATOS, B., MEYER, E. & EVANS, A. C. 1993. Functional activation of the human frontal cortex during the performance of verbal working memory tasks. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 90, 878-82.
- PETSAS, N., TINELLI, E., LENZI, D., TOMASSINI, V., SBARDELLA, E., TONA, F., RAZ, E., NUCCIARELLI, V., POZZILLI, C. & PANTANO, P. 2013. Evidence of impaired brain activity balance after passive sensorimotor stimulation in multiple sclerosis. *PLoS One*, 8, e65315.
- PEYRO SAINT PAUL, L., CREVEUIL, C., HEINZLEF, O., DE SEZE, J., VERMERSCH, P., CASTELNOVO, G., CABRE, P., DEBOUVERIE, M., BROCHET, B., DUPUY, B., LEBIEZ, P., SARTORI, É., CLAVELOU, P., BRASSAT, D., LEBRUN-FRENAY, C., DAPLAUD, D., PELLETIER, J., COMAN, I., HAUTECOEUR, P., TOURBAH, A. & DEFER, G. 2016. Efficacy and safety profile of memantine in patients with cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis: A randomized, placebo-controlled study. *J Neurol Sci*, 363, 69-76.
- PHILLIPS, J. T., SELMAJ, K., GOLD, R., FOX, R. J., HAVRDOVA, E., GIOVANNONI, G., ABOURJAILY, H., PACE, A., NOVAS, M., HOTERMANS, C., VIGLIETTA, V. & MELTZER, L. 2015. Clinical significance of gastrointestinal and flushing events in patients with multiple sclerosis treated with delayed-release dimethyl fumarate. *Int J MS Care*, 17, 236-43.
- PIETROBONI, A. M., CARANDINI, T., COLOMBI, A., MERCURIO, M., GHEZZI, L., GIULIETTI, G., SCARIONI, M., ARIGHI, A., FENOGLIO, C., DE RIZ, M. A., FUMAGALLI, G. G., BASILICO, P., SERPENTE, M., BOZZALI, M., SCARPINI, E., GALIMBERTI, D. & MAROTTA, G. 2019. Amyloid PET as a marker of normalappearing white matter early damage in multiple sclerosis: correlation with CSF betaamyloid levels and brain volumes. *Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging*, 46, 280-287.
- PIKOR, N. B., PRAT, A., BAR-OR, A. & GOMMERMAN, J. L. 2016. Meningeal tertiary lymphoid tissues and multiple sclerosis: A gathering place for diverse types of immune cells during CNS autoimmunity. *Front Immunol*, 6, 657.
- PINSCHEWER, D. D., BRINKMANN, V. & MERKLER, D. 2011. Impact of sphingosine 1phosphate modulation on immune outcomes. *Neurology*, 76, S15-9.
- PINTÉR, A., CSEH, D., SÁRKÖZI, A., ILLIGENS, B. M. & SIEPMANN, T. 2015. Autonomic dysregulation in multiple sclerosis. *Int J Mol Sci*, 16, 16920-52.
- PINTER, D., BECKMANN, C., KOINI, M., PIRKER, E., FILIPPINI, N., PICHLER, A., FUCHS, S., FAZEKAS, F. & ENZINGER, C. 2016. Reproducibility of resting state connectivity in patients with stable multiple sclerosis. *PLoS One*, 11.
- PLANCHE, V., GIBELIN, M., CREGUT, D., PEREIRA, B. & CLAVELOU, P. 2015. Cognitive impairment in a population-based study of patients with multiple sclerosis: Differences between late relapsing-remitting, secondary progressive and primary progressive multiple sclerosis. *Eur J Neurol*, 23, 282-9.
- POKRYSZKO-DRAGAN, A., BANASZEK, A., NOWAKOWSKA-KOTAS, M., JEŻOWSKA-JURCZYK, K., DZIADKOWIAK, E., GRUSZKA, E., ZAGRAJEK, M., BILIŃSKA, M., BUDREWICZ, S., SASIADEK, M. & BLADOWSKA, J. 2018. Diffusion tensor imaging findings in the multiple sclerosis patients and their relationships to various aspects of disability. *J Neurol Sci*, 391, 127-133.
- POLMAN, C. H., REINGOLD, S. C., BANWELL, B., CLANET, M., COHEN, J. A., FILIPPI, M., FUJIHARA, K., HÁVRDOVÁ, E., HUTCHINSON, M., KAPPOS, L., LUBLIN, F. D., MONTALBAN, X., O'CONNOR, P., SANDBERG-WOLLHEIM, M., THOMPSON, A. J., WAUBANT, E., WEINSHENKER, B. & WOLINSKY, J. S. 2010. Diagnostic criteria for multiple sclerosis: 2010 revisions to the McDonald criteria. *Ann Neurol*, 69, 292-302.
- POLMAN, C. H., REINGOLD, S. C., EDAN, G., FILIPPI, M., HARTUNG, H. P., KAPPOS, L., LUBLIN, F. D., METZ, L. M., MCFARLAND, H. F., O'CONNOR, P. W., SANDBERG-WOLLHEIM, M., THOMPSON, A. J., WEINSHENKER, B. G. & WOLINSKY, J. S. 2005. Diagnostic criteria for multiple sclerosis: 2005 revisions to the "McDonald Criteria". Ann Neurol, 58, 840-6.
- PONATH, G., RAMANAN, S., MUBARAK, M., HOUSLEY, W., LEE, S., SAHINKAYA, F. R., VORTMEYER, A., RAINE, C. S. & PITT, D. 2016. Myelin phagocytosis by astrocytes after myelin damage promotes lesion pathology. *Brain*, 140, 399-413.
- PONOMAREV, E. D., SHRIVER, L. P., MARESZ, K. & DITTEL, B. N. 2005. Microglial cell activation and proliferation precedes the onset of CNS autoimmunity. *J Neurosci Res*, 81, 374-89.

POPESCU, B. F. & LUCCHINETTI, C. F. 2012. Meningeal and cortical grey matter pathology in multiple sclerosis. *BMC Neurol*, 12, 11.

- POZZILLI, C., FIESCHI, C., PERANI, D., PAULESU, E., COMI, G., BASTIANELLO, S., BERNARDI, S., BETTINARDI, V., BOZZAO, L., CANAL, N. & ET AL. 1992. Relationship between corpus callosum atrophy and cerebral metabolic asymmetries in multiple sclerosis. *J Neurol Sci*, 112, 51-7.
- PRABHAKARAN, V., RYPMA, B., NARAYANAN, N. S., MEIER, T. B., AUSTIN, B. P., NAIR, V. A., NAING, L., THOMAS, L. E. & GABRIELI, J. D. 2011. Capacity-speed relationships in prefrontal cortex. *PLoS One*, 6, e27504.
- PRAVATÁ, E., ZECCA, C., SESTIERI, C., CAULO, M., RICCITELLI, G. C., ROCCA, M. A., FILIPPI, M., CIANFONI, A. & GOBBI, C. 2016. Hyperconnectivity of the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex following mental effort in multiple sclerosis patients with cognitive fatigue. *Mult Scler*.
- PREZIOSA, P., PAGANI, E., MESAROS, S., RICCITELLI, G. C., DACKOVIC, J., DRULOVIC, J., FILIPPI, M. & ROCCA, M. A. 2017. Progression of regional atrophy in the left hemisphere contributes to clinical and cognitive deterioration in multiple sclerosis: A 5-year study. *Hum Brain Mapp*, 38, 5648-5665.
- PRINCE, S. E., DASELAAR, S. M. & CABEZA, R. 2005. Neural correlates of relational memory: Successful encoding and retrieval of semantic and perceptual associations. J Neurosci, 25, 1203-10.
- PRINS, M., SCHUL, E., GEURTS, J., VAN DER VALK, P., DRUKARCH, B. & VAN DAM, A. M. 2015. Pathological differences between white and grey matter multiple sclerosis lesions. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, 1351, 99-113.
- PROSPERINI, L., FANELLI, F., PETSAS, N., SBARDELLA, E., TONA, F., RAZ, E., FORTUNA, D., DE ANGELIS, F., POZZILLI, C. & PANTANO, P. 2014. Multiple sclerosis: changes in microarchitecture of white matter tracts after training with a video game balance board. *Radiology*, 273, 529-538.
- PUCCI, E., BRANÃS, P., D'AMICO, R., GIULIANI, G., SOLARI, A. & TAUS, C. 2007. Amantadine for fatigue in multiple sclerosis. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*, Cd002818.
- PUGLIATTI, M., SOTGIU, S., SOLINAS, G., CASTIGLIA, P. & ROSATI, G. 2001. Multiple sclerosis prevalence among Sardinians: Further evidence against the latitude gradient theory. *Neurol Sci*, 22, 163-5.
- PUJOL, J., BELLO, J., DEUS, J., CARDONER, N., MARTI-VILALTA, J. L. & CAPDEVILA, A. 2000. Beck Depression Inventory factors related to demyelinating lesions of the left arcuate fasciculus region. *Psychiatry Res*, 99, 151-9.
- QIU, Y., LIU, S., HILAL, S., LOKE, Y. M., IKRAM, M. K., XU, X., YEOW TAN, B., VENKETASUBRAMANIAN, N., CHEN, C. L. & ZHOU, J. 2016. Inter-hemispheric functional dysconnectivity mediates the association of corpus callosum degeneration with memory impairment in AD and amnestic MCI. *Sci Rep*, 6, 32573.
- QIZILBASH, N., MENDEZ, I. & SANCHEZ-DE LA ROSA, R. 2012. Benefit-risk analysis of glatiramer acetate for relapsing-remitting and clinically isolated syndrome multiple sclerosis. *Clin Ther*, 34, 159-176.e5.
- RABBITT, P., SCOTT, M., LUNN, M., THACKER, N., LOWE, C., PENDLETON, N., HORAN, M. & JACKSON, A. 2007. White matter lesions account for all age-related declines in speed but not in intelligence. *Neuropsychology*, 21, 363-70.
- RAE-GRANT, A. D., ECKERT, N. J., BARTZ, S. & REED, J. F. 1999. Sensory symptoms of multiple sclerosis: A hidden reservoir of morbidity. *Mult Scler*, 5, 179-83.
- RAE-GRANT, A. D., WONG, C., BERNATOWICZ, R. & FOX, R. J. 2014. Observations on the brain vasculature in multiple sclerosis: A historical perspective. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*, 3, 156-62.
- RAGGI, A., COVELLI, V., SCHIAVOLIN, S., SCARATTI, C., LEONARDI, M. & WILLEMS, M. 2015. Work-related problems in multiple sclerosis: A literature review on its associates and determinants. *Disabil Rehabil*, 38, 936-44.
- RAICHLE, M. E. 2011. The restless brain. Brain Connect, 1, 3-12.
- RAICHLE, M. E., MACLEOD, A. M., SNYDER, A. Z., POWERS, W. J., GUSNARD, D. A. & SHULMAN, G. L. 2001. A default mode of brain function. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 98, 676-82.
- RAMAGOPALAN, S. V., DOBSON, R., MEIER, U. C. & GIOVANNONI, G. 2010. Multiple sclerosis: Risk factors, prodromes, and potential causal pathways. *Lancet Neurol*, 9, 727-39.

- RAMIEN, C., TAENZER, A., LUPU, A., HECKMANN, N., ENGLER, J. B., PATAS, K., FRIESE, M. A. & GOLD, S. M. 2016. Sex effects on inflammatory and neurodegenerative processes in multiple sclerosis. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev*, 67, 137-46.
- RAMMOHAN, K. W., ROSENBERG, J. H., LYNN, D. J., BLUMENFELD, A. M., POLLAK, C. P. & NAGARAJA, H. N. 2002. Efficacy and safety of modafinil (Provigil) for the treatment of fatigue in multiple sclerosis: A two centre phase 2 study. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*, 72, 179-83.
- RAMOS, P., SANTOS, A., PINTO, N. R., MENDES, R., MAGALHAES, T. & ALMEIDA, A. 2014. Iron levels in the human brain: A post-mortem study of anatomical region differences and age-related changes. *J Trace Elem Med Biol*, 28, 13-7.
- RAMPELLO, L., PATTI, F. & ZAPPIA, M. 2016. When the word doesn't come out: A synthetic overview of dysarthria. *J Neurol Sci*, 369, 354-60.
- RANDOLPH, J. J., RANDOLPH, J. S. & WISHART, H. A. 2017. Association between cognitive complaints and vulnerability to environmental distraction in multiple sclerosis. *Arch Clin Neuropsychol*, 32, 21-28.
- RAO, N. K., MOTES, M. A. & RYPMA, B. 2014a. Investigating the neural bases for intrasubject cognitive efficiency changes using functional magnetic resonance imaging. *Front Hum Neurosci,* 8, 840.
- RAO, S. M., LEO, G. J., BERNARDIN, L. & UNVERZAGT, F. 1991. Cognitive dysfunction in multiple sclerosis. I. Frequency, patterns, and prediction. *Neurology*, 41, 685-91.
- RAO, S. M., LEO, G. J. & ST AUBIN-FAUBERT, P. 1989. On the nature of memory disturbance in multiple sclerosis. *J Clin Exp Neuropsychol*, 11, 699-712.
- RAO, S. M., MARTIN, A. L., HUELIN, R., WISSINGER, E., KHANKHEL, Z., KIM, E. & FAHRBACH, K. 2014b. Correlations between MRI and information processing speed in MS: A meta-analysis. *Mult Scler Int*, 2014.
- REICH, D. S., ZACKOWSKI, K. M., GORDON-LIPKIN, E. M., SMITH, S. A., CHODKOWSKI, B. A., CUTTER, G. R. & CALABRESI, P. A. 2007. Corticospinal tract abnormalities are associated with weakness in multiple sclerosis. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol*, 29, 333-9.
- RHEAD, B., BAARNHIELM, M., GIANFRANCESCO, M., MOK, A., SHAO, X., QUACH, H., SHEN, L., SCHAEFER, C., LINK, J., GYLLENBERG, A., HEDSTROM, A. K., OLSSON, T., HILLERT, J., KOCKUM, I., GLYMOUR, M. M., ALFREDSSON, L. & BARCELLOS, L. F. 2016. Mendelian randomization shows a causal effect of low vitamin D on multiple sclerosis risk. *Neurol Genet*, 2, e97.
- RICCITELLI, G., ROCCA, M. A., PAGANI, E., MARTINELLI, V., RADAELLI, M., FALINI, A., COMI, G. & FILIPPI, M. 2012. Mapping regional grey and white matter atrophy in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler*, 18, 1027-37.
- RICCITELLI, G., ROCCA, M. A., PAGANI, E., RODEGHER, M. E., ROSSI, P., FALINI, A., COMI, G. & FILIPPI, M. 2011. Cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis is associated to different patterns of gray matter atrophy according to clinical phenotype. *Hum Brain Mapp*, 32, 1535-43.
- RICCITELLI, G. C., PAGANI, E., RODEGHER, M., COLOMBO, B., PREZIOSA, P., FALINI, A., COMI, G., FILIPPI, M. & ROCCA, M. A. 2017. Imaging patterns of gray and white matter abnormalities associated with PASAT and SDMT performance in relapsingremitting multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler*, 1352458517743091.
- RICE, G. P., HARTUNG, H. P. & CALABRESI, P. A. 2005. Anti-alpha4 integrin therapy for multiple sclerosis: Mechanisms and rationale. *Neurology*, 64, 1336-42.
- RILO, O., PEÑA, J., OJEDA, N., RODRÍGUEZ-ANTIGÜEDAD, A., MENDIBE-BILBAO, M., GÓMEZ-GASTIASORO, A., DELUCA, J., CHIARAVALLOTI, N. & IBARRETXE-BILBAO, N. 2016. Integrative group-based cognitive rehabilitation efficacy in multiple sclerosis: a randomized clinical trial. *Disabil Rehabil*, 40, 208-216.
- RIMKUS, C. M., JUNQUEIRA, F. T., LYRA, K. P., JACKOWSKI, M. P., MACHADO, M. A. R., MIOTTO, E. C., CALLEGARO, D., OTADUY, M. C. G. & LEITE, C. C. 2011. Corpus callosum microstructural changes correlate with cognitive dysfunction in early stages of relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis: Axial and radial diffusivities approach. *Mult Scler Int*, 2011.
- RINKER, J. R., 2ND, SALTER, A. R., WALKER, H., AMARA, A., MEADOR, W. & CUTTER,
   G. R. 2015. Prevalence and characteristics of tremor in the NARCOMS multiple sclerosis registry: A cross-sectional survey. *BMJ Open*, 5, e006714.

ROBERG, B. L., BRUCE, J. M., LOVELACE, C. T. & LYNCH, S. 2012. How patients with multiple sclerosis perceive cognitive slowing. *Clin Neuropsychol*, 26, 1278-95.

- ROCA, M., TORRALVA, T., MELI, F., FIOL, M., CALCAGNO, M., CARPINTIERO, S., DE PINO, G., VENTRICE, F., MARTIN, M., VITA, L., MANES, F. & CORREALE, J. 2008. Cognitive deficits in multiple sclerosis correlate with changes in fronto-subcortical tracts. *Mult Scler*, 14, 364-9.
- ROCCA, M. A., BONNET, M. C., MEANI, A., VALSASINA, P., COLOMBO, B., COMI, G. & FILIPPI, M. 2012a. Differential cerebellar functional interactions during an interference task across multiple sclerosis phenotypes. *Radiology*, 265, 864-73.
- ROCCA, M. A., CECCARELLI, A., RODEGHER, M., MISCI, P., RICCITELLI, G., FALINI, A., COMI, G. & FILIPPI, M. 2010a. Preserved brain adaptive properties in patients with benign multiple sclerosis. *Neurology*, 74, 142-9.
- ROCCA, M. A., PAGANI, E., GHEZZI, A., FALINI, A., ZAFFARONI, M., COLOMBO, B., SCOTTI, G., COMI, G. & FILIPPI, M. 2003. Functional cortical changes in patients with multiple sclerosis and nonspecific findings on conventional magnetic resonance imaging scans of the brain. *Neuroimage*, 19, 826-36.
- ROCCA, M. A., VALSASINA, P., ABSINTA, M., RICCITELLI, G., RODEGHER, M. E., MISCI, P., ROSSI, P., FALINI, A., COMI, G. & FILIPPI, M. 2010b. Default-mode network dysfunction and cognitive impairment in progressive MS. *Neurology*, 74, 1252-9.
- ROCCA, M. A., VALSASINA, P., LEAVITT, V. M., RODEGHER, M., RADAELLI, M., RICCITELLI, G. C., MARTINELLI, V., MARTINELLI-BONESCHI, F., FALINI, A., COMI, G. & FILIPPI, M. 2018. Functional network connectivity abnormalities in multiple sclerosis: Correlations with disability and cognitive impairment. *Mult Scler*, 24, 459-471.
- ROCCA, M. A., VALSASINA, P., MARTINELLI, V., MISCI, P., FALINI, A., COMI, G. & FILIPPI, M. 2012b. Large-scale neuronal network dysfunction in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. *Neurology*, 79, 1449-57.
- ROCCA, M. A., VALSASINA, P., MEANI, A., FALINI, A., COMI, G. & FILIPPI, M. 2016. Impaired functional integration in multiple sclerosis: A graph theory study. *Brain Struct Funct*, 221, 115-31.
- RODGER, I. W., DILAR, D., DWYER, J., BIENENSTOCK, J., CORET, A., CORET-SIMON, J., FOSTER, G., FRANCHETTO, A., FRANIC, S., GOLDSMITH, C. H., KOFF, D., KONYER, N. B., LEVINE, M., MCDONALD, E., NOSEWORTHY, M. D., PAULSETH, J., RIBEIRO, L., SAYLES, M. J. & THABANE, L. 2013. Evidence against the involvement of chronic cerebrospinal venous abnormalities in multiple sclerosis. A case-control study. *PLoS One*, 8, e72495.
- ROELCKE, U., KAPPOS, L., LECHNER-SCOTT, J., BRUNNSCHWEILER, H., HUBER, S., AMMANN, W., PLOHMANN, A., DELLAS, S., MAGUIRE, R. P., MISSIMER, J., RADU, E. W., STECK, A. & LEENDERS, K. L. 1997. Reduced glucose metabolism in the frontal cortex and basal ganglia of multiple sclerosis patients with fatigue: A 18Ffluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography study. *Neurology*, 48, 1566-71.
- ROG, D. J., NURMIKKO, T. J., FRIEDE, T. & YOUNG, C. A. 2005. Randomized, controlled trial of cannabis-based medicine in central pain in multiple sclerosis. *Neurology*, 65, 812-9.
- ROGERS, D. 1986. Bradyphrenia in parkinsonism: A historical review. *Psychol Med*, 16, 257-65.
- ROJKOVA, K., VOLLE, E., URBANSKI, M., HUMBERT, F., DELL'ACQUA, F. & THIEBAUT DE SCHOTTEN, M. 2015. Atlasing the frontal lobe connections and their variability due to age and education: a spherical deconvolution tractography study. *Brain Struct Funct*, 221, 1751-66.
- ROLLANS, C., CHEEMA, K., GEORGIOU, G. K. & CUMMINE, J. 2017. Pathways of the inferior frontal occipital fasciculus in overt speech and reading. *Neuroscience*, 364, 93-106.
- ROOSENDAAL, S. D., GEURTS, J. J., VRENKEN, H., HULST, H. E., COVER, K. S., CASTELIJNS, J. A., POUWELS, P. J. & BARKHOF, F. 2009a. Regional DTI differences in multiple sclerosis patients. *Neuroimage*, 44, 1397-403.
- ROOSENDAAL, S. D., MORAAL, B., POUWELS, P. J., VRENKEN, H., CASTELIJNS, J. A., BARKHOF, F. & GEURTS, J. J. 2009b. Accumulation of cortical lesions in MS: Relation with cognitive impairment. *Mult Scler*, 15, 708-14.

- ROOSTAEI, T., SADAGHIANI, S., PARK, M. T., MASHHADI, R., NAZERI, A., NOSHAD, S., SALEHI, M. J., NAGHIBZADEH, M., MOGHADASI, A. N., OWJI, M., DOOSTI, R., TAHERI, A. P., RAD, A. S., AZIMI, A., CHAKRAVARTY, M. M., VOINESKOS, A. N. & SAHRAIAN, M. A. 2016. Channelopathy-related SCN10A gene variants predict cerebellar dysfunction in multiple sclerosis. *Neurology*, 86, 410-7.
- ROSKELL, N. S., ZIMOVETZ, E. A., RYCROFT, C. E., ECKERT, B. J. & TYAS, D. A. 2012. Annualized relapse rate of first-line treatments for multiple sclerosis: A meta-analysis, including indirect comparisons versus fingolimod. *Curr Med Res Opin*, 28, 767-80.
- ROSSI, F., GIORGIO, A., BATTAGLINI, M., STROMILLO, M. L., PORTACCIO, E., GORETTI, B., FEDERICO, A., HAKIKI, B., AMATO, M. P. & DE STEFANO, N. 2012. Relevance of brain lesion location to cognition in relapsing multiple sclerosis. *PLoS One*, 7, e44826.
- ROSTI-OTAJÄRVI, E. & HÄMÄLÄINEN, P. 2012. Behavioural symptoms and impairments in multiple sclerosis: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Mult Scler*, 19, 31-45.
- ROSTI-OTAJÄRVI, E., RUUTIAINEN, J., HUHTALA, H. & HÄMÄLÄINEN, P. 2014. Cognitive performance profile in different phenotypes of MS with cognitive complaints. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*, 3, 463-72.
- ROSTI-OTAJÄRVI, E. M. & HÄMÄLÄINEN, P. I. 2014. Neuropsychological rehabilitation for multiple sclerosis. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*, Cd009131.
- ROTH, A. K., DENNEY, D. R. & LYNCH, S. G. 2015. Information processing speed and attention in multiple sclerosis: Reconsidering the Attention Network Test (ANT). J Clin Exp Neuropsychol, 37, 518-29.
- ROVARIS, M., CONFAVREUX, C., FURLAN, R., KAPPOS, L., COMI, G. & FILIPPI, M. 2006. Secondary progressive multiple sclerosis: Current knowledge and future challenges. *Lancet Neurol*, 5, 343-54.
- ROVIRA, A., SWANTON, J., TINTORE, M., HUERGA, E., BARKHOF, F., FILIPPI, M., FREDERIKSEN, J. L., LANGKILDE, A., MISZKIEL, K., POLMAN, C., ROVARIS, M., SASTRE-GARRIGA, J., MILLER, D. & MONTALBAN, X. 2009. A single, early magnetic resonance imaging study in the diagnosis of multiple sclerosis. *Arch Neurol*, 66, 587-92.
- ROY, S., BENEDICT, R. H., DRAKE, A. S. & WEINSTOCK-GUTTMAN, B. 2016. Impact of pharmacotherapy on cognitive dysfunction in patients with multiple sclerosis. CNS Drugs, 30, 209-25.
- RUDICK, R. A., CUTTER, G. & REINGOLD, S. 2002. The multiple sclerosis functional composite: A new clinical outcome measure for multiple sclerosis trials. *Mult Scler*, 8, 359-65.
- RUDKO, D. A., DERAKHSHAN, M., MARANZANO, J., NAKAMURA, K., ARNOLD, D. L. & NARAYANAN, S. 2016. Delineation of cortical pathology in multiple sclerosis using multi-surface magnetization transfer ratio imaging. *Neuroimage Clin*, 12, 858-868.
- RUET, A., DELOIRE, M., HAMEL, D., OUALLET, J. C., PETRY, K. & BROCHET, B. 2013a. Cognitive impairment, health-related quality of life and vocational status at early stages of multiple sclerosis: A 7-year longitudinal study. *J Neurol*, 260, 776-84.
- RUET, A., DELOIRE, M. S., CHARRE-MORIN, J., HAMEL, D. & BROCHET, B. 2013b. A new computerised cognitive test for the detection of information processing speed impairment in multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler*, 19, 1665-72.
- RYPMA, B., BERGER, J. S., PRABHAKARAN, V., BLY, B. M., KIMBERG, D. Y., BISWAL, B. B. & D'ESPOSITO, M. 2006. Neural correlates of cognitive efficiency. *Neuroimage*, 33, 969-79.
- RYPMA, B. & PRABHAKARAN, V. 2009. When less is more and when more is more: The mediating roles of capacity and speed in brain-behavior efficiency. *Intelligence*, 37, 207-222.
- RYPMA, B., PRABHAKARAN, V., DESMOND, J. E., GLOVER, G. H. & GABRIELI, J. D. 1999. Load-dependent roles of frontal brain regions in the maintenance of working memory. *Neuroimage*, 9, 216-26.
- SACCO, R., BISECCO, A., CORBO, D., DELLA CORTE, M., D'AMBROSIO, A., DOCIMO, R., GALLO, A., ESPOSITO, F., ESPOSITO, S., CIRILLO, M., LAVORGNA, L., TEDESCHI, G. & BONAVITA, S. 2015. Cognitive impairment and memory disorders in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis: The role of white matter, gray matter and hippocampus. *J Neurol*, 262, 1691-7.

SADAGHIANI, S. & D'ESPOSITO, M. 2014. Functional characterization of the cinguloopercular network in the maintenance of tonic alertness. *Cereb Cortex*, 25, 2763-73.

- SALA-LLONCH, R., PALACIOS, E. M., JUNQUÉ, C., BARGALLO, N. & VENDRELL, P. 2015. Functional networks and structural connectivity of visuospatial and visuoperceptual working memory. *Front Hum Neurosci*, 9, 340.
- SALAMI, A., ERIKSSON, J., NILSSON, L. G. & NYBERG, L. 2012. Age-related white matter microstructural differences partly mediate age-related decline in processing speed but not cognition. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1822, 408-15.
- SALTHOUSE, T. A. 1992. Influence of processing speed on adult age differences in working memory. *Acta Psychol (Amst)*, 79, 155-70.
- SALTHOUSE, T. A. 1996. The processing-speed theory of adult age differences in cognition. *Psychol Rev*, 103, 403-428.
- SALTHOUSE, T. A., BABCOCK, R. L. & SHAW, R. J. 1991. Effects of adult age on structural and operational capacities in working memory. *Psychol Aging*, 6, 118-27.
- SAMPAT, M. P., BERGER, A. M., HEALY, B. C., HILDENBRAND, P., VASS, J., MEIER, D. S., CHITNIS, T., WEINER, H. L., BAKSHI, R. & GUTTMANN, C. R. 2009. Regional white matter atrophy-based classification of multiple sclerosis in cross-sectional and longitudinal data. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol*, 30, 1731-9.
- SANDRY, J., PAXTON, J. & SUMOWSKI, J. F. 2016. General mathematical ability predicts PASAT performance in MS patients: Implications for clinical interpretation and cognitive reserve. *J Int Neuropsychol Soc,* 22, 375-8.
- SANDRY, J., ZUPPICHINI, M., ROTHBERG, J., VALDESPINO-HAYDEN, Z. & DELUCA, J. 2018. Poor encoding and weak early consolidation underlie memory acquisition deficits in multiple sclerosis: Retroactive interference, processing speed, or working memory? *Arch Clin Neuropsychol.*
- SANFILIPO, M. P., BENEDICT, R. H., WEINSTOCK-GUTTMAN, B. & BAKSHI, R. 2006. Gray and white matter brain atrophy and neuropsychological impairment in multiple sclerosis. *Neurology*, 66, 685-92.
- SARUBBO, S., DE BENEDICTIS, A., MALDONADO, I. L., BASSO, G. & DUFFAU, H. 2013. Frontal terminations for the inferior fronto-occipital fascicle: Anatomical dissection, DTI study and functional considerations on a multi-component bundle. *Brain Struct Funct*, 218, 21-37.
- SASTRE-GARRIGA, J., ALONSO, J., RENOM, M., AREVALO, M. J., GONZALEZ, I., GALAN, I., MONTALBAN, X. & ROVIRA, A. 2010. A functional magnetic resonance proof of concept pilot trial of cognitive rehabilitation in multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler*, 17, 457-67.
- SASTRE-GARRIGA, J., ARÉVALO, M. J., RENOM, M., ALONSO, J., GONZÁLEZ, I., GALÁN, I., MONTALBAN, X. & ROVIRA, A. 2009. Brain volumetry counterparts of cognitive impairment in patients with multiple sclerosis. *J Neurol Sci*, 282, 120-4.
- SAWCER, S., FRANKLIN, R. J. & BAN, M. 2014. Multiple sclerosis genetics. *Lancet Neurol*, 13, 700-9.
- SAWCER, S., HELLENTHAL, G., PIRINEN, M., SPENCER, C. C., PATSOPOULOS, N. A., MOUTSIANAS, L., DILTHEY, A., SU, Z., FREEMAN, C., HUNT, S. E., EDKINS, S., GRAY, E., BOOTH, D. R., POTTER, S. C., GORIS, A., BAND, G., OTURAI, A. B., STRANGE, A., SAARELA, J., BELLENGUEZ, C., FONTAINE, B., GILLMAN, M., HEMMER, B., GWILLIAM, R., ZIPP, F., JAYAKUMAR, A., MARTIN, R., LESLIE, S., HAWKINS, S., GIANNOULATOU, E., D'ALFONSO, S., BLACKBURN, H., MARTINELLI BONESCHI, F., LIDDLE, J., HARBO, H. F., PEREZ, M. L., SPURKLAND, A., WALLER, M. J., MYCKO, M. P., RICKETTS, M., COMABELLA, M., HAMMOND, N., KOCKUM, I., MCCANN, O. T., BAN, M., WHITTAKER, P., KEMPPINEN, A., WESTON, P., HAWKINS, C., WIDAA, S., ZAJICEK, J., DRONOV, S., ROBERTSON, N., BUMPSTEAD, S. J., BARCELLOS, L. F., RAVINDRARAJAH, R., ABRAHAM, R., ALFREDSSON, L., ARDLIE, K., AUBIN, C., BAKER, A., BAKER, K., BARANZINI, S. E., BERGAMASCHI, L., BERGAMASCHI, R., BERNSTEIN, A., BERTHELE, A., BOGGILD, M., BRADFIELD, J. P., BRASSAT, D., BROADLEY, S. A., BUCK, D., BUTZKUEVEN, H., CAPRA, R., CARROLL, W. M., CAVALLA, P., CELIUS, E. G., CEPOK, S., CHIAVACCI, R., CLERGET-DARPOUX, F., CLYSTERS, K., COMI, G., COSSBURN, M., COURNU-REBEIX, I., COX, M. B., COZEN, W., CREE, B. A., CROSS, A. H., CUSI, D., DALY, M. J., DAVIS, E., DE BAKKER, P. I., DEBOUVERIE, M., D'HOOGHE M, B., DIXON, K., DOBOSI, R., DUBOIS, B., ELLINGHAUS, D.,

ELOVAARA, I., ESPOSITO, F., et al. 2011. Genetic risk and a primary role for cellmediated immune mechanisms in multiple sclerosis. *Nature*, 476, 214-9.

SBARDELLA, E., PETSAS, N., TONA, F. & PANTANO, P. 2015a. Resting-state fMRI in MS: General concepts and brief overview of its application. *Biomed Res Int*, 2015, 212693.

- SBARDELLA, E., PETSAS, N., TONA, F., PROSPERINI, L., RAZ, E., PACE, G., POZZILLI, C. & PANTANO, P. 2013a. Assessing the correlation between grey and white matter damage with motor and cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis patients. *PLoS One*, 8, e63250.
- SBARDELLA, E., TONA, F., PETSAS, N. & PANTANO, P. 2013b. DTI measurements in multiple sclerosis: evaluation of brain damage and clinical implications. *Mult Scler Int*, 2013, 671730.
- SBARDELLA, E., TONA, F., PETSAS, N., UPADHYAY, N., PIATTELLA, M. C., FILIPPINI, N., PROSPERINI, L., POZZILLI, C. & PANTANO, P. 2015b. Functional connectivity changes and their relationship with clinical disability and white matter integrity in patients with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler*, 21, 1681-92.
- SBARDELLA, E., UPADHYAY, N., TONA, F., PROSPERINI, L., DE GIGLIO, L., PETSAS, N., POZZILLI, C. & PANTANO, P. 2017. Dentate nucleus connectivity in adult patients with multiple sclerosis: Functional changes at rest and correlation with clinical features. *Mult Scler*, 23, 546-555.
- SCHIEPERS, C., VAN HECKE, P., VANDENBERGHE, R., VAN OOSTENDE, S., DUPONT, P., DEMAEREL, P., BORMANS, G. & CARTON, H. 1997. Positron emission tomography, magnetic resonance imaging and proton NMR spectroscopy of white matter in multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler*, 3, 8-17.
- SCHIFFER, R. B. & WINEMAN, N. M. 1990. Antidepressant pharmacotherapy of depression associated with multiple sclerosis. *Am J Psychiatry*, 147, 1493-7.
- SCHIFFER, R. B., WINEMAN, N. M. & WEITKAMP, L. R. 1986. Association between bipolar affective disorder and multiple sclerosis. *Am J Psychiatry*, 143, 94-5.
- SCHLOSSER, R., HUTCHINSON, M., JOSEFFER, S., RUSINEK, H., SAARIMAKI, A., STEVENSON, J., DEWEY, S. & BRODIE, J. 1998. Functional magnetic resonance imaging of human brain activity in a verbal fluency task. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*, 64, 492-8.
- SCHMAHMANN, J. D. & PANDYA, D. N. 2008. Disconnection syndromes of basal ganglia, thalamus, and cerebrocerebellar systems. *Cortex*, 44, 1037-66.
- SCHMIDT, P., GASER, C., ARSIC, M., BUCK, D., FORSCHLER, A., BERTHELE, A., HOSHI, M., ILG, R., SCHMID, V. J., ZIMMER, C., HEMMER, B. & MUHLAU, M. 2011. An automated tool for detection of FLAIR-hyperintense white-matter lesions in Multiple Sclerosis. *Neuroimage*, 59, 3774-83.
- SCHOONHEIM, M. M., MEIJER, K. A. & GEURTS, J. J. 2015. Network collapse and cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis. *Front Neurol*, 6, 82.
- SEELEY, W. W., MENON, V., SCHATZBERG, A. F., KELLER, J., GLOVER, G. H., KENNA, H., REISS, A. L. & GREICIUS, M. D. 2007. Dissociable intrinsic connectivity networks for salience processing and executive control. *J Neurosci*, 27, 2349-56.
- SEKULER, R. & BALL, K. 1986. Visual localization: Age and practice. J Opt Soc Am A, 3, 864-7.
- SESTIERI, C., CORBETTA, M., ROMANI, G. L. & SHULMAN, G. L. 2011. Episodic memory retrieval, parietal cortex, and the default mode network: Functional and topographic analyses. *J Neurosci*, 31, 4407-20.
- SESTIERI, C., CORBETTA, M., SPADONE, S., ROMANI, G. L. & SHULMAN, G. L. 2014. Domain-general signals in the cingulo-opercular network for visuospatial attention and episodic memory. *J Cogn Neurosci*, 26, 551-68.
- SETHI, V., YOUSRY, T., MUHLERT, N., TOZER, D. J., ALTMANN, D., RON, M., WHEELER-KINGSHOTT, C., MILLER, D. H. & CHARD, D. T. 2015. A longitudinal study of cortical grey matter lesion subtypes in relapse-onset multiple sclerosis. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry, 87, 750-3.
- SHALLICE, T. 1982. Specific impairments of planning. *Phil. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B*, 298, 199-209.
- SHAO, Z., JANSE, E., VISSER, K. & MEYER, A. S. 2014. What do verbal fluency tasks measure? Predictors of verbal fluency performance in older adults. *Front Psychol*, 5, 772.

- SHAW, E. E., SCHULTZ, A. P., SPERLING, R. A. & HEDDEN, T. 2015. Functional connectivity in multiple cortical networks is associated with performance across cognitive domains in older adults. *Brain Connect*, 5, 505-16.
- SHAWARYN, M. A., SCHIAFFINO, K. M., LAROCCA, N. G. & JOHNSTON, M. V. 2002a. Determinants of health-related quality of life in multiple sderosis: The role of illness intrusiveness. *Mult Scler*, 8, 310-8.
- SHAWARYN, M. A., SCHULTHEIS, M. T., GARAY, E. & DELUCA, J. 2002b. Assessing functional status: exploring the relationship between the multiple sclerosis functional composite and driving. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*, 83, 1123-9.
- SHAYGANNEJAD, V., JANGHORBANI, M., ASHTARI, F., ZANJANI, H. A. & ZAKIZADE, N. 2008. Effects of rivastigmine on memory and cognition in multiple sclerosis. *Can J Neurol Sci*, 35, 476-81.
- SHIELDS, S. D., CHENG, X., GASSER, A., SAAB, C. Y., TYRRELL, L., EASTMAN, E. M., IWATA, M., ZWINGER, P. J., BLACK, J. A., DIB-HAJJ, S. D. & WAXMAN, S. G. 2012. A channelopathy contributes to cerebellar dysfunction in a model of multiple sclerosis. *Ann Neurol*, 71, 186-94.
- SHU, N., DUAN, Y., HUANG, J., REN, Z., LIU, Z., DONG, H., BARKHOF, F., LI, K. & LIU, Y. 2018. Progressive brain rich-club network disruption from clinically isolated syndrome towards multiple sclerosis. *Neuroimage Clin*, 19, 232-239.
- SICOTTE, N. L., KERN, K. C., GIESSER, B. S., ARSHANAPALLI, A., SCHULTZ, A., MONTAG, M., WANG, H. & BOOKHEIMER, S. Y. 2008. Regional hippocampal atrophy in multiple sclerosis. *Brain*, 131, 1134-41.
- SIDDIQUI, A. H., ZIVADINOV, R., BENEDICT, R. H., KARMON, Y., YU, J., HARTNEY, M. L., MARR, K. L., VALNAROV, V., KENNEDY, C. L., RAMANATHAN, M., RAMASAMY, D. P., DOLIC, K., HOJNACKI, D. W., CARL, E., LEVY, E. I., HOPKINS, L. N. & WEINSTOCK-GUTTMAN, B. 2014. Prospective randomized trial of venous angioplasty in MS (PREMISe). *Neurology*, 83, 441-9.
- SIDHOM, Y., BEN DJEBARA, M., HIZEM, Y., ABDELKEFI, I., KACEM, I., GARGOURI, A. & GOUIDER, R. 2014. Bipolar disorder and multiple sclerosis: A case series. *Behav Neurol*, 2014, 536503.
- SIGNORI, A., GALLO, F., BOVIS, F., DI TULLIO, N., MAIETTA, I. & SORMANI, M. P. 2016. Long-term impact of interferon or Glatiramer acetate in multiple sclerosis: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*, 6, 57-63.
- SIMON-DACK, S. L., HOLTGRAVES, T., HERNANDEZ, K. & THOMAS, C. 2015. Resting EEG and behavioural correlates of interhemispheric transfer times. *Laterality*, 20, 618-38.
- SINGH, S., METZ, I., AMOR, S., VAN DER VALK, P., STADELMANN, C. & BRÜCK, W. 2013. Microglial nodules in early multiple sclerosis white matter are associated with degenerating axons. *Acta Neuropathol,* 125, 595-608.
- SLIWINSKI, M. & BUSCHKE, H. 1997. Processing speed and memory in aging and dementia. *J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci*, 52, P308-18.
- SMITH, A. 1982. *Symbol Digit Modalities Test: Manual,* Los Angeles, Western Psychological Services.
- SMITH, E. E. & JONIDES, J. 1999. Storage and executive processes in the frontal lobes. *Science*, 283, 1657-61.
- SMITH, S. M., JENKINSON, M., JOHANSEN-BERG, H., RUECKERT, D., NICHOLS, T. E., MACKAY, C. E., WATKINS, K. E., CICCARELLI, O., CADER, M. Z., MATTHEWS, P. M. & BEHRENS, T. E. 2006. Tract-based spatial statistics: voxelwise analysis of multisubject diffusion data. *Neuroimage*, 31, 1487-505.
- SMITH, S. M. & NICHOLS, T. E. 2009. Threshold-free cluster enhancement: Addressing problems of smoothing, threshold dependence and localisation in cluster inference. *Neuroimage*, 44, 83-98.
- SMOLDERS, J., PEELEN, E., THEWISSEN, M., MENHEERE, P., TERVAERT, J. W., HUPPERTS, R. & DAMOISEAUX, J. 2009. The relevance of vitamin D receptor gene polymorphisms for vitamin D research in multiple sclerosis. *Autoimmun Rev*, 8, 621-6.
- SNYDER, P. J. & CAPPELLERI, J. C. 2001. Information processing speed deficits may be better correlated with the extent of white matter sclerotic lesions in multiple sclerosis than previously suspected. *Brain Cogn*, 46, 279-84.
- SOCIE, M. J. & SOSNOFF, J. J. 2013. Gait variability and multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler Int,* 2013, 645197.

- SONG, X. W., DONG, Z. Y., LONG, X. Y., LI, S. F., ZUO, X. N., ZHU, C. Z., HE, Y., YAN, C.
   G. & ZANG, Y. F. 2011. REST: A toolkit for resting-state functional magnetic resonance imaging data processing. *PLoS One*, 6, e25031.
- SØRENSEN, P. S., BERTOLOTTO, A., EDAN, G., GIOVANNONI, G., GOLD, R., HAVRDOVA, E., KAPPOS, L., KIESEIER, B. C., MONTALBAN, X. & OLSSON, T. 2012. Risk stratification for progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy in patients treated with natalizumab. *Mult Scler*, 18, 143-52.
- SORMANI, M. P., MURARO, P. A., SACCARDI, R. & MANCARDI, G. 2017a. NEDA status in highly active MS can be more easily obtained with autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplantation than other drugs. *Mult Scler*, 23, 201-204.
- SORMANI, M. P., MURARO, P. A., SCHIAVETTI, I., SIGNORI, A., LARONI, A., SACCARDI, R. & MANCARDI, G. L. 2017b. Autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in multiple sclerosis: A meta-analysis. *Neurology*, 88, 2115-2122.
- SOSNOFF, J. J., SOCIE, M. J., BOES, M. K., SANDROFF, B. M., PULA, J. H., SUH, Y., WEIKERT, M., BALANTRAPU, S., MORRISON, S. & MOTL, R. W. 2011. Mobility, balance and falls in persons with multiple sclerosis. *PLoS One*, 6, e28021.
- SOTELO, J., ORDONEZ, G., PINEDA, B. & FLORES, J. 2014. The participation of varicella zoster virus in relapses of multiple sclerosis. *Clin Neurol Neurosurg*, 119, 44-8.
- SOWA, P., BJØRNERUD, A., NYGAARD, G. O., DAMANGIR, S., SPULBER, G., CELIUS,
   E. G., DUE-TØNNESSEN, P., HARBO, H. F. & BEYER, M. K. 2015. Reduced perfusion in white matter lesions in multiple sclerosis. *Eur J Radiol*, 84, 2605-12.
- SOWMAN, P. F., CRAIN, S., HARRISON, E. & JOHNSON, B. W. 2012. Reduced activation of left orbitofrontal cortex precedes blocked vocalization: A magnetoencephalographic study. *J Fluency Disord*, 37, 359-65.
- SPERLING, R. A., GUTTMANN, C. R., HOHOL, M. J., WARFIELD, S. K., JAKAB, M., PARENTE, M., DIAMOND, E. L., DAFFNER, K. R., OLEK, M. J., ORAV, E. J., KIKINIS, R., JOLESZ, F. A. & WEINER, H. L. 2001. Regional magnetic resonance imaging lesion burden and cognitive function in multiple sclerosis: a longitudinal study. *Arch Neurol*, 58, 115-21.
- SPINNLER, H. & TOGNONI, G. 1987. Standardizzazione e taratura italiana di test neuropsicologici. *Ital J Neurol Sci*, suppl. 8.
- SPITZER, R. L., KROENKE, K. & WILLIAMS, J. B. 1999. Validation and utility of a self-report version of PRIME-MD: The PHQ primary care study. Primary care evaluation of mental disorders. Patient Health Questionnaire. *Jama*, 282, 1737-1744.
- SPITZER, R. L., KROENKE, K., WILLIAMS, J. B. & LOWE, B. 2006. A brief measure for assessing generalized anxiety disorder: The GAD-7. *Arch Intern Med*, 166, 1092-7.
- SRIDHARAN, D., LEVITIN, D. J. & MENON, V. 2008. A critical role for the right fronto-insular cortex in switching between central-executive and default-mode networks. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 105, 12569-74.
- STADELMANN, C., WEGNER, C. & BRÜCK, W. 2011. Inflammation, demyelination, and degeneration - recent insights from MS pathology. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1812, 275-82.
- STAFF, N. P., LUCCHINETTI, C. F. & KEEGAN, B. M. 2009. Multiple sclerosis with predominant, severe cognitive impairment. *Arch Neurol*, 66, 1139-43.
- STANKIEWICZ, J. M., GLANZ, B. I., HEALY, B. C., ARORA, A., NEEMA, M., BENEDICT, R. H., GUSS, Z. D., TAUHID, S., BUCKLE, G. J., HOUTCHENS, M. K., KHOURY, S. J., WEINER, H. L., GUTTMANN, C. R. & BAKSHI, R. 2011. Brain MRI lesion load at 1.5T and 3T versus clinical status in multiple sclerosis. *J Neuroimaging*, 21, e50-6.
- STANKOFF, B., WAUBANT, E., CONFAVREUX, C., EDAN, G., DEBOUVERIE, M., RUMBACH, L., MOREAU, T., PELLETIER, J., LUBETZKI, C. & CLANET, M. 2005. Modafinil for fatigue in MS: A randomized placebo-controlled double-blind study. *Neurology*, 64, 1139-43.
- STARRFELT, R. & GERLACH, C. 2007. The visual what for area: words and pictures in the left fusiform gyrus. *Neuroimage*, 35, 334-42.
- STEENWIJK, M. D., DAAMS, M., POUWELS, P. J., L, J. B., TEWARIE, P. K., GEURTS, J. J., BARKHOF, F. & VRENKEN, H. 2015a. Unraveling the relationship between regional gray matter atrophy and pathology in connected white matter tracts in long-standing multiple sclerosis. *Hum Brain Mapp*, 36, 1796-807.
- STEENWIJK, M. D., GEURTS, J. J., DAAMS, M., TIJMS, B. M., WINK, A. M., BALK, L. J., TEWARIE, P. K., UITDEHAAG, B. M., BARKHOF, F., VRENKEN, H. & POUWELS, P.

J. 2015b. Cortical atrophy patterns in multiple sclerosis are non-random and clinically relevant. *Brain*, 139, 115-26.

- STEINER, I. & SRIRAM, S. 2007. The "one virus, one disease" model of multiple sclerosis is too constraining. *Ann Neurol*, 62, 529.
- STEPHENSON, E., NATHOO, N., MAHJOUB, Y., DUNN, J. F. & YONG, V. W. 2014. Iron in multiple sclerosis: Roles in neurodegeneration and repair. *Nat Rev Neurol*, 10, 459-68.
- STERN, Y. 2002. What is cognitive reserve? Theory and research application of the reserve concept. *J Int Neuropsychol Soc,* 8, 448-60.

STERN, Y. 2009. Cognitive reserve. Neuropsychologia, 47, 2015-28.

- STEWART, V. C., SHARPE, M. A., CLARK, J. B. & HEALES, S. J. 2000. Astrocyte-derived nitric oxide causes both reversible and irreversible damage to the neuronal mitochondrial respiratory chain. *J Neurochem*, 75, 694-700.
- STOQUART-ELSANKARI, S., BOTTIN, C., ROUSSEL-PIERONNE, M. & GODEFROY, O. 2010. Motor and cognitive slowing in multiple sclerosis: An attentional deficit? *Clin Neurol Neurosurg*, 112, 226-32.
- STROBER, L. B., RAO, S. M., LEE, J. C., FISCHER, E. & RUDICK, R. 2014. Cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis: An 18 year follow-up study. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*, 3, 473-81.

STROOP, J. R. 1935. Studies of interference in serial verbal reactions. Journal of experimental psychology. *J Exp Psychol*, 18, 643.

- STUIFBERGEN, A. K., BECKER, H., PEREZ, F., MORRISON, J., BROWN, A., KULLBERG, V. & ZHANG, W. 2018. Computer-assisted cognitive rehabilitation in persons with multiple sclerosis: Results of a multi-site randomized controlled trial with six month follow-up. *Disabil Health J*, 11, 427-434.
- STUSS, D. T. 2011. Functions of the frontal lobes: Relation to executive functions. J Int Neuropsychol Soc, 17, 759-65.
- SUMOWSKI, J. F. & LEAVITT, V. M. 2013. Cognitive reserve in multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler*, 19, 1122-7.
- SUMOWSKI, J. F., ROCCA, M. A., LEAVITT, V. M., RICCITELLI, G., MEANI, A., COMI, G.
   & FILIPPI, M. 2016. Reading, writing, and reserve: Literacy activities are linked to hippocampal volume and memory in multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler*, 22, 1621-1625.
- SUNDGREN, M., PIEHL, F., WAHLIN, Å. & BRISMAR, T. 2016. Cognitive function did not improve after initiation of natalizumab treatment in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. A prospective one-year dual control group study. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*, 10, 36-43.
- SUNDSTRÖM, P., JUTO, P., WADELL, G., HALLMANS, G., SVENNINGSSON, A., NYSTRÖM, L., DILLNER, J. & FORSGREN, L. 2004. An altered immune response to Epstein-Barr virus in multiple sclerosis: A prospective study. *Neurology*, 62, 2277-82.
- SVENDSEN, K. B., JENSEN, T. S. & BACH, F. W. 2004. Does the cannabinoid dronabinol reduce central pain in multiple sclerosis? Randomised double blind placebo controlled crossover trial. *BMJ*, 329, 253.
- SWANTON, J. K., FERNANDO, K., DALTON, C. M., MISZKIEL, K. A., THOMPSON, A. J., PLANT, G. T. & MILLER, D. H. 2006. Modification of MRI criteria for multiple sclerosis in patients with clinically isolated syndromes. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*, 77, 830-3.
- SWANTON, J. K., ROVIRA, A., TINTORE, M., ALTMANN, D. R., BARKHOF, F., FILIPPI, M., HUERGA, E., MISZKIEL, K. A., PLANT, G. T., POLMAN, C., ROVARIS, M., THOMPSON, A. J., MONTALBAN, X. & MILLER, D. H. 2007. MRI criteria for multiple sclerosis in patients presenting with clinically isolated syndromes: A multicentre retrospective study. *Lancet Neurol*, 6, 677-86.
- SWEET, L. H., RAO, S. M., PRIMEAU, M., MAYER, A. R. & COHEN, R. A. 2004. Functional magnetic resonance imaging of working memory among multiple sclerosis patients. J *Neuroimaging*, 14, 150-7.
- SWEET, L. H., VANDERHILL, S. D., JERSKEY, B. A., GORDON, N. M., PAUL, R. H. & COHEN, R. A. 2010. Subvocal articulatory rehearsal during verbal working memory in multiple sclerosis. *Neurocase*, 16, 418-25.
- TAGHIZADEH ASL, M., NEMATI, R., CHABI, N., SALIMIPOUR, H., NABIPOUR, I. & ASSADI, M. 2016. Brain perfusion imaging with voxel-based analysis in secondary progressive multiple sclerosis patients with a moderate to severe stage of disease: A boon for the workforce. *BMC Neurol*, 16, 79.

- TAKEUCHI, H. & KAWASHIMA, R. 2012. Effects of processing speed training on cognitive functions and neural systems. *Rev Neurosci*, 23, 289-301.
- TAKEUCHI, H., SUGIURA, M., SASSA, Y., SEKIGUCHI, A., YOMOGIDA, Y., TAKI, Y. & KAWASHIMA, R. 2012. Neural correlates of the difference between working memory speed and simple sensorimotor speed: An fMRI study. *PLoS One*, 7, e30579.
- TAKEUCHI, H., TAKI, Y., HASHIZUME, H., SASSA, Y., NAGASE, T., NOUCHI, R. & KAWASHIMA, R. 2011. Effects of training of processing speed on neural systems. *J Neurosci*, 31, 12139-48.
- TALAIRACH, J. & TOURNOUX, P. 1988. Co-planar stereotaxic atlas of the human brain, New York, Thieme Medical Publishers.
- TAM, J. W. & SCHMITTER-EDGECOMBE, M. 2013. The role of processing speed in the Brief Visuospatial Memory Test Revised. *Clin Neuropsychol*, 27, 962-72.
- TAMNES, C. K., FJELL, A. M., WESTLYE, L. T., ØSTBY, Y. & WALHOVD, K. B. 2012. Becoming consistent: Developmental reductions in intraindividual variability in reaction time are related to white matter integrity. *J Neurosci*, 32, 972-82.
- TAO, C., SIMPSON, S., JR., TAYLOR, B. V. & VAN DER MEI, I. 2016. Association between human herpesvirus & human endogenous retrovirus and MS onset & progression. *J Neurol Sci*, 372, 239-249.
- TEITELBAUM, D., WEBB, C., MESHORER, A., ARNON, R. & SELA, M. 2017. Suppression by several synthetic polypeptides of experimental allergic encephalomyelitis induced in guinea pigs and rabbits with bovine and human basic encephalitogen. *Eur J Immunol*, 3, 273-279.
- TEKOK-KILIC, A., BENEDICT, R. H., WEINSTOCK-GUTTMAN, B., DWYER, M. G., CARONE, D., SRINIVASARAGHAVAN, B., YELLA, V., ABDELRAHMAN, N., MUNSCHAUER, F., BAKSHI, R. & ZIVADINOV, R. 2007. Independent contributions of cortical gray matter atrophy and ventricle enlargement for predicting neuropsychological impairment in multiple sclerosis. *Neuroimage*, 36, 1294-300.
- TEWARIE, P., BALK, L. J., HILLEBRAND, A., STEENWIJK, M. D., UITDEHAAG, B. M. J., STAM, C. J. & PETZOLD, A. 2017. Structure-function relationships in the visual system in multiple sclerosis: An MEG and OCT study. *Ann Clin Transl Neurol*, 4, 614-621.
- TEWARIE, P., STEENWIJK, M. D., BROOKES, M. J., UITDEHAAG, B. M. J., GEURTS, J. J. G., STAM, C. J. & SCHOONHEIM, M. M. 2018. Explaining the heterogeneity of functional connectivity findings in multiple sclerosis: An empirically informed modeling study. *Hum Brain Mapp*, 39, 2541-8.
- THACKER, E. L., MIRZAEI, F. & ASCHERIO, A. 2006. Infectious mononucleosis and risk for multiple sclerosis: A meta-analysis. *Ann Neurol*, 59, 499-503.
- THOMPSON, A. J., BANWELL, B. L., BARKHOF, F., CARROLL, W. M., COETZEE, T., COMI, G., CORREALE, J., FAZEKAS, F., FILIPPI, M., FREEDMAN, M. S., FUJIHARA, K., GALETTA, S. L., HARTUNG, H. P., KAPPOS, L., LUBLIN, F. D., MARRIE, R. A., MILLER, A. E., MILLER, D. H., MONTALBAN, X., MOWRY, E. M., SORENSEN, P. S., TINTORE, M., TRABOULSEE, A. L., TROJANO, M., UITDEHAAG, B. M. J., VUKUSIC, S., WAUBANT, E., WEINSHENKER, B. G., REINGOLD, S. C. & COHEN, J. A. 2017. Diagnosis of multiple sclerosis: 2017 revisions of the McDonald criteria. *Lancet Neurol*, 17, 162-173.
- THOUMIE, P. & MEVELLEC, E. 2002. Relation between walking speed and muscle strength is affected by somatosensory loss in multiple sclerosis. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*, 73, 313-5.
- TINNEFELD, M., TREITZ, F. H., HAASE, C. G., WILHELM, H., DAUM, I. & FAUSTMANN, P. M. 2005. Attention and memory dysfunctions in mild multiple sclerosis. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci*, 255, 319-26.
- TINTORÉ, M., ROVIRA, A., RIO, J., NOS, C., GRIVÉ, E., SASTRE-GARRIGA, J., PERICOT, I., SÁNCHEZ, E., COMABELLA, M. & MONTALBAN, X. 2003. New diagnostic criteria for multiple sclerosis: Application in first demyelinating episode. *Neurology*, 60, 27-30.
- TINTORÉ, M., ROVIRA, A., RÍO, J., NOS, C., GRIVÉ, E., TÉLLEZ, N., PELAYO, R., COMABELLA, M., SASTRE-GARRIGA, J. & MONTALBAN, X. 2006. Baseline MRI predicts future attacks and disability in clinically isolated syndromes. *Neurology*, 67, 968-72.

- TOMASSINI, V., MATTHEWS, P. M., THOMPSON, A. J., FUGLO, D., GEURTS, J. J., JOHANSEN-BERG, H., JONES, D. K., ROCCA, M. A., WISE, R. G., BARKHOF, F. & PALACE, J. 2012. Neuroplasticity and functional recovery in multiple sclerosis. *Nat Rev Neurol*, 8, 635-46.
- TOMBAUGH, T. N., BERRIGAN, L. I., WALKER, L. A. & FREEDMAN, M. S. 2010. The Computerized Test of Information Processing (CTIP) offers an alternative to the PASAT for assessing cognitive processing speed in individuals with multiple sclerosis. *Cogn Behav Neurol*, 23, 192-8.
- TOMBAUGH, T. N. & REES, L. 2008. The Computerized Test of Information Processing (CTIP), Toronto, Multi-Health Systems.
- TONA, F., PETSAS, N., SBARDELLA, E., PROSPERINI, L., CARMELLINI, M., POZZILLI, C.
   & PANTANO, P. 2014. Multiple sclerosis: altered thalamic resting-state functional connectivity and its effect on cognitive function. *Radiology*, 271, 814-21.
- TOOSY, A. T., MASON, D. F. & MILLER, D. H. 2013. Optic neuritis. *Lancet Neurol*, 13, 83-99.
- TORKILDSEN, Ø., MYHR, K. M. & BØ, L. 2016. Disease-modifying treatments for multiple sclerosis a review of approved medications. *Eur J Neurol*, 23 Suppl 1, 18-27.
- TORTORELLA, C., ROMANO, R., DIRENZO, V., TAURISANO, P., ZOCCOLELLA, S., IAFFALDANO, P., FAZIO, L., VITERBO, R., POPOLIZIO, T., BLASI, G., BERTOLINO, A. & TROJANO, M. 2013. Load-dependent dysfunction of the putamen during attentional processing in patients with clinically isolated syndrome suggestive of multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler*, 19, 1153-60.
- TRABOULSEE, A. L., KNOX, K. B., MACHAN, L., ZHAO, Y., YEE, I., RAUSCHER, A., KLASS, D., SZKUP, P., OTANI, R., KOPRIVA, D., LALA, S., LI, D. K. & SADOVNICK, D. 2013. Prevalence of extracranial venous narrowing on catheter venography in people with multiple sclerosis, their siblings, and unrelated healthy controls: A blinded, case-control study. *Lancet*, 383, 138-45.
- TRAPP, B. D., PETERSON, J., RANSOHOFF, R. M., RUDICK, R., MÖRK, S. & BÖ, L. 1998. Axonal transection in the lesions of multiple sclerosis. *N Engl J Med*, 338, 278-85.
- TRAPP, B. D. & STYS, P. K. 2009. Virtual hypoxia and chronic necrosis of demyelinated axons in multiple sclerosis. *Lancet Neurol*, 8, 280-91.
- TRICHE, E. W., RUIZ, J. A., OLSON, K. M. & LO, A. C. 2016. Changes in cognitive processing speed, mood, and fatigue in an observational study of persons with multiple sclerosis treated with dalfampridine-ER. *Clin Neuropharmacol*, 39, 73-80.
- TSANG, A., LEBEL, C. A., BRAY, S. L., GOODYEAR, B. G., HAFEEZ, M., SOTERO, R. C., MCCREARY, C. R. & FRAYNE, R. 2017. White matter structural connectivity is not correlated to cortical resting-state functional connectivity over the healthy adult lifespan. *Front Aging Neurosci*, 9.
- TSIVGOULIS, G., FAISSNER, S., VOUMVOURAKIS, K., KATSANOS, A. H., TRIANTAFYLLOU, N., GRIGORIADIS, N., GOLD, R. & KROGIAS, C. 2015. "Liberation treatment" for chronic cerebrospinal venous insufficiency in multiple sclerosis: the truth will set you free. *Brain Behav*, 5, 3-12.
- TSIVGOULIS, G., SERGENTANIS, T. N., CHAN, A., VOUMVOURAKIS, K., TRIANTAFYLLOU, N., PSALTOPOULOU, T., GOLD, R. & KROGIAS, C. 2014. Chronic cerebrospinal venous insufficiency and multiple sclerosis: A comprehensive meta-analysis of case–control studies. *Ther Adv Neurol Disord*, 7, 114-36.
- TURKEN, A., WHITFIELD-GABRIELI, S., BAMMER, R., BALDO, J. V., DRONKERS, N. F. & GABRIELI, J. D. 2008. Cognitive processing speed and the structure of white matter pathways: Convergent evidence from normal variation and lesion studies. *Neuroimage*, 42, 1032-44.
- TYLER, L. K., MARSLEN-WILSON, W. & STAMATAKIS, E. A. 2005. Dissociating neurocognitive component processes: Voxel-based correlational methodology. *Neuropsychologia*, 43, 771-8.
- TYNDALL, A. & GRATWOHL, A. 1997. Blood and marrow stem cell transplants in autoimmune disease: A consensus report written on behalf of the European League against Rheumatism (EULAR) and the European Group for Blood and Marrow Transplantation (EBMT). *Bone Marrow Transplant,* 19, 643-5.

- UDDIN, L. Q., KELLY, A. M., BISWAL, B. B., CASTELLANOS, F. X. & MILHAM, M. P. 2009. Functional connectivity of default mode network components: Correlation, anticorrelation, and causality. *Hum Brain Mapp*, 30, 625-37.
- URBANEK, C., WEINGES-EVERS, N., BELLMANN-STROBL, J., BOCK, M., DÖRR, J., HAHN, E., NEUHAUS, A. H., OPGEN-RHEIN, C., TA, T. M., HERGES, K., PFUELLER, C. F., RADBRUCH, H., WERNECKE, K. D., OHLRAUN, S., ZIPP, F., DETTLING, M. & PAUL, F. 2010. Attention Network Test reveals alerting network dysfunction in multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler*, 16, 93-9.
- URBEN, S., VAN DER LINDEN, M. & BARISNIKOV, K. 2011. Development of the ability to inhibit a prepotent response: Influence of working memory and processing speed. *Br J Dev Psychol*, 29, 981-98.
- UTZ, K. S., LEE, D. H., LÄMMER, A., WASCHBISCH, A., LINKER, R. A. & SCHENK, T. 2016. Cognitive functions over the course of 1 year in multiple sclerosis patients treated with disease modifying therapies. *Ther Adv Neurol Disord*, 9, 269-80.
- VALLESI, A. 2014. Monitoring mechanisms in visual search: An fMRI study. Brain Res, 1579, 65-73.
- VAN DEN ELSEN, P. J., VAN EGGERMOND, M. C., PUENTES, F., VAN DER VALK, P., BAKER, D. & AMOR, S. 2015. The epigenetics of multiple sclerosis and other related disorders. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*, 3, 163-75.
- VAN DEN HEUVEL, D. M., TEN DAM, V. H., DE CRAEN, A. J., ADMIRAAL-BEHLOUL, F., OLOFSEN, H., BOLLEN, E. L., JOLLES, J., MURRAY, H. M., BLAUW, G. J., WESTENDORP, R. G. & VAN BUCHEM, M. A. 2006. Increase in periventricular white matter hyperintensities parallels decline in mental processing speed in a nondemented elderly population. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*, 77, 149-53.
- VAN DER STAR, B. J., VOGEL, D. Y., KIPP, M., PUENTES, F., BAKER, D. & AMOR, S. 2012. In vitro and in vivo models of multiple sclerosis. *CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets*, 11, 570-88.
- VAN DER VALK, P. & AMOR, S. 2009. Preactive lesions in multiple sclerosis. *Curr Opin Neurol*, 22, 207-13.
- VAN GEEST, Q., DOUW, L., VAN 'T KLOOSTER, S., LEURS, C. E., GENOVA, H. M., WYLIE, G. R., STEENWIJK, M. D., KILLESTEIN, J., GEURTS, J. J. G. & HULST, H. E. 2018. Information processing speed in multiple sclerosis: Relevance of default mode network dynamics. *NeuroImage: Clinical*, 19, 507-515.
- VAN HECKE, W., NAGELS, G., LEEMANS, A., VANDERVLIET, E., SIJBERS, J. & PARIZEL, P. M. 2010. Correlation of cognitive dysfunction and diffusion tensor MRI measures in patients with mild and moderate multiple sclerosis. *J Magn Reson Imaging*, 31, 1492-8.
- VAN HORSSEN, J., VAN DER POL, S., NIJLAND, P., AMOR, S. & PERRON, H. 2016. Human endogenous retrovirus W in brain lesions: Rationale for targeted therapy in multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*, 8, 11-8.
- VAN NOORT, J. M., VAN DEN ELSEN, P. J., VAN HORSSEN, J., GEURTS, J. J., VAN DER VALK, P. & AMOR, S. 2010. Preactive multiple sclerosis lesions offer novel clues for neuroprotective therapeutic strategies. CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets, 10, 68-81.
- VAN SCHEPENDOM, J., D'HOOGHE M, B., CLEYNHENS, K., D'HOOGE, M., HAELEWYCK, M. C., DE KEYSER, J. & NAGELS, G. 2015. Reduced information processing speed as primum movens for cognitive decline in MS. *Mult Scler*, 21, 83-91.
- VAN SCHEPENDOM, J. & NAGELS, G. 2017. Targeting cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis the road toward an imaging-based biomarker. *Front Neurosci*, 11, 380.
- VARGA, A. W., JOHNSON, G., BABB, J. S., HERBERT, J., GROSSMAN, R. I. & INGLESE, M. 2009. White matter hemodynamic abnormalities precede sub-cortical gray matter changes in multiple sclerosis. *J Neurol Sci*, 282, 28-33.
- VENNERI, A., MITOLO, M., BELTRACHINI, L., VARMA, S., DELLA PIETÀ, C., JAHN-CARTA, C., FRANGI, A. F. & DE MARCO, M. 2018. Beyond episodic memory: Semantic processing as independent predictor of hippocampal/perirhinal volume in aging and mild cognitive impairment due to Alzheimer's disease. *Neuropsychology*.
- VENNERI, A., MOLINARI, M., PENTORE, R., COTTICELLI, B., NICHELLI, P. & CAFFARRA, P. 1993. Shortened Stroop color-word test: Its application in Alzheimer's disease. *In:* NICOLINI, M., ZATTA, P. F. & CORAIN, B. (eds.) *Alzheimer's Disease and related disorders*. Oxford: Pergamon Press.

- VERMERSCH, P., CZLONKOWSKA, A., GRIMALDI, L. M., CONFAVREUX, C., COMI, G., KAPPOS, L., OLSSON, T. P., BENAMOR, M., BAUER, D., TRUFFINET, P., CHURCH, M., MILLER, A. E., WOLINSKY, J. S., FREEDMAN, M. S. & O'CONNOR, P. 2013. Teriflunomide versus subcutaneous interferon beta-1a in patients with relapsing multiple sclerosis: A randomised, controlled phase 3 trial. *Mult Scler*, 20, 705-16.
- VERNON, P. A. 1983. Speed of information processing and general intelligence. Intelligence, 7, 53-70.
- VICKREY, B. G., HAYS, R. D., HAROONI, R., MYERS, L. W. & ELLISON, G. W. 1995. A health-related quality of life measure for multiple sclerosis. *Qual Life Res*, 4, 187-206.
- VIEIRA, B., COSTA, A., VIDEIRA, G., SÁ, M. J. & ABREU, P. 2015. Prevalence of autonomic dysfunction in patients with multiple sclerosis. *Acta Med Port*, 28, 51-5.
- VILLOSLADA, P., ARRONDO, G., SEPULCRE, J., ALEGRE, M. & ARTIEDA, J. 2009. Memantine induces reversible neurologic impairment in patients with MS. *Neurology*, 72, 1630-3.
- VINER, R., PATTEN, S. B., BERZINS, S., BULLOCH, A. G. & FIEST, K. M. 2014. Prevalence and risk factors for suicidal ideation in a multiple sclerosis population. *J Psychosom Res*, 76, 312-6.
- VIRTANEN, J. O. & JACOBSON, S. 2012. Viruses and multiple sclerosis. CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets, 11, 528-44.
- VITERBO, R. G., IAFFALDANO, P. & TROJANO, M. 2013. Verbal fluency deficits in clinically isolated syndrome suggestive of multiple sclerosis. *J Neurol Sci*, 330, 56-60.
- VOGEL, A. C., PETERSEN, S. E. & SCHLAGGAR, B. L. 2014. The VWFA: It's not just for words anymore. *Front Hum Neurosci*, 8, 88.
- VOGT, A., KAPPOS, L., CALABRESE, P., STÖCKLIN, M., GSCHWIND, L., OPWIS, K. & PENNER, I. K. 2009. Working memory training in patients with multiple sclerosis comparison of two different training schedules. *Restor Neurol Neurosci*, 27, 225-35.
- VOLLMER, T., HUYNH, L., KELLEY, C., GALEBACH, P., SIGNOROVITCH, J., DIBERNARDO, A. & SASANE, R. 2016. Relationship between brain volume loss and cognitive outcomes among patients with multiple sclerosis: a systematic literature review. *Neurol Sci*, 37, 165-79.
- VOLLMER, T., SIGNOROVITCH, J., HUYNH, L., GALEBACH, P., KELLEY, C., DIBERNARDO, A. & SASANE, R. 2015. The natural history of brain volume loss among patients with multiple sclerosis: A systematic literature review and meta-analysis. *J Neurol Sci*, 357, 8-18.
- VOLLMER, T. L., ROBINSON, M. J., RISSER, R. C. & MALCOLM, S. K. 2014. A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of duloxetine for the treatment of pain in patients with multiple sclerosis. *Pain Pract*, 14, 732-44.
- VOSKUHL, R. R., PETERSON, R. S., SONG, B., AO, Y., MORALES, L. B., TIWARI-WOODRUFF, S. & SOFRONIEW, M. V. 2009. Reactive astrocytes form scar-like perivascular barriers to leukocytes during adaptive immune inflammation of the CNS. J *Neurosci*, 29, 11511-22.
- WADE, B. J. 2014. Spatial analysis of global prevalence of multiple sclerosis suggests need for an updated prevalence scale. *Mult Scler Int*, 2014, 124578.
- WADE, D. T., MAKELA, P., ROBSON, P., HOUSE, H. & BATEMAN, C. 2004. Do cannabisbased medicinal extracts have general or specific effects on symptoms in multiple sclerosis? A double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled study on 160 patients. *Mult Scler*, 10, 434-41.
- WALHOVD, K. B. & FJELL, A. M. 2007. White matter volume predicts reaction time instability. *Neuropsychologia*, 45, 2277-84.
- WALKER, L. A., BERARD, J. A., ATKINS, H. L., BOWMAN, M., LEE, H. & FREEDMAN, M. S. 2014. Cognitive change and neuroimaging following immunoablative therapy and hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in multiple sclerosis: A pilot study. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*, 3, 129-35.
- WALKER, L. A., CHENG, A., BERARD, J., BERRIGAN, L. I., REES, L. M. & FREEDMAN, M. S. 2012. Tests of information processing speed: What do people with multiple sclerosis think about them? *Int J MS Care*, 14, 92-9.
- WALKER, L. S. A., BERARD, J. A., BOWMAN, M., ATKINS, H. L., LEE, H., DOUGLAS, A. & FREEDMAN, M. S. 2016. Longitudinal change in Paced Auditory Serial Addition Test

(PASAT) performance following immunoablative therapy and haematopoietic stem cell transplant in multiple sclerosis. *Multiple Sclerosis and Demyelinating Disorders*, 1, 12.

- WANG, Y., BOS, S. D., HARBO, H. F., THOMPSON, W. K., SCHORK, A. J., BETTELLA, F., WITOELAR, A., LIE, B. A., LI, W., MCEVOY, L. K., DJUROVIC, S., DESIKAN, R. S., DALE, A. M. & ANDREASSEN, O. A. 2016a. Genetic overlap between multiple sclerosis and several cardiovascular disease risk factors. *Mult Scler*, 22, 1783-1793.
- WANG, Y. & LI, T. Q. 2015. Dimensionality of ICA in resting-state fMRI investigated by feature optimized classification of independent components with SVM. Front Hum Neurosci, 9, 259.
- WANG, Y., MARLING, S. J., MARTINO, V. M., PRAHL, J. M. & DELUCA, H. F. 2016b. The absence of 25-hydroxyvitamin D3-1alpha-hydroxylase potentiates the suppression of EAE in mice by ultraviolet light. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol, 163, 98-102.
- WANG, Y., MARLING, S. J., MCKNIGHT, S. M., DANIELSON, A. L., SEVERSON, K. S. & DELUCA, H. F. 2013. Suppression of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis by 300-315nm ultraviolet light. Arch Biochem Biophys, 536, 81-6.
- WARLOP, N. P., ACHTEN, E., FIEREMANS, E., DEBRUYNE, J. & VINGERHOETS, G. 2009. Transverse diffusivity of cerebral parenchyma predicts visual tracking performance in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. *Brain Cogn*, 71, 410-5.
- WAXMAN, S. G. 2006. Axonal conduction and injury in multiple sclerosis: The role of sodium channels. *Nat Rev Neurosci*, 7, 932-41.
- WECHSLER, D. 2008. Wechsler adult intelligence scale–Fourth Edition (WAIS–IV), San Antonio, NCS Pearson.
- WEIER, K., BANWELL, B., CERASA, A., COLLINS, D. L., DOGONOWSKI, A. M., LASSMANN, H., QUATTRONE, A., SAHRAIAN, M. A., SIEBNER, H. R. & SPRENGER, T. 2015. The role of the cerebellum in multiple sclerosis. *Cerebellum*, 14, 364-74.
- WEIER, K., PENNER, I. K., MAGON, S., AMANN, M., NAEGELIN, Y., ANDELOVA, M., DERFUSS, T., STIPPICH, C., RADUE, E. W., KAPPOS, L. & SPRENGER, T. 2014. Cerebellar abnormalities contribute to disability including cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis. *PLoS One*, 9, e86916.
- WEINGES-EVERS, N., BRANDT, A. U., BOCK, M., PFUELLER, C. F., DÖRR, J., BELLMANN-STROBL, J., SCHERER, P., URBANEK, C., BOERS, C., OHLRAUN, S., ZIPP, F. & PAUL, F. 2010. Correlation of self-assessed fatigue and alertness in multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler*, 16, 1134-40.
- WEINSHENKER, B. G., BASS, B., RICE, G. P., NOSEWORTHY, J., CARRIERE, W., BASKERVILLE, J. & EBERS, G. C. 1989. The natural history of multiple sclerosis: A geographically based study. I. Clinical course and disability. *Brain*, 112 (Pt 1), 133-46.
- WEINSTOCK-GUTTMAN, B., NAIR, K. V., GLAJCH, J. L., GANGULY, T. C. & KANTOR, D. 2017. Two decades of glatiramer acetate: From initial discovery to the current development of generics. J Neurol Sci, 376, 255-259.
- WELFORD, A. T. 1956. Age and learning: Theory and needed research. *In:* VERZAR, F. (ed.) *Experimental research on aging.* Basel: Birkhauser Verlag.
- WELTON, T., KENT, D., CONSTANTINESCU, C. S., AUER, D. P. & DINEEN, R. A. 2015. Functionally relevant white matter degradation in multiple sclerosis: A tract-based spatial meta-analysis. *Radiology*, 275, 89-96.
- WESTERVELT, H. J. 2015. Dementia in multiple sclerosis: Why is it rarely discussed? Arch *Clin Neuropsychol*, 30, 174-7.
- WILLIAMS, A., PIATON, G. & LUBETZKI, C. 2007. Astrocytes--friends or foes in multiple sclerosis? *Glia*, 55, 1300-12.
- WILLIAMS, I. M., SCHOFIELD, P., KHADE, N. & ABEL, L. A. 2016. Divided visual attention: A comparison of patients with multiple sclerosis and controls, assessed with an optokinetic nystagmus suppression task. *J Clin Neurosci*, 34, 187-192.
- WILTING, J., ROLFSNES, H. O., ZIMMERMANN, H., BEHRENS, M., FLEISCHER, V., ZIPP, F. & GROGER, A. 2015. Structural correlates for fatigue in early relapsing remitting multiple sclerosis. *Eur Radiol*, 26, 515-23.
- WINDER, K., LINKER, R. A., SEIFERT, F., DEUTSCH, M., ENGELHORN, T., DÖRFLER, A., LEE, D. H., HÖSL, K. M. & HILZ, M. J. 2016. Neuroanatomic correlates of female sexual dysfunction in multiple sclerosis. *Ann Neurol*, 80, 490-8.

- WOJTOWICZ, M., BERRIGAN, L. I. & FISK, J. D. 2012. Intra-individual variability as a measure of information processing difficulties in multiple sclerosis. *Int J MS Care*, 14, 77-83.
- WOJTOWICZ, M., MAZEROLLE, E. L., BHAN, V. & FISK, J. D. 2014. Altered functional connectivity and performance variability in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler*, 20, 1453-63.
- WOJTOWICZ, M., OMISADE, A. & FISK, J. D. 2013. Indices of cognitive dysfunction in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis: Intra-individual variability, processing speed, and attention network efficiency. *J Int Neuropsychol Soc*, 19, 551-8.
- WU, Y., SUN, D. & WANG, Y. 2016. Subcomponents and connectivity of the inferior frontooccipital fasciculus revealed by diffusion spectrum imaging fiber tracking. *Front Neuroanat*, 10.
- WUERFEL, J., BELLMANN-STROBL, J., BRUNECKER, P., AKTAS, O., MCFARLAND, H., VILLRINGER, A. & ZIPP, F. 2004. Changes in cerebral perfusion precede plaque formation in multiple sclerosis: a longitudinal perfusion MRI study. *Brain*, 127, 111-9.
- XIA, M. Q., HALE, G., LIFELY, M. R., FERGUSON, M. A., CAMPBELL, D., PACKMAN, L. & WALDMANN, H. 1993. Structure of the CAMPATH-1 antigen, a glycosylphosphatidylinositol-anchored glycoprotein which is an exceptionally good target for complement lysis. *Biochem J*, 293 (Pt 3), 633-40.
- YALDIZLI, Ö., PARDINI, M., SETHI, V., MUHLERT, N., LIU, Z., TOZER, D. J., SAMSON, R. S., WHEELER-KINGSHOTT, C. A., YOUSRY, T. A., MILLER, D. H. & CHARD, D. T. 2016. Characteristics of lesional and extra-lesional cortical grey matter in relapsingremitting and secondary progressive multiple sclerosis: A magnetisation transfer and diffusion tensor imaging study. *Mult Scler*, 22, 150-9.
- YAMASHITA, M., KAWATO, M. & IMAMIZU, H. 2015. Predicting learning plateau of working memory from whole-brain intrinsic network connectivity patterns. *Sci Rep*, 5.
- YEDNOCK, T. A., CANNON, C., FRITZ, L. C., SANCHEZ-MADRID, F., STEINMAN, L. & KARIN, N. 1992. Prevention of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis by antibodies against alpha 4 beta 1 integrin. *Nature*, 356, 63-6.
- YU, H. J., CHRISTODOULOU, C., BHISE, V., GREENBLATT, D., PATEL, Y., SERAFIN, D., MALETIC-SAVATIC, M., KRUPP, L. B. & WAGSHUL, M. E. 2012. Multiple white matter tract abnormalities underlie cognitive impairment in RRMS. *Neuroimage*, 59, 3713-22.
- ZAMBONI, P., GALEOTTI, R., MENEGATTI, E., MALAGONI, A. M., GIANESINI, S., BARTOLOMEI, I., MASCOLI, F. & SALVI, F. 2009a. A prospective open-label study of endovascular treatment of chronic cerebrospinal venous insufficiency. *J Vasc Surg*, 50, 1348-58.
- ZAMBONI, P., GALEOTTI, R., MENEGATTI, E., MALAGONI, A. M., TACCONI, G., DALL'ARA, S., BARTOLOMEI, I. & SALVI, F. 2009b. Chronic cerebrospinal venous insufficiency in patients with multiple sclerosis. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*, 80, 392-9.
- ZAMBONI, P., MENEGATTI, E., OCCHIONORELLI, S. & SALVI, F. 2013. The controversy on chronic cerebrospinal venous insufficiency. *Veins and Lymphatics*, *2*, 14.
- ZHANG, H., SCHNEIDER, T., WHEELER-KINGSHOTT, C. A. & ALEXANDER, D. C. 2012. NODDI: Practical in vivo neurite orientation dispersion and density imaging of the human brain. *Neuroimage*, 61, 1000-16.
- ZHOU, F., GONG, H., CHEN, Q., WANG, B., PENG, Y., ZHUANG, Y. & ZEE, C. S. 2016. Intrinsic functional plasticity of the thalamocortical system in minimally disabled patients with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. *Front Hum Neurosci*, 10, 2.
- ZHOU, F., ZHUANG, Y., GONG, H., WANG, B., WANG, X., CHEN, Q., WU, L. & WAN, H. 2014. Altered inter-subregion connectivity of the default mode network in relapsing remitting multiple sclerosis: A functional and structural connectivity study. *PLoS One*, 9, e101198.
- ZHUANG, Y., ZHOU, F. & GONG, H. 2015. Intrinsic functional plasticity of the sensorimotor network in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis: Evidence from a centrality analysis. *PLoS One*, 10, e0130524.
- ZIEMSSEN, T., BAJENARU, O. A., CARRÁ, A., DE KLIPPEL, N., DE SA, J. C., EDLAND, A., FREDERIKSEN, J. L., HEINZLEF, O., KARAGEORGIOU, K. E., LANDER DELGADO, R. H., LANDTBLOM, A. M., MACÍAS ISLAS, M. A., TUBRIDY, N. & GILGUN-SHERKI, Y. 2014. A 2-year observational study of patients with relapsing-

remitting multiple sclerosis converting to glatiramer acetate from other diseasemodifying therapies: The COPTIMIZE trial. *J Neurol*, 261, 2101-11.

- ZIMMERMANN, H., ROLFSNES, H. O., MONTAG, S., WILTING, J., DROBY, A., REUTER, E., GAWEHN, J., ZIPP, F. & GRÖGER, A. 2015. Putaminal alteration in multiple sclerosis patients with spinal cord lesions. *J Neural Transm (Vienna)*, 122, 1465-73.
- ZIVADINOV, R., RAMASAMY, D. P., BENEDICT, R. R., POLAK, P., HAGEMEIER, J., MAGNANO, C., DWYER, M. G., BERGSLAND, N., BERTOLINO, N., WEINSTOCK-GUTTMAN, B., KOLB, C., HOJNACKI, D., UTRIAINEN, D., HAACKE, E. M. & SCHWESER, F. 2016. Cerebral microbleeds in multiple sclerosis evaluated on susceptibility-weighted images and quantitative susceptibility maps: A case-control study. *Radiology*, 281, 884-895.
- ZIVADINOV, R., WEINSTOCK-GUTTMAN, B., ZORZON, M., UXA, L., SERAFIN, M., BOSCO, A., BRATINA, A., MAGGIORE, C., GROP, A., TOMMASI, M. A., SRINIVASARAGHAVAN, B. & RAMANATHAN, M. 2009. Gene-environment interactions between HLA B7/A2, EBV antibodies are associated with MRI injury in multiple sclerosis. *J Neuroimmunol*, 209, 123-30.
- ZIVADINOV, R., ZORZON, M., LOCATELLI, L., STIVAL, B., MONTI, F., NASUELLI, D., TOMMASI, M. A., BRATINA, A. & CAZZATO, G. 2003. Sexual dysfunction in multiple sclerosis: A MRI, neurophysiological and urodynamic study. *J Neurol Sci*, 210, 73-6.
- ZORZON, M., ZIVADINOV, R., MONTI BRAGADIN, L., MORETTI, R., DE MASI, R., NASUELLI, D. & CAZZATO, G. 2001. Sexual dysfunction in multiple sclerosis: A 2year follow-up study. *J Neurol Sci*, 187, 1-5.
- ZORZON, M., ZIVADINOV, R., NASUELLI, D., UKMAR, M., BRATINA, A., TOMMASI, M. A., MUCELLI, R. P., BRNABIC-RAZMILIC, O., GROP, A., BONFIGLI, L. & CAZZATO, G. 2002. Depressive symptoms and MRI changes in multiple sclerosis. *Eur J Neurol*, 9, 491-6.
- ZWISCHENBERGER, B. A., BEASLEY, M. M., DAVENPORT, D. L. & XENOS, E. S. 2013. Meta-analysis of the correlation between chronic cerebrospinal venous insufficiency and multiple sclerosis. *Vasc Endovascular Surg*, 47, 620-4.

# APPENDIX A

#### Journal of the Neurological Sciences 388 (2018) 115-127

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Journal of the Neurological Sciences

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/ins

# **Review** Article

# Brain connectivity and cognitive processing speed in multiple sclerosis: A systematic review



Riccardo Manca<sup>a</sup>, Basil Sharrack<sup>a,b</sup>, David Paling<sup>a,b</sup>, Iain D. Wilkinson<sup>c</sup>, Annalena Venneri<sup>a,\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Department of Neurosciences, University of Sheffield, Sheffield, UK
<sup>b</sup> Department of Neurology, Sheffield Teaching Hospital NHS Trust, Sheffield, UK
<sup>c</sup> Academic Unit of Radiology, University of Sheffield, Sheffield, UK

ARTICLE INFO	A B S T R A C T
Keywords: Connectivity DTI fMRI Multiple sclerosis Processing speed	<ul> <li>Background: Processing speed (PS) decline is the most commonly observed cognitive deficit in people with multiple sclerosis (MS) resulting in a significant impact on quality of life. Despite its importance, knowledge of the underlying neural substrates is lacking.</li> <li>Objective: As MS is increasingly recognised as a disconnection syndrome, our aim was to carry out a systematic literature review to clarify the relationship between PS performance and MRI measures of structural and functional brain connectivity in people with MS.</li> <li>Search methods: A literature search was carried out on PubMed and Web of Science that included publications predating September 2017. Additional articles were added after inspection of the reference lists of all selected papers.</li> <li>Data extraction: All selected papers were categorised in three sections according to the MRI measures in vestigated, independently or both. Quality assessment was carried out using a customised set of criteria.</li> <li>Results: Thirty-two articles met the inclusion criteria and were included in the review. Microstructural integrity of the anterior corpus callosum and functional connectivity of frontal areas were more consistently found to correlate with PS performance, though high variability of findings was observed across studies. Several methodological flaws emerged from the reviewel literature.</li> <li>Conclusions: Despite the observed trends, no definite conclusions can be drawn on the relationship between brain connectivity and PS decline in MS given the limitations of the current literature. Future investigations may benefit from theoretical and methodological advances to clarify how MS-related brain damage affects patients' cognition.</li> </ul>

# 1. Introduction

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is an immune mediated disease characterised by an abnormal immune response targeting the central nervous system and causing both axonal demyelination and neuronal loss. The clinical course is variable, but can be categorised based on the degree of disease activity and disability progression rate into relapsingremitting (RRMS), primary progressive (PPMS) and secondary pro-gressive (SPMS) [1]. About 40 to 70% of people with MS experience cognitive impairment that may significantly impact both their quality of life and employment [2-5]. The cognitive domain that is most consistently affected in MS is processing speed (PS) [6,7]. PS is usually assessed by measuring the amount of information processed in a unit of time or the time needed to process a given amount of information [8,9]. Deficits in PS may have a broad influence on cognitive performance

in people with MS. Indeed, memory and learning impairment is associated with impaired PS function [10-12]. Similarly, working memory and attention functions were predicted by performance in PS tasks that were also observed to be the best measure to discriminate people with MS from healthy controls [13-17].

Deficits in executive functions [18] and, more specifically, in planning [19,20] and interference inhibition on the Stroop test [21,22] are associated with PS across the various clinical courses of MS. Several studies investigated the impact of PS decline on cognition in people with MS. It was observed that in tasks of working memory [14,23], response inhibition [21], planning [20], task switching [24], and attention [25], after statistically controlling for PS performance, the differences between people with MS and healthy controls disappeared.

Despite extensive investigation into cognitive impairment in MS, its relationship with specific aspects of neural damage, especially in

\* Corresponding author at: Department of Neurosciences, University of Sheffield, Beech Hill Road, Sheffield, South Yorkshire \$10 2RX, UK. E-mail address: a.venneri@sheffield.ac.uk (A. Venneri).

oi.org/10.1016/j.jns.2018.03.003

Received 27 October 2017; Received in revised form 6 February 2018; Accepted 1 March 2018 Available online 02 March 2018 0022-510X/ © 2018 Published by Elsevier B.V.

relation to PS function, is not clear yet. A meta-analysis of seven diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) studies found that cognitive decline in general was associated with lower fractional anisotropy, i.e. a measure of integrity of structural connectivity, in various tracts involved in different cognitive functions [26]. Another meta-analysis of thirty-nine studies [27] showed a strong correlation between measures of cognitive PS, namely the Paced Auditory Serial Addition Test (PASAT) and the Symbol-Digit Modalities Test (SDMT), and indices of white matter (WM) lesion volume and atrophy. However, most of the reviewed studies were carried out on samples of patients with mixed MS phenotypes using MRI measures that are global indicators of neurodegeneration and not linked to functionally defined brain regions. Only one study investigated the association between MS lesion location and cognitive impairment and found that lesions occurred with greater frequency in the splenium and forceps major of the corpus callosum in cognitively impaired patients [28].

MS is increasingly recognised as a "disconnection syndrome" where widespread WM damage hampers communication between brain regions in a non selective manner [29–35]. In line with this view the aim of the present review was to evaluate correlations between PS function in MS and measures of structural and functional connectivity.

#### 2. Methods

A systematic review of neuroimaging studies investigating the relationship between indices of brain connectivity and performance on tasks of PS in MS was carried out. The specific aim was to summarise current knowledge about the relationship between breakdown in brain connectivity and PS function in people with MS.

A literature search was undertaken in two online databases: PubMed and Web of Science. Studies using DTI and resting-state functional MRI (RS-fMRI) in combination with cognitive PS measures were specifically targeted. The exact strings searched are reported in Appendix A – Table A.1. No time limits were set and all papers published up to September 2017 were assessed following the steps highlighted in the PRISMA statement (Fig. 1) [36]. Additional papers from the reference lists of the selected articles that had not been identified in the literature searches were also included. After removal of duplicates, the full text of the remaining articles was inspected and paper selection was performed according to the following exclusion criteria: (1) review articles, (2) theoretical and/or modelling papers, (3) papers related to patients with pediatric-onset MS, (4) papers related to diseases different from MS, (5) animal studies, (6) biological studies, (7) pharmacological studies, (8) papers with no inclusion of PS measures, (9) papers with no use of either DTI or RS-fMRI techniques, (10) papers not in English (Fig. 1).

Papers selected to be included in this review were assessed according to a customised set of criteria, adapted from those used by Welton and colleagues [26], that give an indication of their scientific quality and to ascertain possible sources of bias. A checklist of twelve questions was created and organised in five areas: methodology, clinical characteristics, MRI parameters, statistical analysis and results. Particular attention was given to the provision of details about the characterisation of the samples recruited and the analyses performed. A point was assigned for each quality criterion fulfilled. For the criterion assessing sample composition, 2 points were assigned to studies carried out on one or more groups of homogenous MS phenotypes, 1 to studies that included mixed phenotype samples, and no points to those reporting no information about phenotypes investigated. Therefore, the maximum score that could be achieved was 13 points. For more detailed information about quality assessment see Appendix B – Table B.1

#### 3. Results

A total of 820 papers were identified through online search and review of all the available references. Three hundred and forty-two entries were duplicates and the remaining 478 records were fully screened for eligibility. Thirty-two papers, all published between 2008 and 2017, met the final selection criteria to undergo review. Twentythree studies reported the use of DTI measures to investigate structural connectivity only, 4 studies used RS-fMRI only for functional connectivity, and 5 studies combined DTI and RS-fMRI.

A summary of the quality assessment of the reviewed articles is reported in Table 1. Differences in the overall quality of papers between the three MRI categories were analysed using the Kruskal-Wallis test. The analyses showed that differences were significant  $\chi^2(2)=6.497, p=0.039$ . After applying Dunn's multiple comparisons test, the only difference that remained significant was the one between studies using only DTI and those combining DTI with RS-fMRI (p=0.035), with the latter showing higher scores (Fig. 2). More detailed information on the evaluation of each quality criterion is reported in Appendix B – Tables B.2-B.4.

These findings show a gap in the overall scientific quality between DTI studies and those combining DTI with RS-fMRI measures. Arguably, this may be driven by technological advances and indeed studies using RS-fMRI were in general more recent than the DTI ones. However, it is also possible that studies combining several MRI techniques might have been more thoroughly designed. It must be noted, however, that only a few studies have been carried out with combined methodologies, thus making any conclusions not definitive.

#### 3.1. Structural connectivity

Moderate heterogeneity was seen across studies with respect to sample composition, clinical information, analysis techniques, and covariates of no interest (Table 2). In particular, despite the fact that the majority of the studies investigated RRMS, eight included patients with different MS clinical courses without specific sub-sample analysis [37–44]. Progressive MS was underrepresented, with a single study on patients with SPMS [45]. Two papers were published on so-called "benign MS" [46,47], while one did not report explicitly the type of MS investigated [48].

In general, information on relapses and medications taken at the time of data collection were reported by most studies, but comorbidities and the presence or absence of fatigue and depressive symptoms were scarcely documented. This, together with lack of clearly stated a priori hypotheses lowered the quality of studies using only DTI measures compared to the others reviewed. There was, however, a trend towards improvement with better quality studies found in the most recent investigations of structural connectivity.

Statistical analyses were carried out with different approaches, the most common being the investigation of one or more regions of interest that was used in fourteen out of twenty-three studies [37,38,40,42–44,46,47,49–54]. The definition of the regions of interest was mainly *a priori*, though 2 studies defined them according to task-related functional activation [51] and differences in fractional anisotropy between MS patients and healthy controls [37]. Eleven out of twenty three studies did not use multiple comparisons correction strategies [37,40,42,44,48–54] and twelve did not control for any covariate of no interest [38,39,42–44,48–54]. Among those publications that did, age was always included, followed by sex and premorbid cognitive status.

The most consistent difference observed between people with MS and healthy controls in DTI studies was the presence of abnormalities in the corpus callosum. This interhemispheric bundle of fibres appeared to be particularly affected by MS pathology. Additionally, other WM tracts also showed abnormalities including: the superior and inferior longitudinal fasciculus, the cingulum, and the fornix. Most of these are associative WM tracts that mainly support different cognitive functions.

Weak or absent correlation between DTI indices and PS measures was reported in five papers using the PASAT, in particular the 3 s version (PASAT 3") [42,43,46,53,58]. This finding, in line with the aforementioned review on atrophy measures [27], may be due to a lower PS load of the 3 s version compared to more challenging versions



Journal of the Neurological Sciences 388 (2018) 115-127

R. Manca et al.



Fig. 1. Flow chart outlining the study selection process.

#### Table 1

Descripti statistics for the overall study quality assessment, categorised by MRI technique.

MRI technique	Median	Interquartile range	Minimum	Maximum
DTI	9	4	4	12
RS-fMRI	10	6	6	12
DTI and RS-fMRI	12	3	10	13



Fig. 2. Differences in the overall quality of reviewed papers.

of the same test or to the SDMT. Indeed, Sbardella et al. [58] observed that the PASAT 2", but not the PASAT 3", significantly correlated with both fractional anisotropy and mean diffusivity in a widespread network of WM tracts centred on the right inferior longitudinal fasciculus

and the left cingulum. While Sbardella and colleagues [58] used a tractbased spatial statistics approach to investigate voxel-wise associations within a skeleton of WM containing only the core of the tracts, lack of correlation between the PASAT 3" and DTI indices was otherwise observed in studies of patients with different MS phenotypes utilising either whole-brain global indices [48] or several regions of interest: anterior thalamic radiations [46], corpus callosum [46,53], fornix [42], posterior cingulum and posterior limb of the internal capsule [43].

In line with the findings from comparisons between people with MS and healthy controls, in studies with mixed MS phenotypes, the corpus callosum was the WM bundle most commonly reported to be correlated with the PASAT 3", both in region-of-interest [38,47,49] and voxel-wise investigations [29,39,55,56]. However, performance on this test was also noted to correlate with the degree of microstructural integrity of other WM tracts, mainly: the left cingulum [29,39,58]; the superior longitudinal fasciculus, especially on the left side [29,39,51]; and the inferior longitudinal fasciculus bilaterally [29,39,58]. Moreover, less consistent associations with the PASAT were detected in the arcuate fasciculus [29], right posterior thalamic radiations and right sagittal stratum [55], hippocampal and cerebellar WM [56], the lateral portion of the frontal lobes [50], and with thalamic mean diffusivity [40]. Only one study found that microstructural integrity of the bilateral uncinate fasciculi predicted PS performance assessed combining the PASAT and the SDMT [54].

The only study carried out on SPMS did not investigate PS as a distinct domain but divided the patient' sample into cognitively impaired and preserved sub-samples, based on performance on various tests, among which were the PASAT and the SDMT. Mean global radial diffusivity, among the different DTI measures, emerged as the only significant predictor of cognitive status. However, all DTI indices were found to be significantly different between cognitively impaired and cognitively preserved groups in: the fornix, the superior longitudinal

R. M.	R. Manca et al.
a	nca et al.

Journal of the Neurological Sciences 388 (2018) 115-127

Study	Sample	Age (years) <sup>a</sup>	Duration	EDSS <sup>11</sup>	PS measure	Covariates	Analysis	Results about correlations
			(cars)					
Lin et al. [49]	36 RRMS: 9 CI 27 CP	37 (7.5) 37.7 (7.2) 34 (29–40) <sup>b</sup>	10 (4.5) 7.2 (6.4)	3.7 (1.5) 2.7 (1.2)	PASAT 3"	None	ROI of the CC	PASAT 3" negatively correlated with apparent diffusion coefficient in the CC
Roca et al. [50]	13 HC 12 RRMS	32.5 (8.0)	N.R.	< 2	PASAT 3"	None	ROIs: FL, FM, OF, cingulate	PASAT 3" positively correlated with FA only in the FL region
	12 HC	31 (8.5)				;		
Bonzano et al. [51]	23 RRMS 18 HC	32.5 (4.2) n.r.	6.9 (3.2)	1.6 (0.8)	PVSAT-100	None	ROI of the left SLF	PVSAT-100 positively correlated with mean FA in the left $SLF$
Dineen et al. [29]	41 RRMS 27 HC	43.5 (31–56) <sup>b</sup> 36.4 (28–55) <sup>b</sup>	10.5 (3–28) <sup>b</sup>	3 (1.5–6.5) <sup>b</sup>	PASAT 3"	Age, IQ, EDSS	TBSS	PASAT 3" positively correlated with FA in the CC, left SLF and cingulum, right ILF, and bilateral AF and optic radiations
Mesaros et al. [47]	54 BMS 21 HC	46.4 (35–63)° 45.7 (25–66)°	22.5 (15–39)°	1.5 (0–3) <sup>c</sup>	PASAT 3"	Age, sex	ROI of the CC	PASAT 3" positively correlated with mean FA and negatively with mean MD in the CC
Roosendaal et al. [37]	30 MS: 5 CIS 21 RRMS 4 SPMS 31 HC	40.6 (9.1) 40.6 (9.9)	3.6 (3.5)	3 (0-6.5) <sup>b</sup>	IDST	Age	ROI of clusters of lower FA: MS < HC	LDST positively correlated with mean FA and negatively with mean RD in the left body of the CC
Warlop et al. [48]	15 MS	37.6 (21–49) <sup>c</sup>	5.1 (3.4)	2.5 (2.2)	PASAT 3" SDMT	None	Whole brain	PASAT 3* not correlated with any measure; SDMT negatively correlated only with stobal RD
Ozturk et al. [38]	69 MS: 35 RRMS 20 SPMS 14 PPMS	45 (22-66) <sup>e</sup> 40 (22-58) <sup>e</sup> 51 (40-66) <sup>e</sup> 50 (29-66) <sup>e</sup>	10 (0–42) <sup>6</sup> 6 (0 – 22) <sup>6</sup> 19 (4–37) <sup>6</sup> 8 (1–42) <sup>6</sup>	3.5 (0-7) <sup>c</sup> 3 (0-6) <sup>c</sup> 6.5 (3.5-7) <sup>c</sup> 3.5 (1.5-6.5) <sup>c</sup>	PASAT 3"	None	ROI of the CC	PASAT 3" positively correlated with mean FA in the CC, especially anterior body, in all MS phenotypes
Van Hecke et al. [39]	20 MS 20 MS: 10 LD 10 HD	43 (9) 41 (7) 42 (10)	12 <i>(7</i> ) 11 (5)	2 (1) 6 (1)	PASAT 3"	None	Voxel-wise	PASAT 3" correlated with FA, MD and RD in: left cingulum and ILF, bilateral CR, FMI, genu of the CC, SLF, interna and esterna capsulae
Rimkus et al. [52]	23 RRMS 13 HC	31.9 (9.2) 27.7 (5.4)	2.4 (1.4)	1.4 (1.2)	SDMT TMT	None	ROI of the CC	SDMT negatively correlated with mean FA of the CC; TMT not correlated with any measure
Llufriu et al. [53]	21 RRMS 12 HC	37.2 (6.9) 35.2 (7.4)	9.5 (5.4)	2 (0-6) <sup>b</sup>	PASAT 3" SDMT	None	ROI of the CC	PASAT 3* and SDMT not correlated with any measure
Yu et al. [55]	37 RRMS 20 HC	40.9 (10.1) 34 (10.3)	9.3 (9.5)	2.2 (0–4) <sup>b</sup>	PASAT 3" SDMT	Age	TBSS	PASAT 3" positively correlated with FA in: right PTR, right SS and CC, SDMT positively correlated with FA in: CC, right CR and cingulum, left external crassial. hilateral PTR. SS and IF
Benedict et al. [40]	75 MS: 50 RRMS 24 SPMS 18 HC	46.4 (9) 42.1 (11.5)	11. (7.5)	3.5 (0-6.5) <sup>b</sup>	PASAT 3" SDMT	Age, education	TBSS and ROI of the thalamus	Mean thalamic MD was third predictor, after age/education and thalamic volume, of scores on PASAT 3* and SDMT
Bester et al. [46]	26 BMS 24 HC	53.4 (7.1) 51.6 (11.2)	25.8 (9.6)	1.5 (0–3) <sup>b</sup>	PASAT 3" SDMT	Age, sex	ROIS: CC and ATR	PASAT 3* and SDMT not correlated with FA and MD either in the CC and the ATR bilaterally
Bozzali et al. [56]	25 RRMS 25 HC	34.5 (8.6) 31.8 (8.1)	7 (2–16) <sup>b</sup>	2 (0-4.5) <sup>b</sup>	PASAT 3"	Age, sex, T2-LL, n. of voxels	TBSS and ACM	PASAT 3" positively correlated with ACM in: anterior CC, IX cerebellar lobule bilaterally, and right hippocamous
Genova et al. [41]	25 MS: 22 RRMS 2 SPMS 1 PPMS 15 HC	44 (7.9) 36.3 (10.3)	9.6 (7)	N.R.	TMT-A CWIT	Age	TBSS	TMT-A positively correlated with FA in: left body and splenium of the CC, left 10C <sub>1</sub> , right FMI and PATE, bilateral CA, FMA and SLF; CWTT positively correlated with FA in: left body of CC, right ATR, PTR, splenium and FMI, bilateral fornix and SLF
			8.1 (6.9)	2.2 (0–6) <sup>b</sup>	SDMT	Age	TBSS	(continued on next page)

Table 2 (continued)								
Study	Sample	Age (years) <sup>a</sup>	Duration (years) <sup>a</sup>	EDSS <sup>a</sup>	PS measure	Covariates	Analysis	Results about correlations
Mazerolle et al. [57]	20 RRMS 20 HC	42.4 (6.3) 42.5 (7.8)						SDMT correlated positively with FA and negatively with MD/RD in: body and genu of CC, PTR, SLF: no correlations with AD
Sbardella et al. [58]	36 RRMS 25 HC	34 (8) 31 (6)	7.4 (6.1)	2.5 (1-4.5) <sup>b</sup>	PASAT 2" PASAT 3"	Age, sex, T2-LL	TBSS	PASAT 2" correlated positively with FA in widespread WM tracts and negatively with MD in right cerebral peduncle, right ILF, and left
								cingulum; PASAT 3" not correlated with any measure
Koenig et al. [42]	53 MS:	44.3 (8.9)	8 (1 – 33) <sup>0</sup>	$1.5(1-6.5)^{\circ}$	PASAT 3"	None	ROI of the fornix	PASAT 3" not correlated with any measure; SDMT correlated with all
	45 RRMS 7 SPMS	41.3 (9.7)			SDMT			diffusion measure of the fornix, more strongly on the left side
	20 HC							
Kern et al. [54]	27 RRMS	37.9 (8.2)	N.R.	2.5 (1.1)	PASAT and SDMT	None	ROIs: cingulum, fornix, UF	Mean FA of bilateral UF significantly predicted PS performance; mean RD
	20 HC	34.1 (9.4)			combined			of bilateral UF correlated with PS scores
Koenig et al. [43]	57 MS:	44.6 (8.4)	11 (1-33) <sup>b</sup>	2.5 (1-6.5) <sup>b</sup>	PASAT 3"	None	ROIs: posterior cingulum, PLIC	PASAT 3" not correlated with any measure; SDMT negatively correlated
	44 RRMS	42.7 (10.1)			SDMT			with MD and RD (mean of left and right) in PLIC and posterior cingulum
	13 SPMS							
	17 HC							
Meijer et al. [45]	30 SPMS:	51.9 (8.1)	19.3 (8-30) <sup>b</sup>	6.5 (4-8.5) <sup>b</sup>	PASAT 3"	Age, sex, IQ	TBSS	Global mean RD significantly predicted global cognitive impairment
	12 CI	55 (7.4)	25 (9-48) <sup>b</sup>	6.2 (5.5-8.5) <sup>b</sup>	SDMT combined to			
	18 CP	40.6 (12.9)			assess CI			
	32 HC							
Moroso et al. [44]	37 CIS	36 (19-59) <sup>b</sup>	4.25 (1.98) <sup>d</sup>	1 (0-6) <sup>b</sup>	SDMT	None	ROIs: cerebellar peduncoli, VI,	SDMT correlated positively with FA in the left VI, the right VIIIa and VIIIb
	32 MS	42 (29-59)	106.11	3 (0-8) <sup>6</sup>			VIIb, VIIIa, VIIIb, crus I, and crus II	lobules, middle and inferior cerebellar peduncles; SDMT correlated
	36 HC	36 (21-60) <sup>b</sup>	(61.44) <sup>d</sup>				lobules	negatively with MD in the vermis crus II, middle and left superior

119

ACM: matomical connectivity maps, AD: axial diffusivity, AF: arcuste fasciculus, ATR: anterior thalamic radiations, CC: corpus callosum, CI: cognitively impared, CP: cognitively preserved, CR: corona radiate, CMTI: Colour Word Inhibition Test, EDSS: Expanded Dissibility Status Scale, FA: fractional anterior price from concerding. TO: Intelligence quotient, IDST: Later PAI price and Intelligence quotient, PAI: Prace partino, HC: foreiby controls, LIE: interior forginuciant fasciculus, IOP: intelligence quotient, IDST: Later PAI: Prace Andinory Serial Addition Test, PLC: posterior limb of the internal capasale, PMRS: primary progressive multiple sclerosis, PTR: posterior thalanic radiations, PVAST: Praced Andinory Serial Addition Test, PLC: posterior limb of the internal capasale, PMRS: primary progressive multiple sclerosis, PTR: posterior thalanic radiations, PVAST: Praced Visual Serial Addition Test, PLC: posterior limb of the internal capasale, PMRS: primary progressive multiple sclerosis, SS: sagittal stratum, T2-LL: lesion load on T2 image, TBSS: tract-based spatial statistics, TMT: Trail Making Test, UF: uncinate fasciculus, WN: white matter, ME: a not reported. ME: a not reported. Mem (SD): M

cerebellar peduncles

fasciculus, and the forceps major [45].

In contrast, fewer studies investigated the association between structural connectivity measures and performance on the SDMT in people with MS. Among them, only two failed to report any significant correlation in two regions of interest, namely anterior thalamic radiations [46] and the corpus callosum [46,53]. Similar to the results on the PASAT, higher structural integrity of the corpus callosum, particularly in the body, also appears consistently linked to higher scores obtained on the SDMT [52,55,57] and a similar test of visual PS: the Letter Digit Substitution Test [37]. However, DTI indices were more often observed to be correlated with this test in other WM fibre bundles: the fornix, both left-lateralised [42] and bilaterally [55]; the cingulum, on the right side [55] and globally [43]; and the posterior thalamic radiations bilaterally [55,57]. Less commonly, significant correlations between the SDMT scores and DTI measures were additionally detected by region-of-interest and voxel-wise analyses in: the posterior limb of the internal capsule [43], thalamus [40], bilateral uncinate fasciculi, sagittal stratum [55], and the superior longitudinal fasciculus [57].

Only two DTI studies investigated the Trail Making Test: the first [52] reported no correlation in the region of interest of the corpus callosum, while a voxel-wise study found that performance on this test was correlated with fractional anisotropy in different parts of the corpus callosum, the left inferior fronto-occipital fasciculus, right posterior thalamic radiations, and bilateral superior longitudinal fasciculi [41]. This latter study also found that a PS index derived from the Stroop test correlated with structural connectivity integrity of the corpus callosum, bilateral fornix, and right-lateralised anterior and posterior thalamic radiations.

# 3.2. Functional connectivity

Four studies focussed solely on resting-state brain activity and its relation to PS ability in RRMS (Table 3). Patients' age, duration and severity were quite similar across studies and, in general, the reported clinical data were more detailed than in DTI studies although details about relapses were missing [30,59]. While most studies investigated different cortical and subcortical regions of interest, one study analysed functional connectivity within the graph theory framework by dividing the brain into 116 grey matter (GM) areas, extracting the average resting-state signal from each area, and finally calculating linear correlation between signals from each pair of GM areas [30]. The majority

Table 3

of the studies did not use statistical correction for multiple comparisons [30,31,60] and only two controlled for possible confounding variables [31,60]. However, studies on functional connectivity were of a slightly higher, although not significant, quality compared to the structural connectivity studies, given that all were explicitly hypothesis-driven with just one exception [60] (Appendix B - Table B.3). The PASAT 3" was the most commonly used test of cognitive PS function, although mainly in combination with other tasks, which resulted in high variability of PS assessment across studies [30,59].

When functional connectivity was compared between people with MS and healthy controls, reductions were reported in the somatosensory network, medial and lateral visual networks [59], and between posterior and anterior cingulate cortex and right inferior frontal gyrus [60]. Consistently, graph-based analysis of functional connectivity revealed how the brains of people with MS tend to reorganise and become more modularised. This means that connectivity between brain areas that are functionally related to one another and form a module tends to increase in MS, while functional connectivity between areas belonging to different brain modules becomes weaker [30]; (see Fleisher et al. [61] for a recent review of graph theory and brain networks in MS). These findings support the view of MS as a disconnection syndrome due to different functionally related areas becoming more independent from one another and, in turn, hampering information integration across the brain.

Accuracy in a dual-task PASAT 3" was reported to be negatively associated with the general level of network modularity (i.e. reduced between-network connectivity) characterising brains affected by MS: the higher the brain modularisation the worse the PS performance [30]. Wojtowicz et al. [60] also found that the higher the intra-individual variability in the semantic search reaction time task of the Computerised Test of Information Processing, the lower the functional connectivity between ventro-medial prefrontal cortex and the left frontal pole. No alterations in connectivity of the ventro-medial prefrontal cortex were reported between people with MS and healthy controls, however.

Another region-of-interest study compared functional connectivity changes between a baseline scan acquired just before in-scanner performance of two consecutive blocks of the PASAT 3" and two subsequent scans: one acquired just after completion of the second block and one after 30 min. The scores on the PASAT 3" correlated with the decrease of connectivity occurring in the 30 min after task performance

Study	Sample	Age (years) <sup>a</sup>	Duration (years) <sup>a</sup>	EDSS <sup>a</sup>	PS measure	Covariates	Analysis	Results about correlations
Janssen et al. [59]	28 RRMS 28 HC	46.4 (8.8) 45.6 (9.2)	10.6 (5)	3.9 (1.2)	Composite score: PASAT 2", PASAT 3", LCT, PCT	None	ROIs: 6 RS networks	Composite score not correlated with FC of any of the 6 networks
Gamboa et al. [30]	16 MS: 8 CIS 8RRMS 20 HC	35.3 (8.3) 29.9 (7)	N.R.	≤2.5	Dual task PASAT 3"	None	Modularity of the global FC network	Accuracy in the dual task PASAT 3" correlated with global network modularity
Wojtowicz et al. [60]	18 RRMS 16 HC	42.1 (7.4) 43.1 (7.8)	7.5 (1-28) <sup>b</sup>	2.2 (1-3.5) <sup>b</sup>	CTIP	ISD of RT	ROI: DMN	ISD on the SSRT negatively correlated with FC between vmPFC and left frontal pole
Pravatà et al., [31]	22 RRMS: 11 NF 11 WF 12 HC	40 (5.8) 46.6 (9.3) 41.4 (8)	6 (4.4) 9.5 (3.8)	1.4 (0–3) <sup>b</sup> 2.5 (0–3.5) <sup>b</sup>	PASAT 3"	EDSS, duration	ROIs: SFG, caudate, thalamus	PASAT 3" not correlated with FC of the left SFG, but positively correlated with post-performance decrease in FC between the left SFG and the left thalamus

CIS: clinically isolated syndrome, CTIP: Computerised Test of Information Processing, DMN: default mode network, FC: functional connectivity, ISD: individual standard deviation, LCT: letter comparison task, NF: not fatigued, PCT: pattern comparison task, ROI: region of interest, RRMS: relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis, RS: resting state, RT: reaction time, SFG: superior frontal gyrus, SSRT: semantic search reaction time, vmPFC: ventro medial prefrontal cortex, WF: with fatigue.

N.R. = not reported. <sup>a</sup> Mean (SD). <sup>b</sup> Median (Range).

Table 4 Characteristics of studi	es on both s	tructural and fur	nctional connectiv	vity.				
Study	Sample	Age (years) <sup>a</sup>	Duration (years) <sup>a</sup>	EDSS <sup>a</sup>	PS measure	Covariates	Analysis	Results about correlations
Rocca et al. [62]	75 MS: 33 SPMS 24 PPMS 24 HC	46.3 (24–65) <sup>b</sup> 47.9 (29–64) <sup>b</sup> 47.4 (26–65) <sup>b</sup>	15.5 (4–32) <sup>b</sup> 12.7 (3–39) <sup>b</sup>	6 (4-9)° 6 (3-8)°	PASAT 3"	DTI: none RS: age, head motion	DTI-ROIs: CC, CST, OR, cingulum RS-ROI: DMN	PASAT 3* positively correlated with mean FA and MD in the CC and the eingulum globally; and positively correlated with RS activity of the ACC and of the left medial PFC
Tona et al. [63]	48 RRMS 24 HC	36.7 (8.1) 31.1 (6.5)	7.4 (6.1)	2 (1–4.5) <sup>c</sup>	PASAT 2" PASAT 3"	Both: age, thalamic volume	DTI: whole brain RS-ROI: thalamus	PASAT 2" and 3" not correlated with DTI measures; PASAT 2" and 3" negatively correlated with FC between thalamus and several areas in both hemispheres
Zhou et al. [34]	24 RRMS 24 HC	39.5 (20-56) <sup>b</sup> 39.6 (21-56) <sup>b</sup>	3 (1-16) <sup>b</sup>	1.6 (1–2.5) <sup>c</sup>	PASAT 3"	None	DTI-ROIs: tracts linking DMN areas RS-ROI: DMN	PASAT 3" positively correlated with FA in WM tract connecting the PCC/precuneus and the right PP1, and negatively correlated with increased FC between PCC/precuneus and left mT1.
Sbardella et al. [64]	30 RRMS 24 HC	35 (8) 32 (6.1)	10.1 (6.2)	2.5 (0-4)°	PASAT 3"	DTI: age, sex, PD-LV RS: age, sex, NGMV	DTI: TBSS RS-ROIs: 11 networks	PASAT 3" correlated positively with FA and negatively with AD, MD and RD in widespread bilinetai WM tracts; and negatively correlated with FC of the ECN and of the medial VN bilaterally
Zhou et al. [35]	20 RRMS 20 HC	39.3 (20–57) <sup>b</sup> 38.1 (22–51) <sup>b</sup>	2 (1–3) <sup>b</sup>	1.6 (0–2.5) <sup>b</sup>	PASAT 3"	Both: age, sex, thalamic fraction	DTT-ROIs: thalamic tracts RS-ROIs: thalamus and 7 linked areas	PASAT 3" negatively correlated with mean AD in the whole WM tracts between thalamus and PPC; PASAT 3" not correlated with thalamic PC
ACC: anterior cingulate standard deviation, mT relapsing-remitting mul	t cortex, CC: L: medial te tiple scleros	corpus callosum emporal lobe, NF iis, RS: resting sti	n, CST: corticospir P: not fatigued, N ate, RT: reaction	nal tract, DMN: d GMV: normalised time, SFG: super	lefault mode d grey matter tior frontal gy	network, DTI: diffusion te volume, OR: optic radia rus, VN: visual network,	ensor imaging, ECN: executiv ttions, PCC: posterior cingula WF: with fatigue.	e control network, FC functional connectivity, IPL: inferior parietal lobule, ISD: individual are cortex, PD-LV: lesion volume on proton density images, ROI: region of interest, RRMS:

remitting multiple sclerosis, RS: resting state, RT: reaction (Standard deviation).

I (Range).

Median ( relapsing-r <sup>a</sup> Mean <sup>b</sup> Mean

R. Manca et al.

Journal of the Neurological Sciences 388 (2018) 115-127

between the left superior frontal gyrus and the left thalamus [31]. However, PS function was not correlated with functional connectivity of the left superior frontal gyrus at baseline. Finally, Janssen and colleagues [59], instead, calculated a PS composite score comprehensive of both verbal and visuospatial components and including performance on the PASAT 2", the PASAT 3", the letter comparison and the pattern comparison tests. No associations were reported for the composite score with any of the 6 resting-state networks investigated: default-mode (DMN), executive control, left and right fronto-parietal, cerebellar, and sensorimotor networks.

#### 3.3. Combination of structural and functional connectivity

Papers that combined DTI and resting-state analysis were characterised by greater homogeneity in sample composition: four out of five were carried out on RRMS while only one on a mixed sample of PPMS and SPMS [62]. Clinical information was in general extensively reported, apart from the presence of depression (Table 4). Moreover, all of the studies used the PASAT 3" as test of PS functionality apart from one which investigated also the PASAT 2" [63]. Most studies used statistical correction to account for multiple comparisons, namely Bonferroni and family wise error corrections. Apart from one [34], all studies included covariates of no interest in statistical models, especially age and sex.

Compared to DTI studies, those that investigated both structural and functional connectivity, showed significantly higher quality with two out of five reaching the maximum quality score in our criteria [35,63]. However, the hypotheses underlying the aims of the studies were not always overtly reported in these papers [34,62,64].

In RRMS DTI findings confirmed those from studies focussing exclusively on this technique, showing lower fractional anisotropy and higher mean, radial, and axial diffusivity globally [63] and in the corpus callosum, the inferior and superior longitudinal fasciculi [64], thalamic tracts [35], and tracts connecting cortical areas of the DMN [34] compared to controls. Moreover, in SPMS more severe alterations of diffusivity indices were seen in the corpus callosum and the cingulum [62].

Widespread correlations between scores on the PASAT 3" and fractional anisotropy mainly centred on the corpus callosum were found in one study that used tract-based spatial statistics analysis [64]. Furthermore, several regions of interest were investigated and were found to be associated with PS performance: the corpus callosum and the cingulum, but not the corticospinal tract and the optic radiations [62]; tracts connecting the posterior cingulate and the precuneus with the right inferior parietal lobule [34]; and the anterior thalamic radiations [35]. One further study reported no correlations between the two PASAT versions analysed (2" and 3") and global fractional anisotropy and mean diffusivity [63].

Results of studies of functional connectivity in RRMS were more variable when compared to healthy controls: thalamic connectivity was increased with dorsal and lateral frontal areas, but decreased with medial frontal, medial temporal and occipito-parietal cortices [35,63]; increased connectivity was found between various pairs of areas part of the DMN [34]; and finally decreases in functional connectivity between the left fronto-parietal network and the executive control network were found [64].

When functional connectivity was found to correlate with measures of PS, PASAT 3" score was positively associated with connectivity of the left medial prefrontal cortex and the anterior cingulate [62] and negatively with the posterior DMN on the left side [34], the ECN and the medial VN [64], and between the thalamus and distributed cortical and subcortical areas in both hemispheres [63]. Zhou et al. [35], instead, found no correlation between thalamic connectivity and performance on the PASAT 3".

Reductions in functional connectivity were also reported in the progressive forms of MS, with slightly different patterns across

phenotypes: in the medial prefrontal cortex and the precentral gyrus for SPMS; in the anterior cingulate cortex and the precentral gyrus in PPMS [62].

Finally, no correlations were observed between measures of structural and functional connectivity by studies that focused on the thalamus [35,63]. Mean and axial diffusivity in tracts connecting the anterior and posterior portions of the DMN were, however, found to be correlated with their functional connectivity [34], and fractional anisotropy in the corpus callosum and the cingulum correlated with functional connectivity of the anterior DMN [62].

### 4. Conclusions and future directions

The aim of this review was to summarise current knowledge on how brain connectivity measures in MS are associated with PS function, a cognitive domain known to be particularly affected, and to provide insight for future lines of research.

The published literature shows contrasting results on correlations between PS function and measures of functional and structural connectivity. DTI studies have highlighted mainly vague and variable findings. Indeed, when voxel-wise analyses were carried out, multiple and widespread clusters of WM correlated with PS tasks [29,39,41,55,57,58] and the same was observed in the investigation of more specific regions of interest across a range of tests [42,43,50,51,54]. Lack of correlation with brain connectivity measures was noted more often for the PASAT (especially the 3" version) than the SDMT and various explanations may account for these differences. Firstly, the sensory modality used to present stimuli differs between the two tests: auditory for the PASAT and visual for the SDMT. The latter, in fact, has been reported to be more susceptible to impairment in MS than the former and may better evaluate PS deficits associated with this disease [65]. Secondly, the way stimuli are presented during test performance differs across tests: for the PASAT stimuli are presented one at a time in sequence, while all the stimuli are presented simultaneously on the same page for the SDMT, thus increasing the demands posed on inhibition of processing of possible distractors. For the PASAT, it has also been suggested that patients may put in place different solving strategies when facing different versions of the PASAT. In fact, Snyder et al. [66] reported that patients tend not to perform the task continuously but to skip every third item, thus reducing considerably the difficulty of the test and achieving a higher, though less reliable, score. Finally, we cannot ignore that the two tests, although both used as PS measures, require the engagement of different cognitive domains: verbal auditory working memory for the PASAT and visual attention for the SDMT. These cognitive functions are long known to rely on activity of different brain areas of both hemispheres [67], suggesting these tasks may assess different aspects of the PS function.

Indeed, partially different WM tracts were observed to be related to the tests reviewed. Performance on the PASAT was more associated to the level of microstructural integrity of the left cingulum, the superior longitudinal fasciculus (especially left-lateralised), and the inferior longitudinal fasciculus. The SDMT, instead, seems to be more associated to DTI measures in bilateral tracts: the fornix, the cingulum and the posterior thalamic radiations. However, the corpus callosum emerged as the WM tract that most consistently correlated with PS performance of people with MS across cognitive tasks. This suggests the importance of multiple WM tracts to support cognitive PS performance across cognitive domains through fast integration of information processed in distributed brain networks.

Despite the variability of results, DTI indices seem to be more consistently correlated with different PS performance than measures of lesion load and parenchymal atrophy. This may result from the fact that microstructural WM damage can spread across fibre tracts [68], and can precede the detection of new macrostructural lesions [69]. Hence, diffusion indices may be more sensitive in detecting subtle MS pathology leading to decline in PS function than conventional MRI. In fact, apart from commissural fibres (i.e. the corpus callosum) associative WM tracts appear to be more critically involved in PS performance, namely the superior and inferior longitudinal fasciculi and the cingulum. Nevertheless, given the variability in PS tasks used, differential WM involvement may have been detected according to the specific measures used.

In contrast, higher quality and more consistent results were observed in RS-fMRI studies. Functional neuroplasticity seems to be the underlying mechanism supporting cognitive changes, or stability, in the early phases of MS. In fact both people with clinically isolated syndrome and RRMS showed functional connectivity changes, both increases [34,35,63] and decreases [35,59,60,63,64], within various brain networks. Furthermore, PS performance correlated with functional connectivity alterations in frontal areas, such as the prefrontal and anterior cingulate cortices, and fronto-thalamic connections [31,35,60,62,64]. It is also worth noting that, in contrast to DTI studies, almost all those studies exploring functional connectivity used exclusively the PASAT to measure PS abilities.

Even though a relationship between macrostructural damage and resting-state functional changes in MS appears likely [70], current findings are not consistent. In fact, while some studies observed correlations between total lesion volume and changes of resting-state activity [35] others reported no correlation [62,64]. The same discrepancy has been observed about the association between structural and functional connectivity measures, where significant correlations were found only in a small number of studies [34,62]. Indeed, the relationship between functional and structural brain changes may not be that straightforward in consideration of the fact that if structural connectivity between two areas predicts functional connectivity, the reverse is not necessarily the case, since functional connectivity can also depend on indirect connections to and from other brain areas [71].

Current knowledge of how MS-related damage to both structural and functional connectivity affects PS function is incomplete and preliminary. This may be due to methodological shortcomings detected in the reviewed articles. Firstly, most studies, especially those on structural connectivity, were carried out on samples of mixed MS phenotypes. Such lack of differentiation may confound results, particularly since the neuropathology in progressive forms of MS is increasingly recognised to be mainly characterised more by neurodegenerative rather than inflammatory processes [72]. Secondly, to date many studies have been carried out using a more explorative approach, often without a clearly defined hypothesis to test, and have been based on a crosssectional design that does not allow for the assessment of PS decline over time. Finally, a lack of theoretical background on PS decline in MS has emerged from the published literature. The majority of the studies focused mainly on the most common tests of PS that are intrinsically related to various cognitive domains (i.e. working memory for the PASAT and visuospatial attention for the SDMT), neglecting alternative strategies of investigation. These could include better characterisation of the neural correlates of PS deficits in MS considering sensory, cognitive, and motor contributions [9] or clarifying any possible influence of PS decline on other cognitive domains when assessing correlations with MRI measures [41].

PS performance has been repeatedly found to be impaired in people with MS and to correlate with both structural and functional brain reorganisation, in particular degeneration of the corpus callosum

Journal of the Neurological Sciences 388 (2018) 115-127

[37–39,41,46,47,49,52,56,57,62] and altered activity in frontal areas [31,60,62,64]. Nevertheless, the dynamic properties and topography of neural breakdown in MS have yet to be clarified. Recent meta-analyses have been published with the aim of advancing our understanding of brain regions mostly affected by MS. Lansley et al. [73] showed that GM appears to degenerate especially in the thalamus, a crucial hub for information distribution across the brain, the basal ganglia, precentral and postcentral gyri, and the cingulate cortex, involved in complex cognitive functions. Furthermore, Welton et al. [26]. highlighted how WM microstructural degeneration could be functionally related: physical disability was found to be mainly related to the posterior corpus callosum and right inferior fronto-occipital fasciculus, while cognitive decline was mainly linked to the anterior part of the corpus callosun, the thalamus, and the fornix.

The published literature suggests that connectivity of the frontal cortices and between hemispheres is involved in PS function in MS. Interestingly, the *cognitive efficiency* theory [74] postulates that activity of the prefrontal cortex plays a pivotal role in PS performance as do dynamic interactions with parietal cortices [75–77]. However, caution is needed when drawing conclusions based on current published evidence in light of the limitations we have identified. In fact, only a review by Lopes Costa et al. [9] has extensively explored the issue regarding a thorough definition of PS. Further theoretical discussion on MS-related cognitive impairment may aid the stimulation of a more hypothesis-driven approach to plan future investigations.

This review has some limitations: studies carried out on mixed MS phenotypes were included and all articles written not in English, though very few, were excluded. Possible selection bias was minimised during the review process by carrying out a systematic search of the literature on the topic without setting strict limitations (e.g. narrow time windows). All papers investigating at least one measure of PS were included, though the possibility of having missed eligible records cannot be completely ruled out. No specific issues regarding publication bias were detected through quality assessment, since different studies also reported negative results and most studies discussed their own limitations.

In conclusion, while the reviewed studies have shown significant promise for the use of resting-state functional MRI and DTI to explore

# Appendix A. Search strategy

#### Table A.1

Strings with keywords used in the literature search.

the neural underpinning of PS in MS, results to date have not been consistent, and future investigations may benefit from considering the limitations identified in this review. Firstly, more detailed analysis of concepts related to PS function should be brought about in order to provide better theoretical frameworks to the neuroscientific investigation of this domain and its decline due to MS [9]. Secondly, the differential associations between different measures of PS ability, which may potentially capture different cognitive aspects of this function, and their neural correlates need further characterisation. Thirdly, the use of a longitudinal design, that so far has been largely neglected, is needed to clarify the interplay between neural and cognitive changes over time and potential maladaptive plasticity in MS. Indeed, Loitfelder et al. [78] observed that higher activity in the left inferior parietal lobule at 1-year follow-up was negatively correlated with SDMT performance in RRMS. Finally, considering the higher scientific quality observed in studies combining different connectivity measures we argue that the use of multimodal imaging with a focus on network and graph theory analyses [33,61] may prove to be particularly helpful in tracking PS decline in MS. Combined use of different MRI techniques might allow a more comprehensive approach to mapping connectivity that may help unravel the complexity that characterises MS symptoms. Furthermore, the integration of multimodal MRI and targeted neuropsychological assessment may provide more detailed outcome measures also in clinical trials, both for pharmacological and non-pharmacological interventions, and highlight beneficial treatment effects that may go otherwise undetected.

# Conflicts of interest

None.

#### Acknowledgments

This is a summary of independent research carried out at the NIHR Sheffield Biomedical Research Centre (Translational Neuroscience). The views expressed are those of the authors and not necessarily those of the NHS, the NIHR or the Department of Health.

"Multiple sclerosis"	AND	DTI	AND	"Information processing"
"Multiple sclerosis"	AND	DTI	AND	"Processing speed"
"Multiple sclerosis"	AND	DTI	AND	"Speed of processing"
"Multiple sclerosis"	AND	DTI	AND	PASAT
"Multiple sclerosis"	AND	DTI	AND	SDMT
"Multiple sclerosis"	AND	"Resting state"	AND	"Information processing"
"Multiple sclerosis"	AND	"Resting state"	AND	"Processing speed"
"Multiple sclerosis"	AND	"Resting state"	AND	"Speed of processing"
"Multiple sclerosis"	AND	"Resting state"	AND	PASAT
"Multiple sclerosis"	AND	"Resting state"	AND	SDMT
"Multiple sclerosis"	AND	"Functional connectivity"		
"Multiple sclerosis"	AND	"Structural connectivity"		

Appendix B

Table B.1 Quality assessment criteria.

Area	Question	Values
Methodology	1. Were a priori hypotheses clearly stated?	No = 0; yes = 1 $\sim 20 - 0 \sim 20 - 1$
Clinical characteristics	<ol> <li>trow loage was ure sample store:</li> <li>What MS phenotypes were included?</li> </ol>	$\sim 30 - 0$ , $= 30 - 1$ Not defined = 0; mixed = 1; one type only or distinct erouns = 2
	<ol> <li>Was information on history of comorbidities reported?</li> <li>Was information on pharmacological treatments reported?</li> </ol>	No = 0; yes = 1 No = 0; yes = 1
MRI parameters	<ol><li>If RRMS was included, was information on relapses reported?</li><li>How strong was the MRI field used?</li></ol>	No = 0; yes = 1 1.5 $T = 0; \ge 3 T = 1$
Statistical analysis	<ol> <li>How many diffusion-weighted directions, for DTI, or slices, for resting-state fMRI, were acquired?</li> <li>Was the imaging analysis coherent with the hypothesis?</li> </ol>	< 30 or missing = 0; ≥ 30 = 1 No = 0; yes = 1
	<ol> <li>Was correction for multiple comparisons used?</li> <li>Were covariates of no interest included in the analysis or, if not, was their exclusion motivated?</li> </ol>	No = 0; yes = 1 no = 0; yes = 1
Results	12. Were limitations of the studies clearly stated?	No = 0; yes = 1

Tab	le	B.2	
-----	----	-----	--

Quality assessment of DTI studies.

Study	Q1	Q2	Q3	Q4	Q5	Q6	Q7	Q8	Q9	Q10	Q11	Q12	TOT
Lin et al. [49]	0	1	2	1	1	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	6
Roca et al. [50]	0	0	2	1	1	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	6
Bonzano et al. [51]	0	1	2	1	1	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	7
Dineen et al. [29]	0	1	2	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	11
Mesaros et al. [47]	0	1	1	1	1	1	0	0	1	1	1	1	9
Roosendaal et al. [37]	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	4
Warlop et al. [48]	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	1	4
Ozturk et al. [38]	1	1	1	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	9
Van Hecke et al. [39]	0	1	1	0	0	1	0	1	1	1	0	1	7
Rimkus et al. [52]	0	1	2	0	1	1	1	1	1	0	0	0	8
Llufriu et al. [53]	1	1	2	0	1	1	0	1	1	0	0	1	10
Yu et al. [55]	0	1	2	0	0	0	1	0	1	1	1	1	8
Benedict et al. [40]	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	0	1	1	9
Bester et al. [46]	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	11
Bozzali et al. [56]	0	1	2	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	11
Genova et al. [41]	1	1	1	0	0	0	1	0	1	1	1	1	8
Mazerolle et al. [57]	1	1	2	1	1	1	0	0	1	1	1	1	11
Sbardella et al. [58]	0	1	2	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	12
Koenig et al. [42]	0	1	1	0	0	0	1	1	1	0	0	1	6
Kern et al. [54]	1	1	2	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	0	1	11
Koenig et al. [43]	0	1	1	0	0	0	1	1	1	1	0	1	7
Meijer et al. [45]	1	1	2	1	0	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	11
Moroso et al. [44]	1	1	2	1	1	1	1	0	1	0	0	1	10

# Table B.3

Quality assessment of RS-fMRI studies.

Study	Q1	Q2	Q3	Q4	Q5	Q6	Q7	Q8	Q9	Q10	Q11	Q12	тот
Janssen et al. [59]	1	1	2	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	0	1	11
Gamboa et al. [30]	1	1	1	0	0	0	1	1	1	0	0	0	6
Wojtowicz et al. [60]	0	1	2	1	1	1	0	0	1	0	1	1	9
Pravatà et al. [31]	1	1	2	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	12

# Table B.4

Quality assessment of studies combining DTI and RS-fMRI.

Study	Q1	Q2	Q3	Q4	Q5	Q6	Q7	Q8	Q9	Q10	Q11	Q12	TOT	
Rocca et al. [62]	0	1	2	0	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	10	
Tona et al. [63]	1	1	2	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	13	
Zhou et al. [34]	0	1	2	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	10	
Sbardella et al. [64]	0	1	2	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	12	
Zhou et al. [35]	1	1	2	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	13	

# References

F.D. Lublin, S.C. Reingold, J.A. Cohen, G.R. Cutter, P.S. Sorensen, A.J. Thompson, et al., Defining the clinical course of multiple sclerosis: the 2013 revisions, Neurology 83 (3) (2014) 278–286.
 N.D. Chiaravalloi, J. DeLaca, Cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis, Lancet Neurol. 7 (12) (2008) 1139–1151.
 G.C. DeLaca, R.L. Yates, H. Beale, S.A. Morrow, Cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis: clinical, radiologic and pathologic insights, Brain Pathol. 25 (1) (2015) 79–98.
 L. Lovera, B. Kopner, Cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis, Curr. Neurol.

79–98.
[4] J. Lovera, B. Kovner, Cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis, Curr. Neurol. Neurosci. Rep. 12 (5) (2012) 618–627.
[5] J. Campbell, W. Rashid, M. Cercignani, D. Langdon, Cognitive impairment among

patients with multiple sclerosis: associations with employment and quality of life,

- patients with multiple sclerosis: associations with employment and quality of life, Postgrad. Med. J. 93 (1097) (2017) 143–147.
  [6] P. Hämäläinen, E. Rosti-Otajärvi, Is neuropsychological rehabilitation effective in multiple sclerosis? Neurodegener. Dis. Manag. 4 (2) (2014) 147–154.
  [7] J. Van Schependom, M.B. D'Hooghe, K. Gleynhens, M. D'Hooge, M.C. Haelewyck, J. De Keyser, et al., Reduced information processing speed as primum movens for cognitive decline in MS. Mult. Scler. 21 (1) (2015) 83–91.
  [8] J. DeLuca, J.H. Kalmar, Information Processing Speed in Clinical Populations, Psychology Press, New York, 2007.
  [9] S. Lopes Costa, H.M. Genova, J. DeLuca, N.D. Chiaravalloti, Information processing speed in multiple sclerosis: past, present, and future, Mult. Scler. 23 (6) (2017) 772–789.
- spece in manupacture stretcher and stretcher

Journal of the Neurological Sciences 388 (2018) 115-127

europsychol. 35 (2) (2013) 180-191.

- [11] D.R. Denney, A.J. Hughes, J.K. Elliott, A.K. Roth, S.G. Lynch, Incidental learning [11] D.R. Denney, A.J. Hughes, J.K. Elliott, A.K. Roth, S.G. Lynch, Incidental learning during rapid information processing on the symbol-digit modalities test, Arch. Clin. Neuropsychol. 30 (4) (2015) 322–328.
  [12] I. Litvan, J. Grafman, P. Vendrell, J.M. Martinez, Slowed information processing in multiple sclerosis, Arch. Neurol. 45 (3) (1988) 281–285.
  [13] H.M. Genova, J. Lengenfelder, N.D. Chiaravalloti, N.B. Moore, J. DeLuca, Processing speed versus working memory: contributions to an information-processing task in multiple sclerosis, Arpl. Neuropsychol. Adult 19 (2) (2012) 132–140.
  [14] V.M. Leavitt, J. Lengenfelder, N.B. Moore, N.D. Chiaravalloti, J. DeLuca, The relations contributions of concentration cancel and constitute load to working mereiting load to working mereit

- V.M. Leavitt, J. Lengenteider, N.B. Moore, N.D. Chiaravanioti, J. DeLica, Ine re-lative contributions of processing speed and cognitive load to working memory accuracy in multiple sclerosis, J. Clin. Exp. Neuropsychol. 33 (5) (2011) 580–586. J. Lengenfelder, D. Bryant, B.J. Diamond, J.H. Kalmar, N.B. Moore, J. DeLuca, Processing speed interacts with working memory efficiency in multiple sclerosis, Arch. Clin. Neuropsychol. 21 (3) (2006) 229–238. B.A. Parmenter, J.L. Shucard, LDW. Shucard, Information processing deficits in multiple sclerosis: a matter of complexity, J. Int. Neuropsychol. Soc. 13 (3) (2007) 472–472. [15]
- [16]
- 417-423. [17] M. Wojtowicz, A. Omisade, J.D. Fisk, Indices of cognitive dysfunction in relapsing

- M. Wojtowicz, A. Omisade, J.D. Fisk, Indices of cognitive dysfunction in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis: intra-individual variability, processing speed, and at-tention network efficiency, J. Int. Neuropsychol. Soc. 19 (5) (2013) 551–558.
   M.A. Drew, N.J. Starkey, R.B. Isler, Examining the link between information pro-cessing speed and executive functioning in multiple sclerosis, Arch. Clin. Neuropsychol. 24 (1) (2009) 47–58.
   P.A. Arnett, S.M. Rao, J. Grafman, L. Bernardin, T. Luchetta, J.R. Binder, et al., Executive functions in multiple sclerosis: an analysis of temporal ordering, semantic encoding, and planning abilities, Neuropsychology 11 (4) (1997) 535–544.
   E.M. Owens, D.R. Denney, S.G. Lynch, Difficulties in planning mong patients with multiple sclerosis: a relative consequence of deficits in information processing speed. J. Int. Neuronsychol. Soc. 19 (5) (2013) 613–620.

- multiple sclerosis: a relative consequence of deficits in information processing speed, J. Int. Neuropsychol. Soc. 19 (5) (2013) 613–620.
  [21] D.R. Denney, S.G. Lynch, The impact of multiple sclerosis on patients' performance on the Stroop Test: processing speed versus interference, J. Int. Neuropsychol. Soc. 15 (3) (2009) 451–458.
  [22] J.A. Macniven, C. Davis, M.Y. Ho, C.M. Bradshaw, E. Szabadi, C.S. Constantinescu, Stroop performance in multiple sclerosis: information processing, selective attention, or executive functioning? J. Int. Neuropsychol. Soc. 14 (2009) 451–458.
  [23] H.A. Demaree, J. DeLuca, E.A. Gaudino, B.J. Diamond, Speed of information processing as a key deficit in multiple sclerosis: implications for rehabilitation, J. Neurol. Neurosury. Psychiatry 57 (5) (1999) 661–663.
- cessing as a key deficit in multiple sclerosis: implications for rehabilitation, J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 67 (5) (1999) 661-663.
  [24] V.M. Leavitt, G. Wylie, D. Krch, N. Chiaravalloti, J. DeLuca, J.F. Sumowski, Does slowed processing speed account for executive deficits in multiple sclerosis? Evidence from neuropsychological performance and structural neuroimaging, Rehabil. Psychol. 59 (4) (2014) 422-428.
  [25] A.K. Roth, D.R. Denney, S.G. Lynch, Information processing speed at attention marked text (ANT). J. Clin. Emitting a sclerosis: reconsidering the attention processing speed an attention in multiple sclerosis?
- tion processing speed and attention in tiple sclerosis: reconsidering the attention network test (ANT), J. Clin. Exp.
- [26]
- [27]
- multiple sclerosis: reconsidering the attention network test (ANT), J. Clin. Exp. Neuropsychol. 37 (5) (2015) 518–529.
  T. Welton, D. Kent, C.S. Constantinescu, D.P. Auer, R.A. Dineen, Functionally re-levant white matter degradation in multiple sclerosis: a tract-based spatial meta-analysis, Radiology 275 (1) (2015) 89–96.
  S.M. Rao, A.L. Martin, R. Huelin, E. Wissinger, Z. Khankhel, E. Kim, et al., Correlations between MRI and information processing speed in MS: a meta-analysis, Mult. Scler. Int. 2014 (2014).
  F. Rossi, A. Giorgio, M. Battaglini, M.L. Stromillo, E. Portaccio, B. Goretti, et al., Relevance of brain lesion location to cognition in relapsing multiple sclerosis, PLoS One 7 (11) (2012) e4426. [28]
- [29]
- Relevance of brain lesion location to cognition in relapsing multiple sciences, PLoS One 7 (11) (2012) e44826.
  R.A. Dineen, J. Vilisaar, J. Hlinka, C.M. Bradshaw, P.S. Morgan,
  C.S. Constantinescu, et al., Disconnection as a mechanism for cognitive dysfunction in multiple sciences, Brain 132 (2009) 239–249.
  O.L. Gamboa, E. Tagliazucchi, F. von Wegner, A. Jurcoane, M. Wahl, H. Laufs, et al., Working memory performance of early MS patients correlates inversely with modularity increases in acating attacformation connection acation. [30] odularity increa ses in resting state functional connectivity networks, NeuroImage
- 4 (2014) 385-395. [31] E. Pravatá, C. Zecca, C. Sestieri, M. Caulo, G.C. Riccitelli, M.A. Rocca, et al., erconnectivity of the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex following mental effo tiple sclerosis patients with cognitive fatigue, Mult. Scler. 22 (13) (2016) tal effort in
- Indappe sectors patients with cognitive ranges, mine beet, 22 (13) (2016)
   Id65–1675.
   E. Sbardella, N. Petsas, F. Tona, P. Pantano, Resting-state fMRI in MS: general concepts and brief overview of its application, Biomed. Res. Int. 2015 (2015) [32] 212693.
- M.M. Schoonheim, K.A. Meijer, J.J. Geurts, Network collapse and cognitive im-[33] pairment in multiple sclerosis, Front, Neurol, 6 (2015) 82.
- F. Zhou, Y. Zhuang, H. Gong, B. Wang, X. Wang, Q. Chen, et al., Altered inter-subregion connectivity of the default mode network in relapsing remitting multip sclerosis: a functional and structural connectivity study, PLoS One 9 (7) (2014) a101108 [34] 101108
- e101198. GJS F. Zhou, H. Gong, Q. Chen, B. Wang, Y. Peng, Y. Zhuang, et al., Intrinsic functional plasticity of the thalamocortical system in minimally disabled patients with relap-sing-remitting multiple sclerosis, Front. Hum. Neurosci. 10 (2016) 2. [36] D. Moher, A. Liberati, J. Tetzlaff, D.G. Altman, Preferred reporting items for sys-
- atic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement, PLoS Med. 6 (7) (2009) e1000097. S.D. Roosendaal, J.J. Geurts, H. Vrenken, H.E. Hulst, K.S. Cover, J.A. Casteliir
- [37] 3.D. Robendar, J.J. Geuts, F. Vreiner, F.E. Huis, K.S. Cover, J.A. Castel, et al., Regional DTI differences in multiple sclerosis patients, NeuroImage 44 (2009) 1397–1403.
  A. Ozturk, S.A. Smith, E.M. Gordon-Lipkin, D.M. Harrison, N. Shiee, D.I. Phi et al., MRI of the corpus callosum in multiple sclerosis: association with disal e 44 (4)
- [38]

Mult. Scler. 16 (2) (2010) 166-177.

- [39] 402-1408
- 1492–1498. R.H. Benedict, H.E. Hulst, N. Bergsland, M.M. Schoonheim, M.G. Dwyer, B. Weinstock-Guttman, et al., Clinical significance of atrophy and white matter mean diffusivity within the thalamus of multiple sclerosis patients, Mult. Scler. 19 (11) (2013) 1478–1484. [40] H.M. Genova, J. DeLuca, N. Chiaravalloti, G. Wylie, The relationship betwe [41]
- ecutive functioning, processing speed, and white matter integrity in multiple [42]
- ecutive functioning, processing speed, and white matter integrity in multiple sclerosis, J. Clin. Exp. Neuropsychol. 35 (6) (2013) 631–641. K.A. Koenig, K.E. Sakaie, M.J. Lowe, J. Lin, L. Stone, R.A. Bermel, et al., Hippocampal volume is related to cognitive decline and fornicial diffusion measures in multiple sclerosis, Magn. Reson. Imaging 32 (4) (2014) 354–358. K.A. Koenig, K.E. Sakaie, M.J. Lowe, J. Lin, L. Stone, R.A. Bermel, et al., The re-lationship between cognitive function and high-resolution diffusion tensor MRI of the cingulum bundle in multiple sclerosis, Mult. Scler. 22 (14) (2015) 1794–1801. A. Moroso, A. Ruet, D. Lamargue-Hamel, F. Munsch, M. Deloire, P. Coupé, et al., Microstructurel analyses of the posterior corebalte lobulus in relansio-enset [43]
- [44] Microstructural analyses of the posterior cerebellar lobules in relapsing-onset multiple sclerosis and their implication in cognitive impairment, PLoS One 12 (8) (2017) e0182479
- (2017) e0152479.
  (2017) e0152479.
  (A.A. Meijer, N. Muhlert, M. Cercignani, V. Sethi, M.A. Ron, A.J. Thompson, et al., White matter tract abnormalities are associated with cognitive dysfunction in sec-ondary progressive multiple sclerosis, Mult. Scler. 22 (11) (2016) 1429–1437.
  M. Bester, M. Lazar, M. Petracca, J.S. Babb, J. Herbert, R.I. Grossman, et al., Tract-[45]
- [46]
- M. Bester, M. Lazar, M. Petracca, J.S. Babb, J. Herbert, R.I. Grossman, et al., Tract-specific white matter correlates of fatigue and cognitive impairment in benign multiple sclerosis, J. Neurol. Sci. 330 (1–2) (2013) 61–66.
  S. Mesaros, M.A. Rocca, G. Reiccitelli, E. Pagani, M. Rovaris, D. Caputo, et al., Corpus callosum damage and cognitive dysfunction in benign MS, Hum. Brain Mapp. 30 (8) (2009) 2656–2666.
  N.P. Warlop, E. Achten, E. Fieremans, J. Debruyne, G. Vingerhoets, Transverse diffusivity of cerebral parenchyma predicts visual tracking performance in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis, Brain Cogn. 71 (3) (2009) 410–415.
  X. Lin, C.R. Tench, P.S. Morgan, C.S. Constantinescu, Use of combined conventional and quantific arbidoev related the coentities (impairment in the conventional and the conventional matter arbidoev related the coentities). [47]
- [48]
- [49]
- [50]
- [51]
- X. Lin, C.R. Tench, P.S. Morgan, C.S. Constantinescu, Use of combined conventional and quantitative MRI to quantify pathology related to cognitive impairment in multiple sclerosis, J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 79 (4) (2008) 437–441.
  M. Roca, T. Torralva, F. Meli, M. Fiol, M. Calcagno, S. Carpintiero, et al., Cognitive deficits in multiple sclerosis correlate with changes in fronto-subcortical tracts, Mult. Scler. 14 (3) (2008) 364–369.
  L. Bonzano, M. Pardini, G. L. Mancardi, M. Pitzorno, L. Roccatagliata, Structural connectivity influences brain activation during PVSAT in multiple sclerosis, NeuroImage 44 (1) (2008) 9–15.
  C.M. Rimkus, F.T. Junqueira, K.P. Lyra, M.P. Jackowski, M.A.R. Machado, E.C. Miotto, et al., Corpus callosum microstructural changes correlate with cogni-tive dvsfunction in early stages of relansing-remitting multiple sclerosis; axial and [52] E.C. Miotto, et al., Corpus callosum microstructural changes correlate with cognitive dysfunction in early stages of relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis: axial and radial diffusivities approach, Mult. Scler. Int. 2011 (2011).
  [53] S. Llufriu, Y. Blanco, E. Martinez-Heras, J. Casanova-Molla, I. Gabilondo, M. Sepulveda, et al., Influence of corpus callosum damage on cognition and physical disability in multiple sclerosis: a multimodal study, PLoS One 7 (5) (2012) e37167.
  [54] K.C. Kern, S.M. Gold, B. Lee, M. Montag, J. Horsfall, M.F. O'Connor, et al., Thalamic-hippocampal-prefrontal disruption in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis, Neuroimage Clin. 8 (2015) 440–447.
  [55] H.J. Yu, C. Christodoulou, V. Bhise, D. Greenblatt, Y. Patel, D. Serafin, et al., Multiple white matter tract abnormalities underlie cognitive impairment in RRMS, Neuroimage 59 (4) (2012) 3713–3722.

- Multiple white matter tract abnormalities underlie cognitive impairment in RRMS, NeuroImage 59 (4) (2012) 3713–3722. M. Bozzali, B. Spano, G.J. Parker, G. Giulietti, M. Castelli, B. Basile, et al., Anatomical brain connectivity can assess cognitive dysfunction in multiple sclerosis, Mult. Scler. 19 (9) (2013) 1161–1168. E.L. Mazerolle, M.A. Wojtowicz, A. Omisade, J.D. Fisk, Intra-individual variability in the formation of the scheme [56]
- [57] n information processing speed reflects white matter microstructure in multiple clerosis, Neuroimage Clin. 2 (2013) 894–902.
- E. Sbardella, N. Petsas, F. Tona, L. Prosperini, E. Raz, G. Pace, et al., Assessing the [58]
- [59]
- E. Sbardella, N. Petsas, F. Tona, L. Prosperini, E. Raz, G. Pace, et al., Assessing the correlation between grey and white matter damage with motor and cognitive im-pairment in multiple sclerosis patients, PLoS One 8 (5) (2013) e63250. A.L. Janssen, A. Boster, B.A. Patterson, A. Abduljalil, R.S. Prakash, Resting-state functional connectivity in multiple sclerosis: an examination of group differences and individual differences, Neuropsychologia 51 (13) (2013) 2918–2929. M. Wojtowicz, E.L. Mazerolle, V. Bhan, J.D. Fisk, Altered functional connectivity and performance variability in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis, Mult. Scler. 20 (11) (2014) 1453–1465. [60] 20 (11) (2014) 1453-1463.
- [61]
- 20 (11) (2014) 1453-1463.
  V. Fieischer, A. Radetz, D. Ciolac, M. Muthuraman, G. Gonzalez-Escamilla, F. Zipp, et al., Graph theoretical framework of brain networks in multiple sclerosis: a review of concepts, Neuroscience (2017) (pii S0306-4522(17)30761-30763).
  M.A. Rocca, P. Valasaina, M. Absinta, G. Riccitelli, M.E. Rodegher, P. Misci, et al., Default-mode network dysfunction and cognitive impairment in progressive MS, Neurology 74 (16) (2010) 1252-1259.
  F. Tona, N. Petsas, E. Sbardella, L. Prosperini, M. Carmellini, C. Pozzilli, et al., Multiple sclerosis: altered thalamic restine-state functional connectivity and its [62]
- [63] Multiple sclerosis: altered thalamic resting-state functional connectivity and its effect on cognitive function, Radiology 271 (3) (2014) 814–821.
- effect on cognitive function, Radiology 271 (3) (2014) 814–821.
  E. Sbardella, F. Tona, N. Petasas, N. Upadhyay, M.C. Piattella, N. Filippini, et al., Functional connectivity changes and their relationship with clinical disability and white matter integrity in patients with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis, Mult. Scler. 21 (13) (2015) 1681–1692.
  S. Lopes Costa, Goncalves OF, J. DeLuca, N. Chiaravalloti, R. Chakravarthi, J. Almeida, The temporal dynamics of visual processing in multiple sclerosis, Appl. [64]
- [65]

Journal of the Neurological Sciences 388 (2018) 115-127

- Neuropsychol. Adult 23 (2) (2016) 133–140.
  [66] P.J. Snyder, J.C. Cappelleri, Information processing speed deficits may be better correlated with the extent of white matter sclerotic lesions in multiple sclerosis than previously suspected, Brain Cogn. 46 (1–2) (2001) 279–284.
  [67] E.E. Smith, Jonides J. Storage, Executive processes in the frontal lobes, Science (New York, N.Y.) 283 (5408) (1999) 1657–1661.
  [68] G.C. Chiang, S. Pinto, J.P. Comunale, S.A. Gauthier, Gadolinium-enhancing lesions lead to decreases in white matter tract fractional anisotropy in multiple sclerosis, J. Neuroimaging 26 (3) (2015) 289–295.
  [69] D. Ontaneda, K. Sakkie, J. Lin, X. Wang, M.J. Lowe, M.D. Phillips, et al., Identifying the start of multiple sclerosis injury: a serial DTI study, J. Neuroimaging 24 (6) (2014) 569–576.
  [70] A. Droby, K.S. Yuen, M. Muthuraman, S.C. Reitz, V. Fleischer, J. Klein, et al., Changes in brain functional connectivity patterns are driven by an individual lesion in MS: a resting-state fMRI study, Brain Imaging Behav. 10 (4) (2016) 1117–1126.
  [71] J.S. Damoiseaux, M.D. Greiclus, Greater than the sum of its parts: a review of studies combining structural connectivity and terms ing-state functional connectivity, Brain Struct. Funct. 213 (6) (2009) 525–533.
  [72] D.H. Mahad, B.D. Trapp, H. Lassmann, Pathological mechanisms in progressive

- multiple sclerosis, Lancet Neurol. 14 (2) (2015) 183–193.
   [73] J. Lansley, D. Mataix-Cols, M. Grau, J. Radua, J. Sastre-Garriga, Localized grey matter atrophy in multiple sclerosis: a meta-analysis of voxel-based morphometry studies and associations with functional disability, Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 37 (5) (2013) 819-830.

- studies and associations with functional disability, Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 37 (5) (2013) 819–830.
  [74] P.A. Vernon, Speed of information processing and general intelligence, Intelligence 7 (1) (1983) 53–70.
  [75] B. Rypma, J.S. Berger, V. Prabhakaran, B.M. Bly, D.Y. Kimberg, B.B. Biswal, et al., Neural correlates of cognitive efficiency, NeuroImage 33 (3) (2006) 969–979.
  [76] B. Rypma, V. Prabhakaran, When less is more and when more is more: the mediating roles of capacity and speed in brain-behavior efficiency, Intelligence 37 (2) (2009) 207–222.
  [77] N.K. Rao, M.A. Motes, B. Rypma, Investigating the neural bases for intra-subject cognitive efficiency functional magnetic resonance imaging, Front. Hum. Neurosci. 8 (2014) 840.
  [78] M. Loitfelder, F. Fazekas, K. Koschutnig, S. Fuchs, K. Petrovic, S. Ropele, et al., Brain activity changes in cognitive networks in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis insights from a longitudinal FMRI study, PLoS One 9 (4) (2014) e93715.
# **APPENDIX B**

#### ELSEVIER LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Sep 11, 2018

This Agreement between University of Sheffield -- Riccardo Manca ("You") and Elsevier ("Elsevier") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by Elsevier and Copyright Clearance Center.

License Number	4425960117617
License date	Sep 11, 2018
Licensed Content Publisher	Elsevier
Licensed Content Publication	Journal of the Neurological Sciences
Licensed Content Title	Brain connectivity and cognitive processing speed in multiple sclerosis: A systematic review
Licensed Content Author	Riccardo Manca,Basil Sharrack,David Paling,Iain D. Wilkinson,Annalena Venneri
Licensed Content Date	May 15, 2018
Licensed Content Volume	388
Licensed Content Issue	n/a
Licensed Content Pages	13
Start Page	115
End Page	127
Type of Use	reuse in a thesis/dissertation
Portion	full article
Format	both print and electronic
Are you the author of this Elsevier article?	Yes
Will you be translating?	No
Title of your thesis/dissertation	A neuroimaging approach to clarifying cognitive decline in multiple sclerosis: implications for rehabilitation.
Expected completion date	Oct 2018
Estimated size (number of pages)	200
Requestor Location	University of Sheffield Western Bank
	Sheffield, South Yorkshire S10 2TN United Kingdom Attn: University of Sheffield
Publisher Tax ID	GB 494 6272 12
Billing Type	Invoice
Billing Address	University of Sheffield Western Bank
	Sheffield, United Kingdom S10 2TN Attn: University of Sheffield
Total	0.00 GBP

# **APPENDIX C**

Re: Permission to include work published prior to submission in PhD thesis.

#### ١,

As one of the co-authors of the paper "Brain connectivity and cognitive processing speed in multiple sclerosis: A systematic review" published in 2018 in the volume 288 of the Journal of the Neurological Sciences,

Declare that I have no objections to and I grant permission for the reproduction of the abovementioned paper in the PhD thesis "A neuroimaging approach to clarifying cognitive decline in multiple sclerosis: implications for rehabilitation" to be submitted by Riccardo Manca, for which licence has been granted by the publisher Elsevier on 11<sup>th</sup> September 2018.

m

Prof	Basil	Sharrack	
			-

Dr David Paling

Prof lain D. Wilkinson

Prof Annalena Venneri

P.	2	
10-	hidhin	
A	Ml	)

# APPENDIX D

Original document of the ethical approval granted by the Regional Ethics Committee of Yorkshire and Humber.



Telephone: 0113 3050128

28 December 2012

Professor Annalena Venneri Professor of Clinical Translational Neuropsychology University of Sheffield, Department of Neuroscience Medical School, N Floor, Rm N130 **Beech Hill Road** Royal Hallamshire Hospital, Sheffield S102RX

Dear Professor Venneri

Study title:

Assessment of age and disease related cognitive impairment in normal volunteers and people with degenerative and vascular brain disease and assessment of the potential neuroplastic effect of non pharmacological treatment **REC reference:** . 12/YH/0474 **IRAS** project ID: 84442

Thank you for your letter of 19 December 2012, responding to the Committee's request for further information on the above research and submitting revised documentation.

The further information has been considered on behalf of the Committee by the Chair.

We plan to publish your research summary wording for the above study on the NRES website, together with your contact details, unless you expressly withhold permission to do so. Publication will be no earlier than three months from the date of this favourable opinion letter. Should you wish to provide a substitute contact point, require further information, or wish to withhold permission to publish, please contact the Co-ordinator Mrs Rachel Bell, nrescommittee.yorkandhumber-sheffield@nhs.net.

#### **Confirmation of ethical opinion**

On behalf of the Committee, I am pleased to confirm a favourable ethical opinion for the above research on the basis described in the application form, protocol and supporting documentation as revised, subject to the conditions specified below.

#### Ethical review of research sites

#### NHS sites

The favourable opinion applies to all NHS sites taking part in the study, subject to management permission being obtained from the NHS/HSC R&D office prior to the start of the study (see "Conditions of the favourable opinion" below).

#### Non-NHS sites

#### Conditions of the favourable opinion

The favourable opinion is subject to the following conditions being met prior to the start of the study.

Management permission or approval must be obtained from each host organisation prior to the start of the study at the site concerned.

Management permission ("R&D approval") should be sought from all NHS organisations involved in the study in accordance with NHS research governance arrangements.

Guidance on applying for NHS permission for research is available in the Integrated Research Application System or at <a href="http://www.rdforum.nhs.uk">http://www.rdforum.nhs.uk</a>.

Where a NHS organisation's role in the study is limited to identifying and referring potential participants to research sites ("participant identification centre"), guidance should be sought from the R&D office on the information it requires to give permission for this activity.

For non-NHS sites, site management permission should be obtained in accordance with the procedures of the relevant host organisation.

Sponsors are not required to notify the Committee of approvals from host organisations

It is the responsibility of the sponsor to ensure that all the conditions are complied with before the start of the study or its initiation at a particular site (as applicable).

#### Approved documents

The final list of documents reviewed and approved by the Committee is as follows:

Document	Version	Date
Covering Letter		18 September 2012
GP/Consultant Information Sheets	1.0	18 September 2012
Investigator CV		
Participant Consent Form: Patient 1	2	19 December 2012
Participant Consent Form: Patient 2	2	19 December 2012
Participant Consent Form: Volunteer 1	2	19 December 2012
Participant Consent Form: Volunteer 2	2	19 December 2012
Participant Information Sheet: Patient 1	2	19 December 2012

Participant Information Sheet: Patient 2	2	19 December 2012
Participant Information Sheet: Volunteer 1	2	19 December 2012
Participant Information Sheet: Volunteer 2	2	19 December 2012
Protocol		
REC application		
Response to Request for Further Information		19 December 2012

#### Statement of compliance

The Committee is constituted in accordance with the Governance Arrangements for Research Ethics Committees and complies fully with the Standard Operating Procedures for Research Ethics Committees in the UK.

#### After ethical review

#### Reporting requirements

The attached document *"After ethical review – guidance for researchers"* gives detailed guidance on reporting requirements for studies with a favourable opinion, including:

- Notifying substantial amendments
- Adding new sites and investigators
- Notification of serious breaches of the protocol
- Progress and safety reports
- Notifying the end of the study

The NRES website also provides guidance on these topics, which is updated in the light of changes in reporting requirements or procedures.

#### Feedback

You are invited to give your view of the service that you have received from the National Research Ethics Service and the application procedure. If you wish to make your views known please use the feedback form available on the website.

Further information is available at National Research Ethics Service website > After Review

12/YH/0474	Please quote this number on all correspondence	

We are pleased to welcome researchers and R & D staff at our NRES committee members' training days – see details at <u>http://www.hra.nhs.uk/hra-training/</u>

With the Committee's best wishes for the success of this project.

Yours sincerely



### Pp Professor Basil Sharrack Chair

Email:nrescommittee.yorkandhumber-sheffield@nhs.net

Enclosures:	"After ethical review – guidance for
	researchers"

Copy to: Ms Ramila Patel, STH Research Department

Amended ethical approval document: final version.



## **National Research Ethics Service**

#### **NRES Committee Yorkshire & The Humber - Sheffield**

HRA NRES Centre Manchester Barlow House 3rd Floor 4 Minshull Street Manchester M1 3DZ

> Tel: 0161 625 7832 Fax: 0161 625 7299

20 November 2013

Ms Jodie Keyworth Research Coordinator Academic Directorate of Neurosciences Sheffield Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust N125d, N Floor Royal Hallamshire Hospital Glossop Road Sheffield S10 2JF

Dear Ms Keyworth

Study title:Assessment of age and disease related cognitive<br/>impairment in normal volunteers and people with<br/>degenerative and vascular brain disease and assessment<br/>of the potential neuroplastic effect of non<br/>pharmacological treatmentREC reference:12/YH/0474Amendment number:Amendment 01Amendment date:03 October 2013IRAS project ID:84442

The above amendment was reviewed by the Sub-Committee in correspondence.

### Ethical opinion

Approval was sought to add two additional patient groups. These would be patients with Multiple Sclerosis and Parkinson Disease. There would also be an additional three key collaborators.

The Committee specified that in paragraph four on page one of the Participant Information Sheets the sentence starting 'Your participant will be vital...' should be revised as this wording is too persuasive.

The Committee also thought that the information given on page two about timings and visits could be clarified as it was not exactly clear how this would vary from four weeks to twelve weeks. Please could you revise the wording.

The members of the Committee taking part in the review gave a favourable ethical opinion of the amendment on the basis described in the notice of amendment form and supporting documentation.

#### Approved documents

The documents reviewed and approved at the meeting were:

Document	Version	Date
Notice of Substantial Amendment (non-CTIMPs)	Amendment	03 October 2013
	01	
Protocol	2.0	05 November 2013
Parkinson Disease Patient Information Sheet 2	1.0	05 November 2013
Parkinson Disease Consent Form 2	1.0	05 November 2013
Multiple Sclerosis Patient Information Sheet 2	1.0	05 November 2013
Multiple Sclerosis Consent Form 2	1.0	05 November 2013

#### Membership of the Committee

The members of the Committee who took part in the review are listed on the attached sheet.

#### R&D approval

All investigators and research collaborators in the NHS should notify the R&D office for the relevant NHS care organisation of this amendment and check whether it affects R&D approval of the research.

#### Statement of compliance

The Committee is constituted in accordance with the Governance Arrangements for Research Ethics Committees and complies fully with the Standard Operating Procedures for Research Ethics Committees in the UK.

We are pleased to welcome researchers and R & D staff at our NRES committee members' training days – see details at <a href="http://www.hra.nhs.uk/hra-training/">http://www.hra.nhs.uk/hra-training/</a>

#### 12/YH/0474:

Please quote this number on all correspondence

Yours sincerely

11 Pristone

On behalf of Mr Neil Sykes Vice Chair

nrescommittee.yorkandhumber-sheffield@nhs.net

Enclosures: List of names and professions of members who took part in the review

Copy to:

Professor Annalena Venneri University of Sheffield

Dr Ramila Patel Sheffield Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

### NRES Committee Yorkshire & The Humber - Sheffield

### Attendance at Sub-Committee of the REC meeting on 20 November 2013

Name	Profession	Capacity
Mrs Yvonne Stephenson	Lead Technician in the Department of Infection and Immunity	Expert
Mr Neil Sykes	Retired Engineer/ Scientist	Lay Plus

# APPENDIX E



Department Of Neuroscience.

PIS\_MS Version 2.0, December 2013

#### **Patient Information Sheet 2**

#### Invitation to participate in research on

#### "Improving detection and prevention of cognitive decline in Multiple Sclerosis"

#### Invitation

We would like to invite you to take part in the study described below. Before you decide we would like to understand why the research is being done and what it would involve for you. One of our team will go through the information with you and answer any questions you may have. We suggest this would take about 5 minutes. Please ask if there is anything that is not clear.

#### Purpose of study

Practicing tasks which involve the use of memory, language, attention and other cognitive skills may have some benefits to maintaining and improving brain functioning. We would like to investigate this by using cognitive training exercises aimed at improving specific aspects of functioning such as memory and reasoning. We will then measure the effect that this cognitive exercise has on the brain's performance. In order to do this, we will do an fMRI scan which is a type of brain scan which measures brain activity while you are resting in the scanner. This procedure will tell us how well areas of the brain are communicating with each other.

Your participation in this study would help us better understand how effective this kind of treatment is for people with occasional cognitive problems, such as infrequent memory loss.

If we can assess and establish the effectiveness of such treatment on a person's cognitive abilities and brain function we may be able to help reduce some of the problems patients have in their day to day lives. Your participation will be valuable to us to better understand how our brains work and can be influenced by a course of specific brain training.

#### Do I have to take part?

It is up to you to decide to join the study. If you agree to take part, you will be asked to sign a Consent Form. Your personal results will be anonymous and identified by a code and will be kept strictly confidential. The results will be stored in a restricted access database for approximately 5 years after the end of the study. You have, of course, the right to refuse to participate, and you may withdraw from the research at any time. Any data collected will then be destroyed.



Department Of Neuroscience.

#### What will happen to me if I take part?

You will visit the researcher at the Royal Hallamshire Hospital on different occasions where you will take part in some cognitive training, give a saliva sample and undergo two brain scans. The entire process will take place over 4 weeks. The completion of the training and the scans marks the end of your participation.

### What will I need to do?

### Part 1: Cognitive Training

You will be required to attend 20 training sessions in total (1 hour per day, 5 days a week, for 4 weeks). We can schedule your training sessions at times which are most convenient for you.

Prior to any training, you will undergo initial testing to establish a baseline of your abilities including an assessment of your ability to recall information from your long-term general knowledge, your ability to learn new material and of your attention. This initial assessment will take approximately 1 hour. This will then be repeated after training is completed.

For the training, you will be seated in front of a computer screen where instructions to each exercise will be given. The exercises will consist of pictures and phrases or a combination of the two. Each training session will last approximately 1 hour and, if necessary, can be split into three 20 minute sessions.

#### Part 2: Brain Imaging

The fMRI scanner uses a kind of camera which can take photos of your brain but also provides information on how well the various parts of your brain are communicating with each other while you are resting with your eyes closed in the scanner. You have to lie on a bed and the part where your head rests is moved to the middle of the scanner. You will have to lie still for about 30 minutes while the brain image is acquired. You will have two scans, one at the beginning of the study and one at the end of the course of brain training.

#### What are the risks involved in my participation?

**Part 1:** This study poses minimal risk to the participant. Some persons may find the training session tiring, in which case frequent breaks may be offered and the training can be split into shorter sessions.

**Part 2:** An fMRI scan involves no radiation so there is no health risk involved with the scan. You have to lie on a bed which is pushed into a large tube-like structure for the scan. The



Department Of Neuroscience.

scanner is quite noisy so ear plugs are provided and it can also be a little claustrophobic for some people. There is a button to press for help and the scan can be stopped at any time if you feel uncomfortable. An MRI cannot be performed if you have a cardiac pacemaker or any metal in your body - for example a hip replacement.

In this study, the MRI scan is not being done for a medical reason but if we see anything that is considered unusual, or in our opinion warrants concern, the researchers will consult with a clinical MRI expert and if necessary your GP will be informed.

#### Taking part in the research

By carrying out this research, we hope to gain a better understanding of the way memory, attention, and other cognitive abilities' decline can be improved with intensive specific training and offer a viable form of treatment for persons with mild cognitive impairment, persons who have had a minor stroke or who are in the early stage of dementia.

Taking part in this research does not alter your standard care or interfere with any current treatment you are receiving.

In the event that something does go wrong and you are harmed during the research and this is due to someone's negligence then you may have grounds for a legal action for compensation against Sheffield Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust but you may have to pay your legal costs.

You will be reimbursed for all travel expenses incurred by taking part in this research.

#### Your access to the results of the study

If you would like to see your results from the cognitive training, we would be happy to provide you with a transcript of them.

#### **Contact Details**

For further information about our research, or if you have a concern about any aspect of this study, please feel free to contact Professor Venneri of the research team. Details are given below.

Prof. Annalena Venneri E-mail: <u>a.venneri@sheffield.ac.uk</u> Telephone: 0114 2713430

If you have a complaint, you may contact the Patient Services Team (PST) at 01142712400 or by email at PST@sth.nhs.uk

# APPENDIX F

The University Of Sheffield.

ICF\_MS Version 3 November 2013

# **CONSENT FORM 2**

Department

Neuroscience.

Of

# Title of project: Improving detection and prevention of cognitive decline in Multiple Sclerosis

Names of Researchers: Prof A. Venneri, Dr. K. Harkness, Dr M. Randall, Dr D. Blackburn, Professor Sharrack, Dr. O Bandmann, Dr. M. Mitolo, Mr. M. De Marco, Ms. S. Wakefield, Mr. B. Malik, Ms C Carta, Mr R. Manca

1. I confirm that I have read and understood the information sheet (PIS\_MS Version 2.0, December 2013) which describes the reasons I have been asked to participate in a cognitive training programme, give a saliva sample and undergo an fMRI scan and have had the opportunity to ask questions.

2. I understand that my participation is voluntary and that I am free to withdraw at any time, without giving reason, without my medical care or legal rights being affected.

3. I agree to undergo the fMRI scan and understand that it is for the purpose of scientific study.

4. I agree to take part in a cognitive training programme

5. I agree that my GP can be informed that I will undergo an MRI scan and that the results of the MRI scan can be shared with my GP if necessary

Name of Patient	Date	Signature
Name of Person taking consent	Date	Signature
Name of Researcher	Date	Signature





Please initial box

# **APPENDIX G**

Document of ethical approval granted by the Institutional Review Board of the IRCCS Fondazione Ospedale San Camillo (Venice) for the study including patients with SPMS.



FONDAZIONE OSPEDALE SAN CAMILLO OSPEDALE NEURORIABILITATIVO | ISTITUTO DI RICOVERO E CURA A CARATTERE SCIENTIFICO SEDE LEGALE: 30126 | VENEZIA-LIDO | VIA ALBERONI. 70 | TEL 041 22 07 111 | FAX 041 73 13 30 C.F. 94071440278 | P.I. 03953700279 | ISCRITTA PREFETTURA DI VENEZIA: REG. P.G. N. 409



Lido di Venezia, 21 dicembre 2011 Rif. CE: Protocollo 11.09

> Preg.mo Signore **Prof. Leontino BATTISTIN** IRCCS S. Camillo

Oggetto: Protocollo 11/09 – vers. 2: Studio dei pattern dell'attività cerebrale di default nelle patologie neurodegenerative. Parere del Comitato etico.

Preg.mo Prof. Battistin,

il Comitato Etico per la Sperimentazione dell'IRCCS S. Camillo, nella seduta del 15 dicembre u.s., ha esaminato la versione 2 del protocollo da Lei presentato, di cui in oggetto, e ha espresso PARERE FAVOREVOLE alla sua effettuazione. Si allega alla presente estratto del Verbale della seduta.

Colgo l'occasione per salutarLa cordialmente.

**Il Presidente** on Corrado Cannizzaro amon Smith (



FONDATORE PROVINCIA LOWEAREDO – VINICIA DELL'ORDINE RELIGIORO DEL C'HERICE REGOLARE MUNISTRE DECLI INFERMI CAMILHANE ENTE ECCL. CIVILAE. RECON. – R.D. Nº 662 DEL 22.0533. ]. ISCRUZ PREFETTURA DE MILANO – REG. P. G. Nº 514. VOL III, FAG. 893.

#### IRCSS Ospedale San Camillo Comitato Etico per la Sperimentazione

# Verbale della riunione del 15 dicembre 2011

----- estratto -----

# [omissis]

Il giorno 15 dicembre 2011 alle ore 11.30, presso la sede dell'IRCCS San Camillo si riunisce il Comitato Etico per la Sperimentazione (CESC), così composto:

Don Corrado Cannizzaro, Presidente	Esperto di bioetica	PRESENTE
Prof. Francesco Grigoletto, Vice presidente	Biostatistico	PRESENTE
Prof. Leontino Battistin	Direttore scientifico dell'IRCCS	ASS. GIUST.
Prof.ssa Gabriella Cargnelli	Farmacologa	ASS. GIUST.
Dott. Mauro Cenedese	Clinico	PRESENTE
Sig.ra Antonella Chinellato	Rappresentante del settore infermieristico	PRESENTE
Dott. Tiziano Lazzari	Medico di Medicina Generale	PRESENTE
	Direttore sanitario dell'IRCCS	
Dott. Francesco Palladin	Clinico	ASS. GIUST.
Dott. Pietro Emilio Pisani	Esperto in materia giuridica	PRESENTE
Dott.ssa Olivia Rabbaglietti	Rappresentante del volontariato	PRESENTE
Dott.ssa Susanna Zardo	Farmacista	ASS. GIUST.

[omissis]

# 4. Esame del protocollo 11/09 – vers. 2. Studio dei pattern dell'attività cerebrale di default nelle patologie neurodegenerative

A.1 – Identificazione del pr	otocollo		
Titolo	Studio dei pattern dell'attività cerebrale di default nelle patologie neurodegenerative		
Versione:	2.0		
Data:	07/12/2011		
Codice/nome	-		
Codice EudraCT			
Tipologia:	studio sperimentale		
Fase clinica:			
A. 2 – Caratteristiche del pr	votocollo		
Pazienti coinvolti	400		
Pazienti presso IRCCS	400		
Tipologia di pazienti	Pazienti affetti da patologie neurodegenerative		
Copertura economica	Approvata dal Dott. Stigliano (vedi allegato)		
Copertura assicurativa	Polizza n. 270269323 Assicurazioni Generali emessa in data 08/09/2011		
A.2 – Sponsor e promotore	4		
Sponsor			
CRO			

Centro Coordinatore	IRCCS- Fondazione ospedale San Camillo	
Sperimentatore principale	Prof. Leontino Battistin	
Parere Unico Favorevole		
Emesso il		
A.4 – IRCCS San Camillo –	Lido di Venezia	
Responsabile IRCCS	Prof. Leontino Battistin	
Num. Protocollo IRCCS	11.09	

#### **B**-DOCUMENTAZIONE ESIBITA

Lettera di intenti e di richiesta di emissione parere al Comitato etico datata 13 giugno 2011, a cui è allegato il fascicolo del progetto contenente i seguenti documenti:

- 1. progetto 11/08 versione 1.0;
- 2. elenco dei centri coinvolti
- 3. test e scale di valutazione;
- 4. scheda di raccolta dati;
- 5. foglio informativo per il paziente;
- 6. dichiarazione di consenso del paziente;
- 7. modulo informativo per il medico di famiglia;
- 8. quantificazione delle risorse e dei costi impiegati nel progetto;
- 9. delibera regionale approvazione finanziamento.

#### C – PARERE

Il Comitato Etico dell'IRCCS San Camillo esprime PARERE FAVOREVOLE purché venga osservato quanto previsto dalla normativa vigente e regionale nonché dai regolamenti aziendali.

Contestualmente il Comitato etico ricorda che:

- la sperimentazione clinica nell'uomo deve essere seguita secondo i principi etici fissati nella dichiarazione di Helsinki e successivi emendamenti e che tutte le fasi degli studi clinici devono essere predisposte, attuate e descritte secondo i principi della buona pratica clinica;
- sussiste l'obbligo di non avviare deviazioni dal protocollo, né modifiche allo stesso, senza che il Comitato etico abbia espresso per iscritto approvazione o parere favorevole ad ogni singolo e specifico emendamento;
- deve essere garantito il diritto alla diffusione e/o pubblicazione dei risultati favorevoli o non favorevoli da parte degli sperimentatori che hanno condotto lo studio, nel rispetto delle disposizioni vigenti in tema di riservatezza dei dati sensibili e di tutela brevettuale e che non devono sussistere vincoli di diffusione e pubblicazione dei risultati da parte del Promotore;
- il Responsabile della sperimentazione è tenuto a dare comunicazione al Comitato etico dell'effettivo inizio della sperimentazione, in occasione dell'arruolamento del primo paziente;
- il Responsabile della sperimentazione è infine tenuto a far pervenire una relazione finale sull'esito della sperimentazione.

In difetto delle suddette indicazioni, l'efficacia dell'approvazione del protocollo deve intendersi sospesa a tutti gli effetti.

[omissis]

Il Segretario Verbalizzatore Dott. Nicolò Anesa

il Presidente Døn Corrado ¢annizzaro

\_\_\_\_\_

Venezia, 15 dicembre 2011